Consent Agenda



291-22 45-291

June 21, 2022

MET IN REGULAR SESSION
The Board of Supervisors met in regular session at 10:00 A.M. All members present. Chairman
Wichman presiding.

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
1. CONSENT AGENDA

After discussion was held by the Board, a motion was made by Schultz, and second by Shea, to approve:

A. June 14, 2022, Minutes as read.

B. Amend June 9, 2022, Minutes as read.

C. Renewal of lowa Retail Permit Application for Cigarette/Tobacco/Nicotine/VVapor for Desoto
Bend Mini Mart, Missouri Valley.

D. Renewal of lowa Retail Permit Application for Cigarette/Tobacco/Nicotine/Vapor for Taylor
Oil Company, Inc., Council Bluffs.

E. Renewal of Class E Liquor License (LE, granting privileges of Class B Wine Permit / Class C
Beer Permit (Carryout Beer) / Class E Liquor License (LE) / Sunday Sales for Casey’s
Marketing Company d/b/a Casey’s General Store #3205, Council Bluffs.

F. County Treasurer — Employment of Sarah Ebke as Clerk I1.

G. Communications — Employment of Ryan Thomas as a Communications Technologist.

UNANIMOUS VOTE. Motion Carried.
2. SCHEDULED SESSIONS

Motion by Schultz, second by Shea, to approve and authorize Chairman to sign Law Enforcement
Services Contracts between Pottawattamie County and the following: City of Carson, City of Crescent,
City of Hancock, City of Macedonia, City of McClelland, City of Minden, City of Neola, City of
Oakland, City of Treynor, City of Underwood, and City of Walnut.

UNANIMOUS VOTE. Motion Carried.

Chairman Wichman stepped down as Chair. Chairman Pro-Tem Shea presumed the Chair. After discussion
was held by the Board, a motion was made by Wichman, second by Grobe, to have Jail staff will work 40
hours per week to get paid for 40 hours and that hours will be 8 AM to 4:30 PM effective July 1, 2022.
AYES: Shea, Belt, Wichman, Grobe NAYS: Schultz Motion Carried.

Chairman Wichman resumed as Chair.

Motion by Shea, second by Belt, to approve and authorize Board to sign Planning and Zoning
Resolution NO. 2022-08 entitled: Final Plat of Schmidt’s Creek Phase 1 and 2, a subdivision
situated in Hazell Dell Township.

PLANNING AND ZONING
RESOLUTION NO. 2022-08

WHEREAS, this Board had approved the preliminary plat of Schmidt’s Creek Phase 1 and 2, residential
subdivisions situated in Hazel Dell Township, by approval of Planning and Zoning Resolution No. 2022-
03, dated February 14, 2022; and

WHEREAS the final plat and supporting documents required by Chapter 9.10 of the Pottawattamie
County, lowa, Code and Chapter 354, Code of lowa, has been filed with this Board for its study and
consideration under Case #SUB-2021-04; and

WHEREAS, this Board has examined the final plats and have found they are in substantial compliance
with the approved preliminary plats; and

WHEREAS, after careful study, and due consideration this Board has determined that the final plat and
supporting documents conform to the requirements of Chapter 9.10 of the Pottawattamie County, lowa,
Code and Chapter 354, Code of lowa, and it has deemed it to be in the best interest of Pottawattamie County,
lowa, to approve the final plats.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF
POTTAWATTAMIE COUNTY, IOWA: That the final plat of Schmidt’s Creek Phase 1 and 2,



292-22 45-292

residential subdivisions in Pottawattamie County, lowa, be, and the same is hereby approved as the final
plats of said subdivisions.

And that the Chairman of the Board of Supervisors is hereby authorized to enter such approval upon said
final plats.

PASSED AND APPROVED June 21, 2022.

ROLL CALL VOTE
AYE NAY ABSTAIN ABSENT

O @) @) @)
Tim Wichman, Chairman

@) @) @) @)
Scott Belt

@) @) @) @)
Lynn Grobe

O @) O @)
Justin Schultz

O @) O @)
Brian Shea
Attest:

Melvyn Houser, County Auditor
Pottawattamie County, lowa

RECORD: After Passage
Roll Call Vote: AYES: Wichman, Belt, Grobe, Schultz, Shea. Motion Carried.

Motion by Shea, second by Grobe, to approve and authorize Board to sign certificate of completion
form 64003 to certify completion on the trail project and the segments from L34 to Weston
including two bridge crossing over Mosquito Creek along Railroad Highway.

UNANIMOUS VOTE. Motion Carried.

3. OTHER

Motion by Schultz, second by Belt, for approval of rate change for Federal Standard Mileage Rate for
remainder of 2022, at 62.5¢ per mile.
UNANIMOUS VOTE. Motion Carried.

Motion made by Schultz, second by Shea, to approve application for permit to display fireworks filed by
Robert Caputo, on July 4th and if it rains to be postponed and rescheduled for the following weekend, at
22881 Three Bridge Road.

UNANIMOUS VOTE. Motion Carried.

Jana Lemrick/ Director, Human Resources appeared before the board to discuss the Department Head
Contracts. Discussion only. No action taken.

4. RECEIVED/FILED

A. Salary Action(s):
1) SWI Juvenile Detention Center — Employment of Kenneth VVanDorn as a full time Youth Corrections
Worker.
2) SWI Juvenile Detention Center — Employment of Jaydan Dooley as a part time Youth Corrections
Worker.
3) Community Services — Payroll status change for Shelly Hovey.
4) Communications — Payroll status change for Kristen Ewer.
B. Reports:
1) Recorder Fee Book for May 2022.

5. PUBLIC COMMENTS

No comments.



293-22

6. ADJOURN

Motion by Shea, second by Belt, to adjourn meeting.
UNANIMOUS VOTE. Motion Carried.

THE BOARD ADJOURNED SUBJECT TO CALL AT 12:04 P.M.

45-293

Tim Wichman, Chairman

ATTEST:
Becky Lenihan, Finance & Tax Officer

APPROVED: June 28, 2022
PUBLISH: X



Scheduled
Sessions



Jeff Theulen/Chief Deputy,
Sheriff Office

Discussion and/or approval to approve Change Order
Number 003 in the amount of $23,228.99 for Sheriff
Office Expansion.



%AIA Document G701 - 2017

Change Order

PROJECT: (Name and address) CONTRACT INFORMATION: CHANGE ORDER INFORMATION:
11-20109-00_Pottawattamie County Contract For: General Construction Change Order Number: 003
Sheriff's Office Expansion
1400 Big Lake Road
Council Bluffs, IA

Date: November 26, 2019 Date: June 17, 2022
OWNER: (Name and address) ARCHITECT: (Name and address) CONTRACTOR: (Name and address)
Pottawattamie County Board of DLR Group, Inc. (an Iowa corporation) D.R. Anderson Constructors Co.
Supervisors
227 South 6th Street 1430 Locust Street, Suite 200 7735 Irvington Rd
Council Bluffs, IA 51501 Des Moines, IA 50309 Omaha, NE 68122

THE CONTRACT IS CHANGED AS FOLLOWS:

(Insert a detailed description of the change and, if applicable, attach or reference specific exhibits. Also include agreed upon adjustments
attributable to executed Construction Change Directives.)

i COR-013, Delete Lighting per PR-008 ($ 905.09)
2. COR-014, AHU Reyvisions per CR-013 ($ 2,039.00)
3 COR-015, Add Drinking Fountain per PR-010 $ 6,550.12
4, COR-016, Training Room 101 Roller Shade Revisions per PR-011  §  863.63
5. CR-007.1, Additional Dump Fees $11,835.59
6. CR-014, Add Power at L-1's $ 6,923.74

TOTAL $23,228.99
The original Contract Sum was $ 2,754,200.00
The net change by previously authorized Change Orders $ 301,903.76
The Contract Sum prior to this Change Order was $ 3,056,103.76
The Contract Sum will be increased by this Change Order in the amount of $ 23,228.99
The new Contract Sum including this Change Order will be $ 3,079,332.75

The Contract Time will be increased by Zero (0) days.
The new date of Substantial Completion will be

NOTE: This Change Order does not include adjustments to the Contract Sum or Guaranteed Maximum Price, or the Contract
Time, that have been authorized by Construction Change Directive until the cost and time have been agreed upon by both the
Owner and Contractor, in which case a Change Order is executed to supersede the Construction Change Directive.

NOT VALID UNTIL SIGNED BY THE ARCHITECT, CONTRACTOR AND OWNER.

DLR Group, Inc. (an Iowa corporation) D.R. Anderson Constructors Co. Pottawattamie County Board of
Supervisors
ARCHITECT (Firm name) TRACTOR (Firgn nameg) OWNER (Firm name)

xR AN

SIGNATURE SIGNATURE =~ \y SIGNATURE

0.H. Martin Berglund G ; 6,(‘/'/’[(. p@&cﬂexf

PRINTED NAME AND TITLE PRINTED NAME AND TITLE ’ PRINTED NAME AND TITLE
June 17, 2022 bt 7/2-2

DATE DATE DATE

AlA Document G701™ — 2017. Copyright @ 1979, 1987, 2000 , 2001 and 2017 by The American Institute of Architects. All rights reserved. The “American
Institute of Architects,” “AlA,” the AIA Logo, and “AlA Contract Documents” are registered trademarks and may not be used without permission. This document
was praduced by AlA software at 10:14:46 ET on 06/17/2022 under Order No.3104236548 which expires on 01/11/2023, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time
use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AlA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail copyright@aia.org.
User Notes: (3B9ADA49)



7735 Irvington Road
Omaha, NE 68134
Ph : (402) 572-7350

| Change Request I

To: Stephen Burgess Number: PR-008
DLR Group Date: 3/4/22
6457 Frances Street, Suite 200 Job: 9573 Pott Co Sheriff's Addition
Omaha, NE 68106-2280 Phone:

Ph: 402-393-4100

Description: Delete Lighting

Reason: Owner Requested
Source: Proposal Request # 008

We are pleased to offer the following specifications and pricing to make the following changes:

ITEM NO. 1. DRAWING E1.0 LIGHTING PLAN, CRAWL SPACE
A.  Delete Drawing E1.0 in its entirety and substitute new drawing as shown on Attachment E1.0.
1. Eliminate Light Fixtures in Crawl Space of addition on west side of existing Vestibule/200.

Description Labor Material Equipment Subcontract Burden Price
Electrical - Sub $-905.09 $-905.09
Subtotal: $-905.09

Total: _"_m

Reviewed, recommend approval.
Stephen H. Burgess 03.07.2022

If you have any questions, please contact me at 402-572-7350.

) -7
Submitted by: Scott Wieczorek Approved by: i 7
D.R. ANDERSON CONSTRUCTORS CO. pate: ] 3/9/22_

Page 1 of 1




7735 Irvington Road
Omaha, NE 68134
Ph : (402) 572-7350

| Change Request I

To: Stephen Burgess Number: CR-013
DLR Group Date: 3/4/22
6457 Frances Street, Suite 200 Job: 9573 Pott Co Sheriff's Addition
Omaha, NE 68106-2280 Phone:

Ph: 402-393-4100

Description: AHU Revsions

Reason: Owner Requested

We are pleased to offer the following specifications and pricing to make the following changes:

1. Revise AHU to improve delivery date due to supply chain issues obtaining factory controls.
2. Add field installed BACnet controlier

Description Labor Material Equipment Subcontract Burden Price
HVAC - Sub $-4,336.00 $-4,336.00
HVAC - Sub $2,297.00 $2,297.00
Subtotal: $-2,039.00

Total: $-2,039.00

Reviewed, recommend approval.
Stephen H. Burgess 03.07.2022

If you have any questions, please contact me at 402-572-7350.

Submitted by: Scott Wieczorek Approved by: >(7—— f

D.R. ANDERSON CONSTRUCTORS CO. Date: W%

Page 1 of 1




| Change Request I

To: Stephen Burgess Number: PR-010
DLR Group Date: 5/3/22
6457 Frances Street, Suite 200 Job: 9573 Pott Co Sheriff's Addition
Omaha, NE 68106-2280 Phone:

Ph: 402-393-4100

Description: Add Drinking Fountain

Reason: Owner Requested

We are pleased to offer the following specifications and pricing to make the following changes:

Add drinking fountain in existing locker area as noted by PR-010

7735 Irvington Road
Omaha, NE 68134
Ph : (402) 572-7350

Description Labor Material Equipment Subcontract Burden Price
Plumbing - Sub $5,257.82 $5,257.82
Electrical - Sub $969.00 $969.00
Subtotal: $6,226.82

Insurance $6,226.82 0.19% $11.96

GCOH&P $6,226.82 5.00% $311.34

Total: $6,550.12

Reviewed: 05.26.2022
Stephen H. Burgess
DLR Group

If you have any questions, please contact me at 402-572-7350.

Submitted by: Scott Wieczorek Approved by:

D.R. ANDERSON CONSTRUCTORS CO. Date:

Page 1 of 1



sburgess
Text Box
Reviewed: 05.26.2022
Stephen H. Burgess
DLR Group


CO No. 104

CO Date 5/3/2022
Customer Order Number 9573

Customer Information

D R Anderson Constructors Co
PO Box 34340

Omaha, NE 68122

PLUMBING HEATING & AIR
Est. 1957

8506 S 117th St, LaVista, NE 68128

CHANGE ORDER

Job Information
Pottawattamie Sheriff Office
1400 Big Lake Rd

Council Bluffs, 1A 51501

Description:

PR-010: Add EWC-1 in Maintenance/140.

Breakdown

Extended Price

Labor

Material

Accepted By

1,430.19

3,827.63

Total this Change Order: 5,257.82

Please sign and return as soon as possible.

Accepted Date




April 25, 2022

D R Anderson Constructors Co.

7735 Irvington Rd.

Omaha, NE 68122

Attention: Scott Wieczorek

RE: PR-010 (Pottawattamie Co. Sheriff’s Office.)

Sir,

Please find enclosed our proposal for the above mentioned project.
This Proposal includes the following:

1: Add (1) Dedicate GFCI Circuit for water fountain.

Please Note: This proposal EXCLUDES the following:
1: Any work not listed above.
2: Sales Tax.

Adder Proposal Price: $969.00
(Nine Hundred Sixty Nine Dollars.)

Please call if you have any questions concerning this proposal.
As always thank you for allowing ABC to quote your electrical projects.
Thank you,

Jeff Mohr, Estimator



Estimate Report

Estimate: PR-10 04/25/22 1:01:38 PM
Estimated by: Jeff Mohr
File: PR-10.bhs Page 2

Worksheet Location: PR-10 (Sheet 1)

DB # Ph. Description Quantity Mat. Ceost U Tot« Mat: Labs Hrs. U Tot. Hrs:

0 BR=10

0 ADD WATERFOUNTAIN IN MATINANCE AREA
I 5512 1 0T-4S0Q 1 1/2D W/BX COMB 1.00 252:67 € 2453 Dadh B 0.21
I 5008 1 OT-450 1G 5/8 D PL RING 1.00 134.87 C 1..35 Q.07 -E 0.07
I 5540 1 0T-4S8¢ 2 1/8D COM KO 1.00 30T 47 & 3.01 0:21 E 0.21
I 5elg 1 OT-4SQ COVER BLANK 1/2KO 1.00 156.74 C 1.2 0.07 E 0.07
I 3680 20 GD-GROUND SCREW/TAIL 2.00 1.40 E 2.8 5.50 € 0% 51
I 1084 6 DEZ2-20A IV DPLX-HUBBELL 1.00 286.00 € 2.86 22:00 C 0.22
I 5788 6 PL-1G SS DUPLEX PLATE 1.00 0.83 B 0.83 278 € 003
I 1844 1 EM-3/4 EMT-CONDUIT 70.00 15198 @ 10639 41.95 € 3.47
I 1922 1 EM-3/4 CoMP COUP C 6.00 102.45 C £..15 0.00 C 0.00
I 1942 1 EM-3/4 COMP CONN C 4.00 89.84 C 3..59 1100 & 0.44
T 3858 1 HA-3/4 MINERALLAC 14.00 B9 46 T8 660 € 0.82
1 8188 3 WC-THHEN-STRA #12 240.00 267.07 M 64.10 Dt M 1.39
I 6836 7 PCB-20A 1P B-O BKR.GFCI 1.00 96.25 B 9625 0.28 B 0.28

Regular Worksheet Page

Page Multiplier = 1

Material Multiplier = 1

Labor Multiplier = 1

Phase = 0 : Phase Multiplier = 1
Page is Active.

Raw Material Total = $299.18
Raw Labor Hours = 7.40 Hours

ABC Electric Inc.
Printout from BHSestimator (c) - BHS, Inc., Bolivar, Missouri, USA



Estimate: PR-10
Estimated by: Jeff Mohr
File: PR-10.bhs

Estimate Report

04/25/22 1:01:38 PM

Page 1

Summary Page

Raw Material Cost $299.18

Material Tax 0.0000% $0.00

Material Markup 0.0000% $0.00

Material Total = $299.18

Labor Cost $540.43

Labor Tax 0.0000% $0.00

Labor Markup 0.0000% $0.00

Labor Total $540.43

Job Expense $0.00

Job Cost $839.61
Overhead: 10.0000% $83.96

SubTotall: $923.57
Profit: 5.0000% 546.18

SubTotalZ: $969.75
Markup Category Percent Dollars
Special Insurance 0.00 $0.00
Performance Bond 0.00 $0.00
Taxes 0.00 $0.00
Adjustments 0.00 $0.00
Summary Markups Total: & $0.00
Quotes/Subcontract Total $0.00
Active Linked Estimates

Estimate Total: $969.75
Figure Used: $969.00
Labor/Material Ratio = 64: 36

Square Footage Calculations Not Performed

2379292

Lck

ABC Electric Inc.

Printout from BHSestimator (c) - BHS, Inc., Bolivar, Missouri, USA



| Change Request I

To: Stephen Burgess Number: PR-011
DLR Group Date: 5/25/22
6457 Frances Street, Suite 200 Job: 9573 Pott Co Sheriff's Addition
Omaha, NE 68106-2280 Phone:

Ph: 402-393-4100

Description:  Training Room 101 Roller Shade Rev

Reason: Owner Requested

We are pleased to offer the following specifications and pricing to make the following changes:

Add Cost to provide SW7500 Blackout Fabric and provide and install Side/Sill Channel on (4) windows in Training Room 101

7735 Irvington Road
Omaha, NE 68134
Ph : (402) 572-7350

Description Labor Material Equipment Subcontract Burden Price
Window Treatment - Sub $821.00 $821.00
Subtotal: $821.00

Insurance $821.00 0.19% $1.58

GCOH&P $821.00 5.00% $41.05

Total: $863.63

Reviewed: 05.26.2022
Stephen H. Burgess
DLR Group

If you have any questions, please contact me at 402-572-7350.

Submitted by: Scott Wieczorek Approved by:

D.R. ANDERSON CONSTRUCTORS CO. Date:

Page 1 of 1



sburgess
Text Box
Reviewed: 05.26.2022
Stephen H. Burgess
DLR Group


7735 Irvington Road
Omaha, NE 68134
Ph : (402) 572-7350

| Change Request I

To: Stephen Burgess Number: CR-007.1
DLR Group Date: 4/14/22
6457 Frances Street, Suite 200 Job: 9573 Pott Co Sheriff's Addition
Omaha, NE 68106-2280 Phone:

Ph: 402-393-4100

Description:  Additional Dump Fees

Reason: Owner Requested

We are pleased to offer the following specifications and pricing to make the following changes:

Additional dump/landfill fees for materials hauled-off on 12-03.

As noted on attached email, there was miscommunication wtih scale house operator on fees for materials placed at entry roads.
The landfill did charge fees for these materials.

Description Labor Material Equipment Subcontract Burden Price
Earthwork Sub $11,251.42 $11,251.42
Subtotal: $11,251.42

Insurance $11,251.42 0.19% $21.60

GCOH&P $11,251.42 5.00% $562.57

Total: W

Reviewed: April 20, 2022
Stephen H. Burgess

If you have any questions, please contact me at 402-572-7350.

Submitted by: Scott Wieczorek Approved by:
D.R. ANDERSON CONSTRUCTORS CO. Date:

Page 1 of 1



sburgess
Text Box
Reviewed:  April 20, 2022
                   Stephen H. Burgess


Scott Wieczorek

From: Matt Weis <matt@nationalconcretecutting.com>
Sent: Thursday, April 14, 2022 4:24 PM

To: Scott Wieczorek

Subject: RE: Pott County COR 2

Scott,

COR 2 is just for additional dump fees for the dirt at the landfill. $5942.26 that was listed as fees (landfill dump fees) on
COR 1 was the first invoice | received from the landfill. | mistakenly thought that was for everything we hauled. They
sent a second invoice later and that $11,251.42 was just the dump fees from 12/3. The trucking of that material was
covered under COR 1. I'm not even trying to make any money on it, just want the cost covered. Hope that helps. Let
me know.

Thanks.

Matt Weis

National Concrete Cutting
PM/Estimator
C:402-510-7822

NATIONAL
CONCRETE
CUTTING

WE HAVE MOVED!

Our New Office and Shop Location
4875 East Manawa Dr.

Council Bluffs, IA 51501

From: Scott Wieczorek <SWieczorek@dranderson.com>
Sent: Thursday, April 14, 2022 4:15 PM

To: Matt Weis <matt@nationalconcretecutting.com>
Subject: RE: Pott County COR 2

Matt,

Trying to review this and | am not sure what was hauled on the 3™. Can you get me some additional info on this? Going
through previous CO’s | thought this would have been covered?



CHANGE ORDER

NATIONAL CONCRETE CUTTING, INC.

4875 E Manawa Dr * COUNCIL BLUFFS * IOWA *51501
TELEPHONE (712) 325-1125 FAX (712) 329-8989 TOLL FREE (800) 338-8821
E-mail matt@nationalconcretecutting.com
Concrete Sawing  Specialized Demolition  Core Drilling  Breaking and Removing ~ Wall Sawing  Trenching

PROPOSAL SUBMITTED TO JOB NAME PROPASAL DATE
DR Anderson Pott Co Sheriff 1/12/22
STREET ADRESS JOB ADRESS PHONE NUNBER
CITY,STATE ZIP CODE CONTACT NAME FAX NUMBER

We hereby submit a proposal for: Demo as described below.

COMPLETED WORK
1. Dump fees for loads hauled 12/3/21

CHANGE ORDER: $11,251.42

This proposal is based on conducting all work during normal working hours unless specifically stated in the proposal. Work required by customer to be
done after hours or weekends or holidays will be billed separately for additional charges. All excavations, borings, sawing and breaking are done in
locations and depths as laid out and specified and supervised by the Owner, Contractor or their Representatives. WE ARE NOT RESPONSIBLE FOR
DAMAGE TO ANY PIPES, CONDUITS CABLES, FACILITIES, STRUCTURES, OR EQUIPMENT LOCATED BEHIND THE SURFACE OR
WALL OR SLAB. We are not responsible for delays due to weather or circumstances beyond our control. Any alterations or deviation from above
specifications involving extra cost will be executed only by written orders. Said additional work will become an extra change order above the estimate.
All agreements contingent upon strike accidents or delays beyond our control. Customer, Owner Contractor to carry fire, tornado, and other necessary
insurance. Our workers are fully covered by Workers Compensation Insurance.

Proposal by NATIONAL CONCRETE CUTTING, INC. Authorized Signature

Acceptance of Proposal

The above prices, specifications and conditions are satisfactory and hereby accepted.

You are authorized to do the work as specified. All payments will be net 30 days upon.

Completion unless explicitly stated as part of the proposal above Typed or Printed Name

Date of Acceptance Signature







01-00!
01-0

11251




To: Stephen Burgess
DLR Group
6457 Frances Street, Suite 200
Omaha, NE 68106-2280
Ph: 402-393-4100

Description: Add Power at L-1's

Reason: Owner Requested
Source: RFI # 08

7735 Irvington Road
Omaha, NE 68134
Ph : (402) 572-7350

| Change Request I

Number: CR-014
Date: 5/27/22
Job: 9573 Pott Co Sheriff's Addition
Phone:

We are pleased to offer the following specifications and pricing to make the following changes:
Add (8) Dedicated GFCI Circuits for L-1 sinks in Restrooms 106 and 107.

Description Labor Material Equipment Subcontract Burden Price
Electrical - Sub $6,582.00 $6,582.00
Subtotal: m

Insurance $6,582.00 0.19% $12.64

GCOH&P $6,582.00 5.00% $329.10

Total:  $6,923.74

If you have any questions, please contact me at 402-572-7350.

Submitted by: Scott Wieczorek

Approved by:

D.R. ANDERSON CONSTRUCTORS CO. Date:

Page 1 of 1




April 27, 2022

D R Anderson Constructors Co.

7735 Irvington Rd.

Omaha, NE 68122

Attention: Scott Wieczorek

RE: RFI-08 (Pottawattamie Co. Sheriff’s Office.)

Sir,

Please find enclosed our proposal for the above mentioned project.

This Proposal includes the following:

1: Add (8) Dedicated GFCI Circuits for sinks in Restrooms 106 and 107.

Please Note: This proposal EXCLUDES the following:
1: Any work not listed above.
2: Sales Tax.

Adder Proposal Price: $6,582.00
(Six Thousand Five Hundred Eighty Two Dollars.)

Please call if you have any questions concerning this proposal.
As always thank you for allowing ABC to quote your electrical projects.
Thank you,

Jeff Mohr, Estimator



Estimate Report

Estimate: RFI-08 05/27/22 9:20:30 AM
Estimated by: Jeff Mohr
File: RFI-08.bhs Page 2

Worksheet Location: PR-10(Sheet 1)

DB # Ph. Description Quantity Mat. Cost U Tot. Mat. Lab. Hrs. U Tot. Hrs.

0 PR-10

0 ADD POWER TO TWO SINKS IN RESTROOMS 106 AND 107

0 4-20A 120V GFCI CKT'S TO EACH FOR HAND DRYERS, FAUCET'S AND SOPA DISPENSERS
I 5512 1 OT-45Q 1 1/2D W/BK COMB 8.00 252,67 G 200 2. 0.21 E 1.6
I 5608 1 OT-480Q 1G 5/8 D PL RING 8.00 134.87 C 10.79 0.07 E @53
I 3680 20 GD-GROUND SCREW/TAIL 12.00 1.90 E 22.84 5.50 C 0.66
I 5540 1 OT-45Q 2 1/8D COM KO 4.00 301.47 C 1206 0.21 E 0.84
I 5618 1 OT-48Q COVER BLANK 1/2KO 4.00 156.74 C 6,27 0.07 E 0.26
I 1844 1 EM-3/4 EMT-CONDUIT 350.00 151.99 € Bl 95 4.95 C 1I7.23
I 1864 1 EM-3/4 EMT-30-ELLS 8.00 13.49 E 107.89 0.13 E 1.06
T 21922 1 EM-3/4 COMP COUP C 34.00 102.45 C 34.83 0.00 C 0.00
I 1942 1 EM-3/4 COMP CONN C 24.00 89.84 C 21..56 1100 € 2.64
I 3868 1 HA-3/4 MINERALLAC 58.33 55.46 C 32.35 6.60 C 3.85
I 8188 3 WC-THHN-STRZ #12 1800.00 244.48 M 440.06 5.78 M 10.40
I 1084 6 DE2-20A IV DPLX-HUBBELL 8.00 286.00 C 2288 2200 € 1.76
I 5788 6 PL-1G SS DUPLEX PLATE 8.00 0.83 E 6.60 2:75 € Qw22
I 6836 7 PCB-20A 1P B-O BKR.GFCI 8.00 157.30 E 1258.40 0.28 E 2.20

Regular Worksheet Page

Page Multiplier =1

Material Multiplier = 1

Labor Multiplier = 1

Phase = 0 : Phase Multiplier =1
Page is Active.

Raw Material Total = $2,528.069
Raw Labor Hours = 43.41 Hours

ABC Electric Inc.
Printout from BHSestimator (¢) - BHS, Inc., Bolivar, Missouri, USA



Estimate: RFI-08

Estimated by: Jeff Mohr

File: RFI-08.bhs

Estimate Report

05/27/22 9:20:30 AM

Page 1

Summary Page

Raw Material Cocst $2,528.69

Material Tax 0.0000% $0.00

Material Markup 0.0000% $0.00

Material Total $2,528.6%9

Labor Cost 53,:170.23

Labor Tax 0.0000% $0.00

Labor Markup 0.0000% $0.00

Labor Total $3,170.23

Job Expense $0.00

Job Cost $5,698.92
Overhead: 10.0000% $569.89

SubTotall: $6,268.81
Profit: 5.0000% $313.44

SubTotal?2: 56,582.25
Markup Category Percent Dollars
Special Insurance 0.00 $0.00
Performance Bond 0.00 $0.00
Taxes 0.00 $0.00
Adjustments 0.00 $0.00
Summary Markups Total: - $0.00
Quotes/Subcontract Total 50.00
Active Linked Estimates

Estimate Total: 86,582.25
Figure Used: $6,582.25

Labor/Material Ratio

= bb:

44

Square Footage Calculations Not Performed

A

Lck

ABC Electric Inc.
Printout from BHSestimator (c) - BHS, Inc., Bolivar, Missouri, USA



Becky Lenihan/Tax and Finance Officer,
Auditor’s Office.

Discussion and/or decision to approve and
authorize the Board to sign Transfer
Resolutions:

Resolution No. 46-2022 — Transfer from Rural Services to

Secondary Roads Fund.



RESOLUTION NO. 46-2022

RESOLUTION for Transfer from Rural Services Fund to
Secondary Roads Fund

WHEREAS, it is desired to transfer money from Rural Services Fund to
Secondary Roads Fund; and

WHEREAS, said transfer is in accordance with Section 331.432, Code of
Iowa; and

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the Pottawattamie County
Board of Supervisors as follows:

SECTION 1: The sum of $1,303,750 is ordered to be transferred from Rural
Services Fund to Secondary Roads Fund, and

SECTION 2: The Auditor is directed to correct his/her book accordingly
and to notify the Treasurer of this operating transfer.

Dated this 28th Day of June, 2022.

ROLL CALL VOTE

AYE NAY ABSTAIN ABSENT

O O O O
Tim Wichman, Chairman

O @] O O
Scott Belt

O O O O
Lynn Grobe

O O O O
Justin Schultz

O O O O
Brian Shea
ATTEST:

Melvyn Houser, County Auditor



Other Business



Jana Lemrick/Director, Human
Resources and Mark
Shoemaker/Director,

Conservation

Discussion and/or decision to approve the job
description for the Mechanical Operations and
Maintenance Technician position.



Pottawattamie County, lowa
Class Description

Title: Mechanical Operations and Maintenance Technician FLSA Status: Non-Exempt
Department: Conservation Job Code:
Bargaining Unit/Grade: Non-Union, 514 Updated: 6/15/2022

R ———S——————————________—_—_—_—_—_—_—_—_——“_n“_mj§$9p_——_—_—_—_—~—.——..—.
General Definition of Work

Perform a variety of routine maintenance, service, and repair duties to assist in the upkeep of County
equipment and properties. Tasks will consist of general maintenance of buildings including carpentry,
minor plumbing, and mechanical and minor electric repairs and maintenance. General maintenance on
outside equipment including ski-lifts, outdoor power equipment, small engines, and operation stations for
lifts. Directly reports to the Site Manager and Mechanical Operations & Maintenance Manager.
L
Essential Functions

To perform this job successfully, an individual must be able to perform each essential function
satisfactorily. The requirements listed below are representative of the knowledge, skill, and/or ability
required. Reasonable accommodations may be made to enable an individual with disabilities to perform
the essential functions.

Perform routine maintenance on buildings including but not limited to siding replacement, window
replacement, inside wall changes including framing, electrical, plumbing, and finish work.

Perform routine maintenance and repair on machinery and equipment, change filter, grease and
oil as needed. Examine belts, shafts, bearings, and equipment to wear.

Perform minor repairs on electrical fixtures and equipment such as switches, receptacle, fans, +
lights.

Perform minor plumbing repairs and install water pipes, faucets, toilets, sewer drains, and vents,
maintain septic system.

Conducts carpentry work, repairs and replace building frames, insulation, drywall, roofing, and
painting and concrete work as needed.

Operate a vehicle safely and in compliance with traffic laws and regulations, in the performance
of job duties. Operate pickups and trailers, skid steer, high lifts and other heavy machinery, and
equipment as needed.

Perform snow removal as needed.

Perform duties in high lift up to 60 ft. in the air, or on maintenance lift chairs.

Conduct routine inspections (lights, tires, fluid levels, safety device, etc.) on assigned vehicles to
assure proper operation, inform supervisor of needed parts or repairs.

Work in other departments when needed and perform other duties as assigned.

Baker Tilly’s SAFE® System May 2020 1|Page



Pottawattamie County, lowa
Class Description

Minimum Qualifications

Must be eighteen (18) years old at the time of hire. High School Diploma or GED required.

2-5 years’ experience in various aspects of manual labor, power-tool use, equipment construction,
plumbing, operations of heavy equipment, or equivalent combination of education and experience
required.

Must be able and willing to work flexible schedule to include early mornings, overnights, holidays, and
weekends required.

Special Qualifications

Must be reliable and punctual and have own transportation.

Be able to work in a cold environment for extended periods of time.

Solid mechanical and electrical aptitude.

Skills to be able to assist in troubleshooting and repair any ski hill machinery.

Previous experience working at a ski area with chair lifts, snowmaking machines, snowmobiles, and
snowcats will be highly preferred.

Work as part of a team and can foster a positive, fun, and safe work environment.

Flexibility to work during evenings, weekends, and holidays

Knowledge, Skill, and Abilities

General knowledge of tools and techniques, equipment, and machinery used in the trade.
General knowledge of the safe operation of tools and equipment.

Ability to prioritize and manage multiple, and concurrent projects.

Ability to pay close attention to detail and to effectively organize time and anticipate, plan, and
successfully respond to changing circumstances.

Ability to establish and maintain effective working relationships with co-workers, supervisors, other
departments, and the public.

Working Conditions

The physical demands and work environment characteristics described here are representative of those
that must be met by an employee to successfully perform the essential functions of this job. Reasonable
accommodations may be made to enable individuals with disabilities to perform the essential functions.

Attendance at work is an essential function of this position. Work is performed mainly outdoors and
requires a considerable amount of physical activity.

An incumbent must have the ability to frequently lift, push, pull and/or carry equipment, supplies and other
materials weighing up to 50 Ibs. and to occasionally lift, push, pull and/or carry equipment, supplies and
other materials weighing up to 100 Ibs with a two-man lift. Work regularly requires speaking or hearing,
using hands to grasp, handle, or feel. Reaching with hands and arms. Frequently requires standing,

Baker Tilly’s SAFE® System May 2020 2|Page



Pottawattamie County, lowa
Class Description

walking, climbing, or balancing, stooping, kneeling, crouching, or crawling, pushing, or pulling,
occasionally requires sitting, or repetitive motions. Work has standard vision requirements. Vocal
communication is required for expression or exchanging ideas by means of spoken word and conveying
detailed or important instructions to others accurately, loudly, or quickly; hearing is required to perceive
information at normal spoken word levels and to receive detailed information through oral communication.
Operating motor vehicles or equipment and observing general surroundings and activities. Work
frequently requires working near moving mechanical parts, exposure to outdoor weather conditions and
exposure to the risk of electric shock and occasionally requires wet humid conditions, working in high
places, exposure to toxic or caustic chemicals, expose to extreme cold, expose to extreme heat,
exposure to vibration, and blood borne pathogens. May be required to wear specialized PPE, including
fall arrest harnesses.

Baker Tilly’s SAFE® System May 2020 3|Page



Jason Slack/Director, Building & Grounds
and Jana Lemrick/Director, Human
Resources and Steve Winchell/Captain, Jail

Discussion and/or decision regarding pay for
Jail Maintenance Superintendent position.



Jana Lemrick/Director, Human
Resources

Discussion and/or decision to approve and authorize
Board to sign corrected Memorandum of Understanding
Between Pottawattamie County and the American
Federation of State, County and Municipal Employees
(AFSCME), Local 2364-911 Agreement for the employees
of the Pottawattamie County Communications Center,
effective July 1, 2022, through June 30, 2023.



MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING
BETWEEN
POTTAWATTAMIE COUNTY
AND THE
AMERICAN FEDERATION OF STATE, COUNTY AND
MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEES (AFSCME),
LOCAL 2364-911

Pottawattamie County and the American Federation of State, County and Municipal Employees
(AFSCME) (hereinafter the "Bargaining Unit') are parties to a Collective-Bargaining Agreement
and have agreed to certain terms and conditions for Employees of the Pottawattamie County
Communications Center covered under the contract.

It is agreed between the parties that this memorandum of understanding will be effective July

15t 2022 - June 30t 2023,

Uniforms

Each full-time, non-introductory, Employee shall be provided five (5) uniform shirts by the
Employer after successful completion of the training program. The Employer shall thereafter
replace up to five (5) uniform shirts each fiscal year.

Longevity

Employees with more than five (5) years continuous service shall be eligible for longevity
pay pursuant to the following schedule:

5™ Anniversary $.30/hr
10" Anniversary $.65/hr
15" Anniversary $.95/hr
20" Anniversary $1.05/hr

Employees who are eligible for longevity shall receive longevity and longevity increases at
the beginning of the pay period in which the Employee's anniversary date occurs.

Working Out of Classification
The bargaining unit Employees qualified to act in a supervisory capacity shall receive additional

compensation for each hour worked in such capacity as follows:
Two Dollars ($2.00) per hour

The Director shall establish an eligibility list based upon the Employees ability to perform the
Supervisor, Assistant Supervisor and Communication Training Officer duties; and the following
minimum standards:

No Employee shall be required to perform the duties of the Supervisor, Assistant
Supervisor or Communication Training Officer until training has been completed.




Callback Pay
An Employee who is called back to work by the Employer shall be paid a minimum of two (2)

hours pay at one and one-half (1 %2) his regular pay or shall receive compensatory time unless
such call back is one (1) hour or less prior to the Employee's regular shift. Also, the minimum
does not apply when an Employee is ordered to work beyond the Employee's regular shift. This
shall include call back time for court appearance, which shall also include telephonic and video
hearings, provided that the Employee is testifying because of circumstances arising out of his or
her assigned work duties and further provided that the Employee has been ordered to testify by
a Supervisor or is subpoenaed. Call back time shall also include being called in to work for
training, having to be present for Internal Affairs investigations or as directed by the Director of
Operations, Assistant Director of Operations or a Shift Supervisor.

Perfect Attendance Leave

After completion of the Introductory Period, an Employee shall be eligible to earn twelve (12)
hours off with pay at the regular rate for each calendar quarter in which perfect attendance is
achieved. This leave must be used within twelve (12) months of being earned. Perfect Attendance
leave must be taken in twelve (12) hour increments.

Employees are not eligible for Perfect Attendance Leave if the following occurs:

I. Employee utilizes personal or family sick leave.

2. If the Employee utilizes any other paid leave for the purpose of sick leave or FMLA
leave.

3. If attendance points are assessed for a tardy.

4. If the Employee is in an unpaid status, to include unpaid suspensions.

Holidays, vacation, compensatory time off, casual day, Perfect Attendance day, on the job injury,
funeral in the immediate family or jury duty shall not count against perfect attendance.

Requests for earned leave shall be made in accordance with the Vacation Article of the
agreement.

Temporary/Part-time Employees shall not be eligible for perfect attendance compensation.

Shift Differential

A shift differential of ninety cents ($.90) per hour will be paid to bargaining unit Employees
whose regularly schedule shift occurs between 1800-0600. To be eligible the Employee must
work at least three (3) hours of the applicable shift for at least (50%) of the available hours
during the month. Shift differential shall not be paid for work performed as overtime.

Hours of Work
It is understood and agreed to by both parties that the hours of work will be reviewed after
one year to determine feasibility by both parties.



This article is intended to set forth the normal work week and work schedule, but shall not
be construed as a guarantee of hours of work per day or week or days of, work per week.

Section 1. The minimal work schedule for Employees working a continuous shift shall
commence on July 1st, 2022 and thereafter shall continue using the following schedule, to
wit:

* Two (2) consecutive twelve (12) hour workdays, followed by two (2) consecutive
days off, followed by one (I) twelve (12) hour day and one (1) six (6) hour day,
followed by three (3) consecutive days off, followed by two (2) twelve (12) hour days
on and one (1) day off and ending with one (1) six (6) hour day on and three (3)
twelve (12) hour days on.

* Arepetition of the schedule above.

¢ The first shift shall be from 0600-1800, while the second shift will be from 1800-0600.

*  Scheduled six (6) hour days shall be divided into the front and back half of the
respective shift. The front half will be scheduled on days leading up to the three (3)
consecutive days off. The back half will be scheduled leading up to the three (3)
twelve (12) hour days on.

* No Employee shall be required or ordered to work beyond sixteen (16) hours in any
shift.

* Theabove schedule createsa forty-two (42) hour work week. Asaresult, every seven
(7) day week commencing on Saturday and ending on Friday, each Employee shall
be required to take two (2) hours of earned time off (ETO).

0 The time off shall be in increments of at least thirty (30) minutes, up to and
including two (2) hours. The ETO shall be utilized before any paid leave is
granted with the exception of holiday leave and Perfect Attendance leave.

o If for any reason the Employee is unable to take the full two (2) hours off
during a seven (7) day work week, the Employee shall be compensated in
accordance with Article 8, Overtime Compensation.

* Employees shall report to their duty assignments and shall remain there until the
end of their shifts or until relieved by his/her shift supervisor or acting supervisor.

e Employees unable to report for duty shall notify the Employer as soon as possible.

e Employees shall receive, when possible, a thirty (30) minute lunch period
and two (2), fifteen (15) minute breaks. The thirty (30) minute lunch period
shall be a paid lunch period for continuous shift Employees. When staffing
permits, Employees may combine the paid lunch break and the two (2) fifteen
(15) minute breaks.

e In the event the Center only has minimum staffing, the Employees may take
their break in the break room as time permits. Minimum staffing
requirements are determined by the Director. Itis understood thatthe nature
of a telecommunicator's work may at times require that no lunch or
shortened break periods be taken.




Section 2. Day-Light Savings Time:

e Employees that are affected by Daylight Savings Time shall be paid for actual hours worked.
Those Employees so affected by the one (1) hour addition to their regular shift shall work
an additional one (1) hour and will be paid at time and one-half (1) for that additional
hour.

o When daylight savings time begins in the spring and the clocks are set one (1) hour
ahead, those Employees working a shift so affected by the one (1) hour reduction
in their regular work shift shall have a choice of:

o End their shift and use one (1) hour of their vacation or compensatory time; or
work stay over onto day shift and work one (1) hour.

o Ifan Employee takes the shift off the Employee will be required to utilize twelve
(12) hours of vacation or compensatory time in order to meet the forty (40) hour
work week.

Section 3. All Employees working on the communication floor, regardless of classification
will be placed in an on-call status, in rotation as outlined below

a.

b.

On-call status will incur based on a waterfall rotation in order of seniority.

Frequency of on-call status will be dependent on the number of people assigned to the
Employee's shift.

. Employees can trade their on-call weeks or give them away if another Employee is

willing to accept being on-call in their place. The On-Call Trade or Acceptance
Agreement form is the responsibility of the Employees to fill out.

. Prior to the Employee being called in. overtime will be offered to all Employees

based on seniority, utilizing a call out list. If no one voluntarily takes the overtime
the on-call person will be notified of the overtime.

.On-call response time is one (1) hour from the time of notification.

. Employees placed in an on-call status will be compensated a flat rate of $5.00 per hour

regardless of if the Employee is called in to work or not. If an Employee in on-call
status is required to respond to the communication center for work, they are paid
either the flat rate fee or overtime pay, whichever of the two is greater.

Section 4. In the event there are extenuating circumstances and increased staffing is
required an Employee can be forced from each shift preceding or following the hours the
overtime is required, for a maximum four (4) hours. Employees will be notified of these
circumstances in a timely manner.

Pottawattamie County Board of AFSCME/IA Council 61

Supervisors Chairman



Approve and authorize Chairman to sign
Employment Agreements with:

Chief Information Officer David Bayer,
HR Director Jana Lemrick, Buildings and
Grounds Director Jason Slack, Budget
and Finance Director Mitch Kay, Planning
and Development Director Matt Wyant,
Community Services Director Suzanne
Watson, Engineer John Rasmussen,
Conservation Director Mark Shoemaker,
Veteran Affairs Director Margarita Dooley
and GIS Coordinator Jamie Petersen.



Discussion and/or decision to
approve application for Permit to
Display Fireworks filed by Conor

Gillaspie, for display on July 4th, at
101 Maple Dr, Treynor.



POTTAWATTAMIE COUNTY
APPLICATION FOR PERMIT TO DISPLAY FIREWORKS

DEADLINE TO SUBMIT APPLICATION: 21 DAYS PRIOR TO DATE OF DISPLAY
1. Telephone Number(s): Business: ( L/O 2)980-6358 Residential: ( 1/9 2 ) 7 ? 0-6358

2. Date and location of the fireworks display and storage. These facilities may be inspected prior to this
permit being issued.

23538 Dogwood Ko
- J
/ feynor, TA 5/575

3. How long will the display fireworks be stored before and after display?
Stered  HI-F/2 , all |, 3% cakes will be fired F13

4. Display fireworks operator information: (Please provideadditional sheets if necessary.)
Name: Conaf M @i/’ﬂf}’ﬂi'i Dateof Birth: O 1/18// 98
Address: |01 Maply Dr
City: ”——fb,s/hor State: L/} Zip: 5/5?5
Telephone Number(s): ( Yo2) 980 - (35 5

5. What training or expertise does the Display Fireworks Operator possess? Attach all supporting

documentation and/ora resume if available.

Federg! Exrp/osiucs License [Pormit | Secure Mmagezing 57%/‘%,1, en site

Exﬁgrienoecf w/ Scr;phnj f/ efire }o/avlforms

6. Provide safety guidelines for display fireworks display, including fire suspension plan, distance of
fireworks from spectators, and how and where fireworks will be stored prior to and following display.

§fpw*¢7‘pr5 will be mudtiple hundreds of ot From disploy
firo works will be sfored jn legal Mugau’na s%ore,}a locats J on
the acrtage, Tf&gnor volunteer fire dzfar'fm(w')' Wil be P(ns.f,wfw/wa}e,r

7. Numberof anticipated spectators for the display? Adults: 6_(@ proy (20 _ Children: e ppros i/ 0

8. Documents to be attached: In addition to any documents supporting your above
responses, please attach the following: 1) Certificate of Liability Insurance for this event,
and 2) Application Fee of $25.00, made payable to Pottawattamie County, Iowa.



FIREWORKS DISPLAY ACKNOWLEDGEMENT AND WAIVER

I understand that the Code of Iowa prohibits certain use of fireworks, but that the Pottawattamie
County Board of Supervisors may, upon a written application, grant a permit for the display of dis play
fireworks by municipalities, fair associations, amusement parks, and other organizations or groups of
individuals approved by the County Board of Supervisors when the fireworks display will be handled by
a competent operator. I understand that the Code of Iowa provides that the sale of fireworks for such
display may be made for that purpose only. I understand further that this permit will be null and void
during times when open burning is prohibited by the State Fire Marshall. Permits to display fireworks
are NOT valid during times of a county-wide burn ban.

I hereby acknowledge that I have adequate insurance coverage for any and all claims that may result

from the requested display of fireworks. I agree to hold Pottawattamie County harmless from any suit

or claim that may result from the granting of a permit for this event. Ifurther acknowledge and agree

that I have obtained the services of a competent operator to handle the fireworks display as required

gnlder the Iowa Code. Information concerning the competency of the operator is attached as provided
elow.

I hereby request that the Pottawattamie County Board of Supervisors grant a permit for display of
fireworks to the following:

Date of Fireworks Display: ?‘/ 3 / 2022

Name of Municipality or
Other Organization Requesting Permit:

Name of Individual Requesting Permit: Ca nor M CJ il / ﬂrSIp i
Address: /0( Map/e, Df"
City/State/Zip Code: Tf&}/ ner, A 5/57'5

Telephone Number: ( L/a 2 ) ‘?30 - (ﬂ 358

Pad e
Signature of Person Requesting Permit: =

AN APPLICATION, APPLICATION FEE OF $25.00, CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE, AND
EVIDENCE OF OPERATOR’S COMPETENCE (INCLUDING OPERATOR’S STAFF, SITE
PLAN — DISTANCES FROM SPECTATORS AND SAFETY PLAN) TO HANDLE THE
FIREWORKS DISPLAY MUST BE ATTACHED TO THIS REQUEST.




6/22/22, 9:28 AM

Mail - Conor Gillaspie - Outiook

Federal Explosives License/Permit

1.5, Departiment of Justhot .« g
Buurean of Aloobol, Tobeooo, Firenrms nd | xplosivvs (18 U.S.C. Chapter 40) e
1n socordanoe witls the provmmons of Titke Xt <k;;unl Urime Control Act of 1970, nmi‘lhr Rudataen posped th st (27 CFR Pm_?‘-"r $ORN 1My cnu_n-u: in

thic sctivity spocitied in this Boense or permat withan the bnntutions of Clagter 40, Title 18, Tnited Sates Code and the regulations sved thereander. until the
exprration dste shown  THIS LICENSE 35 NOT TRANSFERABLE UNDER 27 CER 255,53, Sec “WARNINGS” and "NOTICES" on reverse

Direst ATE ATl - Chich, BELL
Corrampondenoe To 244 Moy Rowd
Murtinsbung, W 25059431

[Cicae Pormit v
BT 5-]A-155-54-41-00623

T November 1, 2024

Cmmﬁvpbﬂ\ulﬁimmng( am?ﬂ ey

Nz
GILASFIE. CONOR MICHAEL

Peemises Adkires (Changis? Moty G FELC 2 Ingg 10 davi bifivs e mens |
27538 DOGWOOD RD
TREYNOR, 14 51575-

Type of Licens of Pesmit
S4.UBER OF cxm,cswcs

ot

hrcmgé“mtﬁmm Statewaent
Thee: o wymm%ms&mm:ﬂunmamamaimamn ussist 3
wransfesor af axpioxives to vecify the idaity u&hkwﬁmdmmm
wm;upmmklhv I7OFR Pas 555 8 diinal
senarnre. A (axed, scamed or eanaided copy dmhmww}xwwhammﬂm -
mmhmuwsdnmmmmmam T spvavrs e hathat of the Taderal
Lapdoniven hemmtﬂ‘l Jor amﬂhp«m of the FLI T eatils thatihis v s rue

Mmhﬂg MM \C’ W Nbﬁf’\ the FELC of amy chanpes. Y

G‘msms.' ccuc‘zﬁ MICHAEL
10t MAPLE DR
TREYNORIA 51575

copy of & Tigenws oF perosit o pamities ok bt i an g b,
Mm%m il abmvwmdlmw Pt 7
Quate. .
Lconsen Parmitior Kespooxibie Person Sigowore Powsition Take
3 i neer Michae ! tHfet {ZQI_'!__

Printed Mume ORI 5 * S

Sravicnsl inm Ll umam s e TR A K GO

ATE B 5410145400 15 Rar 1
[ m———

Federal Explnsives License (FELY Cunttmer Scrvice Information

Tedaral T¥plosives [ sernon Conter {1 LLLCY Lolfros Takphome Numchor
298 Nuswy Rovd Tax Numbser.
Martinsharg, WV 284058451 bl FELCGRMS pove

{RY73 28583342 ATE Livmepses. www atf gov
£3iA3 61044

Change of Addrews (27 UMY S35, 50tauiil). 1iscnaoes of pasmitess may dnnngihe taren of their cerront bame or perndl semns thel boskness of operationt to
sew bocstion 8 which thoy intend regulisrly th cammy om such buvioess or The {x af porm#res is reqisirad o give notificotion of the new location ol s

usiness <o operutions not ks thas 10 dive prive 1o such removal with ‘beﬂwﬁ Fadern Diplosives 1icensing Center. Fhw lcomse v pormit wilk bevalid foethe

wcsminder of the fenm of the original Yicanse o permit. (The Chief, FELC, vball, if fhw liconsee or pormittee i uor qualiied, refer the request for smvended Sornse
nr permit 10 G Bireotor of Industry Operntions for Soniel b accovdumer with § S88,84)

RKightof Succesion {37 (TR 555 59 (2} artain persans sther than e loonsee or pormwiee may securs L right s eurry oo the ssme cxplosive materinly
business or operstions #t the same nddress shewn on, mid for the remander of the tezen of, & cureent l”accmcmp«mn Such persons are. (1) The wn’nmg spose
or ehild. ar execunor. sdministrator, or-ther legal repreneniative of a deosasd Huensoe or pormitios, xad (2 A, reccives of trugtes in baakruptoy. oe an sssignes for
benef of ereditors. 181 I order to securs the right provided by this section, the person or persons continuing the busincss or oparations shall furaish the lisense or
permeit fon i thas businese or eperations for endorsement of such successson o Ihe Chief, FELC, within 30 deve fron the date-on which the successee begins to
vurry on the bustiess o operations.

A onstimaisd o yeverse stdo)
Cut ere I<

i N e o e R e G ET R MR R T T oe Y 1T ew AW W R TR W O3 e e sm

" Pedermt Esplmives License/Fermic {PEL) Informyption Card
Freonse Mot Name, GIELASPIE, CONOR MICHAEL

Busineses Name:

Liconse Pomis Type SS-USER OF EXPLOSIVES

Foparati November 1, 2024

17

]

i

§

1

i

H

1

1]

t | Ldesnse Ponmit Number: 514~ 155-54-41.-00823
1

H

f

1

4

k

B

F{Mease Nose: Yot Valid fix the Sade ux (Hhar Pspwasition of Fxplosives.
]

_—’nmt-ﬁh—-\m—lﬂwﬂnm—n

hitps://outlook.live.com/mait/0/AQMKADAWATY 3ZmYAZS1mMGZILTViY gASLTAWAIOWMAOAL gAAAWOZb CTeZWNIhKKIAH2VBNYeAQAeK5w8ag9Rz(l ...

11



T do ot wse 0—f7L"”€fj shells for Safdy reasons, 40°. of my.
fireworks are 1.3 Consumer Fireworks. T will be Firin

all 1.33 F,'rewor/c; in my %ro—nd firole u;inj an e-Fire pia/H:orm_
All /-33 items ore firale colkes with 4ube sizes all under
2" in diameter, The entice Showw ll be Sorifh,cl and Ficed wsin
o (obra ficin ng‘}&m 50 wen &5 the OPMMLW‘IWEI/ be a
safe dictance from ALL fireworks., The Tregror volunteer
fire de,oa,m‘memL will be present wnd ol Feowerks will be
'imme,o“a/fe/’j bosed d own #o”awirj the ghow.

As an operater, T telke +he mafaonsibilﬁy( o F 759//0,,4;/3 all rades
2 @l rejmlwhon; very se/riou;fj.

Amj (buas"’v'anS/t:once,fnS W)DV? b@ aHSW&rbd 8«1":

C’,VY’O/” : ij ow‘l’O[OOFS LI/C@ l\@‘lLMOL;/. com

or

(op) 480 - 6358



CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE - IOWA

Castle & Associates, Inc
15 E Main St

Treynor, IA 51575

(402) 291-8767
(043/276)

AMERICAN FAMILY
| INSURANCE |

®

American Family Mutual Insurance Company, S.1.
6000 American Parkway

Madison, Wi 53783

For customer service and claims service,
24 hours a day, 7 days a week
1-800-MY AMFAM (1-800-692-6326)

amfam.com

Insured's Name and Address:

Conor and Amanda Gillaspie
101 Maple Dr

Treynor, A 51575

This certificate is issued as a matter of information only and confers no rights
upon the Certificate Holder., This certificate does not amend, extend or alter the
coverage afforded by the policies listed below.

COVERAGES

This is to certify that policies of insurance listed below have been issued to the insured name above for the
requirement, term or condition of any contract or other document with respect to which this certificate ma

by the palicies described herein is subject to all the terms, exclusions, and conditions of such policies.

policy period indicated, notwithstanding any
y be issued or may pertain, the insurance afforded

POLICY DATE
TYPE OF INSURANCE POLICY NUMBER EFFECTIVE EXPIRATION LIMITS OF LIABILITY
(Mo, Day, Yr) (Mo, Day, Yn)
Homeowners/ Bodily Injury and Property Damage
Mobilehomeowners Liability Each Occurrence $ ,000
- Bodily Injury and Property Damage
Boatowners Liability DT ¢ s 000
Farm Liability & Personaf Liability
Farm/Ranch Liability 91001-90257-72 | 06/24/2021 | 06/24/2023 [ occurence > SR
Farm Employer’s Liability
Each Qccurrence $ ,000
Statutory e
Workers Compensation and Each Accident $ 000
Employers Liability T Disease - Each Employee $ 000
Damage - Policy Limit $ ,000
General Liability General Aggregate 5 000
D Commercial General Liability Products - Completed Operations Aggregate  $ 000
{occurrence) Personal and Advertising infury S 000
] Each Occurrence S ,000
| Darnage to Premises Rented to You S ,000
Medical Expense (Any One Person) $ 000
. . Each Occurrencett $ 000
Businessowners Liability Aogregatett S 000
Common Cause Limit
Liquor Liability P : ggg
Automabile Liability
[ Any Auto
L1 All owned Autos
[J scheduled Autos Bodily Injury - Each Person 3 1000
[ Hired Auto Bodily Injury - Each Accldent S 1000
(] Nonowned Autos Property Damage $ )
D Bodily [njury and Property Damage Combined  $ @J
Umbrella Liabi“ty Each Qccurrence/Aggregate $ ],000 000
[ Commercial Blanket Excess Badily Injury and Property Damags 5 3 000: 0
[5] Personal Umbrella Liability 14U5-4743-01 07/25/2021 | 07/25/2023 Each Occurrence S 1:000,000

Other (Miscellaneous Coverages)

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS / VEHICLES / RESTRICTIONS / SPECIAL ITEMS

27538 Dogwood Rd, Treynor I1A 51575

TThe individual or partners shown as insureg
elected to be covered under this policy

] Have [ Have not

TtProducts-Completed Operations aggregate is equal to each
occurrence limit and is included in policy aggregate.

CERTIFICATE HOLDER'S NAME AND ADDRESS

CANCELLATION

Should any of the above described policies be cancelled before the axpiration date
theraof notice will be delivered in accordance with the policy provisions

DATE ISSUED AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE
06/22/2022 Jane Goos
U-201{1A)E4.9/10 COPIES:Certificate Holder/Office/Insured/Agent Stock No. 31260

Stack No. 06668 Rev, 7/02



120T/6/8

A0S e1-Kyunoopod-sig/:sdpy
Ao3-el-Ljunoonod@)si3
$88p-8¢€ (T1L)
10S1S VI ‘synjg [rouno)
ISW9 S €22
1da SID Auno)) snmepeme)od

TS PCHOPY UVILI|UST W
b 4 (Al ) awci

suoney)

Kiebew
waQg uonnjosay ybiH

Ksbew)
w09 uonnjosay YBiH

AssBew) puop
(0185 depy) Auabew) prop

puaga

“BIEp GIO 21 JO 351 3Y) WOy Jnsar Aew gy safewep [eroads 1o jenusnbasuco ‘eIuspIOUT Goanpul Yooup Aue 1o 3[qey 9q AUnoY) 24 1[EYS 11943 OU 1] “BJEp 5U) 03
paydde suoueaydde Aue Jo soueuoiurew: Jo "asn Juawdorarsp 243 UL 10 “BJBD AU JO 85N DY) UL ISISSE 0) UONESI(GO Ou sOWASSE IUNOY) Ay, (=IEP 0} 859008 10) wep Juiptaoxd
uj ‘sjuewennbal uoyesydde suonezIIEAIY Sunounuor) A [N 03 Mep jeneds oy 3o Afiqe ay3 03 st urelo ou saEWI KJUnoy) ayl, “AoBIMooE Juaued 10 [enoursod
Ty 10y Aypiqisuodsor ou SUIMSSE PUE SA[qu YD PaYELoOsSE S pue jep |eneds o1 Jo Aommooe 9G} 0} Se Wie[D O sayewr LJUnosy oYL ‘Joalot) suua) oy Jo Auw pue
JESW3TY SIG) UI UOTEULIOJUT JO SN PUB 9589l 2U3 0} 09053 jim UOISSILUWOD 10 “BOISSILUO 198 Aue woy Sursire AR[IGEI] 10 “51800 ‘SHNSMB] ‘SWTE}D ‘safewsp Auw wog
ssajuuey sjuage pue ‘ssakordms ‘s190m30 SiI pue Ajune)) sy 1 ploy pus AJIouIopur saum (18 38 [ SYs/aY Jeq 90188 e1Ep §10 (fyunod sy} A1unoy) erwenEMmMIOg JO SIS0

A~
e e

LOVY HTIVIS

LOVSE

VAMOI « ALNNOD
HINVLIVMVLLOd




Received/Filed



Office of
Pottawattamie County Treasu rer

e S M LU &
lo:20 .22 toy M
; Date
~ AWATTO ML (DN Uy
A (O T 's\"a\i" ve 6 - = &
Received from 1 ‘
Vo i‘-(\ B Jf:r.&—, [
R _i_- v il _ A 3 \‘ s",_
r 2 N ~ “;“ 1.»“{' NI LD
v OOt i €
Payor_{UTTUAVN ' 2
NE(
TR LR
< Y A1 "’* R ; A
Amount e 2 S%50 TS 2. >4
Toneu SiaSollars % .
% ) : Xt ewsu Leiong
Account to be credited 2
f“\{}.:,_ \‘ﬁ’:“" .; .‘; \,bf\\‘f
- AL YA Y W N
Descriptions of funds __
i £ N
A A Ty, 7B
Received by - 5 RS
N e \_A£
m=anivad D | CALD] —A b
Date ’ May 1,202
o o B Pottawattamle CountyShenffs Off“ce
Total ( | Description [ Lme ltem I
$0.00 Bokimares | 0001-4-05-1060-600000.00¢
$2,610.00 Wgapgq Pﬁerjrpi:cs’ T L _0001-1- -05- 1060-441000-000
"6491659  Civilfees e | 0001-1.05. -1060-440000-000
— ’—‘—I—__, — -
$0.00 Outstanding Checks 7“‘4— 0001-1-05-1060- 82000{)-{}00
R ‘_._ﬁ_,_ =
$67,526.59 | ]
?07,526.59 ITotalQe;g;rg_ o L e
——e L 533,056.52 I total check #221933 ke
! $29,460.07 | total check #221934

$67,526.59 | total deposit



Pottawattamie County Sheriff's Office
Report of Fees Disbursed for

05/02/2022 - 05/31/2022

| Andy Brown, Sheriff of Pottawattamie County IA., do hereby certify that the following is a correct statement of fees
disbursed by me from my office for the period 05/02/2022 - 05/31/2022.

Disbursements:
Paid to Others:

State - Weapon Permit Amount 630.00
Refunds; Publication; Sales; Com 344,716.88
Subtotal 345,346.88
Paid to Treasurer:
Service Fees - Notary Fees; Copy Fees 37,478.57
Postage 3,361.30
Transport - Officer Expenses 15,498.69
Mileage Amount 7,978.03
Report Amount 180.00
County - Weapon Permit Amount 2,610.00
Other - Subpoena 420.00
Subtotal 67,526.59
Total 412,873.47
The above information is respectfully submitted on 6/18/2022 #
/SM——' 2
Andy Brown

Pottawattamie County, IA



Pottawattamie County Sheriff's Office
Report of Fees Collected for

05/02/2022 - 05/31/2022

| Andy Brown, Sheriff of Pottawattamie County IA., do hereby certify that the following is a correct statement of fees
collected by me in my office for the period 05/02/2022 - 05/31/2022.

Receipts:
Service Fees - Notary Fees; Copy Fees 41,802.48
Postage 3,926.03
Transport - Officer Expenses 15,498.69
Mileage Amount 7,916.03
Report Amount 220.00
County - Weapon Permit Amount 2,670.00
State - Weapon Permit Amount 630.00
Refunds; Publication; Sales; Com 313,308.12
Other - Subpoena 385.00
Unapplied 94.00
Total 386,450.35

The above information is respectfully submitted on 6/18/2022 /
S e e

Andy Brown
Pottawattamie County, IA



Appraisal of Commerical Properties in Pottawattamie County

Completed By: Mitchell & Associaties, INC.

May 2022
FACILITY ADDRESS VALUE
AVOCA 358 Elm St. Avoca, IA $120,000.00
CALADONIA 15021 490th St. Griswold, IA $72,000.00
HANCOCK 217 N. Main St., Hancock, IA $60,500.00
LEWIS 15484 State Orchard Rd. Co.Bluffs,|A $200,000.00
WALNUT 705 Oak St., Walnut, 1A $100,000.00
Total Market
otal Viarke $552,500.00

Value:




AN
APPRAISAL

OF

COMMERCIAL PROPERTY
LOCATED AT
358 ELM STREET
AVOCA, IOWA

AS OF

May 16, 2022

PREPARED FOR

Ms. Kristina Treantos
Via email
Kristina.treantos@pottcounty-ia.gov

PREPARED BY

D. Rick Whitesides, MAI, SRA
Certified General Appraiser

MITCHELL & ASSOCIATES, INC.
14611 West Center Road
Omaha, Nebraska 68144

© Copyright 2022, Mitchell & Associates, Inc.



2

MITCHELL & ASSOCIATES, INC.

ROBERT F. MITCHELL, SR., 1893-1983
ROBERT F. MITCHELL, JR., SRPA 1927-2020
R. GREGG MITCHELL, SRA

D. RICK WHITESIDES, MAI, SRA KEVIN P. HERMSEN, MAI

W. BRUCE WILKIE DAVID C. WELLSANDT, MAI

BETH ANDERSEN MELISSA L. RUTHERFORD

RICHARD C. WITTMANN MARK SCHAECHER

REBECCA BELLOWS ALEX FINKLE

JAMES ANDERSEN
May 31, 2022
Ms. Kristina Treantos RE: File #00220814 - Appraisal
Via email Commercial Property
Kristina.treantos@pottcounty-ia.gov 358 EIm St.

Avoca, lowa

Dear Ms. Treantos:

In response to your request and for the purpose of estimating the Market Value of the above referenced
property for asset management purposes, | have personally visited the property, and then conducted an
analysis of the matters pertinent to its current market value. My findings are included in the following
report of 66 pages, plus the supporting Addenda.

This report is intended to be in conformity with the prevailing Standards and Ethics of the Uniform
Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice (USPAP) of the Appraisal Foundation and the Appraisal
Institute. Itisindependently prepared so is not based on a requested minimum value, specific valuation
nor the approval of a loan. It is also in conformity with the laws and Minimum Standards of the State of
lowa where | am licensed.

Your attention is directed toward the sections titled Limiting Conditions and Assumptions,
Definitions, and Appraiser’s Certification, which address contingencies of the appraisal. Additional
contingencies may be interspersed throughout the report where appropriate; therefore, this report
should be considered in its entirety. Your attention is also directed to the special consideration noted
on page 11 regarding the COVID-19 outbreak. The effective date for this appraisal is in a time
where the community is experiencing a serious reaction to the outbreak including many closures or
cancellations including school districts, state and federal declarations of emergency. Public health
officials are calling for social distancing and limited exposure to others. There is currently
insufficient data to indicate market reactions to the outbreak as it applies to the general market or to
specific properties in regards to any effects on value or marketing times.

Conditional only upon my standard Certification, Assumptions and Limiting Conditions, and the
estimated exposure time as stated in this report, it is my opinion the “as is”” Market Value of the subject
properties fee simple estate, as of May 16, 2022 was:

ONE HUNDRED TWENTY THOUSAND DOLLARS
($120,000)

Respectfully submitted,

\ f
) |‘ f j‘
‘K I L.Jh Ar

D. Rick Whitesides, MAI, SRA
General Certified Appraiser - IA CG0143 NE CG9201429;

S:|Reports|2022/002208 14|Report.doc

Real Estate Appraisers & Consultants

14611 West Center Road B Omaha, Nebraska 68144 m PH. 402-330-4500 m FAX 402-330-7207



TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION

Identification of Property, Summary of Salient Facts and Scope of Work

Scope of Work

Appraiser’s Certification
Assumptions and Limiting Conditions
Definitions

Valuation and the Appraisal Process

DESCRIPTIONS
Market Area Description and Analysis
Site Description and Analysis

Description and Analysis of Improvements

ANALYSIS AND CONCLUSIONS
Highest and Best Use
Cost Approach
Direct Sales Comparison Approach
Income Capitalization Approach

Reconciliation and Final Estimate of VValue

ADDENDA

Qualifications of Appraiser
USPAP Standards

Flood Plain Map

Zoning Map and Regulations
Engagement Letter

Page
4
7
10
11

13
14

15
20
24

29
33
34
49
66



IDENTIFICATION OF THE PROPERTY
AND SUMMARY OF SALIENT FACTS

LOCATION: 358 Elm Street, Avoca, lowa 51521. This is about 2 blocks south of
West High Street and one block west of Ellsworth Street, in Avoca
lowa, which is in the eastern portion of Pottawattamie County, lowa.

LEGAL DESCRIPTION: Lots 1, 2, 3in Block 19 Original town of Avoca, Pottawattamie County,
lowa

OWNER OF RECORD: Pottawattamie County
Council Bluffs, lowa

CLIENT/INTENDED USE: The report was ordered by Ms. Kristina Treantos with Pottawattamie
County, who advised this appraisal would be used in asset management
purposes. There are no other intended uses or users of this report.

APPRAISAL PURPOSE: Purpose of this appraisal is to provide a supported estimate of the ‘asis’
fee simple market value of the subject property, as of the date of the site
visit.

INSPECTION DATE: On May 16, 2022, | personally visited subject in the company of Shawn
Bluml with Pottawattamie County. Most photos used in this report
were taken at the time of this inspection.

EFFECTIVE DATE: This appraisal has an effective date of May 16, 2022, the date of the
property visit.

SUBJECT DESCRIPTION: The subject property consists of one building used as a maintenance
building. This building contains one drive-in bay an open office and a
restroom it was built in 1985. The building is of pre-engineered steel
construction with metal panels on the elevations and pitched roof. There
is one overhead door for vehicle entry and a pedestrian door. The
building has 1,920 square feet and is located upon a corner site with
20,550 SF which is totally fenced.

ZONING: Subject is zoned HC (Highway Corridor District) under Avoca
jurisdiction. This district is intended to be applied to sites fronting on
major highways for uses and services normally associated with the
traveling public. Highway Commercial areas should be designed so
that all or most of the needs of the traveling public can be
accommodated at one stop. Other uses include sales, services, and
retail which serve the needs of markets ranging from several
neighborhoods to the overall region. The district is further
characterized by a need for adequate off-street parking. (see zoning
regulations in Addenda).

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
358 EIm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 4
Avoca, lowa




IDENTIFICATION OF THE PROPERTY

AND SUMMARY OF SALIENT FACTS (CONTINUED)

FLOOD PLAIN STATUS:

TITLE HISTORY:

TAX ASSESSMENT:

TAX RATE:

REAL ESTATE TAXES:

PERSONAL PROPERTY:

HIGHEST & BEST USE:

EXPOSURE TIME:

County Maintenance Shed

Subject does appear to be located in a designated flood zone, per
CoreLogic, referencing FEMA Map 19155C0327F, dated April 16,
2013 (map in report).

Per county records, subject does not appear to have sold in the past five
years.

Real estate taxes for Pottawattamie County are combined in one billing
for all governmental subdivisions. The County Assessor is responsible
for estimating ‘actual value’ to which tax rates are applied. Subject
(Parcel #7739 16 133 005) is assessed as follows:

Current Value

2022 Comm. Land Improvement Total Class

Full Value $20,la8 $36,600 $56,708 C
Exempt $20,la8 $36,600 $56,708 C

Net Total $e 1 12] $@ C

Prior Year Value

2821 Comm. Land Improvement Total Class

Full Value %28, 188 $36,608 $56,768 C
Exempt %28, 188 $36,608 $56,768 C

Net Total 58 38 48 C

The 2020 tax rate was $35.930920 per $1,000 of assessed value, which
appears normal for commercial properties in this area. The 2021 tax rate
has not been set, as of the effective date of this report.

Per Pottawattamie County Treasurer’s Office, shows net real estate
taxes of $0 as it is owned by a government entity. Generally these taxes
have delinquent dates of September 1, 2020 for the first half and March
1, 2021 for the second half. Subject is appraised as if all historic tax
obligations (including additional interest or penalties) are paid current.

No furniture, fixtures, business or equipment values are included in this
report.

As concluded herein, highest and best use of subject is ‘as is” with a
maintenance shed.

As described herein, exposure time is estimated time a property interest
being appraised would have been offered on the market prior to a
hypothetical consummation of sale at market value on effective date of
appraisal. Based on a retrospective opinion of past events, assuming a
competitive, open market, | estimated that would have been within 12-
months, reflecting current market conditions.

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

358 Elm Street
Avoca, lowa

© Copyright 2022 Page 5



IDENTIFICATION OF THE PROPERTY
AND SUMMARY OF SALIENT FACTS (CONTINUED)

ENVIRONMENTAL Existing improvement is a maintenance shed It is unknown if

CONDITIONS: hazardous components/materials (urea formaldehyde foam insulation,
asbestos, etc.) were used in construction/renovation or if the site has
contaminants. No evidence of underground fuel storage tanks or
contamination was observed. As a result, environmental conditions are
presumed non-adverse. However, it may be prudent to obtain a current
certified survey and environmental assessment of the property. This
appraisal makes no allowance for environmental remediation or
abatement requirements. Your attention is directed to Limiting
Conditions and Assumptions at the conclusion of this report.

SUMMARY OF INDICATED VALUES FROM THIS REPORT

Market Value via the Cost Approach Not Applicable
Market Value via the Direct Sales Comparison Approach $125,000
Market Value via the Income Capitalization Approach (Fee Simple) $110,000
County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

358 EIm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 6

Avoca, lowa



SCOPE OF WORK

Scope of work refers to research and analysis in this assignment and includes the extent to which the
property is identified, type and extent of data researched, and type and extent of analysis applied.

Extent of Property Identification: The property was identified by its addresses of 358 EIm Street,
Avoca, lowa. Per Pottawattamie County records, this address corresponds to County Parcel number
and legal descriptions summarized in the Salient Facts section of this report.

Type and Extent of Data Researched: | personally visited the property, building measurements were
taken from county assessors web site and verified on site, which provided the information for the
property descriptions. Site size was obtained from the assessor’s website also. Other data was collected
from County public records, conversations with local property owners and brokers, information
published in real estate industry publications and Mitchell & Associates appraisal files. 1 was not
provided with a current soils testing report or survey; therefore, I did not consider the impact on
property value of any possible restrictions or soil issues that might be revealed by these reports. The
COVID-19 virus is having significant impacts to how people live around the world. The impacts are
fairly recent in the area, but there have been many closures. Public health officials are calling for
social distancing and limited exposure to others.

As we progress through 2022, fewer cases are reported but some cautionary measures are still
promoted. Such news has increased the level of fear and anxiety among the community. Single-
family sales have been brisk due to the shrinking inventories and rising prices. Commercial
businesses may experience reduced sales due to recent closing of bars and restaurants except for
drive-thru service, and avoiding places where 10+ people gather. Other businesses are opting for
employees to work remotely.

There is currently insufficient data to indicate market reactions to the outbreak as it applies to the
general market or to specific properties (e.g. places of reported exposures) in regards to any effects
on value or marketing times.

Type and Extent of Analysis Applied: A highest and best use analysis of the property was developed
utilizing inferred or trend methodology, appropriate of the property in light of its site size and building
size as well as the location in a mature area. Due to the age of the structure, estimating depreciation
would be so subjective as to render the cost approach unreliable; therefore, it was omitted from this
appraisal. | researched and found recent sales of buildings supporting the use of the Direct Sales
Comparison Approach. The Income Capitalization Approach was not developed due to a lack of
market information.

Conclusion: The conclusions and analyses were reconciled into the final estimate of value. Based on
my training, experience (see credentials in the Addenda intended to satisfy the Competency Rule of
USPAP) and judgment, I concluded that this appraisal in a summary format including the Direct Sales
Comparison and income approach is appropriate to support a credible estimate of the Fee Simple value
and consistent with the Standards of the 2020-2021 Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal
Practice (USPAP).

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
358 EIm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 7
Avoca, lowa




EXTERIOR PHOTOS

Front (East side)

North side

West side

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022
Avoca, lowa

Page 8




County Maintenance Shed

South side

Sand storage

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

358 Elm Street
Avoca, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 9




APPRAISER'S CERTIFICATION

| certify that, to the best of my knowledge and belief:

The statements of fact contained in this report are true and correct.

The reported analyses, opinions, and conclusions are limited only by the reported assumptions and
limiting conditions and are my personal, impartial, and unbiased professional analyses, opinions, and
conclusions.

| have no present or prospective interest in the property that is the subject of this report and no
personal interest with respect to the parties involved.

| have no bias with respect to the property that is the subject of this report or to the parties involved
with this assignment.

My engagement in this assignment was not contingent upon developing or reporting predetermined
results.

My compensation for completing this assignment is not contingent upon the development or
reporting of a predetermined value or direction in value that favors the cause of the client, the
amount of the value opinion, the attainment of a stipulated result, or the occurrence of a subsequent
event directly related to the intended use of this appraisal.

| have not performed a previous appraisal of the subject property and have not done an appraisal
review involving the subject, or an appraisal consulting assignment involving the subject, within the
past three years.

The reported analyses, opinions and conclusions were developed, and this report has been prepared
in conformity with the requirements of the Code of Professional Ethics and Standards of
Professional Appraisal Practice of the Appraisal Institute and the Uniform Standards of Appraisal
Practice.

The reported analyses, opinions and conclusions were developed, and this report has been prepared
in conformity with the requirements of the Uniform Standards of Appraisal Practice

The use of this report is subject to the requirements of the Appraisal Institute relating to review by its
duly authorized representatives.

| have made a personal inspection of the property that is the subject of this report.

No one provided significant real property appraisal assistance to the person signing this certification.
If there are exceptions, the name of each individual providing significant real property appraisal
assistance is stated in the scope of the report.*

As of the date of this report, I, D. Rick Whitesides, have completed the requirements of the
continuing education program of the Appraisal Institute.

APPRAISER:

) : f
) & 3 | I \ .
‘Neer - X«,L,&»L Alla

D. Rick Whitesides, MAI, SRA - NE CG920142
IA CG01439

1 Source for Items #1-#9, Standards Rule 2-3, Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practices, 2001 Edition

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
358 EIm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 10
Avoca, lowa




ASSUMPTIONS AND LIMITING CONDITIONS

This appraisal has been based on the following limiting conditions:

For purposes of this appraisal, any marketing program for the sale of the property would assume cash or its
equivalent.

No detailed soil studies covering the subject property were available for this appraisal. It is therefore assumed that
soil conditions are adequate to support standard construction consistent with highest and best use.

The date of value to which the conclusions and opinions expressed in this report apply, is set forth in the letter of
transmittal. Further, the dollar amount of any value opinion rendered in this report is based upon the purchasing
power of the American dollar existing on that date.

The appraiser assumes no responsibility for economic or physical factors which may affect the opinions in this
report which occur after the date of the letter transmitting the report or which cause unpredictable changes. Events
such as (but not limited to) natural disasters, wars and economic calamities are examples of such factors.

The appraiser reserves the right to make such adjustments to the analysis, opinions and conclusions set forth in this
report as may be required by consideration of additional data or more reliable data that may become available.

No opinion as to title is rendered. Data relating to ownership and legal description was obtained from county
records and is considered reliable. Title is assumed to be marketable and free and clear of all liens, encumbrances,
easements and restrictions except those specifically discussed in the report. The property is appraised assuming it
to be under responsible ownership and competent management and available for its highest and best use.

If no title policy was made available to the appraiser, they assume no responsibility for such items of record not
disclosed by their customary investigation.

The appraiser assumes no responsibility for hidden or non-apparent conditions of the property, subsoil, or
structures that render it more or less valuable. No responsibility is assumed for arranging for engineering studies
that may be required to discover them.

The property is appraised assuming it to be in full compliance with all applicable federal, state and local
environmental regulations and laws, unless otherwise stated.

The property is appraised assuming that all applicable zoning and use regulations and restrictions have been
complied with, unless otherwise stated.

The property is appraised assuming that all required licenses, certificates of occupancy, consents or other
legislative or administrative authority from any local, state or national government or private entity or organization
have been or can be obtained or renewed for any use on which the value estimate contained in this report is based,
unless otherwise stated.

No engineering survey has been made by the appraiser. Except as specifically stated, data relative to size and area
was taken from sources considered reliable and no encroachment of real property improvements is considered to
exist.

No opinion is expressed as to the value of subsurface oil, gas or mineral rights whether the property is subject to
surface entry for the exploration or removal of such materials except as is expressly stated.

Maps, plats, and exhibits included in this report are for illustration only as an aid in visualizing matters discussed
within the report. They should not be considered as surveys or relied upon for any other purpose, nor should they
be removed from, reproduced, or used apart from the report.

No opinion is intended to be expressed for matters, which require legal expertise or specialized investigation, or
knowledge beyond that customarily employed by real estate appraisers.

Possession of this report, or copy of it, does not carry with it the right of publication. It may not be used for any
purposes by any person other than the party to whom it is addressed without the written consent of the appraiser,
and in any event only with the proper written qualification and only in its entirety.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
358 EIm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 11
Avoca, lowa




ASSUMPTIONS AND LIMITING CONDITIONS (CONTINUED)

Testimony or attendance in court or at any other hearing is not required by reason of rendering this appraisal,
unless such arrangements are made in a reasonable time in advance.

The appraiser has personally inspected the subject property and find no obvious evidence of structural deficiencies,
except as stated in this report; however, no responsibility for hidden defects or conformity to specific governmental
requirements, such as fire, building and safety, earthquake or occupancy codes can be assumed without provision
of specific professional or government inspections.

No consideration has been given in this appraisal as to the value of the property located on the premises considered
by the appraiser to be personal property, nor has he given consideration to the cost of moving or relocating such
personal property; only the real property has been considered.

Information obtained for use in this appraisal is believed to be true and correct to the best of my abilities; however,
no responsibility is assumed for errors or omissions, or for information not disclosed which might otherwise affect
the valuation estimate.

Disclosure of the contents of this appraisal report is governed by the Bylaws and Regulations of the Appraisal
Institute.

Neither all nor any part of the contents of this report (especially any conclusions as to value, the identity of the
appraiser or firm with which he is connected, or any reference to the American Institute of Real Estate Appraisers
or to the MAI or SRA designations) shall be disseminated to the public through advertising media, public relations
media, news media, sales media or any other public means of communication without prior written consent and
approval of the appraiser.

Comments concerning the location, market area, trends, construction quality and costs of the property appraised
herein represent the opinion of the appraiser formed after examination and study of the subject property.

This appraisal represents the independent opinion of the appraiser free from any commitments and free from any
present or expected future interest in the property, with the sole compensation for the employment being a fair
professional fee.

The Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”) became effective January 26, 1992. I have not made a specific
compliance survey and analysis of this property to determine whether or not it is in conformity with the various
detailed requirements of the ADA.. It is possible that a compliance survey of the property, together with a detailed
analysis of the requirements of the ADA, could reveal that the property is not in compliance with one or more of
the requirements of the Act. If so, this fact could have a negative effect upon the value of the property. Since |
have no direct evidence relating to this issue, I did not consider possible non-compliance with the requirements of
ADA in estimating the value of the property.

Unless otherwise stated in this report, the existence of hazardous material, which may or may not be present on the
property, was not observed by the appraiser. The appraiser has no knowledge of the existence of such materials on
or in the property. The appraiser, however, is not qualified to detect such substances. The presence of substances
such as asbestos, urea formaldehyde foam insulation or other potentially hazardous materials may affect the value
of the property. The value estimate is predicated on the assumption that there is no such material on or in the
property that would cause a loss of value. No responsibility is assumed for any such conditions, or for any
expertise or engineering knowledge required to discover them. The client is urged to retain an expert in this field,
if desired.

If this appraisal report was transmitted as an “electronic record” containing my “electronic signature,” as those
terms are defined in applicable federal and/or state laws (excluding audio and video recordings), or a facsimile
transmission of this appraisal report containing a copy or representation of my signature, the appraisal report shall
be as effective, enforceable and valid as if a paper version of this appraisal report were delivered containing my
original hand written signature.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
358 EIm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 12
Avoca, lowa




DEFINITIONS:

FEE SIMPLE ESTATE:!

LEASED FEE ESTATE:?

MARKET VALUE: 2

Absolute ownership unencumbered by any other interest or estate,
subject only to the limitations imposed by the governmental powers
of taxation, eminent domain, police power and escheat.

An ownership interest held by a landlord with the right of use and
occupancy conveyed by lease to others. The rights of lessor (the
leased fee owner) and leased fee are specified by contract terms
contained within the lease.

The most probable price which a property should bring in a
competitive and open market under all conditions requisite to a fair
sale, the buyer and seller each acting prudently and knowledgeably,
and assuming the price is not affected by undue stimulus. Implicit in
this definition is the consummation of a sale as of a specified date?
and the passing of title from seller to buyer under conditions
whereby:

(1) Buyer and seller are typically motivated;

(2) Both parties are well informed or well advised, and acting in what
they consider their own best interests;

(3) A reasonable time is allowed for exposure in the open market;

(4) Payment is made in terms of cash in U.S. dollars or in terms of
financial arrangements comparable thereto; and,

(5) The price represents the normal consideration for the property
sold unaffected by special or creative financing or sales concessions
granted by anyone associated with the sale.

1 The Dictionary of Real Estate Appraisal, 4" Edition, Appraisal Institute, Chicago

2 Excerpted from Vol. 55 No. 165, Federal Register Section 34.44 Appraisal Standards
8 See discussion regarding exposure time and marketability within the Highest and Best Use analysis of this report

County Maintenance Shed

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

358 Elm Street
Avoca, lowa

© Copyright 2022 Page 13



VALUATION AND THE APPRAISAL PROCESS

An appraisal is an estimate, an opinion of value. Its accuracy depends on the basic competence and
integrity of the appraiser and on the soundness and skill by which he or she processed the data. Its
worth is influenced by the availability of pertinent data. The professional appraiser seeks current facts
and seeks to be practical. Most importantly, the appraiser’s opinion must be without bias. As with
other types of “markets,” the real property appraiser does not make the market; rather, he or she
interprets the market.

Generally, the appraiser uses three approaches to value: 1) Cost Approach; 2) Direct Sales Comparison
Approach; and, 3) Income Approach. Each of these approaches is discussed separately below. They
are all comparative approaches in that the basic data comes from direct comparisons in the market,
indirect comparisons in the market, and/or the appraiser’s judgment, which is based on market
experience.

In the Cost Approach, the cost to reproduce the property at the date of the appraisal, less an appropriate
allowance for depreciation (physical deterioration, functional obsolescence, and economic
obsolescence), is made by market comparisons of cost and depreciation. The Cost Approach tends to
set the upper limit of value since no property can be worth more than it would cost to build another
property of equal utility assuming no reasonable delays. In land appraisals this approach is not
applicable as land cannot be replaced but is considered a non-depreciating asset.

In the Direct Sales Comparison Approach, the subject property is compared to sales of similar
properties. The sales are analyzed to determine similarities and differences, which affect value when
observed in the market. These similarities and differences then serve as points of comparison between
the market data and the subject property. When necessary, adjustments are made to the comparablesto
account for these differences. The resulting adjusted value per unit is then used to estimate the value via
this approach.

In the Income Capitalization Approach, the future operation of the property is estimated from past
historical data relating to the subject and/or from comparable market data. Gross rental schedules,
vacancy and collection losses, fixed expenses, operating expenses and reserves are projected and used to
estimate netincome. This netincome is converted to a value estimate using the capitalization process.
The capitalization rate (comprised of a return on and a return of the investment) is based on
demonstrated rates found in the market. (In land appraisals, recapture is not a part of the capitalization
rate as land is considered a non-depreciating asset.) The method and technique of capitalization is
determined by the nature of the property in the market.

All approaches were considered for this report, however, the availability, adequacy and pertinence of
data may limit the approaches actually used, as discussed in the Reconciliation of this report.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
358 EIm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 14
Avoca, lowa




MARKET AREA DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS

Market areas influence value of specific properties in many ways. These influences are best
understood considering their social, economic, governmental and environmental characteristics. It
has been said that “social, economic, governmental and environmental forces also influence property
value near the subject property which, in turn, directly affects the value of the subject property
itself.” Therefore, we will examine each characteristic considering the subject’s market area.

Market Area: Subject is in Avoca lowa, near the center of Pottawattamie County, northeast of the
Omaha/Council Bluffs metro (CBSA). This area is described as follows:

Social Characteristics

Demographics: The 2021 population? within one, 3 and 5 miles of Avoca was reported as

1,417, 1,756 and 2,105 respectively; which is about 4% higher than 2010. Households in 2021

were up 0.4% from 2010. Average family size was 2.26 persons.

Education: The market area is served by the AHST Public School District (Avoca, Hancock
Shelby Tennant and Walnut communities). The level of education achieved for persons ages 25
or older within the area is shown as follows.

2021 Population 25+ by Educational Attainment
Total

Less than 9th Grade

9th - 12th Grade, No Diploma

High School Graduate

GED/Alternative Credential

Some College, No Degree

Associate Degree

Bachelor's Degree

Graduate/Professional Degree

Employment: Employment by industry within the city is shown as follows.

2021 Employed Population 16+ by Industry
Total
Agriculture/Mining
Construction
Manufacturing
Wholesale Trade
Retail Trade
Transportation/Utilities
Information
Finance/Insurance/Real Estate
Services
Public Administration

1,026
0.6%
7.6%

27.6%
4.5%

21.5%

14.2%

17.8%
6.1%

807
4.3%
9.4%
8.2%
1.2%

12.9%
11.2%
1.0%
9.4%
37.3%
5.2%

Appraisal of Real Estate, 13t Edition, 2008

2 www.stdbonline.com

County Maintenance Shed

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

1,272
0.6%
7.5%

27.5%
4.2%

21.5%

14.3%

18.1%
6.3%

1,002
4.2%
9.4%
8.4%
1.3%

12.4%

11.8%
0.9%
9.4%

36.6%
5.6%

1,529
0.6%
7.1%

28.1%
4.1%

21.5%

14.2%

18.2%
6.3%

1,198
5.4%
9.3%
8.4%
1.3%

12.4%

11.4%
0.8%
9.2%

36.3%
5.3%

358 Elm Street
Avoca, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 15


http://www.stdbonline.com/

MARKET AREA DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Social Characteristics (Continued)

It was shown that 808 persons are in the workforces in Avoca. Largest employers in this community
are Wings America, Casey’s General Stores, F6 Hospitality, Avoca Specialty Care, Dollar General,
Estes Express Lines, Cobblestone Inn & Suites and Chapman Metering; unemployment rate was
2.2%:

Housing: The market area 642 housing units within one mile and has roughly 74.5% of occupants
owning their home and 25.5% of homes being renter occupied.

Roadway Linkage: City of Avoca is accessed via Highway 59 which links to Interstate Highway
80 just north of this community.

Recreation:
Avoca has a 9 hole public golf course, aquatic center and a museum.

Retail Centers: Shopping is available in town and also available in nearby communities.

Utilities: Water is provided by City of Avoca, MidAmerican Energy provides gas and electricity to
the community.

Governmental Characteristics

Administration: Avoca has a mayor and city council form of government.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
358 EIm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 16
Avoca, lowa




Market Area Aerial

9 Ay A ey
Grandma's 'Diner

e

< . 4§ Eddington w;(\
/ !
s : / g™
narackiAve S ¢ . r 3 1%
1 S E G hiS) |

’
» - - - .
B naBAAltoParts £ Avoca

(5) pa—
358-S.EIm St

PR WeElSworthrSt

"
=

|
? n
P \plaincolnaSt £

me | by
APolta‘.-.'auam[e ICeunty Fair Campground

ASt——SiMaplerSte

(*"

13
'

Snen} Ss2UIZHIS

Avoca High School

Yl

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
358 EIm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 17

Avoca, lowa




Immediate Market Area Aerial

County Maintenance Shed

RoadlRage Bike Works
—
9.
Avoca VetennaryiClinie

S——iegoptsh

®NAPA Ao PallS

e

L 5

358| SIEImist

ashingtoniSt:

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

SICHESESU

OIS i

358 Elm Street

Avoca, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 18



MARKET AREA VIEWS

View north along EIm Street,
subject at left

View south along EIm Street,
subject at right

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
358 EIm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 19
Avoca, lowa




SITE DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS

Subject property is located on the west side of EIm Street which is just south of the business district in
Avoca which isin the east portion of Pottawattamie County. The property is surrounded by commercial
or industrial properties. Following is a summary of subject characteristics:

Size: Subject parcel has frontage along EIm Street with site area listed as 20,550 square feet or 0.47
acres. These dimensions were taken from public records, as no survey was provided.

Topography: Subject site appears to have level terrain near the grade level of abutting roads. This site
appears to have adequate surface water drainage.

Soils: Subject is presumed free of hazardous materials and the load bearing capacities adequate for
improvements. Obvious environmental problems were not observed. See Limiting Conditions as relate
to effects on value if environmental contamination is found on property.

Utilities: Subject has electricity, natural gas, water and a sewer.

Easements/Encroachments/Restrictions: No adverse easements or encroachments were noted on the
plats and none are known.

Flood Plain/Drainage: Subject does appear to be located in a designated flood zone, per
CoreLogic, referencing FEMA Map 19155C0327F, dated April 16, 2013 (map in report).

Zoning: Subject is zoned HC (Highway Corridor District) under Avoca jurisdiction. This district is
intended to be applied to sites fronting on major highways for uses and services normally associated
with the traveling public. Highway Commercial areas should be designed so that all or most of the
needs of the traveling public can be accommodated at one stop. Other uses include sales, services,
and retail which serve the needs of markets ranging from several neighborhoods to the overall
region. The district is further characterized by a need for adequate off-street parking. (see zoning
regulations in Addenda).

Visibility: Subject has frontage along EIm Street which is a 2 lane street handling north/south bound
traffic and carries moderate amounts of traffic. The views to and from the subject are not dramatically
obscured by abutting properties or terrain. Based on these factors the subject is considered to have
average visibility characteristics.

Access: Subject parcel hasa corner location in an area of commercial land uses. Highway 59 connects
this area to Interstate 80. Based on this, subject is considered to have average access characteristics.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
358 EIm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 20
Avoca, lowa




Subject Parcel Aerial

ayist - v
Ve =

+358:S Elm: St

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
358 EIm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 21
Avoca, lowa




Subject Plat Map

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 22
Avoca, lowa




Subject Flood Map

RiskMeter

CoreLogic

358 S ELM ST AVOCA, IA 51521-3509
LOCATION ACCURACY:

Flood Zone Determination Report

Flood Zone Determination: IN A

0327F

COMMUNITY 190233 PANEL

PANEL DATE April 16,2013 MAP NUMBER 19155C0327F

F
= X500 or B Zone
~
;. Il A Zone
172
| V Zone
i *.!hg—;al‘ Church
. I D Zone
7/, Floodway
#2%5 CBRA

© 2022 Corelogic, Inc. All rights reserved. CORELOGIC, RISKMETER, PXPOINT and the CoreLogic logo are trademarks of CoreLogic, Inc. and/or its subsidiaries. All other trademarks are the
property of their respective holders
Page 2 of 2

Report generated May 26, 2022 by commercial@mitchellassociates.com

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
© Copyright 2022 Page 23

County Maintenance Shed
358 Elm Street
Avoca, lowa



DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS OF IMPROVEMENTS

The subject property consists of one building used as a maintenance building. This building contains
one drive-in bay an open office and a restroom it was built in 1985. The building is of pre-engineered
steel construction with metal panels on the elevations and pitched roof. There is one overhead door for
vehicle entry and a pedestrian door. The building has 1,920 square feet and is located upon a corner site
with 20,550 SF which is totally fenced. Based on my observations and public records the general
building components and their condition were summarized as follows:

STRUCTURAL FEATURES:

Footings & Foundation: Footings were not observed; foundation appears to be poured concrete.

Superstructure: Building is of pre-engineered steel construction with metal panels on the exterior
elevations and a pitched roof.

Floors: Is poured concrete, specific thickness and load-bearing capacity is unknown.

Roof: Roof is a pitched design and was covered with metal panels. It is drained by a gutter and
downspout system.

Walls: Exterior walls are metal panels.
Windows & Doors: Entry into the building is a direct entry through 2 metal pedestrian doors in an

aluminum frame. The windows in the building were aluminum sliders. There were 2 overhead drive-in
doors of insulated metal construction, which were about 14’ x 14’ and electrically operated.

MECHANICAL FEATURES:

Electrical Systems: Electric service was 110/220 volt service; protected by circuit breakers.

Lighting: The building had fluorescent fixtures.
Heating & Air Conditioning: There was a gas fired tube heater
Fire Protection System: None observed

Security System: None observed

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
358 EIm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 24
Avoca, lowa




DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS OF IMPROVEMENTS (CONTINUED)

INTERIOR:

Restrooms: There was a restroom equipped with a residential stool, sink. No specific investigation of
whether or not these facilities meet requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act was conducted
(see disclaimer in Assumptions at the conclusion of this report).

Interior Finish: The open office portion of the building has no real finish

Site Improvements: There was concrete drive from the street to the building then that changes to
crushed rock, the balance of the site has turf grass. This site has a chain link fence surrounding it. There
is an area used for sand storage with and a wood retaining wall.

CONDITION/DEPRECIATION:

Subject was reported to have been constructed in 1985. Therefore, it has a chronological age of 37
years. The subject was considered in average/fair condition. Therefore, it is estimated to have effective
age of 25 years. Per Marshall Valuation, buildings similar to subject would have an economic life of 40
years. Based on these factors, subject is estimated to have non-curable depreciation of 50% (20-year
effective age + 40-year economic life).

Functional Obsolescence: The subject’s layout and floor plan is typical for this type of structure in this
area.

External Obsolescence: No external obsolescence was observed (in market area description), as there
appears adequate demand for these type properties.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
358 EIm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 25
Avoca, lowa




Building Sketch

40"

4z

Y%

RR

Open Office

County Maintenance Shed

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

4

358 Elm Street
Avoca, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 26



INTERIOR PHOTOS

South bay

Restroom

Open office area

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
358 EIm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 27
Avoca, lowa




Rear portion of south bay

North bay

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
358 EIm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 28
Avoca, lowa




HIGHEST AND BEST USE

Definition: The reasonably probable and legal use of vacant land or improved property, which is
physically possible, appropriately supported, financially feasible, and results in the highest value.

Highest and best use of a specific property is not determined through subjective analysis by the
appraiser; rather, shaped by the competitive forces in the market where property is located. Therefore,
the analysis and interpretation of highest and best use is an economic study of market forces focused on
the subject. The benefit of real estate development produces for a community or amenity contribution
provided by a planned project (i.e., public space in a park-like area) is not considered in the appraiser’s
analysis of highest and best use. Also implied is that the determination of highest and best use results
from the appraiser’s judgment and analytical skills, i.e., that the use determined from analysis represents
an interpretation or opinion not a fact to be found. In appraisal practice, the concept of highest and best
use represents the premises upon which value is based. In the context of most probable selling price
(market value) another appropriate term to reflect highest and best use would be most probable use. In
the context of investment value, an alternate term would be most profitable use.

In order for a particular use or a piece of real property to be the highest and best use of that real
property, several requirements must be met:

1. The use must be legally permissible or reasonably possible.

2. The use must be physically possible on the site.

3. The use must be economically and financially feasible under projected market conditions existing.

4. The use must be the most profitable of the legally permissible, physically possible, and economically
feasible alternatives.

In estimating its market value, real property is appraised in terms of its highest and best use. Highest
and best use analysis is analogous to a feasibility study, in that it is progressive. Legally permissible or
physically possible uses are first considered. After analyzing one, the other is fully considered.

Regarding possible uses, there are five basic categories, which are:

1. Residential,

2. Commercial,

3. Industrial,

4. Agricultural, and

5. Special or public use.

After permissible and possible are concluded, economically feasible uses are next identified; that is,
those that would pay competitive return on investment in improvements as well as land. Of these, the
“maximally productive” or most profitable is highest and best use also referred to as the “ideal” use.!

In estimating highest and best use of property, the site is first analyzed as though vacant, unimproved
and available for development to its most profitable, likely, legal use. When improvementsare present,
itis necessary to estimate the highest and best use of the site as improved. In both cases, the property is
analyzed from the viewpoint of possible, permissible and feasible uses.

1 Appraisal of Real Estate, 13th Edition, Chicago

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
358 EIm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 29
Avoca, lowa




HIGHEST AND BEST USE (CONTINUED)

SITE ‘AS IF’ VACANT

Referring to highest and best use “as if” vacant, first test is physical adaptability of land. Potential uses
include are generally commercial in nature. Agricultural uses are not physically possible due to site size
in relation to large acreage needs of modern farm operations. The 20,550 SF site appears entirely usable
and could accommodate most uses, obviously limited by its size. No adverse physical or economic
conditions were observed.

Second test is legal permissibility of use. Site is zoned HC (Highway Commercial District). Legal uses
are slightly limiting, as the zoning is designed intended to accommodate commercial related activities
uses. (see zoning regulations in Addenda).

Third test is the financial feasibility, calling for a use generating highest return on and of investment.
The site is located along EIm Street, a lightly traveled street. Office and retail users would not find the
site attractive due to the minimal traffic and surrounding commercial/industrial properties. Civic users
are often not-for-profit entities that operate on limited budgets. Asa result, civic users would likely not
be willing to pay as much as a commercial or industrial user for a site with the subject characteristics.

Based on site size, zoning, economic and physical characteristics, it is my judgment that the highest and
best use, as if vacant, would be for industrial use within the scope of the present zoning.

“AS IMPROVED”

The four tests of highest and best use, (legal permissibility, physical possibility, financial feasibility
and maximum productivity) can be applied to the property “as improved” to determine the use that
will maximize the subject property’s value. The use maximizing the highest value is the highest and
best use of the property “as improved.”

The four basic courses of action that can be applied to a property are:

To demolish improvements and redevelop the site for a new use; or

To modify improvements (e.g. renovate, modernize, or convert), or

To cure items of deferred maintenance and retain the improvements; or
To maintain the improvements “as is”

| analyzed the four courses of action for the subject mixed-use building, in keeping with the four
main tests of highest and best use, with my analysis described in the following paragraphs:

Demolish & Redevelop: The existing improvements contribute to site value (concluded in large part
by competing properties), and it would not be financially feasible to demolish them in order to
redevelop the land for some alternate use. Therefore, this option is eliminated on grounds of financial
feasibility.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
358 EIm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 30
Avoca, lowa




HIGHEST AND BEST USE (CONTINUED)

“AS IMPROVED” (CONTINUED)

Modify Improvements: | was unable to identify modifications or conversions of existing
improvements that would increase property value by an amount greater than anticipated cost of
modifications or conversions. Therefore, the option to modify improvements is eliminated on grounds
it would not maximize property value.

Cure Deferred Maintenance or Maintain Improvements: Subject is considered in average
condition, with some minor deferred maintenance observed. The cost to cure this deficiency is not
considered to increase the value beyond the costs of those improvements. Therefore, the option to
cure deferred maintenance is ruled out.

The only remaining course of action meeting tests of legal permissibility, physical possibility,
financial feasibility, and maximum productivity is to continue current use of the subject as a light
industrial or maintenance building.

EXPOSURE TIME

In order to sell property, it must be exposed to the open market. The following discussion is
provided to illustrate current market conditions and estimate exposure time needed to market subject.

Exposure time may be defined as estimated length of time a property interest being appraised would
have been offered on the open market prior to a hypothetical consummation of sale at market value
on effective date of the appraisal; a retrospective estimate based on analysis of past events assuming
a competitive, open market.

The concept of reasonable exposure time encompasses not only adequate, sufficient, reasonable
time, but also adequate, sufficient, reasonable effort and considers type property being appraised,
supply/ demand conditions, as of effective date of appraisal and analysis of historical sales
information (sold after exposure and completion of negotiations between buyer/seller). Therefore,
reasonable exposure time is a function of price and use, not an isolated estimate of time. Reasonable
exposure is always presumed to precede effective date of appraisal and differs for various types of
real estate under various market conditions. Therefore, my estimate of 12-18 months exposure time
is based on subject’s determined highest and best use in a highly competitive retail market
evidencing some demand (albeit limited) for the type of space offered, its highly desirable location,
but also factoring the slowdown in the real estate market over the past couple years caused by
recessionary conditions.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
358 EIm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 31
Avoca, lowa




HIGHEST AND BEST USE (CONTINUED)

MARKETING TIME

Marketing time for the purpose of this report, is defined as an estimated amount of time it might
take to sell a property interest in real estate at estimated market value during the period immediately
after the effective date of the appraisal.”

As with reasonable exposure time, estimated marketing time is not intended as a prediction of a date
of sale or a one-line statement. The concept of marketing time encompasses other market conditions
that may affect marketing, e.g., identification of typical buyers/sellers for type of real estate
involved, typical equity investment levels, and/or financing terms. Therefore, reasonable marketing
time is a function of price, use, and anticipated market conditions such as changes in cost/availability
of funds, not an isolated estimate of time. Marketing time occurs after effective date of market value
estimate and considers such brokerage functions as advertising, arranging financing and marketing
property to specific investors. Estimates of both reasonable exposure and marketing times are not
predictions, rather only judgments made by an appraiser.

Properties similar to the subject would appeal primarily to owners due to the single tenant design of
the subject. A market search done as part of this appraisal provided limited data and, as a result,
accurately estimating exact time needed to market the property was subjective, but area brokers
reported recent marketing times for most reasonably priced commercial properties in metro as
ranging from 1-24 months. The real estate market slowed in late 2007 due to recessionary
conditions, and this slowdown was magnified by the destabilization of the financial markets in
October 2008. Loans are still available for qualified borrowers, but typically at lower loan-to-value
ratios, mitigating lender risk. Present rates (as of effective date of this report) range from 4.5% to 6%
with terms of 3-30 years and amortizations of 15-30 years. Therefore, | concluded if subject were
listed for sale in the current market at/near appraised value, reasonable marketing time is anticipated
within 12 months, assuming the offering is placed with a competent broker active in the area and
experienced with this property type. Real estate brokerage commissions in the area for this property
type typically are near 4%-7% of gross sale price. Market also reacts more quickly to properties with
attractive price/ value ratios, tending to neglect those perceived as unrealistically priced. Skill of
those marketing property can also influence exposure time needed to consummate a sale, as well as
the overall economic environment in which property exists. Therefore, the abovementioned
marketing time is considered reasonably well supported, but is not guaranteed.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
358 EIm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 32
Avoca, lowa




COST APPROACH

The purpose of the Cost Approach isto estimate a Market Value for the subject property based upon the
cost to construct a new property that enjoys the same utility as the subject property. This approach is
based upon the principle of substitution, as it is assumed that a knowledgeable purchaser would not pay
more for a property than the cost to build a new one. The improvements are literally constructed “on
paper” and then any accrued depreciation is subtracted from this value. This depreciated value estimate
is then added to the Market Value off the subject site in its highest and best use to arrive at an estimate
of value for the property as a whole. More specifically, the steps of the Cost Approach are as follows:

Estimate the value of the site in its highest and best use as if vacant.
Estimate the replacement cost new of all of the improvements.
Estimate accrued depreciation from all sources.

Deduct accrued depreciation from the cost new.

o M L d o

Add the estimated value of the site to arrive at a value for the entire property by the Cost
Approach.

Due to the older age of the original building, the reliability of this approach is diminished, so it
was not developed in this report.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
358 EIm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 33
Avoca, lowa




DIRECT SALES COMPARISON APPROACH

The Direct Sales Comparison Approach (also known as the Market Data Approach) is the process in
which a market value estimate is derived by analyzing the market for similar properties and comparing
these properties to the subject property. This approach is premised upon the principle of substitution
which suggests that a prudent person will not pay more to purchase a property than it will cost him or
her to purchase an equally desirable substitute property. Another basic premise of the Direct Sales
Comparison Approach is that the market value of a property is directly related to the prices of
comparable, competitive properties.*

The comparative analysis performed in this approach focuses on similarities and differences among
properties and transactions observed in the market which affect value. These similarities and
differences then serve as points of comparison between the market data and the subject property.
Typically, the major points of comparison are:

Property Rights Conveyed
Financing Terms
Condition of Sale

Time

Physical Characteristics
Economic Characteristics

A sale of a property that is an exact duplicate of the subject property would be an important and ideal
indication of value. In reality, no two properties are exactly alike. Asa result, an adjustment process is
used when analyzing the major points of comparison.

The known sales with the greatest degree of comparability used in this analysis are adjusted for the
difference between the comparable and the subject property. Adjustments are always made FROM the
comparable TO the subject property. For example, if the comparable property sold two years ago and
market analysis suggests that prices have increased 5%, then the sale price of the comparable would be
increased by 5% to give the indication of value for the subject. Conversely, if the comparable property
was in a superior location as compared to the subject and this difference was estimated at 5%, a
negative adjustment of 5% would be applied to the sale price of the comparable to give the indication of
value for the subject. The adjustments for different physical and economic characteristics are handled
in the same manner. Adjustments may be by percentages or by dollar amounts or both.

No sales of similar properties were found in Avoca, Walnut, Griswold or Hancock; therefore, I utilized
sales from Council Bluffs. Following are descriptions of known industrial, commercial or mixed use
properties which sold in recent years in the Council Bluffs metropolitan area. After the sales, | have
shown location maps, adjustment grids, explanation and my final conclusions of the subject property
market value from this approach.

1 Appraisal of Real Estate, 13th Edition, Chicago

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
358 EIm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 34
Avoca, lowa




821 S 27th St
Council Bluffs, IA 51501

buyer
A Vital Corp

23319 Hunt Ave
Council Bluffs, IA 51503

seller

Boetel Charles B

Class C Manufacturing Building of 3,100 SF Sold on 11/9/2021
for $225,000 - Public Record

vital data

Escrow/Contract:
Sale Date:

Days on Market:
Exchange:
Conditions:

Land Area SF:
Acres:

$/SF Land Gross:
Year Built, Age:
Parking Spaces:
Parking Ratio:
FAR

Lot Dimensions:
Frontage:
Tenancy:

Comp ID:

income expense data

Expenses

financing

= Sale Price:
11/9/2021 Status:
- Building SF:
No Price/SF:

- Pro Forma Cap Rate:

10,890 Actual Cap Rate:
0.25 Down Pmnt:
$20.66 Pct Down:
1972 Age: 49 Doc No:
2 Trans Tax:
- Corner:
0.28 Zoning:
- Percent Improved:
- Submarket:
Single Map Page:
5782756 Parcel No:
Property Type:
Listing Broker
- Taxes $5,368
- Operating Expenses
Total Expenses $5,368
:Buyer Broker

$225,000

3,100 SF
$72.58

000000018837

No

84.9%
Downtown Council Bluffs |

7544-34-402-001
Industrial

rﬁj © 2022 CoStar Group - Licensed to Mitchell & Associates, Inc. - 580570. 5/13/2022

|

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

358 EIm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 35

Avoca, lowa



Council Bluffs, IA 51501

$450,000 - Public Record

717 Veterans Memorial Hwy

Class C Service Building of 3,456 SF Sold on 5/27/2021 for

buyer

Georgi lvanov

Council Bluffs, IA 51501

717 Veterans Memorial Hwy

seller

Harter Chris & Mildred D

vital data
Escrow/Contract: - Sale Price:  $450,000
Sale Date:  5/27/2021 Status: -
Days on Market: - Building SF: 3,456 SF
Exchange: No Price/SF:  $130.21
Conditions: - Pro Forma Cap Rate: -
Land Area SF: 148,104 Actual Cap Rate: -
Acres: 3.4 Down Pmnt: -
$/SF Land Gross:  $3.04 Pct Down: -
Year Built, Age: 1981 Age: 40 Doc No: 000000009277
Parking Spaces: - Trans Tax: -
Parking Ratio:  0/1000 SF Corner:  No
FAR 0.02 Zoning:  Industrial
Lot Dimensions: - Percent Improved:  18.4%
Frontage: - Submarket:  Council Bluffs Ind
Tenancy: Single Map Page: -
Comp ID: 5576734 Parcel No:  7444-12-353-006
Property Type: Industrial
income expense data Listing Broker
Expenses - Taxes $14,241
- Operating Expenses
Total Expenses $14,241
Buyer Broker
financing

ﬁ © 2022 CoStar Group - Licensed to Mitchell & Associates, Inc. - 580570. 5/13/2022
County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 36

Avoca, lowa



Comparable #3

Property Identification

Sale ID 4258

Address 1005 South 17th Street
Council Bluffs, lowa

Market Council Bluffs

Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 2,400 SF
Gross Leasable Area 2,400 SF
Finish - Above Grade 416 SF
Eave Height 14.00'
Construction Average Quality, Class S
Built/Remodeled 1998/
Condition Average

Transaction

Sale Date July 17, 2019
Contract Price $192,500

Contract $80.21
Price/SF GBA

Contract $80.21
Price/SF GLA

Adjusted Price $192,500

Adjusted $80.21
Price/SF GBA

Adjusted $80.21
Price/SF GLA

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial

Legal Description Lots 1-2 and the west 20" of Lot 3
including the north 1/2 of the vacated
adjacent alley, Block 11, Fleming &
Davis

Gross Site Size 10,880 SF
Usable Site Size 10,880 SF
Zoning |I-2
Features Fenced, Mezzanine
Fire Sprinkler

Conditions of Sale Normal
Property Rights Fee Simple
Grantor All Pro Towing, LLC
Grantee Perfect Diamond Lawns, LLC
Recorded Warranty Deed 2019-09108
Source Broker

The property previously sold February 2017, for $160,000. The 2019 sale represents appreciation near 8% per year.

County Maintenance Shed

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

358 Elm Street
Avoca, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 37



Comparable #4

Property Identification

Sale ID 4269

Address 919 South 15th Street
Council Bluffs, lowa

Market Council Bluffs

Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 2,592 SF
Gross Leasable Area 2,592 SF
Finish - Above Grade 348 SF
Eave Height 12.00'
Construction Average Quality, Class D
Built/Remodeled 2006/
Condition Average

Transaction

Sale Date October 05, 2018
Contract Price $160,000

Contract $61.73
Price/SF GBA

Contract $61.73
Price/SF GLA

Adjusted Price $160,000

Adjusted $61.73
Price/SF GBA

Adjusted $61.73
Price/SF GLA

County Maintenance Shed

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial

Legal Description Lots 15 and 16, Block 8, Fleming &

Davis Subdivision and part of the
vacated alley

Gross Site Size 8,160 SF
Usable Site Size 8,160 SF
Zoning |I-2
Features Fenced, Mezzanine
Fire Sprinkler

Conditions of Sale Normal
Property Rights Fee Simple
Grantor Fouts Investments, LLC
Grantee L & T Properties, LLC
Recorded Warranty Deed 2018-13139
Source Public Records, Broker

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

358 Elm Street
Avoca, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 38



Comparable #5

Property Identification

Sale ID 4326

Address 712 South 15th Street
Council Bluffs, lowa

Market Council Bluffs

Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 2,000 SF
Gross Leasable Area 2,000 SF
Finish - Above Grade 444 SF
Eave Height 16.00'
Construction Average Quality, Class D
Built/Remodeled 2006/
Condition Average

Transaction

Sale Date February 11, 2020
Contract Price $170,000

Contract $85.00
Price/SF GBA

Contract $85.00
Price/SF GLA

Adjusted Price $170,000

Adjusted $85.00
Price/SF GBA

Adjusted $85.00
Price/SF GLA

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial

Legal Description South 1/2 of Lost 5 and 6, Block 32,

Everetts Addition

Gross Site Size 8,160 SF
Usable Site Size 8,160 SF
Zoning I-1
Features Fenced
Fire Sprinkler

Conditions of Sale Normal
Property Rights Fee Simple
Grantor ZaCar Corp
Grantee T & G Carper, LLC
Recorded Warranty Deed 2020/01996
Source Public Records, CoStar

This sale represents appreciation of 1.15% per year from previous sale in 2014.

County Maintenance Shed

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

358 Elm Street
Avoca, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 39



Comparable #6

Property Identification

Sale ID 4328

Address 1516 Avenue C
Council Bluffs, lowa

Market Council Bluffs
Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 2,400 SF
Gross Leasable Area 2,400 SF
Finish - Above Grade 316 SF
Eave Height 12.00'
Construction Average Quality, Class S
Built/Remodeled 1981/
Condition Average

Transaction

Sale Date January 03, 2019
Contract Price $210,000

Contract $87.50
Price/SF GBA

Contract $87.50
Price/SF GLA

Adjusted Price $210,000

Adjusted $87.50
Price/SF GBA

Adjusted $87.50
Price/SF GLA

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial

Legal Description Lots 1, 2, and part of Lot 3, Block 3,
Beers Subdivision

Gross Site Size 14,705 SF
Usable Site Size 14,705 SF
Zoning C-2
Features Fenced
Fire Sprinkler

Conditions of Sale Normal
Property Rights Fee Simple
Grantor Cooks Towing & Repair, Inc
Grantee DHI, LLC
Recorded Warranty Deed 2019-00195
Source Public Records

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

358 Elm Street
Avoca, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 40



Comparable #7

Property Identification

Sale ID 4329

Address 1324 9th Avenue
Council Bluffs, lowa

Market Council Bluffs

Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 3,520 SF
Gross Leasable Area 3,520 SF
Finish - Above Grade 720 SF
Eave Height 10.00'
Construction Average Quality, Class C
Built/Remodeled 1988/
Condition Average

Transaction

Sale Date September 13, 2018
Contract Price $215,000

Contract $61.08
Price/SF GBA

Contract $61.08
Price/SF GLA

Adjusted Price $215,000

Adjusted $61.08
Price/SF GBA

Adjusted $61.08
Price/SF GLA

County Maintenance Shed

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial

Legal Description Lots 6-7, Part of Lot 8, Block 26,
Riddles Subdivision

Gross Site Size 12,194 SF
Usable Site Size 12,194 SF
Zoning I-1
Features Fenced
Fire Sprinkler

Conditions of Sale Normal
Property Rights Fee Simple
Grantor L & T Properties, LLC
Grantee Michael John Kilnoski
Recorded Warranty Deed 2018-12027
Source Public Records

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

358 Elm Street
Avoca, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 41



Comparable #8

Property Identification

Sale ID 4811

Address 2414 9th Avenue
Council Bluffs, lowa

Market Council Bluffs
Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 5,400 SF
Gross Leasable Area 5,400 SF
Finish - Above Grade 1,196 SF
Eave Height 12.00'
Construction Good Quality, Class S
Built/Remodeled 2010/
Condition Good

Transaction

Sale Date September 23, 2020
Contract Price $390,000

Contract $72.22
Price/SF GBA

Contract $72.22
Price/SF GLA

Adjusted Price $390,000

Adjusted $72.22
Price/SF GBA

Adjusted $72.22
Price/SF GLA

Broker noted there was a lot of interest in the property. Sale represents annual appreciation near 5.90% from its 2011

sale.

County Maintenance Shed

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial

Legal Description Part of Lots 3-5, Block 1 and part of
Lot 9, Block 17, Ninth Avenue
Addition

Gross Site Size 13,890 SF
Usable Site Size 13,890 SF
Zoning I-1
Features
Fire Sprinkler

Conditions of Sale Normal
Property Rights Fee Simple
Grantor Jo Ter Ran Investments, LLC
Grantee Ht 9th Ave, LLC
Recorded Warranty Deed 2020-13944
Source Public Records, Broker

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

358 Elm Street
Avoca, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 42



2101 N Lavista Heights Rd

Avoca, IA 51521

Class C Warehouse Building of 26,470 SF Sold on 6/4/2021 for
$582,000 - Research Complete

buyer

Taylor Dieckman
14803 Black St
Bennington, NE 68007
(402) 677-0761

seller
Joyce Mez

1523 N Willow St
Avoca, IA 51521

financing

(712) 343-6354
vital data
Escrow/Contract: - Sale Price:  $582,000
Sale Date:  6/4/2021 Status:  Full Value
Days on Market: - Building SF: 26,470 SF
Exchange: No Price/SF:  $21.99
Conditions: - Pro Forma Cap Rate: -
Land Area SF: 130,680 Actual Cap Rate: -
Acres: 3 Down Pmnt: -
$/SF Land Gross:  $4.45 Pct Down: -
Year Built, Age: 2005 Age: 16 Doc No: 000000008923
Parking Spaces: - Trans Tax: -
Parking Ratio: - Corner:  No
FAR 0.20 Zoning:  Industrial
Lot Dimensions: - No Tenants: 1
Frontage: - Percent Improved:  72.1%
Tenancy: - Submarket:  E Pottawattamie County In
Comp ID: 5576738 Map Page: -
Parcel No:  7739-04-401-001
Property Type:  Industrial
income expense data Listing Broker
Expenses - Taxes $15,976
- Operating Expenses
Total Expenses $15,976
Buyer Broker

rﬁ © 2022 CoStar Group - Licensed to Mitchell & Associates, Inc. - 580570. 5/27/2022
County showed this as a multi-parcel sale so it was not investigated further.
County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
358 EIm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 43

Avoca, lowa



Sales Map

e Y e e et

Minden

Honey'Creek

Haneoek:

* Creseent /

- .
%

Oakland

garson
FREEYROL

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
358 EIm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 44
Avoca, lowa




DIRECT SALES COMPARISON APPROACH (CONTINUED)

Comparable Sales Grid

SUBJECT SALE #1: SALE #2: SALE #3: SALE #4:
PROPERTY 821 So 27th Street 717 Veterans Mem Hy |1005 So 17th Street (919 So 15th Street
358 EIlm Street Council Bluffs, lowa Council Bluffs, lowa Council Bluffs, lowa Council Bluffs, lowa
Awvoca, lowa ADJUSTED| ADJUSTED| ADJUSTED| ADJUSTED|
SALE PRICE N/A $225,000 $450,000 $192,500 $160,000
SALE PRICE/SF N/A $72.58 $130.21 $80.21 $61.73
GIM/OCR NA/NA NA/NA NA/NA NA/NA NA/NA
MARKET ADJUSTMENTS
PROPERTY RIGHTS CONVEYED Fee Simple Similar 0% |Similar 0% |Similar 0% |Similar 0%
$225,000 $450,000 $192,500 $160,000
FINANCING N/A Cash 0%|Cash 0%|Cash 0%|Cash 0%
$225,000 $450,000 $192,500 $160,000
CONDITION OF SALE N/A Normal 0%|Normal 0%|Normal 0%|Normal 0%
$225,000 $450,000 $192,500 $160,000
DATE OF SALE May-22 Now-21 2% (May-21 3%|Jul-19 7%|(Oct-18 11%
(Inspection) $229,500 $463,500 $205,975 $177,600
PHYSICAL ADJUSTMENTS (LUMP SUM)
BUILDING SIZE/SF 1,920 3,100 0%(3,456 0%1]2,400 0%(2,592 0%
LOCATION/SITE Awvoca Co Bluffs -20%|Co Bluffs -20% (Co Bluffs -20%|Co Bluffs -20%
QUALITY OF CONSTRUCTION Average/Cls S Aw/Cls C -5%|Aw/Cls S 0%|Aw/Cls S 0%|Aw/Cls S 0%
INTERIOR FINISH Minimal 5% 0% (3% 0%|17% -5%]13% -3%
AGE/CONDITION 37/Average 49/Awy 6% |40/AvFr 2%(21/Avg -4%|12/Avg -13%
SITE TO BUILDING RATIO 10.70:1 3.51:1 3%]42.85:1 -16%(4.5:1 3%]3.14:1 4%
AMENITIES Fenced None 4% [None 4% |Fenced 0% |Fenced 0%
NET PERCENTAGE LUMP SUM ADJUSTMENTS -12% -30% -26% -32%
FINAL ADJUSTED PRICE $201,960 $324,450 $152,422 $120,768
FINAL ADJUSTED PRICE/SF $65.15 $93.88 $63.51 $46.59
TOTAL NET ADJUSTMENTS -10% -27% -19% -21%
TOTAL GROSS ADJUSTMENTS 37% 29% 36% 47%
County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
358 EIm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 45

Avoca, lowa



DIRECT SALES COMPARISON APPROACH (CONTINUED)

Comparable Sales Grid

SUBJECT SALE #5: SALE #6: SALE #7: SALE 8:
PROPERTY 712 So 15t Street 1516 Avenue C 1324 9th Avenue 2414 9th Avenue
358 EIm Street Council Bluffs, lowa Council Bluffs, lowa Council Bluffs, lowa Council Bluffs, lowa
Awvoca, lowa ADJUSTED| ADJUSTED, ADJUSTED, ADJUSTED|
SALE PRICE N/A $170,000 $210,000 $215,000 $390,000
SALE PRICE/SF N/A $85.00 $87.50 $61.08 $72.22
GIM/OCR NA/NA NA/NA NA/NA NA/NA NA/NA
MARKET ADJUSTMENTS
PROPERTY RIGHTS CONVEYED Fee Simple Similar 0%|Similar 0%|Similar 0% |Similar 0%
$170,000 $210,000 $215,000 $390,000
FINANCING N/A Cash 0%|Cash 0%|Cash 0%|Cash 0%
$170,000 $210,000 $215,000 $390,000
CONDITION OF SALE N/A Normal 0% |Normal 0% |Normal 0% |Normal 0%
$170,000 $210,000 $215,000 $390,000
DATE OF SALE May-22 Feb-20 6%|Jan-19 9% |Sep-18 11%|Sep-20 5%
(Inspection) $180,200 $228,900 $238,650 $409,500
PHYSICAL ADJUSTMENTS (LUMP SUM)
BUILDING SIZE/SF 1,920 2,000 0%(2,400 0%(3,520 0%]5,400 0%
LOCATION/SITE Awvoca Co Bluffs -20%|Co Bluffs -20%|Co Bluffs -20%|Co Bluffs -20%
QUALITY OF CONSTRUCTION Average/Cls S Awy/Cls D 0%|Aw/Cls S 0%|Aw/Cls C -5%|Gd/Cls S 0%
INTERIOR FINISH Minimal 22% -8%13% -3%(20% -7%(22% -8%
AGE/CONDITION 37/Average 14/Avg -13%|38/Avg 0%|30/Avg -3%|10/Gd -14%
SITE TO BUILDING RATIO 10.70:1 4.08:1 3%(6.13:1 3%(3.46:1 4%(2.57:1 4%
AMENITIES Fenced Fenced 0%|Fenced 0%|Fenced 0%|None 4%
NET PERCENTAGE LUMP SUM ADJUSTMENTS -38% -20% -31% -34%
FINAL ADJUSTED PRICE $111,724 $183,120 $164,669 $270,270
FINAL ADJUSTED PRICE/SF $55.86 $76.30 $46.78 $50.05
TOTAL NET ADJUSTMENTS -32% -11% -20% -29%
TOTAL GROSS ADJUSTMENTS 47% 32% 46% 51%
County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
358 EIm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 46

Avoca, lowa



DIRECT SALES COMPARISON APPROACH (CONTINUED)

ADJUSTMENT RATIONALE

The preceding represents the only known sales of industrial properties considered of similar condition,
design, use, and/or location in Pottawattamie County or competing areas of the metro. All these
properties were considered to be similar to the subject, but did require some adjusting to make them
equal to subject. Sale prices were reduced to the common denominator of price per square foot of
GBA, as this is a normal unit of measurement in market buying and selling decisions.

Market Condition Adjustments

Adjustments were not required for property rights conveyed, financing, or condition of sale, as all were
considered normal for the market.

All the sales were considered for adjustment due to date of sale. | observed a general increase in
property values in the metro area over the past few years, typically ranging from 3% to 4% annually
until late 2007 when recessionary conditions began. The market slowdown was magnified following
destabilization of the financial markets in October 2008, demonstrated by the lack of known sales
occurring since that time. The market has been improving since 2010 and therefore, | applied anannual
appreciation to these sales of 3% after that time.

Physical Condition Adjustments

The sales are typically adjusted for the relative improvement size difference with the subject building,
due to dissimilar sizes and economies of scale. Adjustments were not considered necessary as all were
similar in size to subject.

Adjustments were considered for overall construction quality. Adjustments were derived from Marshall
Valuation Service estimated costs to bring properties equal to the subject and from the market reaction
to these differences.

Adjustments for age of improvements were given as typically buyers are concerned about remaining
economic life of property. A rounded 1/2% per year of difference with subject age was derived as an
appropriate adjustment and applied accordingly. Additional adjustments for condition were applied
separately, based on cost estimates to bring properties equal and accounts for the effective age of the
improvements.

Adjustments for amenities were also considered as properties with additional features, such as fencing
generally yield higher sale prices. Subject has a fenced outdoor storage area sales #3 through #7 had
fencing, so those sales were not adjusted the remining sales had no amenities so positive adjustments
were applied to all the sales.

Adjustments for location were considered as all of these properties were located in areas with more
desirability than the subject so large negative adjustments were applied. Adjustments were based upon
the cost of living for housing in those areas.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
358 EIm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 47
Avoca, lowa




DIRECT SALES COMPARISON APPROACH (CONTINUED)

RECONCILIATION

Before adjusting, the sale prices ranged from $61.08/SF in Sale #7 to $130.21/SF in Sale #2. After the
aforementioned adjustments were applied, the indicated values ranged from $46.59/SF in Sale #4 to
$93.88/SF in Sale #2. Net percentage adjustments ranged from -32% to -10% while gross adjustments
ranged from 29% to 51%.

Generally, sales with the smallest amount of adjustment are the best indicators of value. Sales #6 and
#2 required the least adjusting, indicating values of $76.30 & $93.88/SF. Sale #6 is supported by 2 other
sale indicating values of $65.15/SF and $63.51/SF, while sale #2 is not supported. Remaining sales
indicated values of $46.59/SF to $55.86/SF; majority of the sales 7 out of 8 indicated values from
$46.59 to $76.30/SF. Therefore, a value estimate for the subject within that range would have the
broadest support.

The market search revealed no similar properties on the market currently:

Therefore, based on the foregoing data and analysis, | estimated ‘as is’ market value of the subject at
$65.00/SF, as of the effective date of this report with the total value developed as follows:

Indicated Value X Gross Bldg Size = Total Rounded to
$65.00/SF X 1,920 SF = $124,800 $125,000
County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 48

Avoca, lowa



INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH

From an investor’s perspective, the earning power of a real estate investment is the critical element
affecting its value. The fundamental investment premise is the higher the earnings the higher the value.
Investment in an income-producing property represents the exchange of present dollars for the right to
receive future dollars. In the Income Capitalization Approach to value, the appraiser analyzes a
property’s capacity to generate benefits and converts these benefits into an indication of present value.t

The basic steps involved in this approach are:

Estimate potential gross income;

Estimate and deduct a vacancy and collection loss allowance;
Estimate and deduct expenses;

Estimate duration and pattern of income stream;

Select an applicable capitalization method and technique;

Develop the appropriate rate;

Complete the computations necessary to derive an economic value.

Nog~wpdE

The primary reason for making gross income estimates is to identify probable net income benefits that
may be derived from ownership interest of the income-producing property. In accepted appraisal
practice, the usual basis for a gross income projection is economic rent. Economic (market) rent is
defined as being the rental income that a property would most probably command in the open market; it
is indicated by current rents paid and asked for comparable space as of the date of the appraisal.

Income Analysis

Subject property is presently owner occupied therefore, no rental information on the property is known.

Comparable properties found are summarized on the following pages. Operating expenses were
estimated from actual historic operating statements from expenses for commercial properties | have
observed in the metro area combined with national investor surveys.

1 The Appraisal of Real Estate, 13th Edition, Chicago

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
358 EIm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 49
Avoca, lowa




Comparable #1

Property ldentification

Lease ID 1012 Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial

Address 1310 South 17th Street Legal Description Lots 1-8, Block 21 Fleming & Davis
Council Bluffs, lowa

Market Council Bluffs

Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 14,000 SF Gross Site Size 60,984 SF
Finish - Above Grade 2,200 SF Usable Site Size 60,984 SF
Construction Average Quality, Class C Zoning 1-2
Built/Remodeled 2003/ Features
Condition Average
Height 18.00'

Transaction

Leased Area 14,000 SF Lessee
Lease Date February 28, 2018 dba MP Nexlevel
Lease Term February 28, 2018 - January 31, 2023 Source Broker
Starting Base Rent $5.20/SF Concession Amount N/A
Rent Description Fixed for lease. %Oeggi?glt?gri
Starting Additional
Rent

Expense Terms Triple Net

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
358 EIm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 50
Avoca, lowa




Comparable #2

Property Identification

Lease ID 1398

Address 15 South 20th Street
Council Bluffs, lowa

Market Council Bluffs

Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 9,120 SF
Finish - Above Grade N/A
Construction Average Quality, Class C
Built/Remodeled 1979/
Condition Fair
Height N/A

Transaction

Leased Area 9,120 SF
Lease Date August 01, 2018

Lease Term September 01, 2018 - August 31,
2023

Starting Base Rent $5.75/SF
Rent Description

Starting Additional
Rent

Expense Terms Triple Net

County Maintenance Shed

Property Type Commercial :: Vehicle-Related -
Service

Legal Description

Gross Site Size 40,692 SF
Usable Site Size 40,692 SF
Zoning C-2
Features

Lessee
dba Jake's Towing and Transport

Source CoStar
Concession Amount N/A

Concessions
Description

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

358 Elm Street
Avoca, lowa

© Copyright 2022



Comparable #3

Property Identification

Lease ID 1013

Address 3319 Nebraska Avenue
Council Bluffs, lowa

Market Council Bluffs

Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 41,760 SF
Finish - Above Grade N/A
Construction Average Quality, Class C
Built/Remodeled 1969/
Condition Average
Height 13.00'

Transaction

Leased Area 7,020 SF
Lease Date October 11, 2018
Lease Term October 11, 2018 - October 10, 2021
Starting Base Rent $4.35/SF
Rent Description Fixed for term.

Starting Additional
Rent

Expense Terms Triple Net

County Maintenance Shed

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial
Legal Description

Gross Site Size 100,188 SF
Usable Site Size 100,188 SF
Zoning 1-2

Features

Lessee
dba McDowell Roofing

Source Broker
Concession Amount N/A

Concessions
Description

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

358 Elm Street
Avoca, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 52



Comparable #4

Property ldentification

Lease ID 1014

Address 2110 23rd Avenue
Council Bluffs, lowa

Market Council Bluffs

Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 5,000 SF
Finish - Above Grade N/A
Construction Average Quality, Class S
Built/Remodeled 2003/
Condition Average
Height N/A

Transaction

Leased Area 2,700 SF
Lease Date October 19, 2018
Lease Term November 19, 2018 -
Starting Base Rent $7.11/SF

Rent Description 7.78/SF in Year 2
8.22/SF in Year 3

Starting Additional
Rent

Expense Terms Gross

Garage space with mezzanine office.

County Maintenance Shed

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial

Legal Description Lots 8-12, Block 11, Railroad
Addition

Gross Site Size 25,245 SF
Usable Site Size 25,245 SF
Zoning 1-2
Features

Lessee
dba Syndicate Diesel

Source Broker
Concession Amount N/A

Concessions One month of free rent
Description

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

358 Elm Street
Avoca, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 53



Comparable #5

Property Identification

Lease ID 1242

Address 1305 Lew Ross Road
Council Bluffs, lowa

Market Council Bluffs

Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 17,840 SF
Finish - Above Grade 6,244 SF
Construction Average Quality, Class D
Built/Remodeled 1996/
Condition Good
Height 14.00'

Transaction

Leased Area 8,000 SF
Lease Date April 22, 2019
Lease Term May 01, 2019 - April 30, 2022
Starting Base Rent $6.95/SF
Rent Description

Starting Additional
Rent

Expense Terms Triple Net

County Maintenance Shed

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial

Legal Description Lots 5 & 6, Block 2, First Foundation
Sub., Council Bluffs, Pottawattamie
County, 1A

Gross Site Size 87,555 SF

Usable Site Size 87,555 SF
Zoning
Features

Lessee
dba New Covenant Electronics

Source CoStar Confirmation
Concession Amount N/A

Concessions
Description

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

358 Elm Street
Avoca, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 54



Comparable #6

Property Identification

Lease ID 1369 Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial
Address 1220 35th Avenue Legal Description Lot 6, 2nd Foundation Subdivision
Council Bluffs, lowa Phase I1

Market Council Bluffs

Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 14,000 SF Gross Site Size 43,995 SF
Finish - Above Grade N/A Usable Site Size 43,995 SF
Construction Good Quality, Class S Zoning 1-2
Built/Remodeled 2005/ Features
Condition Good
Height 18.00'

Transaction

Leased Area 3,700 SF Lessee
Lease Date June 30, 2019 dba Safariworks Decor
Lease Term August 29, 2019 - ~ Source CoStar
Starting Base Rent $6.00/SF Concession Amgunt N/A
Rent Description %Oer;gi?slcci)(r)lr&‘;
Starting Additional P
Rent

Expense Terms Triple Net

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
358 Elm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 55
Avoca, lowa




Comparable #7

Property Identification

Lease ID 1368

Address 1220 35th Avenue
Council Bluffs, lowa

Market Council Bluffs

Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 14,000 SF
Finish - Above Grade N/A
Construction Good Quality, Class S
Built/Remodeled 2005/
Condition Good
Height 18.00'

Transaction

Leased Area 7,000 SF
Lease Date December 01, 2019
Lease Term December 01, 2019 -
Starting Base Rent $5.25/SF
Rent Description

Starting Additional
Rent

Expense Terms Triple Net

County Maintenance Shed

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial

Legal Description Lot 6, 2nd Foundation Subdivision
Phase I1

Gross Site Size 43,995 SF
Usable Site Size 43,995 SF
Zoning 1-2
Features

Lessee
dba Caeser's Entertainment

Source CoStar
Concession Amount N/A

Concessions
Description

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

358 Elm Street
Avoca, lowa

© Copyright 2022 Page 56



Comparable #8

Property ldentification

Lease ID 1588

Address 1309 Avenue J
Council Bluffs, lowa

Market 13th & Avenue J

Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 4,160 SF
Finish - Above Grade 784 SF
Construction Average Quality, Class D
Built/Remodeled 1986/
Condition Average
Height 12.00'

Transaction

Leased Area 4,160 SF
Lease Date October 31, 2021
Lease Term November 02, 2021 -
Starting Base Rent $8.25/SF
Rent Description

Starting Additional
Rent

Expense Terms Triple Net

Photograph from Pottawattamie County Assessor

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial

Legal Description Lots 1-3, Block 8, Potter-Cobbs First

Addition

Gross Site Size 15,730 SF
Usable Site Size 15,730 SF
Zoning 1-2
Features

Lessee Brown Heavy Equipment
Source CoStar; Marketing Brochure
Concession Amount N/A

Concessions
Description

Net expenses were $1.44/SF for taxes and insurance, and tenant to provide maintenance at own expense.

County Maintenance Shed

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

358 Elm Street
Avoca, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 57



Comparable Rentals Map

_—-..;'J"

29

Beebeetown

wﬁm

29

Honey Creek

Underwood
‘Crescent

T-re):mor

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

Minden

Haneoek

¥

©akiand

Carson

Macedonia

358 Elm Street
Avoca, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 58



INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH (CONTINUED)

MARKET LEASE RATE ANALYSIS AND CONCLUSION

No comparables of similar properties was found in Avoca, except one building with about 24,000 SF is
offered for lease at $4.00/SF. Council Bluffs did have some comparables which reported rental rates of
$4.35/SF to $10.50/SF, on triple net and gross terms. These comparables are considered to be similar to
subject but in superior locations and would be fairly competitive with it in the current market. As the
subject was in average condition and it has fenced outdoor storage, lean to and fueling area; it is my
opinion the market rent for the subject would be reasonable at $6.00/SF on triple net terms.

Miscellaneous Income: Some properties similar to subject in this area receive additional income from
garage rentals, vending machines, forfeited deposits, etc. Subject does not appear to have any other
potential sources of income.

Vacancy and Collection Losses

A vacancy and collection loss must be deducted from potential gross income to arrive at property
effective gross income (EGI). A current 2022 survey conducted by Costar.com reports average
vacancy of 48.85% for industrial properties in Council Bluffs but no estimate of vacancy in
Griswold.

The subject space is a single tenant design, so it would be either 100% occupied or 100% vacant at
any one time. Based upon the subject properties location in an area with primarily agricultural
properties nearby, it is my opinion a 10% vacancy rate would be reasonable for the property.

Actual rent, vacancy and EGI were then summarized as follows:

Potential Commercial Rental Income 1,920 SF x $6.00/SF ~ $11,520
Less: 10% Vacancy and Collection Loss -$1,152
Effective Gross Income $10,368

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses that are the property owner’s responsibility are deducted from projection of EGI to
arrive at property’s NOI. Such operating expenses include real estate taxes, insurance, maintenance,
utilities and property management fees. To estimate appropriate allowance for operating expenses, |
considered actual known data from market expenses of other properties observed. No information for
the subject was provided. Estimates of operating expenses were then summarized as follows:

Real Estate Taxes: Property taxes for the subject were not posted so my estimate is based upon the
assessed for the subject ($56,700) and the current tax rate ($35.930920) which equates to $2,037. These
appear reasonable based upon the sales comparison approach and other properties observed. So
stabilized taxes will be estimated at $2,100 annually with the owner paying these during vacant periods
only.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
358 EIm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 59
Avoca, lowa




INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH (CONTINUED)

Operating Expenses (Continued)

Insurance: Property and hazard insurance for commercial buildings have been observed near $0.10/SF
to $0.85/SF of gross building area for sprinklered buildings, and $0.15/SF to $0.55/SF for non-
sprinklered buildings, and have been rising in recent years. Actual insurance costs for the subject were
not disclosed. So, for purposes of this analysis, an estimate of $1.00/SF is considered reasonable
(including flood coverage) or a total cost of a rounded $2,000 annually.

Management: Typical third party management fees for properties similar to the subject property range
4% to 7% of EGI. The actual management expenses for the subject are unknown. Management duties
generally include supervision of property maintenance, bookkeeping, and management overhead. No
unusual aspects of the management function are foreseen in conjunction with the subject property, so |
estimate an expense of 3% of base rent as reasonable for the subject property.

Administrative & Professional Fees: A general administrative expense was considered appropriate to
reflect typical owner accounting and legal fees. This expense category would include a small amount
for owner’s office overhead and typically ranges from 0.5% to 1.5% of EGI. The actual expenses are
unknown as no operating statements were furnished. General administrative expense was estimated at
0.50% of base rent in this analysis.

Utilities: As no operating statements were provided my estimate of $1.00/SF is based on observations
of other commercial properties, with the owner paying during vacant periods only.

Repairs & Maintenance: This expense category reflects items such as repairs to mechanical systems,
roof, painting and items of general upkeep such as pest control, cleaning, snow and trash removal.
Actual costs were not provided; typical repair & maintenance expenses observed for other commercial
properties have ranged from $0.50/SF to over $3.00/SF, depending in large part on a property’s age and
building size. As a result, with the building in average condition with minimal deferred maintenance, |
estimate an expense of $1.00/SF for the subject, rounded to $2,000 annually.

Reserves for Replacement: Although not typically incurred as an annual cash outlay, a reserve for
replacement expense is appropriate to reflect future replacement of short-lived items such as carpeting,
mechanical systems (including water heaters and HVAC units), kitchen appliances, exterior paving,
roofing, etc. RealtyRates.com investor survey for 18 Q 2022 indicated reserve requirements for
industrial properties reported as $0.26 to $0.85 with an average of $0.56/SF. By comparison, the PWC
Investors Survey reports replacement reserves for national warehouse properties range from $0.05/SF to
$0.35/SF, averaging $0.14/SF in the 15t Q 2022. In my opinion, an appropriate replacement reserve for
the subject property is a rounded $0.20/SF.

Miscellaneous: A miscellaneous expense is typically included to account for such items as tenant-
related social expenses, holiday decorations, security services, etc. Therefore, an expense of $100 per
year was considered appropriate.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
358 EIm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 60
Avoca, lowa




INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH (CONTINUED)

PROFORMA OPERATING STATEMENT (FEE SIMPLE)

Rental Income
Estimated Market Rent
Total Potential Gross Income

SQFT
1,920

Vacancy & Collection Allowance:

Effective Rental Income
Other Income
Total Effective Gross Income:

Operating Expenses:
Management Fee
General & Administrative
Real Estate Taxes
Insurance
Utilities
Repairs & Maintenance
Reserves for Replacement
Miscellaneous

Total Expenses

Net Operating Income

County Maintenance Shed

3.0%
0.5%
20.25%
19.29%
0.00%
19.29%
3.70%
0.96%

11.35%

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

Rent/SF Annual Income

$6.00

10.0%

$311
$52
$2,100
$2,000
$0
$2,000"
$384
$100

$11,520
$11,520
$1,152

Amount
$31
$52

$210
$200

$0
$200
$384
$100

$10,368
$0
$10,368

$1,177

$9,191

358 Elm Street
Avoca, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 61



INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH (CONTINUED)

CAPITALIZATION RATE SELECTION, APPLICATION AND ESTIMATE OF VALUE

Several methods of developing a capitalization rate can be used. The best of which is the Market
Extraction Method, where the incomes of comparable properties that have recently sold are known.
Sale transactions used in this report did not reveal cap rates however, other properties observed
which would be considered competitive with subject indicated cap rates of 7.60% to 9.00%.

A national survey was examined for further support of overall capitalization rate. The PWC Real
Estate Investor Survey for the 1%t Qtr 2022 reports national capitalization rates for secondary
industrial properties in a range of 5.25% to 9.00% with average of 7.13%. Capitalization rates in the
local market area have typically been higher than national rates. Capitalization rates are typically
higher for older and smaller properties.

In order to estimate current capitalization rates, a second method is used called the Band of
Investment, Analysis, which is a yield capitalization procedure used in estimating an overall
capitalization rate to be applied to the net operating income of a property. The band of investment
formula addresses the yield requirements of both the lender’s interest and the investor’s interest
considering current lending and investment rates. When the components used in the band of
investment formula are market-derived, the value indication obtained is reflective of market value.
RealtyRates.Com released their 1%t Q 2022 Investor Survey reporting interest rates for industrial
properties ranging from 2.86% to 7.41%, averaging 4.80%. The average spread from 10-Year
Treasury notes was 3.24%. Loan-to-value ratios ranged from 50% to 80% (average 70%), average
amortization period was 25 years with average term of 11.46 years and average debt coverage ratio
of 1.46. Per PwC Investors Survey for 1t Q 2022, institutional grade discount or yield rates for national
warehouse properties ranged from 7.00% to 10.00%, averaging 8.50%.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
358 EIm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 62
Avoca, lowa




INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH (CONTINUED)

CAPITALIZATION RATE SELECTION, APPLICATION AND ESTIMATE OF VALUE

Based on the preceding, the following components are then used in the band of investment analysis.

Mortgage Components:

Loan/Value Ratio: 70%
Loan Rate: 5.0% selected
Amortization Period: 25 years with balloon payment due at end of 10 Year
Mortgage Constant (Rm): .0709
Equity Components:
Equity Ratio: 30%
Equity yield rate (Ye): 9.5%

The calculation of the overall capitalization rate by the band of investment technique is as follows:

Band of Investment Technique

Loan Ratio X Mortgage Constant = Weighted Average
.70 X 0709 = 0.049
Equity Ratio X Equity Yield Rate
30 X .095 = (+) 0.0285
Total Weighted Average 0.0775
Indicated Overall Capitalization Rate 7.75%

This mechanical or calculated overall rate typically is below the market extracted rates as lending
terms are still considered favorable for qualified applicants; so, it was given only secondary rounding
weight in my overall or “going-in” capitalization rate selection for the subject property.

Therefore, based on subject characteristics with and the current demand for this property type in the
local market, | selected a rounded 8.50% as the capitalization rate currently appropriate for the
subject property in this market. To arrive at a value estimate for the subject property, the estimated
annual net operating income must be divided by the overall capitalization rate. Therefore, | estimate
the market value of the subject property, as of the effective date of this report, as follows.

Fee Simple
Net Operating Income Capitalization Rate Indicated Value Rounded
$9,191 + 8.50% = $108,130 $110,000
County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
358 EIm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 63

Avoca, lowa



RECONCILIATION AND FINAL ESTIMATE OF VALUE

Reconciliation is the process of coordinating and integrating related factors to form a conclusion
regarding the appraised property’s Market Value. Each appraisal approach was considered as to
adequacy, accuracy and overall reliability. The following estimates were based on subject’s highest and
best use in this report and primarily on available market data furnished by the property owner and
others.

Market Value via the Cost Approach Not Applicable
Market Value via the Direct Sales Comparison Approach $125,000
Market Value via the Income Capitalization Approach (Fee Simple) $110,000

The Cost Approach typically uses replacement cost method of determining new cost of building
improvements, typically representing the highest value. Depreciation is calculated for deferred
maintenance and normal wear and tear. The shortcoming of this method normally results from the
calculations for depreciation, as age and obsolescence are difficult to precisely measure in the market
place. The subject building is older, resulting in accrued depreciation which becomes subjective
reducing the reliability of this approach below acceptable levels. Therefore, it was not developed in this
report.

The Direct Sales Comparison Approach compares sales of similar properties. Adjustments were made
for variations from the subject property based on available market data. After adjustments, a reasonable
range of indicated values was evident and | selected the value from the range most representative of the
appraised building. This approach is generally the best method of reflecting market attitudes toward
property, particularly when owner-occupied buildings are involved and there is an active market with
numerous sales. However, this approach is less persuasive when the property is purchased as an
investment. As the subject property is a single-tenant building it would likely appeal to an owner but if
leased it could appeal to an investor therefore most weight was given to this approach in the final value
estimate for the subject.

The Income Capitalization Approach was considered and could be used in this report. Since an
adequate amount of rent, expense and cap rate data was available for the subject property, this approach
was considered reliable so was given some weight in the final value estimate for the subject also.

Conditional only upon my standard Certification, Assumptions and Limiting Conditions, and the
estimated exposure time as stated in this report, it is my opinion the “as is”” Market Value of the subject
properties fee simple estate, as of May 16, 2022 was:

ONE HUNDRED TWENTY THOUSAND DOLLARS

($120,000)

Respectfully submitted,

-~ ! . A

/ | () ‘ (
} . | ',‘ /o é
; ,K le ¥ (’/\J /uf/&&,a;&-v-z
D. Rick Whitesides, MAI, SRA
General Certified Appraiser - IA CG01439
NE CG920142

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
358 EIm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 64

Avoca, lowa



ADDENDA

County Maintenance Shed

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

358 Elm Street
Avoca, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 65




APPRAISER’S QUALIFICATIONS
D. Rick Whitesides, MAI, SRA

PROFESSIONAL.:

MAI Designation from the Appraisal Institute 1991
SRA Designation from the Appraisal Institute 1977
General Certified Appraiser, State of Nebraska (CG 920142) 1992
General Certified Appraiser, State of lowa (CG 01439) 1992
Licensed Real Estate Salesman in the State of Nebraska 1972
Vice President/Appraiser Mitchell & Associates 1990-Present
Property Underwriter/Assistant Vice President,

Occidental Nebraska Federal Savings Bank 1973-90
MEMBER:

Appraisal Institute: ~ Former President Nebraska Chapter and currently active in this chapter and
former Chapter Services Chairman for Region Il and have served on the National Chapter Services
Committee

Nebraska Real Estate Association

Omaha Area Board of Realtors ~ Former Executive Committee, Commercial Investment Council
Tangier Shrine, Scottish Rite and Mercer Lodge

Past Membership: Society of Real Estate Appraisers, Eastern Nebraska, Chapter #111

EDUCATION:

University of Nebraska Lincoln
University of Nebraska Omaha

Continuing education through attendance at various appraisal seminars sponsored by the Appraisal
Institute and other industry organizations; courses listed on a separate page.

EXPERIENCE:

Avreas of appraisal experience include multi-family residential, commercial; industrial; vacant land,
special purpose properties; and single family residential. Appraisals have been completed for
mortgage loans, condemnation, litigation, and asset management purposes.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
358 EIm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 66
Avoca, lowa




RECENT APPRAISAL EDUCATION
D. RICK WHITESIDES, MAI, SRA

DATE COURSE SPONSOR

2017 Honing In...Updates, Market Perspectives & Prof. Development Al

2016 Local Market Snapshot Al

2016 Understanding the Basics of Excel & Linear Regression Al

2016 Commercial Real Estate Summit Nebr Cont Legl Ed

2016 USPAP Update Al

2015 Commercial Real Estate Summit Nebr Cont Legl Ed

2014 Commercial Real Estate Summit Nebr Cont Legl Ed

2014 The Discounted Cash Flow Model Al

2014 USPAP Update Al

2013 Property Acquisition & Need for Site Assessment Randall School of RE

2013 Environmental Issues in Real Estate Randall School of RE

2013 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed

2013 Online Supervising Appraisal Trainees Al

2012 USPAP Moore Group

2012 Effective Appraisal Writing Al

2011 Ethical Decision Making in Real Estate Randall School of RE

2011 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed

2011 Commercial Appraisal Engagement & Review Al

2011 Capital Markets Seminar Daisley Ruff

2010 USPAP Al

2010 Capital Markets Seminar Daisley Ruff

2010 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed

2010 Appraisal Curriculum Overview Al

2009 Online Business Practices & Ethics Al

2009 Report Writing Workshop The Moore Group

2009 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed

2008 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed

2008 USPAP Al

2007 Standard 3 Review Training Session NE Appraiser Bd

2007 Understanding & Testing DCF Valuation Models Al

2007 Analyzing Distressed Real Estate Al

2007 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed

2006 Uniform Standards of Professional Practice Moore Group

2006 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed

2005 Market Analysis & the Site to do Business Al

2005 Radon & Real Estate Randall School of RE

2004 Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice Al

2004 Loss Prevention for Real Estate Appraisers Al

2004 Rates and Ratios Al

2003 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed

2003 Client Pressure Seminar NE Appraiser Bd.

2003 Appraisal Consulting Al

2002 Mark to Market Al

2002 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed

2001 Appraisers & Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act Al

2001 Regression Analysis in Appraisal Practice Al

2001 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed
CLASS

County Maintenance Shed

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

CLASS
HOURS

Nﬂw$WNwNNbﬂWNNNmb#hﬂmmﬂhawwﬂwﬂwwﬂﬂbmWWNNmmﬂwbhb

358 Elm Street

© Copyright 2022

Avoca, lowa

Page 67



DATE

COURSE

2000
2000

2000

2000
2000
1999
1999
1999
1998
1997
1997
1997
1996
1996
1995
1995
1995
1995
1994
1994
1993
1993
1993
1993
1993
1992
1992
1991
1990

County Maintenance Shed

Commercial Appraisal Problem Solving
Appraisal of Non-Conforming Uses

Standards of Professional Practice

Ed Tour (Tomorrows Information Today)
Commercial Real Estate Workshop
Internet Search Strategies

Appraisal of Local Retail Properties
Commercial Real Estate Workshop
Commercial Real Estate Workshop
Affordable Housing

Analyzing Operating Expenses
Commercial Real Estate Workshop
Highest & Best Use

Standards of Professional Practice
Advanced Income Capitalization
Emerging Technologies in Appraising
Experience Review Training
Apartment Update

FHA Guidelines

Commercial Real Estate Workshop
Appraising Apartments

Agency Relationships in Real Estate
Mock Trial Seminar

Commercial Real Estate Workshop
FIRREA: Overview & Application
ADA Seminar

Commercial Real Estate Workshop
Standards of Professional Practice
Small Residential Form

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

SPONSOR
Mid-West Appraisers
Al

Al

NE. Appraiser Board
Nebr Cont Legl Ed
Al
Al
Nebr Cont Legl Ed
Nebr Cont Legl Ed
Al
Al
Nebr Cont Legl Ed

Nebr Cont Legl Ed.
Al
Randall School of RE
Al
Nebr Cont Legl Ed
Al
Al
Nebr Cont Legl Ed
AIREA
SREA

HOURS

NNOONN~NWNWwNR AR voNNooN~N~Nw N~

358 Elm Street

Avoca, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 68



State of Nebraska

Real Property Appraiser Board

Heroky certifies that: DWHINT RICK) E WHITESIDES

MITCHELL COMMERCIAL VALUATION INC
14611 W CENTER RD
OMAHA NE 68134-3219
15 credemsiafed in ehe State of Nebrasks as a:
Certified Genernl Real Property Appraiser

Heddftmg credential mamber: CaN0142
Lffective Date: Jan 01,2002 Lpiration Date:  Des 31,2002
—
' é {11
Nebrizrkp Real Property Appraiser Bourd Director: S & a
¥ ]
7 7

AT b gy, bt o sevsbowse ek be sopeerd e e Mo Preperty Agpee s rasd remodosd s

This Crodarsta g Card e paced e smch person W conckrati ot mndor e Riokl Propers ACmte Ao exkou comdantil e baon canodd. wervsdand. vsndod, of svel of

Nebesaka Real Property Appeaner Bosd
301 Contermial Mall Souhy, First Floor PO Bax 94961
Liscoln. Nebrasha 685093503
Fhose: AO2ATIS0LS Faao 4024719017 barps. o adsct 1ie gony

Wwmvirarive [foiioatior Vb 10084-2022 Tograrenion for Pl §274.00

Vondew Toggopree Audit Peograe T T 500 Yodenal Bty Voe Pl SN0

Lt

Piekds o Oppretetisies STATE OF 1OWA

1044 DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE
PROFESSIONAL LICENSING AND REGULATION

Thisis to certify that the below named has been granted a certification
as: Certified General Appraiser.

Certification Number: CG01435 Expires:June 30, 2023
Status: Active

Dwight E Whitesides
Mitchell & Associates
14611 W CenterRd
Omaha, Nebraska 68144

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
358 EIm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 69
Avoca, lowa




USPAP MINIMUM STANDARDS

For the convenience of the reader or any reviewer of this report, we have included a copy of the fourteen
points of the Minimum Appraisal Standards. Appraisals must:

1.

10.

11.

12.
13.
14.

Conform to USPAP, except that the Departure Provision, which allows below minimum work, will not
apply;

Include a disclosure of any steps taken in order to comply with the Competency Provision of USPAP;
Be based on the market value or other values as defined in the attached DEFINITIONS;

[i] Be written and presented in a narrative format;
[ii] Be sufficiently descriptive to enable the reader to ascertain the market value and the
rationale for the estimate;

[iii] Provide detail and depth reflective of the complexity of the property appraised;
Analyze and report in reasonable detail any prior sales of the property within the last three years;

Analyze and report current revenues, expense, and vacancies on income producing properties rather
than estimated or projected figures not supported by current market conditions;

Use a reasonable marketing period for the property;

Analyze current market conditions and trends that will affect the income, absorption, or value of the
property;

Report both the “as is” (using appropriate deductions and discounts for holding and marketing costs,
and entrepreneurial profit) and the stabilized market values for developmental property; report both the
value-in-use and liquidation value for owner-occupied property;

Include in the USPAP required certification an additional statement that: “The appraisal assignment
was not based on a requested minimum valuation, a specific valuation, or the approval of a “loan”;

Contain sufficient supporting documentation to allow the reader to ascertain the appraiser’s logic,
reasoning, judgment, and analysis;

Include a legal description of the subject property (in addition to the description required by USPAP);
Identify and value separately any non-real estate items;

Use and reconcile the income, direct sales, and cost approaches to value, and explain the omission of
any approach not used;

If any information necessary to complete the appraisal is unavailable, this fact must be disclosed.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

358 EIm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 70
Avoca, lowa



Table 2: Land Use Regulations
T

Landfill {

Agricultural Uses: SFR UDR FMU HC GCI AR PUD
Animal Production C
Crop Production C C
C C
SFR UDR FMU HC GCL AR PUD
P C L P
Townhouse C C P
Multiple-Family P C P
Upper-Story Residential P P ] P
Group Residential T C c F
nent Residential C C C P
SFR UDR FMU T HC GCIL AR FUD
c C C P P P
P C P
[ P P P
[+ C C P P P
P P
C C P 3 P P
P P P P P P
C C P 3 P P
Emcrgency Res. C C P s C P
Elder Family Home C C P P
Elder Group F c C P P
c C P P c c
C C P 3 C P
Giroup Home: C C P P P P
Guidance Services P P P
Health Care c C P P P
P P P
P P P P P
Parks Recreation P P P 3 P P
Postal Facili P P P P P P
Public Assembly P 3 P P
Re by C C P P P P
y C T C C c C C P
Secondary Education C C C [ c & & P
Utilities C C C L c C C P
Oiffice Uses: SFR UDR FMU TC HC GCI AR FUD
General O P P P P P
Finan Services P P P P P
Medical Offices P P 3 P
Transportation Uses: SFR UDR_| FMU HC | GCI AR | PUD
Transponation Terminal C [ P
Truck T c C P
Miscellan SFR UDR FMU HC GCIL AR PUD
C C [ C C C P
Broadcasting C & &
Amateur Radio Tower C C C L c C C P
Construction Barch Plant c C C s C C c

on-Purescible)

La

fill (Putrescible)

Commercial Uses: SFR UDR MFU TC HC GCI AR FUD
Service C P P
Aute Rental/Sales C C 4 P
:_Auto Services CcP C P P
A&E: Body Repair C P P
i c P P P
C P P P
C C P P P P
P P P 4 P
P P P P P
P P P
C P P P P
C P P P
C P d P
C P P P
[o] P P P
[+ P P
C L P P
C P d P
C P P P
i C P P
[ C P P
Cieneral Retail {Smally C P P P
Gieneral Retail {Large) C P P P
Kennels c s d P
Laundry Services C P P P
Liguor Sales C P P P
Motel'Hotel C P P
Personal Improvement C d P
C P P
C P P P
C P P P
c C P P P
Restaurants (Gen) C P P d P
Restricied Businesses C C C
Surplus Sales C C P P P
Tavem/Lounge [ P P P P
Trade Services C [ P P P
Vehicle Storag C P P P
Veterinary Services C s d d P
ng Uses: SFR. UDR MFU TC HC GCI AR PUD
eet Parking C C C C P
al Uses: SFR UDR MFU TC HC GCL AR FUD
nufacturing C C
Light Industry o L
General Industry C C
E v Industry C
e
Ting Processing T
Resource Extraction
Salvage Services
Veh. {Long ] C C
Wareho [e] C

County Maintenance Shed

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

358 Elm Street
Avoca, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 71



E. Development Standards. Development standards shall be regulated by district. Table 3 shall provide the development
standards for each district and other provisions of this subsection shall provide exceptions or conditional modifications to those
regulations.

Table 3: Minimum Development Standards

Use Types SFR UDR FMU TC HC G(CI AR PUD
Min. Lot Area 10,000 sq. ft. | 6,000 sq. ft, | 10,000 sq, fi 1.200 sq, i 10,000 sq. ft. | 7,200 sq. ft. | 10 acres | 9.9(5)(1)
Min. Lot Width (ft.) 60 40 80 20 80 60 200 9.9(5)(i)

Primary Structure

Regulations (ft) SFR UDR FMU TC HC GCI AR PUD

Front Yard 30 20 25 0 20 20 50 9.9(5)(i)
Street Side Yard 30 20 25 0 20 20 s0 [ 99G5)0)
Interior Side Yard 8 6 7 0 15 15 15 9.9(5)(1)
Rear Yard 30 20 25 0 10 10 50  [99G)D)
Max. Building Height 35 35 35 35 35 35 35 99(3)()
Min. Building Width Note 3 Note 3 Note 3 Note 3 Note 3 Note 3 Note3 |[2:20)0)
Max. Building Coverage 35% 50% 50% 100% 70% 70% 50, [ 99G)1)
Max. Impervious Coverage 50% 60% 65% 100% 80% 90% 8% | 220)0
Site Area per Housing Unit | 7.500sq. ft. | 2.250sq. ft. | S500sq.ft | 500sq.f. |  500sq. fi. NA 10 acres | 22G)(0)

Accessory Structure

Regulations (ft) SFR UDR FMU TC HC GCl AR PUD
Front Yard Note 3 Note 3 Note 3 Note 3 Note 3 Note 3 Note 3 9.903)(1)
Street Side Yard 35 25 25 0 15 15 50 | 990)0)
Interior Side Yard 7 7 7 0 0 0 50 9.9(5)(1)
Rear Yard 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 9.9(5)(1)
Max. Building Height 15 15 15 15 35 35 35 99(3)1)
Distance I?etween Accessory 9.9(5)(i)
and Primary Structure 7 7 15 15 15 15 15
County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
358 EIm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 72

Avoca, lowa



MITCHELL & ASSOCIATES. INC,

ROBERT F. MITCHELL, JR., SRPA
R. GREGG MITCHELL, SRA

D. RICK WHITESIDES, MAI, SRA KEVIN P. HERMSEN MAI
W. BRUCE WILKIE DAVID C. WELLSANDT, MAI
BETH ANDERSEN RICHARD WITTMANN
MELISSA RUTHERFORD MARK SCHAECHER
April 26, 2022
Ms. Kristina Treantos Re:  Appraisal Reports
Via email Properties on following list

Kristina.treantos@pottcounty-is.gov

Dear Ms. Treantos

Per your request our firm will provide appraisal reports on the attached list of properties for the purposes of
estimating the fair market value of the real estate for asset management purposes, subject to the terms and
conditions stated as follows:

1) The report swill be prepared in compliance with the Minimum Appraisal Standards as set forth by the
Uniform Standards of Professional Practice (USPAP) and the Standards of the State of Towa.

2) Inorder to provide the most accurate and timely appraisal possible, the following specific information on
the subject property is desired, if applicable and available:

Property contact for access if necessary

3) Properties to be appraised are as follows:
358 Elm Street, Avoca, IA
15021 490%™ St., Griswold, IA
15484 State Orchard Rd. Council Bluffs, IA
217 North Main, Hancock, 1A
705 Oak Street, Walnut, IA

4) Any modifications, excluding correction of errors, will be provided only at additional cost. No court
testimony or appearances at any hearing will be provided unless prior arrangements are made. Testimony
or appearance at hearings will be billed at the rate of $250/hour, with a 4 hour minimum.

5) The reports will be prepared in a timely manner. Delivery of the report will be approximately 5 weeks,
from receipt of a signed copy of this letter; provided the necessary data is made available in a timely manner.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
358 EIm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 73
Avoca, lowa




Appraisal Proposal
Industrial Properties
April 26, 2022
Page 2

6) The fee to prepare the real estate reports will not exceed $4,900 and is payable as follows: $2,450 due upon
the signing of this letter and the balance upon receipt of the completed written appraisal report.

7) Confidentiality will be respected, so the results and content of the report will only be revealed to you or
third parties you may designate. It will not be released to any other entity, without prior permission by you.
However, some information furnished may be used in future analysis of other properties, unless
you specifically request otherwise. In order to comply with the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act of 1999,
our Privacy Notice is available upon request

8) The appraisal will include in the certification required by USPAP; that the appraisal assignment was not
based on a requested minimum valuation, specific valuation or the approval of a loan.
If you are in agreement with this proposal, please sign and return the original letter, with the retainer, as soon as
possible.

Thank you for the opportunity to be of service.

Respectfully submitted,

e

D. Rick Whitesides, MAI, SRA
General Certified Appraiser — NE #CG920142
TA #CGO01439

ACCEPTED:

AV ATNY Y 2% . 4[28[22

Ms. Kristina Treantos
Pottawattamie County, Jowa

*Refminer will b sont g GlAlz2.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
358 EIm Street © Copyright 2022 Page 74
Avoca, lowa




AN
APPRAISAL

OF

COMMERCIAL PROPERTY
LOCATED AT
15021 490t STREET
GRISWOLD, IOWA

AS OF

May 16, 2022

PREPARED FOR

Ms. Kristina Treantos
Via email
Kristina.treantos@pottcounty-ia.gov

PREPARED BY

D. Rick Whitesides, MAI, SRA
Certified General Appraiser

MITCHELL & ASSOCIATES, INC.
14611 West Center Road
Omaha, Nebraska 68144

© Copyright 2022, Mitchell & Associates, Inc.



a

MITCHELL & ASSOCIATES, INC.

ROBERT F. MITCHELL, SR., 1893-1983
ROBERT F. MITCHELL, JR., SRPA 1927-2020
R. GREGG MITCHELL, SRA

D. RICK WHITESIDES, MAI, SRA KEVIN P. HERMSEN, MAI

W. BRUCE WILKIE DAVID C. WELLSANDT, MAI

BETH ANDERSEN MELISSA L. RUTHERFORD

RICHARD C. WITTMANN MARK SCHAECHER

REBECCA BELLOWS ALEX FINKLE

JAMES ANDERSEN
May ***, 2022
Ms. Kristina Treantos RE: File #00220815 - Appraisal
Via email Commercial Property
Kristina.treantos@pottcounty-ia.gov 15021 490" St.

Griswold, lowa
Dear Ms. Treantos:

In response to your request and for the purpose of estimating the Market Value of the above referenced
property for asset management purposes, | have personally visited the property, and then conducted an
analysis of the matters pertinent to its current market value. My findings are included in the following
report of 66 pages, plus the supporting Addenda.

This report is intended to be in conformity with the prevailing Standards and Ethics of the Uniform
Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice (USPAP) of the Appraisal Foundation and the Appraisal
Institute. Itisindependently prepared so is not based on a requested minimum value, specific valuation
nor the approval of a loan. It is also in conformity with the laws and Minimum Standards of the State of
lowa where | am licensed.

Your attention is directed toward the sections titled Limiting Conditions and Assumptions,
Definitions, and Appraiser’s Certification, which address contingencies of the appraisal. Additional
contingencies may be interspersed throughout the report where appropriate; therefore, this report
should be considered in its entirety. Your attention is also directed to the special consideration noted
on page 11 regarding the COVID-19 outbreak. The effective date for this appraisal is in a time
where the community is experiencing a serious reaction to the outbreak including many closures or
cancellations including school districts, state and federal declarations of emergency. Public health
officials are calling for social distancing and limited exposure to others. There is currently
insufficient data to indicate market reactions to the outbreak as it applies to the general market or to
specific properties in regards to any effects on value or marketing times.

Conditional only upon my standard Certification, Assumptions and Limiting Conditions, and the
estimated exposure time as stated in this report, it is my opinion the “as is” Market Value of the subject
properties fee simple estate, as of May 16, 2022 was:

SEVENTYTWO THOUSAND DOLLARS
($72,000)
Respectfully submitted,

\ " /
. |. ,l -

‘Nie IY /\ ) LJ(&J Al

D. Rick Whitesides, MAI, SRA

General Certified Appraiser - IA CG0143 NE CG9201429;

S:|Reports|2022/002208 15|1Report.doc

Real Estate Appraisers & Consultants

14611 West Center Road B Omaha, Nebraska 68144 m PH. 402-330-4500 m FAX 402-330-7207



TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION

Identification of Property, Summary of Salient Facts and Scope of Work

Scope of Work

Appraiser’s Certification
Assumptions and Limiting Conditions
Definitions

Valuation and the Appraisal Process

DESCRIPTIONS
Market Area Description and Analysis
Site Description and Analysis

Description and Analysis of Improvements

ANALYSIS AND CONCLUSIONS
Highest and Best Use
Cost Approach
Direct Sales Comparison Approach
Income Capitalization Approach

Reconciliation and Final Estimate of VValue

ADDENDA

Qualifications of Appraiser
USPAP Standards

Flood Plain Map

Zoning Map and Regulations
Engagement Letter

U
© N N~
D

13
14

15
22
27

32
36
37
51
66



IDENTIFICATION OF THE PROPERTY
AND SUMMARY OF SALIENT FACTS

LOCATION: 15021 490™ Street, Griswold, lowa 51535. This is at the intersection of
Highway 92 and 490™ Street, in the eastern portion of Pottawattamie
County, lowa.

LEGAL DESCRIPTION: Lengthy, a parcel of land in 5-74-38 Pottawattamie County, lowa

OWNER OF RECORD: Pottawattamie County
Council Bluffs, lowa

CLIENT/INTENDED USE: The report was ordered by Ms. Kristina Treantos with Pottawattamie
County, who advised this appraisal would be used in asset management
purposes. There are no other intended uses or users of this report.

APPRAISAL PURPOSE: Purpose of this appraisal is to provide a supported estimate of the ‘asis’
fee simple market value of the subject property, as of the date of the site
visit.

INSPECTION DATE: On May 16, 2022, | personally visited subject in the company of Shawn
Bluml with Pottawattamie County. Most photos used in this report
were taken at the time of this inspection.

EFFECTIVE DATE: This appraisal has an effective date of May 16, 2022, the date of the
property visit.

SUBJECT DESCRIPTION: The subject property consists of one building used as a maintenance
building. This building contains one drive-in bay a small office and a
restroom. The building is of pre-engineered steel construction with
metal panels on the elevations and pitched roof. There is one overhead
door for vehicle entry and a pedestrian door. There is also a lean-to for
sand storage and an area for outdoor storage. The building has 2,106
square feet and is located upon a corner site with 16,117 SF which is
totally fenced.

ZONING: Subject is zoned A-2 (Agricultural Production District) under
Pottawattamie Counties jurisdiction. The Class A-2 District is intended
to preserve the land best suited for agricultural production by
protecting prime agricultural lands in farmable tracts from the
encroachment of scattered residential, commercial and industrial
development; to promote efficiency and economy in the delivery of
public services by restricting non-farm development in
unincorporated areas of the County, which are without existing or
planned services, and to encourage development in areas where
services are provided or can efficiently be provided. (see zoning
regulations in Addenda).

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15021 490t Street © Copyright 2022 Page 4
Griswold, lowa




IDENTIFICATION OF THE PROPERTY

AND SUMMARY OF SALIENT FACTS (CONTINUED)

FLOOD PLAIN STATUS:

TITLE HISTORY:

TAX ASSESSMENT:

TAX RATE:

REAL ESTATE TAXES:

PERSONAL PROPERTY:

HIGHEST & BEST USE:

EXPOSURE TIME:

County Maintenance Shed

Subject does not appear to be located in a designated flood zone, per
CoreLogic, referencing FEMA Map 19155C0700F, dated April 16,
2013 (map in report).

Per county records, subject does not appear to have sold in the past five
years.

Real estate taxes for Pottawattamie County are combined in one billing
for all governmental subdivisions. The County Assessor is responsible
for estimating ‘actual value’ to which tax rates are applied. Subject
(Parcel 7438-05-300-03) is assessed as follows:

Current Value

2822 Comm. Land Improvement Total Class

Full Value 37,480 $67,988 %75,306 C
Exempt 37,488 $67,988 %75, 386 C

Net Total e 3@ 40 C

Prior Year Value

2821 Comm. Land Improvement Total Class

Full Value 37,488 $67,988 %75, 386 C
Exempt 37,480 $67,900 %75,306 C

Net Total 12 3@ 40 C

The 2020 tax rate was $26.851870 per $1,000 of assessed value, which
appears normal for commercial properties in this area. The 2021 tax rate
has not been set, as of the effective date of this report.

Per Pottawattamie County Treasurer’s Office, shows net real estate
taxes of $0 as it is owned by a government entity. Generally these taxes
have delinquent dates of September 1, 2020 for the first half and March
1, 2021 for the second half. Subject is appraised as if all historic tax
obligations (including additional interest or penalties) are paid current.

No furniture, fixtures, business or equipment values are included in this
report.

As concluded herein, highest and best use of subject is ‘as is’ with a
maintenance shed.

As described herein, exposure time is estimated time a property interest
being appraised would have been offered on the market prior to a
hypothetical consummation of sale at market value on effective date of
appraisal. Based on a retrospective opinion of past events, assuming a
competitive, open market, | estimated that would have been within 12-
months, reflecting current market conditions.

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

15021 490t Street
Griswold, lowa

© Copyright 2022 Page 5



IDENTIFICATION OF THE PROPERTY
AND SUMMARY OF SALIENT FACTS (CONTINUED)

ENVIRONMENTAL Existing improvement is a maintenance shed It is unknown if

CONDITIONS: hazardous components/materials (urea formaldehyde foam insulation,
asbestos, etc.) were used in construction/renovation or if the site has
contaminants. No evidence of underground fuel storage tanks or
contamination was observed. As a result, environmental conditions are
presumed non-adverse. However, subject is near agricultural laud uses
where variety of chemicals are routinely used. it may be prudent to
obtain a current certified survey and environmental assessment of the
property. This appraisal makes no allowance for environmental
remediation or abatement requirements. Your attention is directed to
Limiting Conditions and Assumptions at the conclusion of this report.

SUMMARY OF INDICATED VALUES FROM THIS REPORT

Market Value via the Cost Approach Not Applicable
Market Value via the Direct Sales Comparison Approach $74,000
Market Value via the Income Capitalization Approach (Fee Simple) $70,000
County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

15021 490t Street © Copyright 2022 Page 6

Griswold, lowa



SCOPE OF WORK

Scope of work refers to research and analysis in this assignment and includes the extent to which the
property is identified, type and extent of data researched, and type and extent of analysis applied.

Extent of Property Identification: The property was identified by its addresses of 15021 490" Street,
Griswold, lowa. Per Pottawattamie County records, this address corresponds to County Parcel number
and legal descriptions summarized in the Salient Facts section of this report.

Type and Extent of Data Researched: | personally visited the property, building measurements were
taken from county assessors web site and verified on site, which provided the information for the
property descriptions. Site size was obtained from the assessor’s website also. Other data was collected
from County public records, conversations with local property owners and brokers, information
published in real estate industry publications and Mitchell & Associates appraisal files. 1 was not
provided with a current soils testing report or survey; therefore, I did not consider the impact on
property value of any possible restrictions or soil issues that might be revealed by these reports. The
COVID-19 virus is having significant impacts to how people live around the world. The impacts are
fairly recent in the Omaha area, but there have been many closures. Public health officials are calling
for social distancing and limited exposure to others.

As we progress through 2022, fewer cases are reported but some cautionary measures are still
promoted. Such news has increased the level of fear and anxiety among the community. Single-
family sales have been brisk due to the shrinking inventories and rising prices. Commercial
businesses may experience reduced sales due to recent closing of bars and restaurants except for
drive-thru service, and avoiding places where 10+ people gather. Other businesses are opting for
employees to work remotely.

There is currently insufficient data to indicate market reactions to the outbreak as it applies to the
general market or to specific properties (e.g. places of reported exposures) in regards to any effects
on value or marketing times.

Type and Extent of Analysis Applied: A highest and best use analysis of the property was developed
utilizing inferred or trend methodology, appropriate of the property in light of its site size and building
size as well as the location in a mature area. Due to the age of the structure, estimating depreciation
would be so subjective as to render the cost approach unreliable; therefore, it was omitted from this
appraisal. | researched and found recent sales of buildings supporting the use of the Direct Sales
Comparison Approach. The Income Capitalization Approach was not developed due to a lack of
market information.

Conclusion: The conclusions and analyses were reconciled into the final estimate of value. Based on
my training, experience (see credentials in the Addenda intended to satisfy the Competency Rule of
USPAP) and judgment, I concluded that this appraisal in a summary format including the Direct Sales
Comparison and income approach is appropriate to support a credible estimate of the Fee Simple value
and consistent with the Standards of the 2020-2021 Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal
Practice (USPAP).

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15021 490t Street © Copyright 2022 Page 7
Griswold, lowa




EXTERIOR PHOTOS

West & south sides

South & east sides

North side

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

15021 490t Street © Copyright 2022
Griswold, lowa

Page 8




Propane tank & east side

Fuel tank & diesel pump

Lean to & outdoor storage area

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

15021 490t Street © Copyright 2022 Page 9
Griswold, lowa



Lean-to shed

County Maintenance Shed

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

15021 490t Street
Griswold, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 10




APPRAISER'S CERTIFICATION

| certify that, to the best of my knowledge and belief:

The statements of fact contained in this report are true and correct.

The reported analyses, opinions, and conclusions are limited only by the reported assumptions and
limiting conditions and are my personal, impartial, and unbiased professional analyses, opinions, and
conclusions.

| have no present or prospective interest in the property that is the subject of this report and no
personal interest with respect to the parties involved.

| have no bias with respect to the property that is the subject of this report or to the parties involved
with this assignment.

My engagement in this assignment was not contingent upon developing or reporting predetermined
results.

My compensation for completing this assignment is not contingent upon the development or
reporting of a predetermined value or direction in value that favors the cause of the client, the
amount of the value opinion, the attainment of a stipulated result, or the occurrence of a subsequent
event directly related to the intended use of this appraisal.

| have not performed a previous appraisal of the subject property and have not done an appraisal
review involving the subject, or an appraisal consulting assignment involving the subject, within the
past three years.

The reported analyses, opinions and conclusions were developed, and this report has been prepared
in conformity with the requirements of the Code of Professional Ethics and Standards of
Professional Appraisal Practice of the Appraisal Institute and the Uniform Standards of Appraisal
Practice.

The reported analyses, opinions and conclusions were developed, and this report has been prepared
in conformity with the requirements of the Uniform Standards of Appraisal Practice

The use of this report is subject to the requirements of the Appraisal Institute relating to review by its
duly authorized representatives.

| have made a personal inspection of the property that is the subject of this report.

No one provided significant real property appraisal assistance to the person signing this certification.
If there are exceptions, the name of each individual providing significant real property appraisal
assistance is stated in the scope of the report.*

As of the date of this report, I, D. Rick Whitesides, have completed the requirements of the
continuing education program of the Appraisal Institute.

APPRAISER:
A

: | | I ' . . f
. K e PN X«.L,LL ALl

D. Rick Whitesides, MAI, SRA - NE CG920142
IA CG01439

1 Source for Items #1-#9, Standards Rule 2-3, Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practices, 2001 Edition

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15021 490t Street © Copyright 2022 Page 11
Griswold, lowa




ASSUMPTIONS AND LIMITING CONDITIONS

This appraisal has been based on the following limiting conditions:

For purposes of this appraisal, any marketing program for the sale of the property would assume cash or its
equivalent.

No detailed soil studies covering the subject property were available for this appraisal. Itis therefore assumed that
soil conditions are adequate to support standard construction consistent with highest and best use.

The date of value to which the conclusions and opinions expressed in this report apply, is set forth in the letter of
transmittal. Further, the dollar amount of any value opinion rendered in this report is based upon the purchasing
power of the American dollar existing on that date.

The appraiser assumes no responsibility for economic or physical factors which may affect the opinions in this
report which occur after the date of the letter transmitting the report or which cause unpredictable changes. Events
such as (but not limited to) natural disasters, wars and economic calamities are examples of such factors.

The appraiser reserves the right to make such adjustments to the analysis, opinions and conclusions set forth in this
report as may be required by consideration of additional data or more reliable data that may become available.

No opinion as to title is rendered. Data relating to ownership and legal description was obtained from county
records and is considered reliable. Title is assumed to be marketable and free and clear of all liens, encumbrances,
easements and restrictions except those specifically discussed in the report. The property is appraised assuming it
to be under responsible ownership and competent management and available for its highest and best use.

If no title policy was made available to the appraiser, they assume no responsibility for such items of record not
disclosed by their customary investigation.

The appraiser assumes no responsibility for hidden or non-apparent conditions of the property, subsoil, or
structures that render it more or less valuable. No responsibility is assumed for arranging for engineering studies
that may be required to discover them.

The property is appraised assuming it to be in full compliance with all applicable federal, state and local
environmental regulations and laws, unless otherwise stated.

The property is appraised assuming that all applicable zoning and use regulations and restrictions have been
complied with, unless otherwise stated.

The property is appraised assuming that all required licenses, certificates of occupancy, consents or other
legislative or administrative authority from any local, state or national government or private entity or organization
have been or can be obtained or renewed for any use on which the value estimate contained in this report is based,
unless otherwise stated.

No engineering survey has been made by the appraiser. Except as specifically stated, data relative to size and area
was taken from sources considered reliable and no encroachment of real property improvements is considered to
exist.

No opinion is expressed as to the value of subsurface oil, gas or mineral rights whether the property is subject to
surface entry for the exploration or removal of such materials except as is expressly stated.

Maps, plats, and exhibits included in this report are for illustration only as an aid in visualizing matters discussed
within the report. They should not be considered as surveys or relied upon for any other purpose, nor should they
be removed from, reproduced, or used apart from the report.

No opinion is intended to be expressed for matters, which require legal expertise or specialized investigation, or
knowledge beyond that customarily employed by real estate appraisers.

Possession of this report, or copy of it, does not carry with it the right of publication. It may not be used for any
purposes by any person other than the party to whom it is addressed without the written consent of the appraiser,
and in any event only with the proper written qualification and only in its entirety.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15021 490t Street © Copyright 2022 Page 12
Griswold, lowa




ASSUMPTIONS AND LIMITING CONDITIONS (CONTINUED)

Testimony or attendance in court or at any other hearing is not required by reason of rendering this appraisal,
unless such arrangements are made in a reasonable time in advance.

The appraiser has personally inspected the subject property and find no obvious evidence of structural deficiencies,
except as stated in this report; however, no responsibility for hidden defects or conformity to specific governmental
requirements, such as fire, building and safety, earthquake or occupancy codes can be assumed without provision
of specific professional or government inspections.

No consideration has been given in this appraisal as to the value of the property located on the premises considered
by the appraiser to be personal property, nor has he given consideration to the cost of moving or relocating such
personal property; only the real property has been considered.

Information obtained for use in this appraisal is believed to be true and correct to the best of my abilities; however,
no responsibility is assumed for errors or omissions, or for information not disclosed which might otherwise affect
the valuation estimate.

Disclosure of the contents of this appraisal report is governed by the Bylaws and Regulations of the Appraisal
Institute.

Neither all nor any part of the contents of this report (especially any conclusions as to value, the identity of the
appraiser or firm with which he is connected, or any reference to the American Institute of Real Estate Appraisers
or to the MAI or SRA designations) shall be disseminated to the public through advertising media, public relations
media, news media, sales media or any other public means of communication without prior written consent and
approval of the appraiser.

Comments concerning the location, market area, trends, construction quality and costs of the property appraised
herein represent the opinion of the appraiser formed after examination and study of the subject property.

This appraisal represents the independent opinion of the appraiser free from any commitments and free from any
present or expected future interest in the property, with the sole compensation for the employment being a fair
professional fee.

The Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”) became effective January 26, 1992. 1 have not made a specific
compliance survey and analysis of this property to determine whether or not it is in conformity with the various
detailed requirements of the ADA.. It is possible that a compliance survey of the property, together with a detailed
analysis of the requirements of the ADA, could reveal that the property is not in compliance with one or more of
the requirements of the Act. If so, this fact could have a negative effect upon the value of the property. Since |
have no direct evidence relating to this issue, I did not consider possible non-compliance with the requirements of
ADA in estimating the value of the property.

Unless otherwise stated in this report, the existence of hazardous material, which may or may not be present on the
property, was not observed by the appraiser. The appraiser has no knowledge of the existence of such materials on
or in the property. The appraiser, however, is not qualified to detect such substances. The presence of substances
such as asbestos, urea formaldehyde foam insulation or other potentially hazardous materials may affect the value
of the property. The value estimate is predicated on the assumption that there is no such material on or in the
property that would cause a loss of value. No responsibility is assumed for any such conditions, or for any
expertise or engineering knowledge required to discover them. The client is urged to retain an expert in this field,
if desired.

If this appraisal report was transmitted as an “electronic record” containing my “electronic signature,” as those
terms are defined in applicable federal and/or state laws (excluding audio and video recordings), or a facsimile
transmission of this appraisal report containing a copy or representation of my signature, the appraisal report shall
be as effective, enforceable and valid as if a paper version of this appraisal report were delivered containing my
original hand written signature.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15021 490t Street © Copyright 2022 Page 13
Griswold, lowa




DEFINITIONS:

FEE SIMPLE ESTATE:!

LEASED FEE ESTATE:?

MARKET VALUE: 2

Absolute ownership unencumbered by any other interest or estate,
subject only to the limitations imposed by the governmental powers
of taxation, eminent domain, police power and escheat.

An ownership interest held by a landlord with the right of use and
occupancy conveyed by lease to others. The rights of lessor (the
leased fee owner) and leased fee are specified by contract terms
contained within the lease.

The most probable price which a property should bring in a
competitive and open market under all conditions requisite to a fair
sale, the buyer and seller each acting prudently and knowledgeably,
and assuming the price is not affected by undue stimulus. Implicit in
this definition is the consummation of a sale as of a specified date?
and the passing of title from seller to buyer under conditions
whereby:

(1) Buyer and seller are typically motivated;

(2) Both parties are well informed or well advised, and acting in what
they consider their own best interests;

(3) A reasonable time is allowed for exposure in the open market;

(4) Payment is made in terms of cash in U.S. dollars or in terms of
financial arrangements comparable thereto; and,

(5) The price represents the normal consideration for the property
sold unaffected by special or creative financing or sales concessions
granted by anyone associated with the sale.

1 The Dictionary of Real Estate Appraisal, 4" Edition, Appraisal Institute, Chicago

2 Excerpted from Vol. 55 No. 165, Federal Register Section 34.44 Appraisal Standards
8 See discussion regarding exposure time and marketability within the Highest and Best Use analysis of this report

County Maintenance Shed

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

15021 490t Street
Griswold, lowa

© Copyright 2022 Page 14



VALUATION AND THE APPRAISAL PROCESS

An appraisal is an estimate, an opinion of value. Its accuracy depends on the basic competence and
integrity of the appraiser and on the soundness and skill by which he or she processed the data. Its
worth is influenced by the availability of pertinent data. The professional appraiser seeks current facts
and seeks to be practical. Most importantly, the appraiser’s opinion must be without bias. As with
other types of “markets,” the real property appraiser does not make the market; rather, he or she
interprets the market.

Generally, the appraiser uses three approaches to value: 1) Cost Approach; 2) Direct Sales Comparison
Approach; and, 3) Income Approach. Each of these approaches is discussed separately below. They
are all comparative approaches in that the basic data comes from direct comparisons in the market,
indirect comparisons in the market, and/or the appraiser’s judgment, which is based on market
experience.

In the Cost Approach, the cost to reproduce the property at the date of the appraisal, less an appropriate
allowance for depreciation (physical deterioration, functional obsolescence, and economic
obsolescence), is made by market comparisons of cost and depreciation. The Cost Approach tends to
set the upper limit of value since no property can be worth more than it would cost to build another
property of equal utility assuming no reasonable delays. In land appraisals this approach is not
applicable as land cannot be replaced but is considered a non-depreciating asset.

In the Direct Sales Comparison Approach, the subject property is compared to sales of similar
properties. The sales are analyzed to determine similarities and differences, which affect value when
observed in the market. These similarities and differences then serve as points of comparison between
the market data and the subject property. When necessary, adjustments are made to the comparablesto
account for these differences. The resulting adjusted value per unit is then used to estimate the value via
this approach.

In the Income Capitalization Approach, the future operation of the property is estimated from past
historical data relating to the subject and/or from comparable market data. Gross rental schedules,
vacancy and collection losses, fixed expenses, operating expenses and reserves are projected and used to
estimate netincome. This netincome is converted to a value estimate using the capitalization process.
The capitalization rate (comprised of a return on and a return of the investment) is based on
demonstrated rates found in the market. (In land appraisals, recapture is not a part of the capitalization
rate as land is considered a non-depreciating asset.) The method and technique of capitalization is
determined by the nature of the property in the market.

All approaches were considered for this report, however, the availability, adequacy and pertinence of
data may limit the approaches actually used, as discussed in the Reconciliation of this report.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15021 490t Street © Copyright 2022 Page 15
Griswold, lowa




MARKET AREA DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS

Market areas influence value of specific properties in many ways. These influences are best
understood considering their social, economic, governmental and environmental characteristics. It
has been said that “social, economic, governmental and environmental forces also influence property
value near the subject property which, in turn, directly affects the value of the subject property
itself.”! Therefore, we will examine each characteristic considering the subject’s market area.

Market Area: Subject is in a rural area of Pottawattamie County east of Council Bluffs, on the west
edge of lowa adjacent to the east bank of the Missouri River and part of the greater Omaha-Council
Bluffs Core Based Statistical Area (CBSA). This area is described as follows:

Social Characteristics

Demographics: The 2021 population? within one, 3 and 5 miles of Griswold was reported as
1,084, 1,295 and 1,640 respectively; which is about 3% higher than 2010. Households in 2021

were up 4% from 2010. Average family size was 2.76 persons.

Education: The market area is served by the Griswold Community Public School District. The
level of education achieved for persons ages 25 or older within the area is shown as follows.

2021 Population 25+ by Educational Attainment
Total

Less than 9th Grade

9th - 12th Grade, No Diploma

High School Graduate

GED/Alternative Credential

Some College, No Degree

Associate Degree

Bachelor's Degree

Graduate/Professional Degree

1 mile

778
2.8%
7.2%

37.5%
2.6%
18.4%
14.5%
13.0%
4.0%

3 miles 5 miles
932 1,187
2.8% 2.9%
6.8% 6.4%
36.7% 35.9%
2.5% 2.4%
20.5% 22.2%
13.7% 12.9%
12.9% 13.0%
4.2% 4.3%

Employment: Employment by industry within the city is shown as follows.

2021 Employed Population 16+ by Industry
Total

517 635 821
Agriculture/Mining 11.0% 11.3% 11.8%
Construction 5.2% 5.0% 4.9%
Manufacturing 14.7% 13.9% 13.3%
Wholesale Trade 0.6% 0.8% 1.0%
Retail Trade 7.4% 7.9% 8.3%
Transportation/Utilities 5.4% 5.8% 6.1%
Information 3.7% 3.3% 2.9%
Finance/Insurance/Real Estate 3.9% 4.1% 4.4%
Services 47.4% 46.5% 45.8%
Public Administration 0.8% 1.1% 1.3%
Appraisal of Real Estate, 13™ Edition, 2008
2 www.stdbonline.com
County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15021 490t Street © Copyright 2022 Page 16

Griswold, lowa


http://www.stdbonline.com/

MARKET AREA DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Social Characteristics (Continued)

It was shown that 659 persons are in the workforces in Griswold. Largest employers in this
community are Professional Services at 32, Pumpkin Patch at 17; unemployment rate was 8.8%:

Housing: The market area 517 housing units within one mile and has roughly 77.3% of occupants
owning their home and 22.7% of homes being renter occupied.

Roadway Linkage: City of Griswold is accessed via Highway 92 which links this community to
Council Bluffs and Omaha metro.

Recreation:

Conklin Fish Farm is location 2 miles south of Griswold and covers 8 acres. It has a lake stocked
with a variety of fish, there are 60 campsites, walking trails, a shelter house, picnic tables, outdoor
restrooms, playground, sand volleyball and fire pits.

Retail Centers: Shopping is available in town and also available in nearby communities.

Utilities: Water is provided by City of Griswold, MidAmerican Energy and its rural electric
cooperative provide electric power to the region at rates below the national average.

Governmental Characteristics

Administration: Griswold has a mayor and city council form of government.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15021 490t Street © Copyright 2022 Page 17
Griswold, lowa




Market Area Aerial

1_5AQ231311‘90th St_ZGrisweld

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15021 490t Street © Copyright 2022 Page 18
Griswold, lowa




Immediate Market Area Aerial

o — C
o
) ) _.‘:15021 490th, St
|

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15021 490t Street © Copyright 2022 Page 19
Griswold, lowa




MARKET AREA VIEWS

View north along 490™ Street,
subject at right

View south along 490™ Street,
Highway 92 in foreground

View east along Highway 92,
subject at left

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15021 490t Street © Copyright 2022 Page 20
Griswold, lowa




View east along Highway 92,
490" Street in foreground

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15021 490t Street © Copyright 2022 Page 21
Griswold, lowa




SITE DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS

Subject property is located on the northeast corner of Highway 92 and 490" Street which is in the east
portion of Pottawattamie County. The property is surrounded by agricultural properties. Following isa
summary of subject characteristics:

Size: Subject parcel has frontage along both abutting roads with site area listed as 16,117 square feet or
0.37 acres. These dimensions were taken from public records, as no survey was provided.

Topography: Subject site appears to have sloping terrain falling from the west to the east near the
grade level of abutting roads. This site appears to have adequate surface water drainage.

Soils: Subject is presumed free of hazardous materials and the load bearing capacities adequate for
improvements. Obvious environmental problems were not observed. See Limiting Conditions as relate
to effects on value if environmental contamination is found on property.

Utilities: Subject has electricity, well water and a septic system.

Easements/Encroachments/Restrictions: No adverse easements or encroachments were noted on the
plats and none are known.

Flood Plain/Drainage: Subject does not appear to be located in a designated flood zone, per
CorelLogic, referencing FEMA Map 19155C0700F, dated April 16, 2013 (map in report).

Zoning: Subject is zoned A-2 (Agricultural Production District) under Pottawattamie Counties
jurisdiction. The Class A-2 District is intended to preserve the land best suited for agricultural
production by protecting prime agricultural lands in farmable tracts from the encroachment of scattered
residential, commercial and industrial development; to promote efficiency and economy in the delivery
of public services by restricting non-farm development in unincorporated areas of the County, which are
without existing or planned services, and to encourage development in areas where services are
provided or can efficiently be provided. (see zoning regulations in Addenda).

Visibility: Subject has frontage along two roads, Highway 92 is a 2 lane street handling east/west
bound traffic and carries moderate amounts of traffic; 490" Street is a county road carrying minimal
traffic. The views to and from the subject are not dramatically obscured by abutting properties or
terrain. Based on these factors the subject is considered to have fair visibility characteristics.

Access: Subject parcel hasa corner location in an area of agricultural land uses. Highway 92 abutting
on the south connects this area with several communities to the east and west. Based on this, subject is
considered to have fair access characteristics.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15021 490t Street © Copyright 2022 Page 22
Griswold, lowa




Subject Parcel Aerial

—

== 15021 490th St

4¥ - T R
By o

i T i —

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15021 490t Street © Copyright 2022 Page 23
Griswold, lowa




Subject Plat Map

1S Y06

33| 33

Lo
10 ~|le
~— o O
7 J ~ (O P
| 334.05
- -
& ©
i
S
(=2
~r
County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15021 490t Street © Copyright 2022 Page 24

Griswold, lowa



Subject Flood Map

RiskMeter

CoreLogic

15021 490TH ST GRISWOLD, IA 51535-4171
LOCATION ACCURACY:

Flood Zone Determination Report

Flood Zone Determination: OUT
COMMUNITY

PANEL DATE

190232

April 16,2013

PANEL

MAP NUMBER

X500 or B Zone

Il A Zone

V Zone

I D Zone

S
7 Floodway

5554 CBRA

0700F

19155C0700F

© 2022 Corelogic, Inc. All rights reserved. CORELOGIC, RISKMETER, PXPOINT and the CoreLogic logo are trademarks of CoreLogic, Inc. and/or its subsidiaries. All other trademarks are the

property of their respective holders

Report generated May 21, 2022 by commercial@mitchellassociates.com

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

Page 2 of 2

Page 25

County Maintenance Shed
15021 490t Street
Griswold, lowa

© Copyright 2022



DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS OF IMPROVEMENTS

The subject property consists of one building used as a maintenance building. This building contains
one drive-in bay a small office and a restroom. The building is of pre-engineered steel construction with
metal panels on the elevations and pitched roof. There is one overhead door for vehicle entry and a
pedestrian door. There is also a lean-to for sand storage and an area for outdoor storage. The building
has 2,106 square feet and is located upon a corner site with 16,117 SF which is totally fenced. Based on
my observations and public records the general building components and their condition were
summarized as follows:

STRUCTURAL FEATURES:

Footings & Foundation: Footings were not observed; foundation appears to be poured concrete.

Superstructure: Building is of pre-engineered steel construction with metal panels on the exterior
elevations and a pitched roof.

Floors: Is poured concrete, specific thickness and load-bearing capacity is unknown.

Roof: Roof is a pitched design and was covered with metal panels. It is drained by a gutter and
downspout system.

Walls: Exterior walls are metal panels.
Windows & Doors: Entry into the building is a direct entry through 2 metal pedestrian doors in an

aluminum frame. There were no windows in the building. There was one overhead drive-in door of
insulated metal construction, which were about 14’ x 14’ and electrically operated.

MECHANICAL FEATURES:

Electrical Systems: Electric service was 110/220 volt service with a 100 amp main breaker; protected
by circuit breakers.

Lighting: The building had fluorescent fixtures.
Heating & Air Conditioning: There was a propane fired tube heater
Fire Protection System: None observed

Security System: None observed

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15021 490t Street © Copyright 2022 Page 26
Griswold, lowa




DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS OF IMPROVEMENTS (CONTINUED)

INTERIOR:

Restrooms: There was a restroom equipped with a residential stool, sink. No specific investigation of
whether or not these facilities meet requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act was conducted
(see disclaimer in Assumptions at the conclusion of this report).

Interior Finish: The office portion of the building has no real finish

Site Improvements: The parking/drive areas and outdoor storage are covered with crushed rock, the
balance of the site has turf grass. This site has a chain link fence surrounding it. There is a lean-to shed
used for sand storage and a wood retaining wall for the outdoor storage area. East of the building is a
diesel fuel pump with a storage tank.

CONDITION/DEPRECIATION:

Subject was reported to have been constructed in 1970. Therefore, it has a chronological age of 52
years. The subject was considered in average condition. Therefore, it is estimated to have effective age
of 30 years. Per Marshall Valuation, buildings similar to subject would have an economic life of 40
years. Based on these factors, subject is estimated to have non-curable depreciation of 50% (20-year
effective age + 40-year economic life).

Functional Obsolescence: The subject’s layout and floor plan is typical for this type of structure in this
area.

External Obsolescence: No external obsolescence was observed (in market area description), as there
appears adequate demand for these type properties.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15021 490t Street © Copyright 2022 Page 27
Griswold, lowa




Building Sketch

Office/Restroom

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15021 490t Street © Copyright 2022 Page 28
Griswold, lowa




County Maintenance Shed

INTERIOR PHOTOS

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

Open Shop/storage area

Restroom

Office

15021 490t Street
Griswold, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 29




Open Shop/storage area

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

15021 490t Street © Copyright 2022 Page 30
Griswold, lowa



HIGHEST AND BEST USE

Definition: The reasonably probable and legal use of vacant land or improved property, which is
physically possible, appropriately supported, financially feasible, and results in the highest value.

Highest and best use of a specific property is not determined through subjective analysis by the
appraiser; rather, shaped by the competitive forces in the market where property is located. Therefore,
the analysis and interpretation of highest and best use is an economic study of market forces focused on
the subject. The benefit of real estate development produces for a community or amenity contribution
provided by a planned project (i.e., public space in a park-like area) is not considered in the appraiser’s
analysis of highest and best use. Also implied is that the determination of highest and best use results
from the appraiser’s judgment and analytical skills, i.e., that the use determined from analysis represents
an interpretation or opinion not a fact to be found. In appraisal practice, the concept of highest and best
use represents the premises upon which value is based. In the context of most probable selling price
(market value) another appropriate term to reflect highest and best use would be most probable use. In
the context of investment value, an alternate term would be most profitable use.

In order for a particular use or a piece of real property to be the highest and best use of that real
property, several requirements must be met:

1. The use must be legally permissible or reasonably possible.

2. The use must be physically possible on the site.

3. The use must be economically and financially feasible under projected market conditions existing.

4. The use must be the most profitable of the legally permissible, physically possible, and economically
feasible alternatives.

In estimating its market value, real property is appraised in terms of its highest and best use. Highest
and best use analysis is analogous to a feasibility study, in that it is progressive. Legally permissible or
physically possible uses are first considered. After analyzing one, the other is fully considered.

Regarding possible uses, there are five basic categories, which are:

1. Residential,

2. Commercial,

3. Industrial,

4. Agricultural, and

5. Special or public use.

After permissible and possible are concluded, economically feasible uses are next identified; that is,
those that would pay competitive return on investment in improvements as well as land. Of these, the
“maximally productive” or most profitable is highest and best use also referred to as the “ideal” use.!

In estimating highest and best use of property, the site is first analyzed as though vacant, unimproved
and available for development to its most profitable, likely, legal use. When improvementsare present,
itis necessary to estimate the highest and best use of the site as improved. In both cases, the property is
analyzed from the viewpoint of possible, permissible and feasible uses.

1 Appraisal of Real Estate, 13th Edition, Chicago

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15021 490t Street © Copyright 2022 Page 31
Griswold, lowa




HIGHEST AND BEST USE (CONTINUED)

SITE ‘AS IF’ VACANT

Referring to highest and best use “as if” vacant, first test is physical adaptability of land. Potential uses
include are generally commercial in nature. Agricultural uses are not physically possible due to site size
in relation to large acreage needs of modern farm operations. The 16,117 SF site appears entirely usable
and could accommodate most uses, obviously limited by its size. No adverse physical or economic
conditions were observed.

Second test is legal permissibility of use. Site is zoned A-2 (Agricultural Production District). Legal
uses are slightly limiting, as the zoning is designed intended to accommodate agricultural related
activities uses. (see zoning regulations in Addenda).

Third test is the financial feasibility, calling for a use generating highest return on and of investment.
The site is located along Highway 92 and 490™ Street, a lightly traveled street. Office and retail users
would not find the site attractive due to the minimal traffic and surrounding agricultural properties.
Civic users are often not-for-profit entities that operate on limited budgets. As a result, civic users
would likely not be willing to pay as much as a commercial or industrial user for a site with the subject
characteristics.

Based on site size, zoning, economic and physical characteristics, it is my judgment that the highest and
best use, as if vacant, would be for industrial use within the scope of the present zoning.

“AS IMPROVED”

The four tests of highest and best use, (legal permissibility, physical possibility, financial feasibility
and maximum productivity) can be applied to the property “as improved” to determine the use that
will maximize the subject property’s value. The use maximizing the highest value is the highest and
best use of the property “as improved.”

The four basic courses of action that can be applied to a property are:

To demolish improvements and redevelop the site for a new use; or

To modify improvements (e.g. renovate, modernize, or convert), or

To cure items of deferred maintenance and retain the improvements; or
To maintain the improvements “as is”

| analyzed the four courses of action for the subject mixed-use building, in keeping with the four
main tests of highest and best use, with my analysis described in the following paragraphs:

Demolish & Redevelop: The existing improvements contribute to site value (concluded in large part
by competing properties), and it would not be financially feasible to demolish them in order to
redevelop the land for some alternate use. Therefore, this option is eliminated on grounds of financial
feasibility.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15021 490t Street © Copyright 2022 Page 32
Griswold, lowa




HIGHEST AND BEST USE (CONTINUED)

“AS IMPROVED” (CONTINUED)

Modify Improvements: | was unable to identify modifications or conversions of existing
improvements that would increase property value by an amount greater than anticipated cost of
modifications or conversions. Therefore, the option to modify improvements is eliminated on grounds
it would not maximize property value.

Cure Deferred Maintenance or Maintain Improvements: Subject is considered in average
condition, with some minor deferred maintenance observed. The cost to cure this deficiency is not
considered to increase the value beyond the costs of those improvements. Therefore, the option to
cure deferred maintenance is ruled out.

The only remaining course of action meeting tests of legal permissibility, physical possibility,
financial feasibility, and maximum productivity is to continue current use of the subject as a
maintenance building.

EXPOSURE TIME

In order to sell property, it must be exposed to the open market. The following discussion is
provided to illustrate current market conditions and estimate exposure time needed to market subject.

Exposure time may be defined as estimated length of time a property interest being appraised would
have been offered on the open market prior to a hypothetical consummation of sale at market value
on effective date of the appraisal; a retrospective estimate based on analysis of past events assuming
a competitive, open market.

The concept of reasonable exposure time encompasses not only adequate, sufficient, reasonable
time, but also adequate, sufficient, reasonable effort and considers type property being appraised,
supply/ demand conditions, as of effective date of appraisal and analysis of historical sales
information (sold after exposure and completion of negotiations between buyer/seller). Therefore,
reasonable exposure time is a function of price and use, not an isolated estimate of time. Reasonable
exposure is always presumed to precede effective date of appraisal and differs for various types of
real estate under various market conditions. Therefore, my estimate of 12-18 months exposure time
is based on subject’s determined highest and best use in a highly competitive retail market
evidencing some demand (albeit limited) for the type of space offered, its highly desirable location,
but also factoring the slowdown in the real estate market over the past couple years caused by
recessionary conditions.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15021 490t Street © Copyright 2022 Page 33
Griswold, lowa




HIGHEST AND BEST USE (CONTINUED)

MARKETING TIME

Marketing time for the purpose of this report, is defined as an estimated amount of time it might
take to sell a property interest in real estate at estimated market value during the period immediately
after the effective date of the appraisal.”

As with reasonable exposure time, estimated marketing time is not intended as a prediction of a date
of sale or a one-line statement. The concept of marketing time encompasses other market conditions
that may affect marketing, e.g., identification of typical buyers/sellers for type of real estate
involved, typical equity investment levels, and/or financing terms. Therefore, reasonable marketing
time is a function of price, use, and anticipated market conditions such as changes in cost/availability
of funds, not an isolated estimate of time. Marketing time occurs after effective date of market value
estimate and considers such brokerage functions as advertising, arranging financing and marketing
property to specific investors. Estimates of both reasonable exposure and marketing times are not
predictions, rather only judgments made by an appraiser.

Properties similar to the subject would appeal primarily to owners due to the single tenant design of
the subject. A market search done as part of this appraisal provided limited data and, as a result,
accurately estimating exact time needed to market the property was subjective, but area brokers
reported recent marketing times for most reasonably priced commercial properties in metro as
ranging from 1-24 months. The real estate market slowed in late 2007 due to recessionary
conditions, and this slowdown was magnified by the destabilization of the financial markets in
October 2008. Loans are still available for qualified borrowers, but typically at lower loan-to-value
ratios, mitigating lender risk. Present rates (as of effective date of this report) range from 4.5% to 6%
with terms of 3-30 years and amortizations of 15-30 years. Therefore, | concluded if subject were
listed for sale in the current market at/near appraised value, reasonable marketing time is anticipated
within 12 months, assuming the offering is placed with a competent broker active in the area and
experienced with this property type. Real estate brokerage commissions in the area for this property
type typically are near 4%-7% of gross sale price. Market also reacts more quickly to properties with
attractive price/ value ratios, tending to neglect those perceived as unrealistically priced. Skill of
those marketing property can also influence exposure time needed to consummate a sale, as well as
the overall economic environment in which property exists. Therefore, the abovementioned
marketing time is considered reasonably well supported, but is not guaranteed.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15021 490t Street © Copyright 2022 Page 34
Griswold, lowa




COST APPROACH

The purpose of the Cost Approach isto estimate a Market Value for the subject property based upon the
cost to construct a new property that enjoys the same utility as the subject property. This approach is
based upon the principle of substitution, as it is assumed that a knowledgeable purchaser would not pay
more for a property than the cost to build a new one. The improvements are literally constructed “on
paper’ and then any accrued depreciation is subtracted from this value. This depreciated value estimate
is then added to the Market Value off the subject site in its highest and best use to arrive at an estimate
of value for the property as a whole. More specifically, the steps of the Cost Approach are as follows:

Estimate the value of the site in its highest and best use as if vacant.
Estimate the replacement cost new of all of the improvements.
Estimate accrued depreciation from all sources.

Deduct accrued depreciation from the cost new.

o M L d o

Add the estimated value of the site to arrive at a value for the entire property by the Cost
Approach.

Due to the older age of the original building, the reliability of this approach is diminished, so it
was not developed in this report.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15021 490t Street © Copyright 2022 Page 35
Griswold, lowa




DIRECT SALES COMPARISON APPROACH

The Direct Sales Comparison Approach (also known as the Market Data Approach) is the process in
which a market value estimate is derived by analyzing the market for similar properties and comparing
these properties to the subject property. This approach is premised upon the principle of substitution
which suggests that a prudent person will not pay more to purchase a property than it will cost him or
her to purchase an equally desirable substitute property. Another basic premise of the Direct Sales
Comparison Approach is that the market value of a property is directly related to the prices of
comparable, competitive properties.*

The comparative analysis performed in this approach focuses on similarities and differences among
properties and transactions observed in the market which affect value. These similarities and
differences then serve as points of comparison between the market data and the subject property.
Typically, the major points of comparison are:

Property Rights Conveyed
Financing Terms
Condition of Sale

Time

Physical Characteristics
Economic Characteristics

A sale of a property that is an exact duplicate of the subject property would be an important and ideal
indication of value. In reality, no two properties are exactly alike. As a result, an adjustment process is
used when analyzing the major points of comparison.

The known sales with the greatest degree of comparability used in this analysis are adjusted for the
difference between the comparable and the subject property. Adjustments are always made FROM the
comparable TO the subject property. For example, if the comparable property sold two years ago and
market analysis suggests that prices have increased 5%, then the sale price of the comparable would be
increased by 5% to give the indication of value for the subject. Conversely, if the comparable property
was in a superior location as compared to the subject and this difference was estimated at 5%, a
negative adjustment of 5% would be applied to the sale price of the comparable to give the indication of
value for the subject. The adjustments for different physical and economic characteristics are handled
in the same manner. Adjustments may be by percentages or by dollar amounts or both.

No sales of similar properties were found in Avoca, Walnut, Griswold or Hancock; therefore, I utilized
sales from Council Bluffs. Following are descriptions of known industrial, commercial or mixed use
properties which sold in recent years in the Council Bluffs metropolitan area. After the sales, | have
shown location maps, adjustment grids, explanation and my final conclusions of the subject property
market value from this approach.

1 Appraisal of Real Estate, 13th Edition, Chicago

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15021 490t Street © Copyright 2022 Page 36
Griswold, lowa




821 S 27th St
Council Bluffs, IA 51501

buyer
A Vital Corp

23319 Hunt Ave
Council Bluffs, IA 51503

seller

Boetel Charles B

Class C Manufacturing Building of 3,100 SF Sold on 11/9/2021
for $225,000 - Public Record

vital data

Escrow/Contract:
Sale Date:

Days on Market:
Exchange:
Conditions:

Land Area SF:
Acres:

$/SF Land Gross:
Year Built, Age:
Parking Spaces:
Parking Ratio:
FAR

Lot Dimensions:
Frontage:
Tenancy:

Comp ID:

income expense data

Expenses

financing

= Sale Price:
11/9/2021 Status:
- Building SF:
No Price/SF:

- Pro Forma Cap Rate:

10,890 Actual Cap Rate:
0.25 Down Pmnt:
$20.66 Pct Down:
1972 Age: 49 Doc No:
2 Trans Tax:
- Corner:
0.28 Zoning:
- Percent Improved:
- Submarket:
Single Map Page:
5782756 Parcel No:
Property Type:
Listing Broker
- Taxes $5,368
- Operating Expenses
Total Expenses $5,368
:Buyer Broker

$225,000

3,100 SF
$72.58

000000018837

No

84.9%
Downtown Council Bluffs |

7544-34-402-001
Industrial

rﬁj © 2022 CoStar Group - Licensed to Mitchell & Associates, Inc. - 580570. 5/13/2022

|

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

15021 490t Street © Copyright 2022 Page 37

Griswold, lowa



Council Bluffs, IA 51501

$450,000 - Public Record

717 Veterans Memorial Hwy

Class C Service Building of 3,456 SF Sold on 5/27/2021 for

buyer

Georgi lvanov

Council Bluffs, IA 51501

717 Veterans Memorial Hwy

seller

Harter Chris & Mildred D

vital data
Escrow/Contract: - Sale Price:  $450,000
Sale Date:  5/27/2021 Status: -
Days on Market: - Building SF: 3,456 SF
Exchange: No Price/SF:  $130.21
Conditions: - Pro Forma Cap Rate: -
Land Area SF: 148,104 Actual Cap Rate: -
Acres: 3.4 Down Pmnt: -
$/SF Land Gross:  $3.04 Pct Down: -
Year Built, Age: 1981 Age: 40 Doc No: 000000009277
Parking Spaces: - Trans Tax: -
Parking Ratio:  0/1000 SF Corner:  No
FAR 0.02 Zoning:  Industrial
Lot Dimensions: - Percent Improved:  18.4%
Frontage: - Submarket:  Council Bluffs Ind
Tenancy: Single Map Page: -
Comp ID: 5576734 Parcel No:  7444-12-353-006
Property Type: Industrial
income expense data Listing Broker
Expenses - Taxes $14,241
- Operating Expenses
Total Expenses $14,241
Buyer Broker
financing

ﬁ © 2022 CoStar Group - Licensed to Mitchell & Associates, Inc. - 580570. 5/13/2022
County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15021 490t Street © Copyright 2022 Page 38

Griswold, lowa



Comparable #3

Property Identification

Sale ID 4258

Address 1005 South 17th Street
Council Bluffs, lowa

Market Council Bluffs

Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 2,400 SF
Gross Leasable Area 2,400 SF
Finish - Above Grade 416 SF
Eave Height 14.00'
Construction Average Quality, Class S
Built/Remodeled 1998/
Condition Average

Transaction

Sale Date July 17, 2019
Contract Price $192,500

Contract $80.21
Price/SF GBA

Contract $80.21
Price/SF GLA

Adjusted Price $192,500

Adjusted $80.21
Price/SF GBA

Adjusted $80.21
Price/SF GLA

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial

Legal Description Lots 1-2 and the west 20" of Lot 3
including the north 1/2 of the vacated
adjacent alley, Block 11, Fleming &
Davis

Gross Site Size 10,880 SF
Usable Site Size 10,880 SF
Zoning |I-2
Features Fenced, Mezzanine
Fire Sprinkler

Conditions of Sale Normal
Property Rights Fee Simple
Grantor All Pro Towing, LLC
Grantee Perfect Diamond Lawns, LLC
Recorded Warranty Deed 2019-09108
Source Broker

The property previously sold February 2017, for $160,000. The 2019 sale represents appreciation near 8% per year.

County Maintenance Shed

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

15021 490t Street
Griswold, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 39



Comparable #4

Property Identification

Sale ID 4269

Address 919 South 15th Street
Council Bluffs, lowa

Market Council Bluffs

Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 2,592 SF
Gross Leasable Area 2,592 SF
Finish - Above Grade 348 SF
Eave Height 12.00'
Construction Average Quality, Class D
Built/Remodeled 2006/
Condition Average

Transaction

Sale Date October 05, 2018
Contract Price $160,000

Contract $61.73
Price/SF GBA

Contract $61.73
Price/SF GLA

Adjusted Price $160,000

Adjusted $61.73
Price/SF GBA

Adjusted $61.73
Price/SF GLA

County Maintenance Shed

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial

Legal Description Lots 15 and 16, Block 8, Fleming &

Davis Subdivision and part of the
vacated alley

Gross Site Size 8,160 SF
Usable Site Size 8,160 SF
Zoning |I-2
Features Fenced, Mezzanine
Fire Sprinkler

Conditions of Sale Normal
Property Rights Fee Simple
Grantor Fouts Investments, LLC
Grantee L & T Properties, LLC
Recorded Warranty Deed 2018-13139
Source Public Records, Broker

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

15021 490t Street
Griswold, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 40



Comparable #5

Property Identification

Sale ID 4326

Address 712 South 15th Street
Council Bluffs, lowa

Market Council Bluffs

Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 2,000 SF
Gross Leasable Area 2,000 SF
Finish - Above Grade 444 SF
Eave Height 16.00'
Construction Average Quality, Class D
Built/Remodeled 2006/
Condition Average

Transaction

Sale Date February 11, 2020
Contract Price $170,000

Contract $85.00
Price/SF GBA

Contract $85.00
Price/SF GLA

Adjusted Price $170,000

Adjusted $85.00
Price/SF GBA

Adjusted $85.00
Price/SF GLA

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial

Legal Description South 1/2 of Lost 5 and 6, Block 32,

Everetts Addition

Gross Site Size 8,160 SF
Usable Site Size 8,160 SF
Zoning I-1
Features Fenced
Fire Sprinkler

Conditions of Sale Normal
Property Rights Fee Simple
Grantor ZaCar Corp
Grantee T & G Carper, LLC
Recorded Warranty Deed 2020/01996
Source Public Records, CoStar

This sale represents appreciation of 1.15% per year from previous sale in 2014.

County Maintenance Shed

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

15021 490t Street
Griswold, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 41



Comparable #6

Property Identification

Sale ID 4328

Address 1516 Avenue C
Council Bluffs, lowa

Market Council Bluffs
Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 2,400 SF
Gross Leasable Area 2,400 SF
Finish - Above Grade 316 SF
Eave Height 12.00'
Construction Average Quality, Class S
Built/Remodeled 1981/
Condition Average

Transaction

Sale Date January 03, 2019
Contract Price $210,000

Contract $87.50
Price/SF GBA

Contract $87.50
Price/SF GLA

Adjusted Price $210,000
Adjusted $87.50

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial

Legal Description Lots 1, 2, and part of Lot 3, Block 3,
Beers Subdivision

Gross Site Size 14,705 SF
Usable Site Size 14,705 SF
Zoning C-2
Features Fenced
Fire Sprinkler

Conditions of Sale Normal
Property Rights Fee Simple
Grantor Cooks Towing & Repair, Inc
Grantee DHI, LLC
Recorded Warranty Deed 2019-00195
Source Public Records

Price/SF GBA
Adjusted $87.50
Price/SF GLA
County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15021 490t Street © Copyright 2022 Page 42

Griswold, lowa



Comparable #7

Property Identification

Sale ID 4329

Address 1324 9th Avenue
Council Bluffs, lowa

Market Council Bluffs

Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 3,520 SF
Gross Leasable Area 3,520 SF
Finish - Above Grade 720 SF
Eave Height 10.00'
Construction Average Quality, Class C
Built/Remodeled 1988/
Condition Average

Transaction

Sale Date September 13, 2018
Contract Price $215,000

Contract $61.08
Price/SF GBA

Contract $61.08
Price/SF GLA

Adjusted Price $215,000

Adjusted $61.08
Price/SF GBA

Adjusted $61.08
Price/SF GLA

County Maintenance Shed

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial

Legal Description Lots 6-7, Part of Lot 8, Block 26,
Riddles Subdivision

Gross Site Size 12,194 SF
Usable Site Size 12,194 SF
Zoning I-1
Features Fenced
Fire Sprinkler

Conditions of Sale Normal
Property Rights Fee Simple
Grantor L & T Properties, LLC
Grantee Michael John Kilnoski
Recorded Warranty Deed 2018-12027
Source Public Records

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

15021 490t Street
Griswold, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 43



Comparable #8

Property Identification

Sale ID 4811

Address 2414 9th Avenue
Council Bluffs, lowa

Market Council Bluffs
Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 5,400 SF
Gross Leasable Area 5,400 SF
Finish - Above Grade 1,196 SF
Eave Height 12.00'
Construction Good Quality, Class S
Built/Remodeled 2010/
Condition Good

Transaction

Sale Date September 23, 2020
Contract Price $390,000

Contract $72.22
Price/SF GBA

Contract $72.22
Price/SF GLA

Adjusted Price $390,000

Adjusted $72.22
Price/SF GBA

Adjusted $72.22
Price/SF GLA

Broker noted there was a lot of interest in the property. Sale represents annual appreciation near 5.90% from its 2011

sale.

County Maintenance Shed

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial

Legal Description Part of Lots 3-5, Block 1 and part of
Lot 9, Block 17, Ninth Avenue
Addition

Gross Site Size 13,890 SF
Usable Site Size 13,890 SF
Zoning I-1
Features
Fire Sprinkler

Conditions of Sale Normal
Property Rights Fee Simple
Grantor Jo Ter Ran Investments, LLC
Grantee Ht 9th Ave, LLC
Recorded Warranty Deed 2020-13944
Source Public Records, Broker

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

15021 490t Street
Griswold, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 44



Sales Map

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15021 490t Street © Copyright 2022 Page 45
Griswold, lowa




DIRECT SALES COMPARISON APPROACH (CONTINUED)

Comparable Sales Grid

SUBJECT
PROPERTY
15021 490th Street

SALE #1:

821 So 27th Street
Council Bluffs, lowa

SALE #2:
717 Veterans Mem Hy
Council Bluffs, lowa

SALE #3:
1005 So 17th Street
Council Bluffs, lowa

SALE #4:

919 So 15th Street
Council Bluffs, lowa

Griswold, lowa ADJUSTED| ADJUSTED| ADJUSTED| ADJUSTED|
SALE PRICE N/A $225,000 $450,000 $192,500 $160,000
SALE PRICE/SF N/A $72.58 $130.21 $80.21 $61.73
GIM/OCR NA/NA NA/NA NA/NA NA/NA NA/NA
MARKET ADJUSTMENTS
PROPERTY RIGHTS CONVEYED Fee Simple Similar 0% |Similar 0% |Similar 0% |Similar 0%
$225,000 $450,000 $192,500 $160,000
FINANCING N/A Cash 0%|Cash 0%|Cash 0%|Cash 0%
$225,000 $450,000 $192,500 $160,000
CONDITION OF SALE N/A Normal 0%|Normal 0%|Normal 0%|Normal 0%
$225,000 $450,000 $192,500 $160,000
DATE OF SALE May-22 Now-21 2% (May-21 3%|Jul-19 7%|(Oct-18 11%
(Inspection) $229,500 $463,500 $205,975 $177,600
PHYSICAL ADJUSTMENTS (LUMP SUM)
BUILDING SIZE/SF 2,106 3,100 0%(3,456 0%1]2,400 0%(2,592 0%
LOCATION/SITE Griswold Co Bluffs -40% (Co Bluffs -40% (Co Bluffs -40%|Co Bluffs -40%
QUALITY OF CONSTRUCTION Average/Cls S Aw/Cls C -5%|Aw/Cls S 0%|Aw/Cls S 0%|Aw/Cls S 0%
INTERIOR FINISH Minimal 5% 0% (3% 0%|17% -5%]13% -3%
AGE/CONDITION 52/Average 49/Awy -1%)40/AvFr -5%|21/Avg -15%|12/Avg -20%
SITE TO BUILDING RATIO 7.65:1 3.51:1 2%]42.85:1 -18%(4.5:1 1%(3.14:1 2%
AMENITIES Leanto, Fuel, Fenced None 9% |None 9% |Fenced 4% |Fenced 4%
NET PERCENTAGE LUMP SUM ADJUSTMENTS -35% -54% -55% -57%
FINAL ADJUSTED PRICE $149,175 $213,210 $92,689 $76,368
FINAL ADJUSTED PRICE/SF $48.12 $61.69 $38.62 $29.46
TOTAL NET ADJUSTMENTS -33% -51% -48% -46%
TOTAL GROSS ADJUSTMENTS 57% 57% 71% 78%
County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15021 490t Street © Copyright 2022 Page 46

Griswold, lowa



DIRECT SALES COMPARISON APPROACH (CONTINUED)

Comparable Sales Grid

SUBJECT
PROPERTY
15021 490th Street

SALE #5:
712 So 15t Street
Council Bluffs, lowa

SALE #6:
1516 Avenue C
Council Bluffs, lowa

SALE #7:
1324 9th Avenue
Council Bluffs, lowa

SALE 8:
2414 9th Avenue
Council Bluffs, lowa

Griswold, lowa ADJUSTED| ADJUSTED, ADJUSTED| ADJUSTED|
SALE PRICE N/A $170,000 $210,000 $215,000 $390,000
SALE PRICE/SF N/A $85.00 $87.50 $61.08 $72.22
GIM/OCR NA/NA NA/NA NA/NA NA/NA NA/NA
MARKET ADJUSTMENTS
PROPERTY RIGHTS CONVEYED Fee Simple Similar 0%|Similar 0%|Similar 0% |Similar 0%
$170,000 $210,000 $215,000 $390,000
FINANCING N/A Cash 0%|Cash 0%|Cash 0%|Cash 0%
$170,000 $210,000 $215,000 $390,000
CONDITION OF SALE N/A Normal 0% |Normal 0% |Normal 0% |Normal 0%
$170,000 $210,000 $215,000 $390,000
DATE OF SALE May-22 Feb-20 6%|Jan-19 9% |Sep-18 11%|Sep-20 5%
(Inspection) $180,200 $228,900 $238,650 $409,500
PHYSICAL ADJUSTMENTS (LUMP SUM)
BUILDING SIZE/SF 2,106 2,000 0%(2,400 0%(3,520 0%]5,400 0%
LOCATION/SITE Griswold Co Bluffs -40%|Co Bluffs -40%|Co Bluffs -40%|Co Bluffs -40%
QUALITY OF CONSTRUCTION Average/Cls S Awy/Cls D 0%|Aw/Cls S 0%|Aw/Cls C -5%|Gd/Cls S 0%
INTERIOR FINISH Minimal 22% -8%13% -3%(20% -7%(22% -8%
AGE/CONDITION 52/Average 14/Avg -19%|38/Avg -7%|30/Avg -11%|10/Gd -25%
SITE TO BUILDING RATIO 7.65:1 4.08:1 1%]6.13:1 1%]3.46:1 2%(2.57:1 2%
AMENITIES Leanto, Fuel, Fenced Fenced 4%|Fenced 4% |Fenced 4%|None 9%
NET PERCENTAGE LUMP SUM ADJUSTMENTS -62% -45% -57% -62%
FINAL ADJUSTED PRICE $68,476 $125,895 $102,620 $155,610
FINAL ADJUSTED PRICE/SF $34.24 $52.46 $29.15 $28.82
TOTAL NET ADJUSTMENTS -56% -36% -46% -57%
TOTAL GROSS ADJUSTMENTS 7% 63% 78% 87%
County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15021 490t Street © Copyright 2022 Page 47

Griswold, lowa



DIRECT SALES COMPARISON APPROACH (CONTINUED)

ADJUSTMENT RATIONALE

The preceding represents the only known sales of industrial properties considered of similar condition,
design, use, and/or location in Pottawattamie County or competing areas of the metro. All these
properties were considered to be similar to the subject, but did require some adjusting to make them
equal to subject. Sale prices were reduced to the common denominator of price per square foot of
GBA, as this is a normal unit of measurement in market buying and selling decisions.

Market Condition Adjustments

Adjustments were not required for property rights conveyed, financing, or condition of sale, as all were
considered normal for the market.

All the sales were considered for adjustment due to date of sale. | observed a general increase in
property values in the metro area over the past few years, typically ranging from 3% to 4% annually
until late 2007 when recessionary conditions began. The market slowdown was magnified following
destabilization of the financial markets in October 2008, demonstrated by the lack of known sales
occurring since that time. The market has been improving since 2010 and therefore, | applied anannual
appreciation to these sales of 3% after that time.

Physical Condition Adjustments

The sales are typically adjusted for the relative improvement size difference with the subject building,
due to dissimilar sizes and economies of scale. Adjustments were not considered necessary as all were
similar in size to subject.

Adjustments were considered for overall construction quality. Adjustments were derived from Marshall
Valuation Service estimated costs to bring properties equal to the subject and from the market reaction
to these differences.

Adjustments for age of improvements were given as typically buyers are concerned about remaining
economic life of property. A rounded 1/2% per year of difference with subject age was derived as an
appropriate adjustment and applied accordingly. Additional adjustments for condition were applied
separately, based on cost estimates to bring properties equal and accounts for the effective age of the
improvements.

Adjustments for amenities were also considered as properties with additional features, such as fencing
generally yield higher sale prices. Subject has a lean-to, fenced outdoor storage area and fuel tank &
pump; sales #3 through #7 had fencing, so those sales received different adjustments than the remining
sales which had no amenities so positive adjustments were applied to all the sales.

Adjustments for location were considered as all of these properties were located in areas with more
desirability than the subject so large negative adjustments were applied.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15021 490t Street © Copyright 2022 Page 48
Griswold, lowa




DIRECT SALES COMPARISON APPROACH (CONTINUED)

RECONCILIATION

Before adjusting, the sale prices ranged from $61.08/SF in Sale #7 to $130.21/SF in Sale #2. After the
aforementioned adjustments were applied, the indicated values ranged from $29.15/SF in Sale #7 to
$61.69/SF in Sale #2. Net percentage adjustments ranged from -33% to -57% while gross adjustments
ranged from 57% to 87%.

Generally, sales with the smallest amount of adjustment are the best indicators of value. Sales#1 and
#2 required the least adjusting, indicating values of $48.12 & $61.69/SF. Sale #1 is supported by one
other sale indicating a value of $52.46/SF, while sale #2 is not supported. Remaining sales indicated
values of $29.15/SF to $61.69/SF; majority of the sales 7 out of 8 indicated values from $29.15 to
$52.46/SF. Therefore, a value estimate for the subject within that range would have the broadest
support.

The market search revealed no similar properties on the market currently:

Therefore, based on the foregoing data and analysis, I estimated ‘as is’ market value of the subject at
$35.00/SF, as of the effective date of this report with the total value developed as follows:

Indicated Value X Gross Bldg Size = Total Rounded to
$35.00/SF X 2,106 SF = $73,710 $74,000
County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15021 490t Street © Copyright 2022 Page 49

Griswold, lowa



INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH

From an investor’s perspective, the earning power of a real estate investment is the critical element
affecting its value. The fundamental investment premise is the higher the earnings the higher the value.
Investment in an income-producing property represents the exchange of present dollars for the right to
receive future dollars. In the Income Capitalization Approach to value, the appraiser analyzes a
property’s capacity to generate benefits and converts these benefits into an indication of present value.t

The basic steps involved in this approach are:

Estimate potential gross income;

Estimate and deduct a vacancy and collection loss allowance;
Estimate and deduct expenses;

Estimate duration and pattern of income stream;

Select an applicable capitalization method and technique;

Develop the appropriate rate;

Complete the computations necessary to derive an economic value.

Nog~wpdE

The primary reason for making gross income estimates is to identify probable net income benefits that
may be derived from ownership interest of the income-producing property. In accepted appraisal
practice, the usual basis for a gross income projection is economic rent. Economic (market) rent is
defined as being the rental income that a property would most probably command in the open market; it
is indicated by current rents paid and asked for comparable space as of the date of the appraisal.

Income Analysis

Subject property is presently owner occupied therefore, no rental information on the property is known.

Comparable properties found are summarized on the following pages. Operating expenses were
estimated from actual historic operating statements from expenses for commercial properties | have
observed in the metro area combined with national investor surveys.

1 The Appraisal of Real Estate, 13th Edition, Chicago

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15021 490t Street © Copyright 2022 Page 50
Griswold, lowa




Comparable #1

Property ldentification

Lease ID 1012

Address 1310 South 17th Street
Council Bluffs, lowa

Market Council Bluffs

Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 14,000 SF
Finish - Above Grade 2,200 SF
Construction Average Quality, Class C
Built/Remodeled 2003/
Condition Average
Height 18.00'

Transaction

Leased Area 14,000 SF
Lease Date February 28, 2018
Lease Term February 28, 2018 - January 31, 2023
Starting Base Rent $5.20/SF
Rent Description Fixed for lease.

Starting Additional
Rent

Expense Terms Triple Net

County Maintenance Shed

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial
Legal Description Lots 1-8, Block 21 Fleming & Davis

Gross Site Size 60,984 SF
Usable Site Size 60,984 SF
Zoning -2
Features

Lessee
dba MP Nexlevel

Source Broker
Concession Amount N/A

Concessions
Description

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

15021 490t Street
Griswold, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 51



Comparable #2

Property Identification

Lease ID 1398

Address 15 South 20th Street
Council Bluffs, lowa

Market Council Bluffs

Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 9,120 SF
Finish - Above Grade N/A
Construction Average Quality, Class C
Built/Remodeled 1979/
Condition Fair
Height N/A

Transaction

Leased Area 9,120 SF
Lease Date August 01, 2018

Lease Term September 01, 2018 - August 31,
2023

Starting Base Rent $5.75/SF
Rent Description

Starting Additional
Rent

Expense Terms Triple Net

County Maintenance Shed

Property Type Commercial :: Vehicle-Related -
Service

Legal Description

Gross Site Size 40,692 SF
Usable Site Size 40,692 SF
Zoning C-2
Features

Lessee
dba Jake's Towing and Transport

Source CoStar
Concession Amount N/A

Concessions
Description

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

15021 490t Street
Griswold, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 52



Comparable #3

Property Identification

Lease ID 1013

Address 3319 Nebraska Avenue
Council Bluffs, lowa

Market Council Bluffs

Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 41,760 SF
Finish - Above Grade N/A
Construction Average Quality, Class C
Built/Remodeled 1969/
Condition Average
Height 13.00'

Transaction

Leased Area 7,020 SF
Lease Date October 11, 2018
Lease Term October 11, 2018 - October 10, 2021
Starting Base Rent $4.35/SF
Rent Description Fixed for term.

Starting Additional
Rent

Expense Terms Triple Net

County Maintenance Shed

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial
Legal Description

Gross Site Size 100,188 SF
Usable Site Size 100,188 SF
Zoning 1-2

Features

Lessee
dba McDowell Roofing

Source Broker
Concession Amount N/A

Concessions
Description

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

15021 490t Street
Griswold, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 53



Comparable #4

Property ldentification

Lease ID 1014

Address 2110 23rd Avenue
Council Bluffs, lowa

Market Council Bluffs

Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 5,000 SF
Finish - Above Grade N/A
Construction Average Quality, Class S
Built/Remodeled 2003/
Condition Average
Height N/A

Transaction

Leased Area 2,700 SF
Lease Date October 19, 2018
Lease Term November 19, 2018 -
Starting Base Rent $7.11/SF

Rent Description 7.78/SF in Year 2
8.22/SF in Year 3

Starting Additional
Rent

Expense Terms Gross

Garage space with mezzanine office.

County Maintenance Shed

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial

Legal Description Lots 8-12, Block 11, Railroad
Addition

Gross Site Size 25,245 SF
Usable Site Size 25,245 SF
Zoning 1-2
Features

Lessee
dba Syndicate Diesel

Source Broker
Concession Amount N/A

Concessions One month of free rent
Description

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

15021 490t Street
Griswold, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 54



Comparable #5

Property Identification

Lease ID 1242

Address 1305 Lew Ross Road
Council Bluffs, lowa

Market Council Bluffs

Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 17,840 SF
Finish - Above Grade 6,244 SF
Construction Average Quality, Class D
Built/Remodeled 1996/
Condition Good
Height 14.00'

Transaction

Leased Area 8,000 SF
Lease Date April 22, 2019
Lease Term May 01, 2019 - April 30, 2022
Starting Base Rent $6.95/SF
Rent Description

Starting Additional
Rent

Expense Terms Triple Net

County Maintenance Shed

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial

Legal Description Lots 5 & 6, Block 2, First Foundation
Sub., Council Bluffs, Pottawattamie
County, 1A

Gross Site Size 87,555 SF

Usable Site Size 87,555 SF
Zoning
Features

Lessee
dba New Covenant Electronics

Source CoStar Confirmation
Concession Amount N/A

Concessions
Description

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

15021 490t Street
Griswold, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 55



Comparable #6

Property Identification

Lease ID 1369 Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial
Address 1220 35th Avenue Legal Description Lot 6, 2nd Foundation Subdivision
Council Bluffs, lowa Phase I1

Market Council Bluffs

Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 14,000 SF Gross Site Size 43,995 SF
Finish - Above Grade N/A Usable Site Size 43,995 SF
Construction Good Quality, Class S Zoning 1-2
Built/Remodeled 2005/ Features
Condition Good
Height 18.00'

Transaction

Leased Area 3,700 SF Lessee
Lease Date June 30, 2019 dba Safariworks Decor
Lease Term August 29, 2019 - ~ Source CoStar
Starting Base Rent $6.00/SF Concession Amgunt N/A
Rent Description %Oer;gi?slcci)(r)lr&‘;
Starting Additional P
Rent

Expense Terms Triple Net

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15021 490t Street © Copyright 2022 Page 56
Griswold, lowa




Comparable #7

Property Identification

Lease ID 1368

Address 1220 35th Avenue
Council Bluffs, lowa

Market Council Bluffs

Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 14,000 SF
Finish - Above Grade N/A
Construction Good Quality, Class S
Built/Remodeled 2005/
Condition Good
Height 18.00'

Transaction

Leased Area 7,000 SF
Lease Date December 01, 2019
Lease Term December 01, 2019 -
Starting Base Rent $5.25/SF
Rent Description

Starting Additional
Rent

Expense Terms Triple Net

County Maintenance Shed

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial

Legal Description Lot 6, 2nd Foundation Subdivision
Phase I1

Gross Site Size 43,995 SF
Usable Site Size 43,995 SF
Zoning 1-2
Features

Lessee
dba Caeser's Entertainment

Source CoStar
Concession Amount N/A

Concessions
Description

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

15021 490t Street
Griswold, lowa

© Copyright 2022 Page 57



Comparable #8

Property ldentification

Lease ID 1588

Address 1309 Avenue J
Council Bluffs, lowa

Market 13th & Avenue J

Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 4,160 SF
Finish - Above Grade 784 SF
Construction Average Quality, Class D
Built/Remodeled 1986/
Condition Average
Height 12.00'

Transaction

Leased Area 4,160 SF
Lease Date October 31, 2021
Lease Term November 02, 2021 -
Starting Base Rent $8.25/SF
Rent Description

Starting Additional
Rent

Expense Terms Triple Net

Photograph from Pottawattamie County Assessor

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial

Legal Description Lots 1-3, Block 8, Potter-Cobbs First

Addition

Gross Site Size 15,730 SF
Usable Site Size 15,730 SF
Zoning 1-2
Features

Lessee Brown Heavy Equipment
Source CoStar; Marketing Brochure
Concession Amount N/A

Concessions
Description

Net expenses were $1.44/SF for taxes and insurance, and tenant to provide maintenance at own expense.

County Maintenance Shed

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

15021 490t Street
Griswold, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 58



Comparable Rentals Map

! ‘Macedonia

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15021 490t Street © Copyright 2022 Page 59
Griswold, lowa




INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH (CONTINUED)

MARKET LEASE RATE ANALYSIS AND CONCLUSION

No comparables of similar properties was found in Griswold. Council Bluffs did have some
comparables which reported rental rates of $4.35/SF to $10.50/SF, on triple net and gross terms. These
comparables are considered to be similar to subject but in superior locations and would be fairly
competitive with it in the current market. As the subject was in average condition and it has fenced
outdoor storage, lean to and fueling area; it is my opinion the market rent for the subject would be
reasonable at $4.00/SF on triple net terms.

Miscellaneous Income: Some properties similar to subject in this area receive additional income from
garage rentals, vending machines, forfeited deposits, etc. Subject does not appear to have any other
potential sources of income.

Vacancy and Collection Losses

A vacancy and collection loss must be deducted from potential gross income to arrive at property
effective gross income (EGI). A current 2022 survey conducted by Costar.com reports average
vacancy of 48.85% for industrial properties in Council Bluffs but no estimate of vacancy in
Griswold.

The subject space is a single tenant design, so it would be either 100% occupied or 100% vacant at
any one time. Based upon the subject properties location in an area with primarily agricultural
properties nearby, it is my opinion a 10% vacancy rate would be reasonable for the property.

Actual rent, vacancy and EGI were then summarized as follows:

Potential Commercial Rental Income 2,106 SF x $4.00/SF $8,424
Less: 10% Vacancy and Collection Loss - $842
Effective Gross Income $7,582

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses that are the property owner’s responsibility are deducted from projection of EGI to
arrive at property’s NOIL. Such operating expenses include real estate taxes, insurance, maintenance,
utilities and property management fees. To estimate appropriate allowance for operating expenses, |
considered actual known data from market expenses of other properties observed. No information for
the subject was provided. Estimates of operating expenses were then summarized as follows:

Real Estate Taxes: Property taxes for the subject were not posted so my estimate is based upon the
assessed for the subject ($75,300) and the current tax rate ($26,851870) which equates to $2,021. These
appear reasonable based upon the sales comparison approach and other properties observed. So
stabilized taxes will be estimated at $2,000 annually with the owner paying these during vacant periods
only.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15021 490t Street © Copyright 2022 Page 60
Griswold, lowa




INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH (CONTINUED)

Operating Expenses (Continued)

Insurance: Property and hazard insurance for commercial buildings have been observed near $0.10/SF
to $0.85/SF of gross building area for sprinklered buildings, and $0.15/SF to $0.55/SF for non-
sprinklered buildings, and have been rising in recent years. Actual insurance costs for the subject were
not disclosed. So, for purposes of this analysis, an estimate of $0.40/SF is considered reasonable or a
total cost of a rounded $840 annually.

Management: Typical third party management fees for properties similar to the subject property range
4% to 7% of EGI. The actual management expenses for the subject are unknown. Management duties
generally include supervision of property maintenance, bookkeeping, and management overhead. No
unusual aspects of the management function are foreseen in conjunction with the subject property, so |
estimate an expense of 3% of base rent as reasonable for the subject property.

Administrative & Professional Fees: A general administrative expense was considered appropriate to
reflect typical owner accounting and legal fees. This expense category would include a small amount
for owner’s office overhead and typically ranges from 0.5% to 1.5% of EGI. The actual expenses are
unknown as no operating statements were furnished. General administrative expense was estimated at
0.50% of base rent in this analysis.

Utilities: As no operating statements were provided my estimate of $1.00/SF is based on observations
of other commercial properties, with the owner paying during vacant periods only.

Repairs & Maintenance: This expense category reflects items such as repairs to mechanical systems,
roof, painting and items of general upkeep such as pest control, cleaning, snow and trash removal.
Actual costs were not provided; typical repair & maintenance expenses observed for other commercial
properties have ranged from $0.50/SF to over $3.00/SF, depending in large part on a property’s age and
building size. As a result, with the building in average condition with minimal deferred maintenance, |
estimate an expense of $1.00/SF for the subject, rounded to $2,100 annually.

Reserves for Replacement: Although not typically incurred as an annual cash outlay, a reserve for
replacement expense is appropriate to reflect future replacement of short-lived items such as carpeting,
mechanical systems (including water heaters and HVAC units), kitchen appliances, exterior paving,
roofing, etc. RealtyRates.com investor survey for 18 Q 2022 indicated reserve requirements for
industrial properties reported as $0.26 to $0.85 with an average of $0.56/SF. By comparison, the PWC
Investors Survey reports replacement reserves for national warehouse properties range from $0.05/SF to
$0.35/SF, averaging $0.14/SF in the 15t Q 2022. In my opinion, an appropriate replacement reserve for
the subject property is a rounded $0.20/SF.

Miscellaneous: A miscellaneous expense is typically included to account for such items as tenant-
related social expenses, holiday decorations, security services, etc. Therefore, an expense of $100 per
year was considered appropriate.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15021 490t Street © Copyright 2022 Page 61
Griswold, lowa




INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH (CONTINUED)

PROFORMA OPERATING STATEMENT (FEE SIMPLE)

Rental Income
Estimated Market Rent
Total Potential Gross Income

SQFT
2,106

Vacancy & Collection Allowance:

Effective Rental Income
Other Income
Total Effective Gross Income:

Operating Expenses:
Management Fee
General & Administrative
Real Estate Taxes
Insurance
Utilities
Repairs & Maintenance
Reserves for Replacement
Miscellaneous

Total Expenses

Net Operating Income

County Maintenance Shed

3.0%
0.5%
26.38%
11.08%
0.00%
27.70%
5.56%
1.32%

14.19%

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

Rent/SF Annual Income

$4.00

10.0%

$227
$38
$2,000
$840
$0
$2,100"
$421
$100

$8,424
$8,424
$842

Amount
$23
$38

$200
$84
$0
$210
$421
$100

$7,582
$0
$7,582

$1,076

$6,506

15021 490t Street
Griswold, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 62



INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH (CONTINUED)

CAPITALIZATION RATE SELECTION, APPLICATION AND ESTIMATE OF VALUE

Several methods of developing a capitalization rate can be used. The best of which is the Market
Extraction Method, where the incomes of comparable properties that have recently sold are known.
Sale transactions used in this report did not reveal cap rates however, other properties observed
which would be considered competitive with subject indicated cap rates of 7.60% to 9.00%.

A national survey was examined for further support of overall capitalization rate. The PWC Real
Estate Investor Survey for the 1%t Qtr 2022 reports national capitalization rates for secondary
industrial properties in a range of 5.25% to 9.00% with average of 7.13%. Capitalization rates in the
local market area have typically been higher than national rates. Capitalization rates are typically
higher for older and smaller properties.

In order to estimate current capitalization rates, a second method is used called the Band of
Investment, Analysis, which is a yield capitalization procedure used in estimating an overall
capitalization rate to be applied to the net operating income of a property. The band of investment
formula addresses the yield requirements of both the lender’s interest and the investor’s interest
considering current lending and investment rates. When the components used in the band of
investment formula are market-derived, the value indication obtained is reflective of market value.
RealtyRates.Com released their 1%t Q 2022 Investor Survey reporting interest rates for industrial
properties ranging from 2.86% to 7.41%, averaging 4.80%. The average spread from 10-Year
Treasury notes was 3.24%. Loan-to-value ratios ranged from 50% to 80% (average 70%), average
amortization period was 25 years with average term of 11.46 years and average debt coverage ratio
of 1.46. Per PwC Investors Survey for 1t Q 2022, institutional grade discount or yield rates for national
warehouse properties ranged from 7.00% to 10.00%, averaging 8.50%.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15021 490t Street © Copyright 2022 Page 63
Griswold, lowa




INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH (CONTINUED)

CAPITALIZATION RATE SELECTION, APPLICATION AND ESTIMATE OF VALUE

Based on the preceding, the following components are then used in the band of investment analysis.

Mortgage Components:

Loan/Value Ratio: 70%
Loan Rate: 5.0% selected
Amortization Period: 25 years with balloon payment due at end of 10 Year
Mortgage Constant (Rm): .0709
Equity Components:
Equity Ratio: 30%
Equity yield rate (Ye): 9.5%

The calculation of the overall capitalization rate by the band of investment technique is as follows:

Band of Investment Technique

Loan Ratio X Mortgage Constant = Weighted Average
.70 X 0709 = 0.049
Equity Ratio X Equity Yield Rate
30 X .095 = (+) 0.0285
Total Weighted Average 0.0775
Indicated Overall Capitalization Rate 7.75%

This mechanical or calculated overall rate typically is below the market extracted rates as lending
terms are still considered favorable for qualified applicants; so, it was given only secondary rounding
weight in my overall or “going-in” capitalization rate selection for the subject property.

Therefore, based on subject characteristics with and the current demand for this property type in the
local market, | selected a rounded 9.00% as the capitalization rate currently appropriate for the
subject property in this market. To arrive at a value estimate for the subject property, the estimated
annual net operating income must be divided by the overall capitalization rate. Therefore, | estimate
the market value of the subject property, as of the effective date of this report, as follows.

Fee Simple
Net Operating Income Capitalization Rate Indicated Value Rounded
$6,506 + 9.00% = $72,286 $70,000
County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15021 490t Street © Copyright 2022 Page 64

Griswold, lowa



RECONCILIATION AND FINAL ESTIMATE OF VALUE

Reconciliation is the process of coordinating and integrating related factors to form a conclusion
regarding the appraised property’s Market Value. Each appraisal approach was considered as to
adequacy, accuracy and overall reliability. The following estimates were based on subject’s highest and
best use in this report and primarily on available market data furnished by the property owner and
others.

Market Value via the Cost Approach Not Applicable
Market Value via the Direct Sales Comparison Approach $74,000
Market Value via the Income Capitalization Approach (Fee Simple) $70,000

The Cost Approach typically uses replacement cost method of determining new cost of building
improvements, typically representing the highest value. Depreciation is calculated for deferred
maintenance and normal wear and tear. The shortcoming of this method normally results from the
calculations for depreciation, as age and obsolescence are difficult to precisely measure in the market
place. The subject building is older, resulting in accrued depreciation which becomes subjective
reducing the reliability of this approach below acceptable levels. Therefore, it was not developed inthis
report.

The Direct Sales Comparison Approach compares sales of similar properties. Adjustments were made
for variations from the subject property based on available market data. After adjustments, a reasonable
range of indicated values was evident and | selected the value from the range most representative of the
appraised building. This approach is generally the best method of reflecting market attitudes toward
property, particularly when owner-occupied buildings are involved and there is an active market with
numerous sales. However, this approach is less persuasive when the property is purchased as an
investment. As the subject property is a single-tenant building it would likely appeal to an owner but if
leased it could appeal to an investor therefore equal weight was given in the final value estimate for the
subject.

The Income Capitalization Approach was considered and could be used in this report. Since an
adequate amount of rent, expense and cap rate data was available for the subject property, this approach
was considered reliable so was given significant weight in the final value estimate for the subject also.

Conditional only upon my standard Certification, Assumptions and Limiting Conditions, and the
estimated exposure time as stated in this report, it is my opinion the “as is”” Market Value of the subject
properties fee simple estate, as of May 16, 2022 was:

SEVENTYTWO THOUSAND DOLLARS

($72,000)

Respectfully submitted,

- i . A

," | [} / | ‘ f
e \ . .
(Rt [J /ULLL- Alga
D. Rick Whitesides, MAI, SRA
General Certified Appraiser - |A CG01439
NE CG920142

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15021 490t Street © Copyright 2022 Page 65

Griswold, lowa



ADDENDA

County Maintenance Shed

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

15021 490t Street
Griswold, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 66




APPRAISER’S QUALIFICATIONS
D. Rick Whitesides, MAI, SRA

PROFESSIONAL.:

MAI Designation from the Appraisal Institute 1991
SRA Designation from the Appraisal Institute 1977
General Certified Appraiser, State of Nebraska (CG 920142) 1992
General Certified Appraiser, State of lowa (CG 01439) 1992
Licensed Real Estate Salesman in the State of Nebraska 1972
Vice President/Appraiser Mitchell & Associates 1990-Present
Property Underwriter/Assistant Vice President,

Occidental Nebraska Federal Savings Bank 1973-90
MEMBER:

Appraisal Institute: ~ Former President Nebraska Chapter and currently active in this chapter and
former Chapter Services Chairman for Region Il and have served on the National Chapter Services
Committee

Nebraska Real Estate Association

Omaha Area Board of Realtors ~ Former Executive Committee, Commercial Investment Council
Tangier Shrine, Scottish Rite and Mercer Lodge

Past Membership: Society of Real Estate Appraisers, Eastern Nebraska, Chapter #111

EDUCATION:

University of Nebraska Lincoln
University of Nebraska Omaha

Continuing education through attendance at various appraisal seminars sponsored by the Appraisal
Institute and other industry organizations; courses listed on a separate page.

EXPERIENCE:

Avreas of appraisal experience include multi-family residential, commercial; industrial; vacant land,
special purpose properties; and single family residential. Appraisals have been completed for
mortgage loans, condemnation, litigation, and asset management purposes.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15021 490t Street © Copyright 2022 Page 67
Griswold, lowa




RECENT APPRAISAL EDUCATION
D. RICK WHITESIDES, MAI, SRA

DATE COURSE SPONSOR

2017 Honing In...Updates, Market Perspectives & Prof. Development Al

2016 Local Market Snapshot Al

2016 Understanding the Basics of Excel & Linear Regression Al

2016 Commercial Real Estate Summit Nebr Cont Legl Ed

2016 USPAP Update Al

2015 Commercial Real Estate Summit Nebr Cont Legl Ed

2014 Commercial Real Estate Summit Nebr Cont Legl Ed

2014 The Discounted Cash Flow Model Al

2014 USPAP Update Al

2013 Property Acquisition & Need for Site Assessment Randall School of RE

2013 Environmental Issues in Real Estate Randall School of RE

2013 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed

2013 Online Supervising Appraisal Trainees Al

2012 USPAP Moore Group

2012 Effective Appraisal Writing Al

2011 Ethical Decision Making in Real Estate Randall School of RE

2011 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed

2011 Commercial Appraisal Engagement & Review Al

2011 Capital Markets Seminar Daisley Ruff

2010 USPAP Al

2010 Capital Markets Seminar Daisley Ruff

2010 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed

2010 Appraisal Curriculum Overview Al

2009 Online Business Practices & Ethics Al

2009 Report Writing Workshop The Moore Group

2009 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed

2008 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed

2008 USPAP Al

2007 Standard 3 Review Training Session NE Appraiser Bd

2007 Understanding & Testing DCF Valuation Models Al

2007 Analyzing Distressed Real Estate Al

2007 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed

2006 Uniform Standards of Professional Practice Moore Group

2006 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed

2005 Market Analysis & the Site to do Business Al

2005 Radon & Real Estate Randall School of RE

2004 Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice Al

2004 Loss Prevention for Real Estate Appraisers Al

2004 Rates and Ratios Al

2003 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed

2003 Client Pressure Seminar NE Appraiser Bd.

2003 Appraisal Consulting Al

2002 Mark to Market Al

2002 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed

2001 Appraisers & Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act Al

2001 Regression Analysis in Appraisal Practice Al

2001 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed
CLASS

County Maintenance Shed

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

CLASS
HOURS

Nﬂw$WNwNNbﬂWNNNmb#hﬂmmﬂhawwﬂwﬂwwﬂﬂbmWWNNmmﬂwbhb

15484 State Orchard Road

© Copyright 2022

Council Bluffs, lowa

Page 68



DATE

COURSE

2000
2000

2000

2000
2000
1999
1999
1999
1998
1997
1997
1997
1996
1996
1995
1995
1995
1995
1994
1994
1993
1993
1993
1993
1993
1992
1992
1991
1990

County Maintenance Shed

Commercial Appraisal Problem Solving
Appraisal of Non-Conforming Uses

Standards of Professional Practice

Ed Tour (Tomorrows Information Today)
Commercial Real Estate Workshop
Internet Search Strategies

Appraisal of Local Retail Properties
Commercial Real Estate Workshop
Commercial Real Estate Workshop
Affordable Housing

Analyzing Operating Expenses
Commercial Real Estate Workshop
Highest & Best Use

Standards of Professional Practice
Advanced Income Capitalization
Emerging Technologies in Appraising
Experience Review Training
Apartment Update

FHA Guidelines

Commercial Real Estate Workshop
Appraising Apartments

Agency Relationships in Real Estate
Mock Trial Seminar

Commercial Real Estate Workshop
FIRREA: Overview & Application
ADA Seminar

Commercial Real Estate Workshop
Standards of Professional Practice
Small Residential Form

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

SPONSOR
Mid-West Appraisers
Al

Al

NE. Appraiser Board
Nebr Cont Legl Ed
Al
Al
Nebr Cont Legl Ed
Nebr Cont Legl Ed
Al
Al
Nebr Cont Legl Ed

Nebr Cont Legl Ed.
Al
Randall School of RE
Al
Nebr Cont Legl Ed
Al
Al
Nebr Cont Legl Ed
AIREA
SREA

HOURS

NNOONN~NWNWwNR AR voNNooN~N~Nw N~

15484 State Orchard Road

Council Bluffs, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 69



State of Nebraska

Real Property Appraiser Board

Hereky certifies that: DWHINT RICK) E WHITESIDES

MITCHELL COMMERCIAL VALUATION INC
14611 W CENTER RD
OMAHANE 681333219
15 erefemtialed in the State of Nebraska as a:
Certified Genernl Real Property Appraiser

Hedifimy credestinl mamber; CON0142
Lifective Date: Jan 012022 Lxpiration Date:  Dec 31, 2002
—
A 4 /,/;"' y
Nebrinkp Rgal Propesty Appraiser Boaed Director: ;"LI/ Lil/. & N
g I
I\ )

AT sbioan e, bt oo ey sbowse et be sopeerd e e Mol Preperty Agpes so easd mmodond s

Thie Crodarsta g Card b poced 1 mch pemon e condanaatod sdor e Rioul Prapars Arates A0 ekon crobartial fas ban canodil. ervadard. sapanded, of sk o

Nebesaka Real Property Appeaner Bosd
301 Contermial Mall Southy, First Floor PO Bax 94961
Liscodn. Nebrasha 685094563
Fhose: ACATIS0LS Faao 4024719017 barps. ogupradsct 1re gony

Wwmairane (fomrioatae Nl [UR4-2022 Vaptrenm for Find. 27400

Foodew Piggopree Aud Poyrae P i $5.00 Paderal Pty Toe P2 SN0

&uqu_ E E

Piekds o Oppretetisies STATE OF 1OWA

1044 DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE
PROFESSIONAL LICENSING AND REGULATION

Thisis to certify that the below named has been granted a certification
as: Certified General Appraiser.

Certification Number: CG01435 Expires:June 30, 2023

Status: Active

Dwight E Whitesides
Mitchell & Associates
14611 W CenterRd
Omaha, Nebraska 68144

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022
Council Bluffs, lowa

Page 70



USPAP MINIMUM STANDARDS

For the convenience of the reader or any reviewer of this report, we have included a copy of the fourteen
points of the Minimum Appraisal Standards. Appraisals must:

1.

10.

11.

12.
13.
14.

Conform to USPAP, except that the Departure Provision, which allows below minimum work, will not
apply;

Include a disclosure of any steps taken in order to comply with the Competency Provision of USPAP;
Be based on the market value or other values as defined in the attached DEFINITIONS;

[i] Be written and presented in a narrative format;
[ii] Be sufficiently descriptive to enable the reader to ascertain the market value and the
rationale for the estimate;

[iii] Provide detail and depth reflective of the complexity of the property appraised;
Analyze and report in reasonable detail any prior sales of the property within the last three years;

Analyze and report current revenues, expense, and vacancies on income producing properties rather
than estimated or projected figures not supported by current market conditions;

Use a reasonable marketing period for the property;

Analyze current market conditions and trends that will affect the income, absorption, or value of the
property;

Report both the “as is” (using appropriate deductions and discounts for holding and marketing costs,
and entrepreneurial profit) and the stabilized market values for developmental property; report both the
value-in-use and liguidation value for owner-occupied property;

Include in the USPAP required certification an additional statement that: “The appraisal assignment
was not based on a requested minimum valuation, a specific valuation, or the approval of a “loan”;

Contain sufficient supporting documentation to allow the reader to ascertain the appraiser’s logic,
reasoning, judgment, and analysis;

Include a legal description of the subject property (in addition to the description required by USPAP);
Identify and value separately any non-real estate items;

Use and reconcile the income, direct sales, and cost approaches to value, and explain the omission of
any approach not used;

If any information necessary to complete the appraisal is unavailable, this fact must be disclosed.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 71
Council Bluffs, lowa



8.010.010

8.010.020

8.010.030

CHAPTER 8.010
AGRICULTURAL PRODUCTION DISTRICT

INTENT: The Class A-2 District is intended to preserve the land best suited for agricultural
production by protecting prime agricultural lands in farmable tracts from the encroachment of
scattered residential, commercial and industrial development; to promote efficiency and
economy in the delivery of public services by restricting non-farm development in
unincorporated areas of the County, which are without existing or planned services, and to
encourage development in areas where services are provided or can efficiently be provided.
(Ordinance #2007-01/03-09-07)

PRINCIPAL USES: The following principal uses shall be permitted in a Class A-2 District:

01

.02

.03

.04

.05

.06

.07

.08

Any customary agricultural use. (Ordinance #2004-14/07-01-04)

Construction and demolition waste disposal sites, subject to approval of the lowa
Department of Natural Resources and the County Board. (Ordinance #2015-05/12-
18-2015)

Demolition rubble waste disposal sites, provided that no such disposal site shall be
located closer than two (2) miles to the corporate limits of any municipality having a
population of greater than 25,000, according to the latest federal census. (Ordinance
#2004-14/07-01-04)

Sanitary landfills, such to approval by the lowa Department of Natural Resources
and the County Board, provided that no such use or structure shall be located closer
than one thousand three hundred twenty (1,320) feet to any Class “R” District or
platted residential subdivision or dwelling other than that of the lessee or owner of
the site. (Ordinance #2004-14/07-01-04)

Single-family dwellings, at a maximum density of two (2) dwellings per quarter-
quarter section. (Ordinance #2015-05/12-18-2015)

Tower with a height not exceeding five hundred (500) feet, subject to the
requirements of Section 8.004.220. (Ordinance #2007-09/10-12-07)

Vineyard, winery and tasting facilities, subject to the provisions of Section 8.004.250.
(Ordinance #2011-01/6-17-11)

Wind Farms, both commercial and non-commercial, subject to the requirements of
8.004.230 and 8.004.240. (Ordinance #2008-02/06-06-08)

CONDITIONAL USES: The following conditional uses shall be permitted in a Class A-2
District, when authorized in accordance with the requirements of Chapter 8.096:

01

.02

County Maintenance Shed

Bed and breakfast homes, subject to the provisions of Section 8.004.200.
(Ordinance #2004-14/07-01-04)

Cemeteries, including mausoleums and crematories, provided that no such
mausoleum and crematory shall be located closer than two hundred (200) feet from

853

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

15484 State Orchard Road

Council Bluffs, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 72



.03

.04

.05

.06

.07

.08

.09

10

|

A2

County Maintenance Shed

any property line, and further provided that any new cemetery shall contain an area
of five (5) acres or more. (Ordinance #2004-14/07-01-04)

Churches and other places of worship, including parish houses and Sunday school
buildings. (Ordinance #2004-14/07-01-04)

Commercial composting facilities, subject to approval of the lowa Department of
Natural Resources standards and administrative rules. (Ordinance #2004-14/07-01-
04)

Commercial kennels and veterinary hospitals or clinics, provided that no such
structure or exercising runway shall be located closer than two hundred (200) feet
from any Class “R” District or platted residential subdivision or dwelling other than
that of the lessee or owner of the site. (Ordinance #2004-14/07-01-04)

Commercial stables, riding academies and clubs. (Ordinance #2015-05/12-18-2015)

Day care nurseries and nursery schools, provided that for each child there shall be a
minimum of thirty-five (35) square feet of usable floor space, exclusive of wash
rooms, toilets, kitchens and hallways; and further provided that for each child there
shall be a minimum of one hundred (100) square feet of usable outdoor play space,
which space shall be confined to the rear yard of the property and be completely
enclosed by a fence. (Ordinance #2004-14/07-01-04)

Demolition rubble waste disposal sites, which such disposal site may be located
closer than two (2) miles to the corporate limits of any municipality having a
population of greater than 25,000, according to the latest federal census. (Ordinance
#2004-14/07-01-04)

Extraction pits, subject to the provisions of Chapter 8.065. Further provided that no
such use shall be located closer than five hundred (500) feet from any Class ‘R”
District or platted residential subdivision, or dwelling other than that of the lessee or
owner of the site. Any such use existing at any time prior to the adoption of the
Ordinance may be reopened, expanded or extended, and continue to operate
provided that where any part of the operation is closer than the distance specified
above, the operation may be extended parallel to such other uses, but such
extension shall not become closer than such other uses. (Ordinance #2015-05/12-
18-2015)

Fertilizer and/or agricultural chemical blending and storage facilities. (Ordinance
#2006-06/06-02-06)

Governmental structures and uses, when operating requirements necessitate
locating in the district; provided that the premises upon which such use is erected
shall be appropriately landscaped, screened and maintained so as to be in harmony
with the general appearance of the surrounding area, and not objectionable as to
noise, odor, vibration or other disturbances. (Ordinance #2004-14/07-01-04)

Portable sawmills and related facilities required for obtaining, processing, storing

and transporting timber at their point of origin; provided the no such use shall be

located closer than five hundred (500) feet from any Class “R” District or platted
8.54

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

15484 State Orchard Road

Council Bluffs, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 73



A3

14

15

.16

A7

18

19

20

residential subdivision, or dwelling other than that of the lessee or owner of the site.
Any such use existing at any time prior to the adoption of the Ordinance may be
reopened, expanded or extended, and continue to operate provided that where any
part of the operation is closer than the distance specified above, the operation may
be extended parallel to such other uses, but such extension shall not become closer
than such other uses. (Ordinance #2015-05/12-18-2015)

Private light plane landing strips and helipads, including crop dusting strips, when
laid out and operated in accordance with all applicable regulations of the Federal
Aviation Agency and when situated on a site containing not less than thirty (30)
acres. (Ordinance #2015-05/12-18-2015)

Public schools and colleges, and private schools and colleges having equivalent
curriculum. (Ordinance #2004-14/07-01-04)

Rural enterprise businesses, subject to the provisions of 8.004.165. (Ordinance
#2004-14/07-01-04)

Sewage disposal facilities, subject to approval by the lowa Department of Natural
Resources, provided that no such structure shall be located closer than seven
hundred fifty (750) feet to any Class “R” District or platted residential subdivision or
dwelling other than that of the lessee or owner of the site. (Ordinance #2004-14/07-
01-04)

Special events and dining facilities at vineyards/wineries, subject to the provisions of
Section 8.004.250. (Ordinance #2011-01/6-17-11)

Temporary establishments or enterprises involving large assemblages of people or
automobiles including, but not limited to, carnivals, circuses, rodeo grounds, show
rings, livestock auction barns and yards, music festivals, sports festivals and similar
uses. (Ordinance #2004-14/07-01-04)

Transformer stations, booster stations, and utility stations, when operating
requirements necessitate locating in the district; provided there is no yard or garage
for service or storage, or any building for general administrative or sales offices, and
further provided, that the premises upon which such use is erected shall be
appropriately landscaped, screened and maintained so as to be in harmony with the
general appearance of the surrounding area, and not objectionable as to noise,
odor, vibration or other disturbances. The minimum lot area and setback may be
waived by the Board only on finding that the waiver will not create a detrimental
effect on adjacent properties. (Ordinance #2007-09/10-12-07)

Towers with a height exceeding five hundred (500) feet, subject to the requirements
of Section 8.004.220. (Ordinance #2007-09/10-12-07)

8.010.040 ACCESSORY USES: Accessory uses shall be permitted in a Class A-2 District as specified
in Section 8.004.085: (Ordinance #2015-05/12-18-2015)

County Maintenance Shed

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

15484 State Orchard Road

Council Bluffs, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 74



8.010.050

8.010.060

8.010.070

8.010.080

County Maintenance Shed

OFF-STREET PARKING AND LOADING: Off-street parking and loading spaces shall be
provided in accordance with Chapter 8.080 for permitted principal and conditional uses in a
Class A-2 District. (Ordinance #2004-14/07-01-04)

HEIGHT REQUIREMENT: No maximum height is established for buildings and structures in
a Class A-2 District, however, attention shall be directed to the equipment limits of the
various fire protection jurisdictions in respect to stream heights and elevation assistance, and
the obligation of any designer to accommodate these limitations in the design of any
building. (Ordinance #2004-14/07-01-04)

SETBACK REQUIREMENTS: The setback requirement for buildings and structures in a
Class A-2 District shall be as follows: (Ordinance #2004-14/07-01-04)

.01 The front yard setback shall be a minimum of fifty (50) feet. (Ordinance #2004-
14/07-01-04)

.02  The side yard setback shall be a minimum of twenty-five (25) feet. (Ordinance
#2004-14/07-01-04)

.03 The rear yard setback shall be a minimum of fifty (50) feet. (Ordinance #2004-14/07-
01-04)

.04 The minimum setback for any yard which abuts a highway or county road shall be
seventy-five (75) feet. (Ordinance #2004-14/07-01-04)

LOT SIZE AND COVERAGE REQUIREMENTS: The minimum /ot size and maximum /ot
coverage for uses in a Class A-2 District shall be as follows, except as provided in Section
8.004.030:

MINIMUM LOT MAXIMUM LOT

USE AREA | WIDTH |DEPTH | COVERAGE

.01 Single-Family Dwelling 2.0 Acres 175’ 300’ 10%

.02 Churches 2.0 Acres 200 200’ 30%

.03 Commercial kennels and | 3.0 acres 300 300° 15%
veterinary hospitals

.04 Commercial Stables 5.0 acres 300’ 300’ 5%

.05 Mineral ~ Extraction and | 10.0 acres 500’ 500’ 1%
Sanitary Landfill

.06 | Other permitted structures | 2.0 acres 175’ 300° 20%
and uses

(Ordinance #2004-14/07-01-04)

8.56

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

15484 State Orchard Road

Council Bluffs, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 75



MITCHELL & ASSOCIATES. INC,

ROBERT F. MITCHELL, JR., SRPA
R. GREGG MITCHELL, SRA

D. RICK WHITESIDES, MAI, SRA KEVIN P. HERMSEN MAI
W. BRUCE WILKIE DAVID C. WELLSANDT, MAI
BETH ANDERSEN RICHARD WITTMANN
MELISSA RUTHERFORD MARK SCHAECHER
April 26, 2022
Ms. Kristina Treantos Re:  Appraisal Reports
Via email Properties on following list

Kristina.treantos@pottcounty-is.gov

Dear Ms. Treantos

Per your request our firm will provide appraisal reports on the attached list of properties for the purposes of
estimating the fair market value of the real estate for asset management purposes, subject to the terms and
conditions stated as follows:

1) The report swill be prepared in compliance with the Minimum Appraisal Standards as set forth by the
Uniform Standards of Professional Practice (USPAP) and the Standards of the State of Towa.

2) Inorder to provide the most accurate and timely appraisal possible, the following specific information on
the subject property is desired, if applicable and available:

Property contact for access if necessary

3) Properties to be appraised are as follows:
358 Elm Street, Avoca, IA
15021 490%™ St., Griswold, IA
15484 State Orchard Rd. Council Bluffs, IA
217 North Main, Hancock, 1A
705 Oak Street, Walnut, IA

4) Any modifications, excluding correction of errors, will be provided only at additional cost. No court
testimony or appearances at any hearing will be provided unless prior arrangements are made. Testimony
or appearance at hearings will be billed at the rate of $250/hour, with a 4 hour minimum.

5) The reports will be prepared in a timely manner. Delivery of the report will be approximately 5 weeks,
from receipt of a signed copy of this letter; provided the necessary data is made available in a timely manner.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 76
Council Bluffs, lowa




Appraisal Proposal
Industrial Properties
April 26, 2022
Page 2

6) The fee to prepare the real estate reports will not exceed $4,900 and is payable as follows: $2,450 due upon
the signing of this letter and the balance upon receipt of the completed written appraisal report.

7) Confidentiality will be respected, so the results and content of the report will only be revealed to you or
third parties you may designate. It will not be released to any other entity, without prior permission by you.
However, some information furnished may be used in future analysis of other properties, unless
you specifically request otherwise. In order to comply with the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act of 1999,
our Privacy Notice is available upon request

8) The appraisal will include in the certification required by USPAP; that the appraisal assignment was not
based on a requested minimum valuation, specific valuation or the approval of a loan.
If you are in agreement with this proposal, please sign and return the original letter, with the retainer, as soon as
possible.

Thank you for the opportunity to be of service.

Respectfully submitted,

bt

D. Rick Whitesides, MAI, SRA
General Certified Appraiser — NE #CG920142
TA #CGO01439

ACCEPTED:

AV ATNY Y 2% . 4[28[22

Ms. Kristina Treantos
Pottawattamie County, Jowa

*Refminer will b sont g GlAlz2.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 77
Council Bluffs, lowa




AN
APPRAISAL

OF

COMMERCIAL PROPERTY
LOCATED AT
217 NORTH MAIN STREET
HANCOCK, IOWA

AS OF

May 16, 2022

PREPARED FOR

Ms. Kristina Treantos
Via email
Kristina.treantos@pottcounty-ia.gov

PREPARED BY

D. Rick Whitesides, MAI, SRA
Certified General Appraiser

MITCHELL & ASSOCIATES, INC.
14611 West Center Road
Omaha, Nebraska 68144

© Copyright 2022, Mitchell & Associates, Inc.



2

MITCHELL & ASSOCIATES, INC.

ROBERT F. MITCHELL, SR., 1893-1983
ROBERT F. MITCHELL, JR., SRPA 1927-2020
R. GREGG MITCHELL, SRA

D. RICK WHITESIDES, MAI, SRA KEVIN P. HERMSEN, MAI

W. BRUCE WILKIE DAVID C. WELLSANDT, MAI

BETH ANDERSEN MELISSA L. RUTHERFORD

RICHARD C. WITTMANN MARK SCHAECHER

REBECCA BELLOWS ALEX FINKLE

JAMES ANDERSEN
May 31, 2022
Ms. Kristina Treantos RE: File #00220817 - Appraisal
Via email Commercial Property
Kristina.treantos@pottcounty-ia.gov 217 N. Main St.

Hancock, lowa
Dear Ms. Treantos:

In response to your request and for the purpose of estimating the Market Value of the above referenced
property for asset management purposes, | have personally visited the property, and then conducted an
analysis of the matters pertinent to its current market value. My findings are included in the following
report of *** pages, plus the supporting Addenda.

This report is intended to be in conformity with the prevailing Standards and Ethics of the Uniform
Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice (USPAP) of the Appraisal Foundation and the Appraisal
Institute. Itisindependently prepared so is not based on a requested minimum value, specific valuation
nor the approval of a loan. It is also in conformity with the laws and Minimum Standards of the State of
lowa where | am licensed.

Your attention is directed toward the sections titled Limiting Conditions and Assumptions,
Definitions, and Appraiser’s Certification, which address contingencies of the appraisal. Additional
contingencies may be interspersed throughout the report where appropriate; therefore, this report
should be considered in its entirety. Your attention is also directed to the special consideration noted
on page 11 regarding the COVID-19 outbreak. The effective date for this appraisal is in a time
where the community is experiencing a serious reaction to the outbreak including many closures or
cancellations including school districts, state and federal declarations of emergency. Public health
officials are calling for social distancing and limited exposure to others. There is currently
insufficient data to indicate market reactions to the outbreak as it applies to the general market or to
specific properties in regards to any effects on value or marketing times.

Conditional only upon my standard Certification, Assumptions and Limiting Conditions, and the
estimated exposure time as stated in this report, it is my opinion the “as is” Market Value of the subject
properties fee simple estate, as of May 16, 2022 was:

SIXTY THOUSAND FIVE HUNDRED DOLLARS
($60,500)

Respectfully submitted,

\ ' 4
/ | " § |
‘Kt W Addpea

D. Rick Whitesides, MAI, SRA
General Certified Appraiser - IA CG0143 NE CG9201429;

S:|Reports|2022/002208 14|Report.doc

Real Estate Appraisers & Consultants

14611 West Center Road B Omaha, Nebraska 68144 m PH. 402-330-4500 m FAX 402-330-7207



TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION

Identification of Property, Summary of Salient Facts and Scope of Work
Scope of Work

Appraiser’s Certification

Assumptions and Limiting Conditions

Definitions

Valuation and the Appraisal Process

DESCRIPTIONS

Market Area Description and Analysis
Site Description and Analysis
Description and Analysis of Improvements

ANALYSIS AND CONCLUSIONS
Highest and Best Use
Cost Approach
Direct Sales Comparison Approach
Income Capitalization Approach

Reconciliation and Final Estimate of VValue

ADDENDA

Qualifications of Appraiser
USPAP Standards

Flood Plain Map
Engagement Letter

Page
4
7
10
11

13
14

15
20
24

29
33
34
49
66



IDENTIFICATION OF THE PROPERTY
AND SUMMARY OF SALIENT FACTS

LOCATION: 217 North Main Street, Hancock, lowa 51536. This is on the north of
East Delta and east of North Main Streets, in Hancock lowa, whichisin
the eastern portion of Pottawattamie County, lowa.

LEGAL DESCRIPTION: Lots 7 through 9, and Lot 6, except the east 12’ in Block 2, Original
town of Hancock, Pottawattamie County, lowa

OWNER OF RECORD: Pottawattamie County
Council Bluffs, lowa

CLIENT/INTENDED USE: The report was ordered by Ms. Kristina Treantos with Pottawattamie
County, who advised this appraisal would be used in asset management
purposes. There are no other intended uses or users of this report.

APPRAISAL PURPOSE: Purpose of this appraisal is to provide a supported estimate of the ‘asis’
fee simple market value of the subject property, as of the date of the site
visit.

INSPECTION DATE: On May 16, 2022, | personally visited subject in the company of Shawn
Bluml with Pottawattamie County. Most photos used in this report
were taken at the time of this inspection.

EFFECTIVE DATE: This appraisal has an effective date of May 16, 2022, the date of the
property visit.

SUBJECT DESCRIPTION: The subject property consists of one building used as a maintenance
building. This building contains one drive-in bay an open office and a
restroom it was built in 1998. The building is of pre-engineered steel
construction with metal panels on the elevations and pitched roof. There
is one overhead door for vehicle entry and a pedestrian door. The
building has 1,728 square feet and is located upon an interior site with

9,416 SF.
ZONING: I was advised by city official that there are no zoning laws in Hancock.
County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 4

Hancock, lowa



IDENTIFICATION OF THE PROPERTY

AND SUMMARY OF SALIENT FACTS (CONTINUED)

FLOOD PLAIN STATUS:

TITLE HISTORY:

TAX ASSESSMENT:

TAX RATE:

REAL ESTATE TAXES:

PERSONAL PROPERTY:

HIGHEST & BEST USE:

EXPOSURE TIME:

County Maintenance Shed

Subject does not appear to be located in a designated flood zone, per
CoreLogic, referencing FEMA Map 19155C0338F, dated April 16,
2013 (map in report).

Per county records, subject does not appear to have sold in the past five
years.

Real estate taxes for Pottawattamie County are combined in one billing
for all governmental subdivisions. The County Assessor is responsible
for estimating ‘actual value’ to which tax rates are applied. Subject
(Parcel #763908357003) is assessed as follows:

Current Value

2022 Comm. Land Improvement Total Class

Full value $8,000 $24,600 $32,600 C
Exempt $8,000 $24,600 $32,600 C

Net Total 10 $0 $0 C

Prior Year Value

2021 Comm. Land Improvement Total Class

Full value $8,000 $24,600 $32,600 C
Exempt $8,000 $24,600 $32,600 C

Net Total $0 %0 %0 C

The 2020 tax rate was $31.876110 per $1,000 of assessed value, which
appears normal for commercial properties in this area. The 2021 tax rate
has not been set, as of the effective date of this report.

Per Pottawattamie County Treasurer’s Office, shows net real estate
taxes of $0 as it is owned by a government entity. Generally these taxes
have delinquent dates of September 1, 2020 for the first half and March
1, 2021 for the second half. Subject is appraised as if all historic tax
obligations (including additional interest or penalties) are paid current.

No furniture, fixtures, business or equipment values are included in this
report.

As concluded herein, highest and best use of subject is ‘as is’ with a
maintenance shed.

As described herein, exposure time is estimated time a property interest
being appraised would have been offered on the market prior to a
hypothetical consummation of sale at market value on effective date of
appraisal. Based on a retrospective opinion of past events, assuming a
competitive, open market, | estimated that would have been within 12-
months, reflecting current market conditions.

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

217 North Main Street
Hancock, lowa

© Copyright 2022 Page 5



IDENTIFICATION OF THE PROPERTY
AND SUMMARY OF SALIENT FACTS (CONTINUED)

ENVIRONMENTAL Existing improvement is a maintenance shed It is unknown if

CONDITIONS: hazardous components/materials (urea formaldehyde foam insulation,
asbestos, etc.) were used in construction/renovation or if the site has
contaminants. No evidence of underground fuel storage tanks or
contamination was observed. As a result, environmental conditions are
presumed non-adverse. However, it may be prudent to obtain a current
certified survey and environmental assessment of the property. This
appraisal makes no allowance for environmental remediation or
abatement requirements. Your attention is directed to Limiting
Conditions and Assumptions at the conclusion of this report.

SUMMARY OF INDICATED VALUES FROM THIS REPORT

Market Value via the Cost Approach Not Applicable
Market Value via the Direct Sales Comparison Approach $60,500
Market Value via the Income Capitalization Approach (Fee Simple) $60,000
County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 6

Hancock, lowa



SCOPE OF WORK

Scope of work refers to research and analysis in this assignment and includes the extent to which the
property is identified, type and extent of data researched, and type and extent of analysis applied.

Extent of Property Identification: The property was identified by its addresses of 217 North Main
Street, Hancock, lowa. Per Pottawattamie County records, this address corresponds to County Parcel
number and legal descriptions summarized in the Salient Facts section of this report.

Type and Extent of Data Researched: | personally visited the property, building measurements were
taken from county assessors web site and verified on site, which provided the information for the
property descriptions. Site size was obtained from the assessor’s website also. Other datawas collected
from County public records, conversations with local property owners and brokers, information
published in real estate industry publications and Mitchell & Associates appraisal files. 1 was not
provided with a current soils testing report or survey; therefore, | did not consider the impact on
property value of any possible restrictions or soil issues that might be revealed by these reports. The
COVID-19 virus is having significant impacts to how people live around the world. The impacts are
fairly recent in the area, but there have been many closures. Public health officials are calling for
social distancing and limited exposure to others.

As we progress through 2022, fewer cases are reported but some cautionary measures are still
promoted. Such news has increased the level of fear and anxiety among the community. Single-
family sales have been brisk due to the shrinking inventories and rising prices. Commercial
businesses may experience reduced sales due to recent closing of bars and restaurants except for
drive-thru service, and avoiding places where 10+ people gather. Other businesses are opting for
employees to work remotely.

There is currently insufficient data to indicate market reactions to the outbreak as it applies to the
general market or to specific properties (e.g. places of reported exposures) in regards to any effects
on value or marketing times.

Type and Extent of Analysis Applied: A highest and best use analysis of the property was developed
utilizing inferred or trend methodology, appropriate of the property in light of its site size and building
size as well as the location in a mature area. Due to the age of the structure, estimating depreciation
would be so subjective as to render the cost approach unreliable; therefore, it was omitted from this
appraisal. | researched and found recent sales of buildings supporting the use of the Direct Sales
Comparison Approach. The Income Capitalization Approach was not developed due to a lack of
market information.

Conclusion: The conclusions and analyses were reconciled into the final estimate of value. Based on
my training, experience (see credentials in the Addenda intended to satisfy the Competency Rule of
USPAP) and judgment, I concluded that this appraisal in a summary format including the Direct Sales
Comparison and income approach is appropriate to support a credible estimate of the Fee Simple value
and consistent with the Standards of the 2020-2021 Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal
Practice (USPAP).

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 7
Hancock, lowa




County Maintenance Shed

EXTERIOR PHOTOS

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

West & south sides

East side

North side

217 North Main Street
Hancock, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 8




APPRAISER'S CERTIFICATION

| certify that, to the best of my knowledge and belief:

The statements of fact contained in this report are true and correct.

The reported analyses, opinions, and conclusions are limited only by the reported assumptions and
limiting conditions and are my personal, impartial, and unbiased professional analyses, opinions, and
conclusions.

| have no present or prospective interest in the property that is the subject of this report and no
personal interest with respect to the parties involved.

| have no bias with respect to the property that is the subject of this report or to the parties involved
with this assignment.

My engagement in this assignment was not contingent upon developing or reporting predetermined
results.

My compensation for completing this assignment is not contingent upon the development or
reporting of a predetermined value or direction in value that favors the cause of the client, the
amount of the value opinion, the attainment of a stipulated result, or the occurrence of a subsequent
event directly related to the intended use of this appraisal.

| have not performed a previous appraisal of the subject property and have not done an appraisal
review involving the subject, or an appraisal consulting assignment involving the subject, within the
past three years.

The reported analyses, opinions and conclusions were developed, and this report has been prepared
in conformity with the requirements of the Code of Professional Ethics and Standards of
Professional Appraisal Practice of the Appraisal Institute and the Uniform Standards of Appraisal
Practice.

The reported analyses, opinions and conclusions were developed, and this report has been prepared
in conformity with the requirements of the Uniform Standards of Appraisal Practice

The use of this report is subject to the requirements of the Appraisal Institute relating to review by its
duly authorized representatives.

| have made a personal inspection of the property that is the subject of this report.

No one provided significant real property appraisal assistance to the person signing this certification.
If there are exceptions, the name of each individual providing significant real property appraisal
assistance is stated in the scope of the report.*

As of the date of this report, I, D. Rick Whitesides, have completed the requirements of the
continuing education program of the Appraisal Institute.

APPRAISER

) cht I\MLS-L(U-L

D. Rick Whitesides, MAI, SRA - NE CG920142
IA CG01439

1 Source for Items #1-#9, Standards Rule 2-3, Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practices, 2001 Edition

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 9
Hancock, lowa




ASSUMPTIONS AND LIMITING CONDITIONS

This appraisal has been based on the following limiting conditions:

For purposes of this appraisal, any marketing program for the sale of the property would assume cash or its
equivalent.

No detailed soil studies covering the subject property were available for this appraisal. It is therefore assumed that
soil conditions are adequate to support standard construction consistent with highest and best use.

The date of value to which the conclusions and opinions expressed in this report apply, is set forth in the letter of
transmittal. Further, the dollar amount of any value opinion rendered in this report is based upon the purchasing
power of the American dollar existing on that date.

The appraiser assumes no responsibility for economic or physical factors which may affect the opinions in this
report which occur after the date of the letter transmitting the report or which cause unpredictable changes. Events
such as (but not limited to) natural disasters, wars and economic calamities are examples of such factors.

The appraiser reserves the right to make such adjustments to the analysis, opinions and conclusions set forth in this
report as may be required by consideration of additional data or more reliable data that may become available.

No opinion as to title is rendered. Data relating to ownership and legal description was obtained from county
records and is considered reliable. Title is assumed to be marketable and free and clear of all liens, encumbrances,
easements and restrictions except those specifically discussed in the report. The property is appraised assuming it
to be under responsible ownership and competent management and available for its highest and best use.

If no title policy was made available to the appraiser, they assume no responsibility for such items of record not
disclosed by their customary investigation.

The appraiser assumes no responsibility for hidden or non-apparent conditions of the property, subsoil, or
structures that render it more or less valuable. No responsibility is assumed for arranging for engineering studies
that may be required to discover them.

The property is appraised assuming it to be in full compliance with all applicable federal, state and local
environmental regulations and laws, unless otherwise stated.

The property is appraised assuming that all applicable zoning and use regulations and restrictions have been
complied with, unless otherwise stated.

The property is appraised assuming that all required licenses, certificates of occupancy, consents or other
legislative or administrative authority from any local, state or national government or private entity or organization
have been or can be obtained or renewed for any use on which the value estimate contained in this report is based,
unless otherwise stated.

No engineering survey has been made by the appraiser. Except as specifically stated, data relative to size and area
was taken from sources considered reliable and no encroachment of real property improvements is considered to
exist.

No opinion is expressed as to the value of subsurface oil, gas or mineral rights whether the property is subject to
surface entry for the exploration or removal of such materials except as is expressly stated.

Maps, plats, and exhibits included in this report are for illustration only as an aid in visualizing matters discussed
within the report. They should not be considered as surveys or relied upon for any other purpose, nor should they
be removed from, reproduced, or used apart from the report.

No opinion is intended to be expressed for matters, which require legal expertise or specialized investigation, or
knowledge beyond that customarily employed by real estate appraisers.

Possession of this report, or copy of it, does not carry with it the right of publication. It may not be used for any
purposes by any person other than the party to whom it is addressed without the written consent of the appraiser,
and in any event only with the proper written qualification and only in its entirety.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 10
Hancock, lowa




ASSUMPTIONS AND LIMITING CONDITIONS (CONTINUED)

Testimony or attendance in court or at any other hearing is not required by reason of rendering this appraisal,
unless such arrangements are made in a reasonable time in advance.

The appraiser has personally inspected the subject property and find no obvious evidence of structural deficiencies,
except as stated in this report; however, no responsibility for hidden defects or conformity to specific governmental
requirements, such as fire, building and safety, earthquake or occupancy codes can be assumed without provision
of specific professional or government inspections.

No consideration has been given in this appraisal as to the value of the property located on the premises considered
by the appraiser to be personal property, nor has he given consideration to the cost of moving or relocating such
personal property; only the real property has been considered.

Information obtained for use in this appraisal is believed to be true and correct to the best of my abilities; however,
no responsibility is assumed for errors or omissions, or for information not disclosed which might otherwise affect
the valuation estimate.

Disclosure of the contents of this appraisal report is governed by the Bylaws and Regulations of the Appraisal
Institute.

Neither all nor any part of the contents of this report (especially any conclusions as to value, the identity of the
appraiser or firm with which he is connected, or any reference to the American Institute of Real Estate Appraisers
or to the MAI or SRA designations) shall be disseminated to the public through advertising media, public relations
media, news media, sales media or any other public means of communication without prior written consent and
approval of the appraiser.

Comments concerning the location, market area, trends, construction quality and costs of the property appraised
herein represent the opinion of the appraiser formed after examination and study of the subject property.

This appraisal represents the independent opinion of the appraiser free from any commitments and free from any
present or expected future interest in the property, with the sole compensation for the employment being a fair
professional fee.

The Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”) became effective January 26, 1992. I have not made a specific
compliance survey and analysis of this property to determine whether or not it is in conformity with the various
detailed requirements of the ADA.. It is possible that a compliance survey of the property, together with a detailed
analysis of the requirements of the ADA, could reveal that the property is not in compliance with one or more of
the requirements of the Act. If so, this fact could have a negative effect upon the value of the property. Since |
have no direct evidence relating to this issue, I did not consider possible non-compliance with the requirements of
ADA in estimating the value of the property.

Unless otherwise stated in this report, the existence of hazardous material, which may or may not be present on the
property, was not observed by the appraiser. The appraiser has no knowledge of the existence of such materials on
or in the property. The appraiser, however, is not qualified to detect such substances. The presence of substances
such as asbestos, urea formaldehyde foam insulation or other potentially hazardous materials may affect the value
of the property. The value estimate is predicated on the assumption that there is no such material on or in the
property that would cause a loss of value. No responsibility is assumed for any such conditions, or for any
expertise or engineering knowledge required to discover them. The client is urged to retain an expert in this field,
if desired.

If this appraisal report was transmitted as an “electronic record” containing my “electronic signature,” as those
terms are defined in applicable federal and/or state laws (excluding audio and video recordings), or a facsimile
transmission of this appraisal report containing a copy or representation of my signature, the appraisal report shall
be as effective, enforceable and valid as if a paper version of this appraisal report were delivered containing my
original hand written signature.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 11
Hancock, lowa




DEFINITIONS:

FEE SIMPLE ESTATE:!

LEASED FEE ESTATE:?

MARKET VALUE: 2

Absolute ownership unencumbered by any other interest or estate,
subject only to the limitations imposed by the governmental powers
of taxation, eminent domain, police power and escheat.

An ownership interest held by a landlord with the right of use and
occupancy conveyed by lease to others. The rights of lessor (the
leased fee owner) and leased fee are specified by contract terms
contained within the lease.

The most probable price which a property should bring in a
competitive and open market under all conditions requisite to a fair
sale, the buyer and seller each acting prudently and knowledgeably,
and assuming the price is not affected by undue stimulus. Implicit in
this definition is the consummation of a sale as of a specified date?
and the passing of title from seller to buyer under conditions
whereby:

(1) Buyer and seller are typically motivated;

(2) Both parties are well informed or well advised, and acting in what
they consider their own best interests;

(3) A reasonable time is allowed for exposure in the open market;

(4) Payment is made in terms of cash in U.S. dollars or in terms of
financial arrangements comparable thereto; and,

(5) The price represents the normal consideration for the property
sold unaffected by special or creative financing or sales concessions
granted by anyone associated with the sale.

1 The Dictionary of Real Estate Appraisal, 4" Edition, Appraisal Institute, Chicago

2 Excerpted from Vol. 55 No. 165, Federal Register Section 34.44 Appraisal Standards
8 See discussion regarding exposure time and marketability within the Highest and Best Use analysis of this report

County Maintenance Shed

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

217 North Main Street
Hancock, lowa

© Copyright 2022 Page 12



VALUATION AND THE APPRAISAL PROCESS

An appraisal is an estimate, an opinion of value. Its accuracy depends on the basic competence and
integrity of the appraiser and on the soundness and skill by which he or she processed the data. Its
worth is influenced by the availability of pertinent data. The professional appraiser seeks current facts
and seeks to be practical. Most importantly, the appraiser’s opinion must be without bias. As with
other types of “markets,” the real property appraiser does not make the market; rather, he or she
interprets the market.

Generally, the appraiser uses three approaches to value: 1) Cost Approach; 2) Direct Sales Comparison
Approach; and, 3) Income Approach. Each of these approaches is discussed separately below. They
are all comparative approaches in that the basic data comes from direct comparisons in the market,
indirect comparisons in the market, and/or the appraiser’s judgment, which is based on market
experience.

In the Cost Approach, the cost to reproduce the property at the date of the appraisal, less an appropriate
allowance for depreciation (physical deterioration, functional obsolescence, and economic
obsolescence), is made by market comparisons of cost and depreciation. The Cost Approach tends to
set the upper limit of value since no property can be worth more than it would cost to build another
property of equal utility assuming no reasonable delays. In land appraisals this approach is not
applicable as land cannot be replaced but is considered a non-depreciating asset.

In the Direct Sales Comparison Approach, the subject property is compared to sales of similar
properties. The sales are analyzed to determine similarities and differences, which affect value when
observed in the market. These similarities and differences then serve as points of comparison between
the market data and the subject property. When necessary, adjustments are made to the comparablesto
account for these differences. The resulting adjusted value per unit is then used to estimate the value via
this approach.

In the Income Capitalization Approach, the future operation of the property is estimated from past
historical data relating to the subject and/or from comparable market data. Gross rental schedules,
vacancy and collection losses, fixed expenses, operating expenses and reserves are projected and used to
estimate netincome. This netincome is converted to a value estimate using the capitalization process.
The capitalization rate (comprised of a return on and a return of the investment) is based on
demonstrated rates found in the market. (In land appraisals, recapture is not a part of the capitalization
rate as land is considered a non-depreciating asset.) The method and technique of capitalization is
determined by the nature of the property in the market.

All approaches were considered for this report, however, the availability, adequacy and pertinence of
data may limit the approaches actually used, as discussed in the Reconciliation of this report.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 13
Hancock, lowa




MARKET AREA DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS

Market areas influence value of specific properties in many ways. These influences are best
understood considering their social, economic, governmental and environmental characteristics. It
has been said that “social, economic, governmental and environmental forces also influence property
value near the subject property which, in turn, directly affects the value of the subject property
itself.”! Therefore, we will examine each characteristic considering the subject’s market area.

Market Area: Subject is in Hancock lowa, which is about 40 miles east of the Council Bluffs/fOmaha
metropolitan area (CBSA). This area is described as follows:

Social Characteristics

Demographics: The 2021 population? within one, 3 and 5 miles of Hancock was reported as
188, 324 and 638 respectively; which is about 8% lower than 2010. Households in 2021 were
down 8% from 2010. Average family size was 2.59 persons.

Education: The market area is served by the AHST Public School District (Avoca, Hancock
Shelby Tennant and Walnut communities). The level of education achieved for persons ages 25
or older within the area is shown as follows.

1 mile 3 miles 5 miles

2021 Population 25+ by Educational Attainment
Total 148 250 486
Less than 9th Grade 0.0% 0.0% 0.2%
9th - 12th Grade, No Diploma 4.1% 3.6% 4.3%
High School Graduate 37.2% 35.2% 32.3%
GED/Alternative Credential 4.1% 3.6% 3.7%
Some College, No Degree 23.0% 24.0% 23.9%
Associate Degree 12.8% 12.0% 11.3%
Bachelor's Degree 17.6% 19.6% 20.6%
Graduate/Professional Degree 1.4% 2.0% 3.7%

Employment: Employment by industry within the city is shown as follows.

2021 Employed Population 16+ by Industry

Total 104 181 361
Agriculture/Mining 16.3% 15.5% 12.5%
Construction 12.5% 11.6% 10.5%
Manufacturing 21.2% 20.4% 17.2%
Wholesale Trade 1.9% 2.8% 3.3%
Retail Trade 9.6% 8.8% 9.7%
Transportation/Utilities 5.8% 5.5% 6.9%
Information 1.0% 1.7% 1.9%
Finance/Insurance/Real Estate 3.8% 5.0% 5.5%
Services 24.0% 26.0% 30.2%
Public Administration 2.9% 2.2% 2.8%

Appraisal of Real Estate, 13t Edition, 2008
2 www.stdbonline.com

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 14
Hancock, lowa



http://www.stdbonline.com/

MARKET AREA DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Social Characteristics (Continued)

It was shown that 107 persons are in the workforces in Hancock. Unemployment rate was 2.8%:

Housing: The market area 99 housing units within one mile and has roughly 80.4% of occupants
owning their home and 19.6% of homes being renter occupied.

Roadway Linkage: City of Hancock is accessed via Highway 59 which links to Avoca about 7
miles to the north and Council Bluffs/Omaha metro about 40 miles to the southwest.

Recreation:

Botna Bend Park is a favorite for campers who enjoy a small-town atmosphere. This 119-acre park is
located on the West Nishnabotna Water Trail. Canoe trips are available down this meandering river.
The park is equipped with a modern shower house and features 57 electrical sites and tent camping
spots. The new kids Nature PlayScape and playground, archery range, hiking trails, and picnic
shelters provide recreational opportunities to visitors of all ages. The enclosed pastures at the park
offer the area’s only bison and elk herds on display throughout the year. Avoca about 7 miles to the
north, has a 9 hole public golf course, aquatic center and a museum.

Retail Centers: Shopping is very limited in town but available in nearby communities.

Utilities: Water and sewer are provided by City of Hancock, MidAmerican Energy provides gas and
electricity to the community.

Governmental Characteristics

Administration: Hancock has a mayor and city council form of government.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 15
Hancock, lowa



https://www.wattawayia.com/trails/west_nishnabotna_river/

Market Area Aerial

Minden

Honey'Creek

Undervwood" Hanceeks

» Crescent

"kreynor

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 16
Hancock, lowa




Immediate Market Area Aerial

A
#Botna Bend Park
- .

.
HANCOCK SOFTBALL FIELD,

- GressilLocker
=

&
® ‘,‘ ThetStation @
o B

County Maintenance Shed

/
1]

<
C ' -
21 7AN'Main*St ~ &
= - | Rl

SNEIDEIaISt

E1RentontSt

ethodist United Church

e MVELGRENVIRGE

-

EiDuncaniSt:

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

217 North Main Street
Hancock, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 17



MARKET AREA VIEWS

View south along Main Street,
subject at left

View north along Main Street,
subject at right

‘ ¥
M

\ A
i
R . .
I I View east along alley, subject at

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 18
Hancock, lowa




SITE DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS

Subject property is located on the east side of Main Street which is just north of E Delta Street in
Hancock which is in the east portion of Pottawattamie County. The property is surrounded by
commercial, residential or industrial properties. Following is a summary of subject characteristics:

Size: Subject parcel has frontage along Main Street with site area listed as 9,416 square feet or 0.216
acres. These dimensions were taken from public records, as no survey was provided.

Topography: Subject site appears to have level terrain near the grade level of abutting road. This site
appears to have adequate surface water drainage.

Soils: Subject is presumed free of hazardous materials and the load bearing capacities adequate for
improvements. Obvious environmental problems were not observed, however | was advised by town
official that there used to be underground fuel storage tanks on the site. See Limiting Conditions as
relate to effects on value if environmental contamination is found on property.

Utilities: Subject has electricity, natural gas, water and sewer.

Easements/Encroachments/Restrictions: No adverse easements or encroachments were noted on the
plats and none are known.

Flood Plain/Drainage: Subject does not appear to be located in a designated flood zone, per
CorelLogic, referencing FEMA Map 19155C0338F, dated April 16, 2013 (map in report).

Zoning: A city official stated that there were no zoning codes for Hancock

Visibility: Subject has frontage along Main Street which is a 2-lane street handling north/south bound
traffic and carries very light traffic. The views to and from the subject are not dramatically obscured by
abutting properties or terrain. Based on these factors the subject is considered to have fair visibility
characteristics.

Access: Subject parcel has an interior location in an area of mixed land uses. Highway 59 about 2
blocks to the south via Main Street connects this area to Interstate 80. Based on this, subject is
considered to have fair access characteristics.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 19
Hancock, lowa




Subject Parcel Aerial

7

24 7. INTMaintSt :

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 20
Hancock, lowa




Subject Plat Map

g 55 g‘ _, 18 7 16 § o
,g &
-~ — - 1
31R 8 110 0 | 40 o | a0 264
= 80 60 10
E Denton St - E
$
80 60
8 8 43 10 | © a0 B o | @ 40
__ il " — : | | D841~
8 q 12 ' ' I
- g sl NP | | | A
g | 1 : 2 ! I
104 e === = 14 15 : 18 v | 2 | 3
) e N - § © kR |2 | '
10 2] |
/ . 9» b q - ] 9 | 6‘[] | :
/ a —— ~ m— o |
//, ,i, Sj an]g sm, . _e___ 4 = l
| 7 z L —
| " 8 ¢ g 8
by . | HeNcock © * D t |
ORIGINAL TOW | |
4 - o pAe i |
4 8 8 Y 4 ‘
g S 8 e 18 | 18 17 g L 2 3
g M | e | 2 ;
: 2 y B 2 ! |
1 4o N8| ¥ ML 410 20 | 40 40 40 : 40 40
80 80
E Delta St .
44 110 110 66 74
| }a 2z 2 2 2 2 o | r [ : —| ; 40 40
County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 21

Hancock, lowa



Subject Flood Map

RiskMeter

CoreLogic

217 N MAIN ST HANCbCK, 1A 515236-1005
LOCATION ACCURACY:

Flood Zone Determination Report

Flood Zone Determination: QUT
COMMUNITY 190236 PANEL 0338F

PANEL DATE April 16,2013 MAP NUMBER 19155C0338F

X500 or B Zone

I A Zone

V Zone
I D Zone

7/ Floodway

w5 CBRA

£
a
Dr

¢

(’Hancﬁock

=-=Mahogany-Rd:
1' E

© 2022 Corelogic, Inc. All rights reserved. CORELOGIC, RISKMETER, PXPOINT and the CorelLogic logo are trademarks of CoreLogic, Inc. and/or its subsidiaries. All other trademarks are the
property of their respective holders

Report generated May 31, 2022 by commercial@mitchellassociates.com Page 2 of 2
County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 22

Hancock, lowa



DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS OF IMPROVEMENTS

The subject property consists of one building used as a maintenance building. This building contains
one drive-in bay an open office and a restroom it was built in 1998. The building is of pre-engineered
steel construction with metal panels on the elevations and pitched roof. There is one overhead door for
vehicle entry and a pedestrian door. The building has 1,728 square feet and is located upon an interior
site with 9,416 SF. Based on my observations and public records the general building components and
their condition were summarized as follows:

STRUCTURAL FEATURES:

Footings & Foundation: Footings were not observed; foundation appears to be poured concrete.

Superstructure: Building is of pre-engineered steel construction with metal panels on the exterior
elevations and a pitched roof.

Floors: Is poured concrete, specific thickness and load-bearing capacity is unknown.

Roof: Roof is a pitched design and was covered with metal panels. It is drained by a gutter and
downspout system.

Walls: Exterior walls are metal panels.
Windows & Doors: Entry into the building is a direct entry through a metal pedestrian door in an

aluminum frame. There are no windows in the building. There were 2 overhead drive-in doors of
insulated metal construction, which were about 12’ x 12° and electrically operated.

MECHANICAL FEATURES:

Electrical Systems: Electric service was 110/220 volt service; protected by circuit breakers.

Lighting: The building had fluorescent fixtures.
Heating & Air Conditioning: There was a gas fired tube heater
Fire Protection System: None observed

Security System: None observed

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 23
Hancock, lowa




DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS OF IMPROVEMENTS (CONTINUED)

INTERIOR:

Restrooms: There was a restroom equipped with a residential stool, sink. No specific investigation of
whether or not these facilities meet requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act was conducted
(see disclaimer in Assumptions at the conclusion of this report).

Interior Finish: The open office portion of the building has no real finish

Site Improvements: There was concrete drive in front of the building then that changes to crushed
rock, the balance of the site has turf grass.

CONDITION/DEPRECIATION:

Subject was reported to have been constructed in 1998. Therefore, it has a chronological age of 24
years. The subject was considered in fair condition. Therefore, it is estimated to have effective age of
20 years. Per Marshall Valuation, buildings similar to subject would have an economic life of 40 years.
Based on these factors, subject is estimated to have non-curable depreciation of 50% (20-year effective
age + 40-year economic life).

Functional Obsolescence: The subject’s layout and floor plan is typical for this type of structure in this
area.

External Obsolescence: No external obsolescence was observed (in market area description), as there
appears adequate demand for these type properties.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 24
Hancock, lowa




Building Sketch

35
Rest Room
w w
+ +
| —
35
County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 25

Hancock, lowa



INTERIOR PHOTOS

Looking toward rear

Restroom

North side (note rusted panels
near the floor)

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 26
Hancock, lowa




HIGHEST AND BEST USE

Definition: The reasonably probable and legal use of vacant land or improved property, which is
physically possible, appropriately supported, financially feasible, and results in the highest value.

Highest and best use of a specific property is not determined through subjective analysis by the
appraiser; rather, shaped by the competitive forces in the market where property is located. Therefore,
the analysis and interpretation of highest and best use is an economic study of market forces focused on
the subject. The benefit of real estate development produces for a community or amenity contribution
provided by a planned project (i.e., public space in a park-like area) is not considered in the appraiser’s
analysis of highest and best use. Also implied is that the determination of highest and best use results
from the appraiser’s judgment and analytical skills, i.e., that the use determined from analysis represents
an interpretation or opinion not a fact to be found. In appraisal practice, the concept of highest and best
use represents the premises upon which value is based. In the context of most probable selling price
(market value) another appropriate term to reflect highest and best use would be most probable use. In
the context of investment value, an alternate term would be most profitable use.

In order for a particular use or a piece of real property to be the highest and best use of that real
property, several requirements must be met:

1. The use must be legally permissible or reasonably possible.

2. The use must be physically possible on the site.

3. The use must be economically and financially feasible under projected market conditions existing.

4. The use must be the most profitable of the legally permissible, physically possible, and economically
feasible alternatives.

In estimating its market value, real property is appraised in terms of its highest and best use. Highest
and best use analysis is analogous to a feasibility study, in that it is progressive. Legally permissible or
physically possible uses are first considered. After analyzing one, the other is fully considered.

Regarding possible uses, there are five basic categories, which are:

1. Residential,

2. Commercial,

3. Industrial,

4. Agricultural, and

5. Special or public use.

After permissible and possible are concluded, economically feasible uses are next identified; that is,
those that would pay competitive return on investment in improvements as well as land. Of these, the
“maximally productive” or most profitable is highest and best use also referred to as the “ideal” use.!

In estimating highest and best use of property, the site is first analyzed as though vacant, unimproved
and available for development to its most profitable, likely, legal use. When improvementsare present,
itis necessary to estimate the highest and best use of the site as improved. In both cases, the property is
analyzed from the viewpoint of possible, permissible and feasible uses.

1 Appraisal of Real Estate, 13th Edition, Chicago

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 27
Hancock, lowa




HIGHEST AND BEST USE (CONTINUED)

SITE ‘AS IF’ VACANT

Referring to highest and best use “as if” vacant, first test is physical adaptability of land. Potential uses
include are generally commercial in nature. Agricultural uses are not physically possible due to site size
in relation to large acreage needs of modern farm operations. The 9,416 SF site appears entirely usable
and could accommodate most uses, obviously limited by its size. No adverse physical or economic
conditions were observed.

Second test is legal permissibility of use. Site is located in a town with no zoning ordinances, so this
does nothing to limit potential uses.

Third test is the financial feasibility, calling for a use generating highest return on and of investment.
The site is located along Main Street, a lightly traveled street. Office and retail users would not find the
site attractive due to the minimal traffic and surrounding residential, commercial/industrial properties.
Civic users are often not-for-profit entities that operate on limited budgets. As a result, civic users
would likely not be willing to pay as much as a commercial or industrial user for a site with the subject
characteristics.

Based on site size, zoning, economic and physical characteristics, it is my judgment that the highest and
best use, as if vacant, would be for industrial use within the scope of the present zoning.

“AS IMPROVED”

The four tests of highest and best use, (legal permissibility, physical possibility, financial feasibility
and maximum productivity) can be applied to the property “as improved” to determine the use that
will maximize the subject property’s value. The use maximizing the highest value is the highest and
best use of the property “as improved.”

The four basic courses of action that can be applied to a property are:

To demolish improvements and redevelop the site for a new use; or

To modify improvements (e.g. renovate, modernize, or convert), or

To cure items of deferred maintenance and retain the improvements; or
To maintain the improvements “as is”

| analyzed the four courses of action for the subject mixed-use building, in keeping with the four
main tests of highest and best use, with my analysis described in the following paragraphs:

Demolish & Redevelop: The existing improvements contribute to site value (concluded in large part
by competing properties), and it would not be financially feasible to demolish them in order to
redevelop the land for some alternate use. Therefore, this option is eliminated on grounds of financial
feasibility.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 28
Hancock, lowa




HIGHEST AND BEST USE (CONTINUED)

“AS IMPROVED” (CONTINUED)

Modify Improvements: | was unable to identify modifications or conversions of existing
improvements that would increase property value by an amount greater than anticipated cost of
modifications or conversions. Therefore, the option to modify improvements is eliminated on grounds
it would not maximize property value.

Cure Deferred Maintenance or Maintain Improvements: Subject is considered in fair condition,
with some minor deferred maintenance observed. The cost to cure this deficiency is not considered
to increase the value beyond the costs of those improvements. Therefore, the option to cure deferred
maintenance is ruled out.

The only remaining course of action meeting tests of legal permissibility, physical possibility,
financial feasibility, and maximum productivity is to continue current use of the subject as a light
industrial or maintenance building.

EXPOSURE TIME

In order to sell property, it must be exposed to the open market. The following discussion is
provided to illustrate current market conditions and estimate exposure time needed to market subject.

Exposure time may be defined as estimated length of time a property interest being appraised would
have been offered on the open market prior to a hypothetical consummation of sale at market value
on effective date of the appraisal; a retrospective estimate based on analysis of past events assuming
a competitive, open market.

The concept of reasonable exposure time encompasses not only adequate, sufficient, reasonable
time, but also adequate, sufficient, reasonable effort and considers type property being appraised,
supply/ demand conditions, as of effective date of appraisal and analysis of historical sales
information (sold after exposure and completion of negotiations between buyer/seller). Therefore,
reasonable exposure time is a function of price and use, not an isolated estimate of time. Reasonable
exposure is always presumed to precede effective date of appraisal and differs for various types of
real estate under various market conditions. Therefore, my estimate of 12-18 months exposure time
is based on subject’s determined highest and best use in a highly competitive retail market
evidencing some demand (albeit limited) for the type of space offered, its highly desirable location,
but also factoring the slowdown in the real estate market over the past couple years caused by
recessionary conditions.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 29
Hancock, lowa




HIGHEST AND BEST USE (CONTINUED)

MARKETING TIME

Marketing time for the purpose of this report, is defined as an estimated amount of time it might
take to sell a property interest in real estate at estimated market value during the period immediately
after the effective date of the appraisal.”

As with reasonable exposure time, estimated marketing time is not intended as a prediction of a date
of sale or a one-line statement. The concept of marketing time encompasses other market conditions
that may affect marketing, e.g., identification of typical buyers/sellers for type of real estate
involved, typical equity investment levels, and/or financing terms. Therefore, reasonable marketing
time is a function of price, use, and anticipated market conditions such as changes in cost/availability
of funds, not an isolated estimate of time. Marketing time occurs after effective date of market value
estimate and considers such brokerage functions as advertising, arranging financing and marketing
property to specific investors. Estimates of both reasonable exposure and marketing times are not
predictions, rather only judgments made by an appraiser.

Properties similar to the subject would appeal primarily to owners due to the single tenant design of
the subject. A market search done as part of this appraisal provided limited data and, as a result,
accurately estimating exact time needed to market the property was subjective, but area brokers
reported recent marketing times for most reasonably priced commercial properties in metro as
ranging from 1-24 months. The real estate market slowed in late 2007 due to recessionary
conditions, and this slowdown was magnified by the destabilization of the financial markets in
October 2008. Loans are still available for qualified borrowers, but typically at lower loan-to-value
ratios, mitigating lender risk. Present rates (as of effective date of this report) range from 4.5% to 6%
with terms of 3-30 years and amortizations of 15-30 years. Therefore, | concluded if subject were
listed for sale in the current market at/near appraised value, reasonable marketing time is anticipated
within 12 months, assuming the offering is placed with a competent broker active in the area and
experienced with this property type. Real estate brokerage commissions in the area for this property
type typically are near 4%-7% of gross sale price. Market also reacts more quickly to properties with
attractive price/ value ratios, tending to neglect those perceived as unrealistically priced. Skill of
those marketing property can also influence exposure time needed to consummate a sale, as well as
the overall economic environment in which property exists. Therefore, the abovementioned
marketing time is considered reasonably well supported, but is not guaranteed.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 30
Hancock, lowa




COST APPROACH

The purpose of the Cost Approach isto estimate a Market Value for the subject property based upon the
cost to construct a new property that enjoys the same utility as the subject property. This approach is
based upon the principle of substitution, as it is assumed that a knowledgeable purchaser would not pay
more for a property than the cost to build a new one. The improvements are literally constructed “on
paper’ and then any accrued depreciation is subtracted from this value. This depreciated value estimate
is then added to the Market Value off the subject site in its highest and best use to arrive at an estimate
of value for the property as a whole. More specifically, the steps of the Cost Approach are as follows:

Estimate the value of the site in its highest and best use as if vacant.
Estimate the replacement cost new of all of the improvements.
Estimate accrued depreciation from all sources.

Deduct accrued depreciation from the cost new.

o M L d o

Add the estimated value of the site to arrive at a value for the entire property by the Cost
Approach.

Due to the older age of the original building, the reliability of this approach is diminished, so it
was not developed in this report.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 31
Hancock, lowa




DIRECT SALES COMPARISON APPROACH

The Direct Sales Comparison Approach (also known as the Market Data Approach) is the process in
which a market value estimate is derived by analyzing the market for similar properties and comparing
these properties to the subject property. This approach is premised upon the principle of substitution
which suggests that a prudent person will not pay more to purchase a property than it will cost him or
her to purchase an equally desirable substitute property. Another basic premise of the Direct Sales
Comparison Approach is that the market value of a property is directly related to the prices of
comparable, competitive properties.*

The comparative analysis performed in this approach focuses on similarities and differences among
properties and transactions observed in the market which affect value. These similarities and
differences then serve as points of comparison between the market data and the subject property.
Typically, the major points of comparison are:

Property Rights Conveyed
Financing Terms
Condition of Sale

Time

Physical Characteristics
Economic Characteristics

A sale of a property that is an exact duplicate of the subject property would be an important and ideal
indication of value. In reality, no two properties are exactly alike. As a result, an adjustment process is
used when analyzing the major points of comparison.

The known sales with the greatest degree of comparability used in this analysis are adjusted for the
difference between the comparable and the subject property. Adjustments are always made FROM the
comparable TO the subject property. For example, if the comparable property sold two years ago and
market analysis suggests that prices have increased 5%, then the sale price of the comparable would be
increased by 5% to give the indication of value for the subject. Conversely, if the comparable property
was in a superior location as compared to the subject and this difference was estimated at 5%, a
negative adjustment of 5% would be applied to the sale price of the comparable to give the indication of
value for the subject. The adjustments for different physical and economic characteristics are handled
in the same manner. Adjustments may be by percentages or by dollar amounts or both.

No sales of similar properties were found in Avoca, Walnut, Griswold or Hancock; therefore, | utilized
sales from Council Bluffs. Following are descriptions of known industrial, commercial or mixed use
properties which sold in recent years in the Council Bluffs metropolitan area. After the sales, | have
shown location maps, adjustment grids, explanation and my final conclusions of the subject property
market value from this approach.

1 Appraisal of Real Estate, 13th Edition, Chicago

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 32
Hancock, lowa




821 S 27th St
Council Bluffs, IA 51501

buyer
A Vital Corp

23319 Hunt Ave
Council Bluffs, IA 51503

seller

Boetel Charles B

Class C Manufacturing Building of 3,100 SF Sold on 11/9/2021
for $225,000 - Public Record

vital data

Escrow/Contract:
Sale Date:

Days on Market:
Exchange:
Conditions:

Land Area SF:
Acres:

$/SF Land Gross:
Year Built, Age:
Parking Spaces:
Parking Ratio:
FAR

Lot Dimensions:
Frontage:
Tenancy:

Comp ID:

income expense data

Expenses

financing

= Sale Price:
11/9/2021 Status:
- Building SF:
No Price/SF:

- Pro Forma Cap Rate:

10,890 Actual Cap Rate:
0.25 Down Pmnt:
$20.66 Pct Down:
1972 Age: 49 Doc No:
2 Trans Tax:
- Corner:
0.28 Zoning:
- Percent Improved:
- Submarket:
Single Map Page:
5782756 Parcel No:
Property Type:
Listing Broker
- Taxes $5,368
- Operating Expenses
Total Expenses $5,368
Buyer Broker

$225,000

3,100 SF
$72.58

000000018837

No

84.9%
Downtown Council Bluffs |

7544-34-402-001
Industrial

ﬁ © 2022 CoStar Group - Licensed to Mitchell & Associates, Inc. - 580570. 5/13/2022

|

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 33

Hancock, lowa



Council Bluffs, IA 51501

$450,000 - Public Record

717 Veterans Memorial Hwy

Class C Service Building of 3,456 SF Sold on 5/27/2021 for

buyer

Georgi lvanov

Council Bluffs, IA 51501

717 Veterans Memorial Hwy

seller

Harter Chris & Mildred D

vital data
Escrow/Contract: - Sale Price:  $450,000
Sale Date:  5/27/2021 Status: -
Days on Market: - Building SF: 3,456 SF
Exchange: No Price/SF:  $130.21
Conditions: - Pro Forma Cap Rate: -
Land Area SF: 148,104 Actual Cap Rate: -
Acres: 3.4 Down Pmnt: -
$/SF Land Gross:  $3.04 Pct Down: -
Year Built, Age: 1981 Age: 40 Doc No: 000000009277
Parking Spaces: - Trans Tax: -
Parking Ratio:  0/1000 SF Corner:  No
FAR 0.02 Zoning:  Industrial
Lot Dimensions: - Percent Improved:  18.4%
Frontage: - Submarket:  Council Bluffs Ind
Tenancy: Single Map Page: -
Comp ID: 5576734 Parcel No:  7444-12-353-006
Property Type: Industrial
income expense data Listing Broker
Expenses - Taxes $14,241
- Operating Expenses
Total Expenses $14,241
Buyer Broker
financing

ﬁ © 2022 CoStar Group - Licensed to Mitchell & Associates, Inc. - 580570. 5/13/2022
County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 34

Hancock, lowa



Comparable #3

Property Identification

Sale ID 4258

Address 1005 South 17th Street
Council Bluffs, lowa

Market Council Bluffs

Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 2,400 SF
Gross Leasable Area 2,400 SF
Finish - Above Grade 416 SF
Eave Height 14.00'
Construction Average Quality, Class S
Built/Remodeled 1998/
Condition Average

Transaction

Sale Date July 17, 2019
Contract Price $192,500

Contract $80.21
Price/SF GBA

Contract $80.21
Price/SF GLA

Adjusted Price $192,500

Adjusted $80.21
Price/SF GBA

Adjusted $80.21
Price/SF GLA

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial

Legal Description Lots 1-2 and the west 20" of Lot 3
including the north 1/2 of the vacated
adjacent alley, Block 11, Fleming &
Davis

Gross Site Size 10,880 SF
Usable Site Size 10,880 SF
Zoning |I-2
Features Fenced, Mezzanine
Fire Sprinkler

Conditions of Sale Normal
Property Rights Fee Simple
Grantor All Pro Towing, LLC
Grantee Perfect Diamond Lawns, LLC
Recorded Warranty Deed 2019-09108
Source Broker

The property previously sold February 2017, for $160,000. The 2019 sale represents appreciation near 8% per year.

County Maintenance Shed

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

217 North Main Street
Hancock, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 35



Comparable #4

Property Identification

Sale ID 4269

Address 919 South 15th Street
Council Bluffs, lowa

Market Council Bluffs

Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 2,592 SF
Gross Leasable Area 2,592 SF
Finish - Above Grade 348 SF
Eave Height 12.00'
Construction Average Quality, Class D
Built/Remodeled 2006/
Condition Average

Transaction

Sale Date October 05, 2018
Contract Price $160,000

Contract $61.73
Price/SF GBA

Contract $61.73
Price/SF GLA

Adjusted Price $160,000

Adjusted $61.73
Price/SF GBA

Adjusted $61.73
Price/SF GLA

County Maintenance Shed

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial

Legal Description Lots 15 and 16, Block 8, Fleming &

Davis Subdivision and part of the
vacated alley

Gross Site Size 8,160 SF
Usable Site Size 8,160 SF
Zoning |I-2
Features Fenced, Mezzanine
Fire Sprinkler

Conditions of Sale Normal
Property Rights Fee Simple
Grantor Fouts Investments, LLC
Grantee L & T Properties, LLC
Recorded Warranty Deed 2018-13139
Source Public Records, Broker

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

217 North Main Street
Hancock, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 36



Comparable #5

Property Identification

Sale ID 4326

Address 712 South 15th Street
Council Bluffs, lowa

Market Council Bluffs

Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 2,000 SF
Gross Leasable Area 2,000 SF
Finish - Above Grade 444 SF
Eave Height 16.00'
Construction Average Quality, Class D
Built/Remodeled 2006/
Condition Average

Transaction

Sale Date February 11, 2020
Contract Price $170,000

Contract $85.00
Price/SF GBA

Contract $85.00
Price/SF GLA

Adjusted Price $170,000

Adjusted $85.00
Price/SF GBA

Adjusted $85.00
Price/SF GLA

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial

Legal Description South 1/2 of Lost 5 and 6, Block 32,

Everetts Addition

Gross Site Size 8,160 SF
Usable Site Size 8,160 SF
Zoning I-1
Features Fenced
Fire Sprinkler

Conditions of Sale Normal
Property Rights Fee Simple
Grantor ZaCar Corp
Grantee T & G Carper, LLC
Recorded Warranty Deed 2020/01996
Source Public Records, CoStar

This sale represents appreciation of 1.15% per year from previous sale in 2014.

County Maintenance Shed

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

217 North Main Street
Hancock, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 37



Comparable #6

Property Identification

Sale ID 4328

Address 1516 Avenue C
Council Bluffs, lowa

Market Council Bluffs
Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 2,400 SF
Gross Leasable Area 2,400 SF
Finish - Above Grade 316 SF
Eave Height 12.00'
Construction Average Quality, Class S
Built/Remodeled 1981/
Condition Average

Transaction

Sale Date January 03, 2019
Contract Price $210,000

Contract $87.50
Price/SF GBA

Contract $87.50
Price/SF GLA

Adjusted Price $210,000

Adjusted $87.50
Price/SF GBA

Adjusted $87.50
Price/SF GLA

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial

Legal Description Lots 1, 2, and part of Lot 3, Block 3,
Beers Subdivision

Gross Site Size 14,705 SF
Usable Site Size 14,705 SF
Zoning C-2
Features Fenced
Fire Sprinkler

Conditions of Sale Normal
Property Rights Fee Simple
Grantor Cooks Towing & Repair, Inc
Grantee DHI, LLC
Recorded Warranty Deed 2019-00195
Source Public Records

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

217 North Main Street
Hancock, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 38



Comparable #7

Property Identification

Sale ID 4329

Address 1324 9th Avenue
Council Bluffs, lowa

Market Council Bluffs

Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 3,520 SF
Gross Leasable Area 3,520 SF
Finish - Above Grade 720 SF
Eave Height 10.00'
Construction Average Quality, Class C
Built/Remodeled 1988/
Condition Average

Transaction

Sale Date September 13, 2018
Contract Price $215,000

Contract $61.08
Price/SF GBA

Contract $61.08
Price/SF GLA

Adjusted Price $215,000

Adjusted $61.08
Price/SF GBA

Adjusted $61.08
Price/SF GLA

County Maintenance Shed

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial

Legal Description Lots 6-7, Part of Lot 8, Block 26,
Riddles Subdivision

Gross Site Size 12,194 SF
Usable Site Size 12,194 SF
Zoning I-1
Features Fenced
Fire Sprinkler

Conditions of Sale Normal
Property Rights Fee Simple
Grantor L & T Properties, LLC
Grantee Michael John Kilnoski
Recorded Warranty Deed 2018-12027
Source Public Records

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

217 North Main Street
Hancock, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 39



Comparable #8

Property Identification

Sale ID 4811

Address 2414 9th Avenue
Council Bluffs, lowa

Market Council Bluffs
Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 5,400 SF
Gross Leasable Area 5,400 SF
Finish - Above Grade 1,196 SF
Eave Height 12.00'
Construction Good Quality, Class S
Built/Remodeled 2010/
Condition Good

Transaction

Sale Date September 23, 2020
Contract Price $390,000

Contract $72.22
Price/SF GBA

Contract $72.22
Price/SF GLA

Adjusted Price $390,000

Adjusted $72.22
Price/SF GBA

Adjusted $72.22
Price/SF GLA

Broker noted there was a lot of interest in the property. Sale represents annual appreciation near 5.90% from its 2011

sale.

County Maintenance Shed

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial

Legal Description Part of Lots 3-5, Block 1 and part of
Lot 9, Block 17, Ninth Avenue
Addition

Gross Site Size 13,890 SF
Usable Site Size 13,890 SF
Zoning I-1
Features
Fire Sprinkler

Conditions of Sale Normal
Property Rights Fee Simple
Grantor Jo Ter Ran Investments, LLC
Grantee Ht 9th Ave, LLC
Recorded Warranty Deed 2020-13944
Source Public Records, Broker

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

217 North Main Street
Hancock, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 40



2101 N Lavista Heights Rd

Avoca, IA 51521

Class C Warehouse Building of 26,470 SF Sold on 6/4/2021 for
$582,000 - Research Complete

buyer

Taylor Dieckman
14803 Black St
Bennington, NE 68007
(402) 677-0761

seller
Joyce Mez

1523 N Willow St
Avoca, IA 51521

financing

(712) 343-6354
vital data
Escrow/Contract: - Sale Price:  $582,000
Sale Date:  6/4/2021 Status:  Full Value
Days on Market: - Building SF: 26,470 SF
Exchange: No Price/SF:  $21.99
Conditions: - Pro Forma Cap Rate: -
Land Area SF: 130,680 Actual Cap Rate: -
Acres: 3 Down Pmnt: -
$/SF Land Gross:  $4.45 Pct Down: -
Year Built, Age: 2005 Age: 16 Doc No: 000000008923
Parking Spaces: - Trans Tax: -
Parking Ratio: - Corner:  No
FAR 0.20 Zoning:  Industrial
Lot Dimensions: - No Tenants: 1
Frontage: - Percent Improved:  72.1%
Tenancy: - Submarket:  E Pottawattamie County In
Comp ID: 5576738 Map Page: -
Parcel No:  7739-04-401-001
Property Type:  Industrial
income expense data Listing Broker
Expenses - Taxes $15,976
- Operating Expenses
Total Expenses $15,976
Buyer Broker

rﬁ © 2022 CoStar Group - Licensed to Mitchell & Associates, Inc. - 580570. 5/27/2022
County showed this as a multi-parcel sale so it was not investigated further.
County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 41

Hancock, lowa



Sales Map

Foney Creel

Underweod
i

Yo 0. Bentley,
"

Weston'

McClelland

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 42
Hancock, lowa




DIRECT SALES COMPARISON APPROACH (CONTINUED)

Comparable Sales Grid

SUBJECT SALE #1: SALE #2: SALE #3: SALE #4:
PROPERTY 821 So 27th Street 717 Veterans Mem Hy |1005 So 17th Street 919 So 15th Street
217 N. Main Street  [Council Bluffs, lowa Council Bluffs, lowa Council Bluffs, lowa Council Bluffs, lowa
Hancock, lowa ADJUSTED| ADJUSTED ADJUSTED| ADJUSTED|
SALE PRICE N/A $225,000 $450,000 $192,500 $160,000
SALE PRICE/SF N/A $72.58 $130.21 $80.21 $61.73
GIM/OCR NA/NA NA/NA NA/NA NA/NA NA/NA
MARKET ADJUSTMENTS
PROPERTY RIGHTS CONVEYED Fee Simple Similar 0% [Similar 0% |Similar 0% |Similar 0%
$225,000 $450,000 $192,500 $160,000
FINANCING N/A Cash 0%|Cash 0%|Cash 0%]Cash 0%
$225,000 $450,000 $192,500! $160,000
CONDITION OF SALE N/A Normal 0% [Normal 0% |Normal 0% [Normal 0%
$225,000 $450,000 $192,500 $160,000
DATE OF SALE May-22 Now-21 2%(May-21 3%|Jul-19 7%|(Oct-18 11%
(Inspection) $229,500 $463,500 $205,975 $177,600
PHYSICAL ADJUSTMENTS (LUMP SUM)
BUILDING SIZE/SF 1,728 3,100 0%(3,456 0%]2,400 0%(2,592 0%
LOCATION/SITE Hancock Co Bluffs -50% |Co Bluffs -50% (Co Bluffs -50%|Co Bluffs -50%
QUALITY OF CONSTRUCTION Average/Cls S Aw/Cls C -5%|Aw/Cls S 0%|Aw/Cls S 0%|Aw/Cls S 0%
INTERIOR FINISH Minimal 5% 0%]3% 0%(17% -5%]|13% -3%
AGE/CONDITION 24/Average/Fair 49/Avgy 10% (40/AvFr 8%|21/Awy -3%|12/Awy -10%
SITE TO BUILDING RATIO 5.45:1 3.51:1 2%(42.85:1 -20%4.5:1 1%]3.14:1 2%
AMENITIES None None 0% |None 0%|Fenced -3%|Fenced -3%
NET PERCENTAGE LUMP SUM ADJUSTMENTS -43% -62% -60% -64%
FINAL ADJUSTED PRICE $130,815 $176,130 $82,390 $63,936
FINAL ADJUSTED PRICE/SF $42.20 $50.96 $34.33 $24.67
TOTAL NET ADJUSTMENTS -41% -59% -53% -53%
TOTAL GROSS ADJUSTMENTS 67% 61% 68% 77%
County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 43

Hancock, lowa



DIRECT SALES COMPARISON APPROACH (CONTINUED)

Comparable Sales Grid

SUBJECT
PROPERTY
217 N. Main Street

SALE #5:
712 So 15t Street
Council Bluffs, lowa

SALE #6:
1516 Avenue C
Council Bluffs, lowa

SALE #7:
1324 9th Avenue
Council Bluffs, lowa

SALE 8:
2414 9th Avenue
Council Bluffs, lowa

Hancock, lowa ADJUSTED| ADJUSTED, ADJUSTED| ADJUSTED|
SALE PRICE N/A $170,000 $210,000 $215,000 $390,000
SALE PRICE/SF N/A $85.00 $87.50 $61.08 $72.22
GIM/OCR NA/NA NA/NA NA/NA NA/NA NA/NA
MARKET ADJUSTMENTS
PROPERTY RIGHTS CONVEYED Fee Simple Similar 0%|Similar 0%|Similar 0% |Similar 0%
$170,000 $210,000 $215,000 $390,000
FINANCING N/A Cash 0%|Cash 0%|Cash 0%|Cash 0%
$170,000 $210,000 $215,000 $390,000
CONDITION OF SALE N/A Normal 0% |Normal 0% |Normal 0% |Normal 0%
$170,000 $210,000 $215,000 $390,000
DATE OF SALE May-22 Feb-20 6%|Jan-19 9% |Sep-18 11%|Sep-20 5%
(Inspection) $180,200 $228,900 $238,650 $409,500
PHYSICAL ADJUSTMENTS (LUMP SUM)
BUILDING SIZE/SF 1,728 2,000 0%(2,400 0%(3,520 0%]5,400 0%
LOCATION/SITE Hancock Co Bluffs -50%|Co Bluffs -50%|Co Bluffs -50% | Co Bluffs -50%
QUALITY OF CONSTRUCTION Average/Cls S Awy/Cls D 0%|Aw/Cls S 0%|Aw/Cls C -5%|Gd/Cls S 0%
INTERIOR FINISH Minimal 22% -8%13% -3%(20% -7%(22% -8%
AGE/CONDITION 24/Average/Fair 14/Avg -8%(38/Awy 6%)|30/Avg 0%]10/Gd -11%
SITE TO BUILDING RATIO 5.45:1 4.08:1 1%]6.13:1 -1%(3.46:1 2%(2.57:1 3%
AMENITIES None Fenced -3%|Fenced -3%|Fenced -3%|None 0%
NET PERCENTAGE LUMP SUM ADJUSTMENTS -68% -51% -63% -66%
FINAL ADJUSTED PRICE $57,664; $112,161 $88,301 $139,230
FINAL ADJUSTED PRICE/SF $28.83 $46.73 $25.09 $25.78
TOTAL NET ADJUSTMENTS -62% -42% -52% -61%
TOTAL GROSS ADJUSTMENTS 75% 71% 76% 74%
County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 44

Hancock, lowa



DIRECT SALES COMPARISON APPROACH (CONTINUED)

ADJUSTMENT RATIONALE

The preceding represents the only known sales of industrial properties considered of similar condition,
design, use, and/or location in Pottawattamie County or competing areas of the metro. All these
properties were considered to be similar to the subject, but did require some adjusting to make them
equal to subject. Sale prices were reduced to the common denominator of price per square foot of
GBA, as this is a normal unit of measurement in market buying and selling decisions.

Market Condition Adjustments

Adjustments were not required for property rights conveyed, financing, or condition of sale, as all were
considered normal for the market.

All the sales were considered for adjustment due to date of sale. | observed a general increase in
property values in the metro area over the past few years, typically ranging from 3% to 4% annually
until late 2007 when recessionary conditions began. The market slowdown was magnified following
destabilization of the financial markets in October 2008, demonstrated by the lack of known sales
occurring since that time. The market has been improving since 2010 and therefore, | applied anannual
appreciation to these sales of 3% after that time.

Physical Condition Adjustments

The sales are typically adjusted for the relative improvement size difference with the subject building,
due to dissimilar sizes and economies of scale. Adjustments were not considered necessary as all were
similar in size to subject.

Adjustments were considered for overall construction quality. Adjustments were derived from Marshall
Valuation Service estimated costs to bring properties equal to the subject and from the market reaction
to these differences.

Adjustments for age of improvements were given as typically buyers are concerned about remaining
economic life of property. A rounded 1/2% per year of difference with subject age was derived as an
appropriate adjustment and applied accordingly. Additional adjustments for condition were applied
separately, based on cost estimates to bring properties equal and accounts for the effective age of the
improvements.

Adjustments for amenities were also considered as properties with additional features, such as fencing
generally yield higher sale prices. Subject has no amenities, #3 through #7 had fencing, so those sales
received negative adjustments the remining sales had no amenities so no adjustments were applied to all
these sales.

Adjustments for location were considered as all of these properties were located in areas with more
dense development than the subject so large negative adjustments were applied. Based upon paired sale
analysis between a property in Avoca and several in Council Bluffs, which indicated a 53% difference
rounded to 50%.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 45
Hancock, lowa




DIRECT SALES COMPARISON APPROACH (CONTINUED)

RECONCILIATION

Before adjusting, the sale prices ranged from $61.08/SF in Sale #7 to $130.21/SF in Sale #2. After the
aforementioned adjustments were applied, the indicated values ranged from $24.67/SF in Sale #4 to
$50.96/SF in Sale #2. Net percentage adjustments ranged from -62% to -41% while gross adjustments
ranged from 61% to 77%.

Generally, sales with the smallest amount of adjustment are the best indicators of value. All sales
required very large adjustments, therefore, no single sale was more persuasive than another. The
majority of the sales 5 out of 8 indicated values from $24.07 to $34.33/SF. Therefore, a value estimate
for the subject within that range would have the broadest support. Three remaining sales indicated
higher values from $42.20/SF to $50.96/SF.

The market search revealed no similar properties on the market currently:

Therefore, based on the foregoing data and analysis, I estimated ‘as is’ market value of the subject at
$35.00/SF, as of the effective date of this report with the total value developed as follows:

Indicated Value X Gross Bldg Size = Total Rounded to
$35.00/SF X 1,728 SF = $60,480 $60,500
County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 46

Hancock, lowa



INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH

From an investor’s perspective, the earning power of a real estate investment is the critical element
affecting its value. The fundamental investment premise is the higher the earnings the higher the value.
Investment in an income-producing property represents the exchange of present dollars for the right to
receive future dollars. In the Income Capitalization Approach to value, the appraiser analyzes a
property’s capacity to generate benefits and converts these benefits into an indication of present value.t

The basic steps involved in this approach are:

Estimate potential gross income;

Estimate and deduct a vacancy and collection loss allowance;
Estimate and deduct expenses;

Estimate duration and pattern of income stream;

Select an applicable capitalization method and technique;

Develop the appropriate rate;

Complete the computations necessary to derive an economic value.

Nog~wpdE

The primary reason for making gross income estimates is to identify probable net income benefits that
may be derived from ownership interest of the income-producing property. In accepted appraisal
practice, the usual basis for a gross income projection is economic rent. Economic (market) rent is
defined as being the rental income that a property would most probably command in the open market; it
is indicated by current rents paid and asked for comparable space as of the date of the appraisal.

Income Analysis

Subject property is presently owner occupied therefore, no rental information on the property is known.

Comparable properties found are summarized on the following pages. Operating expenses were
estimated from actual historic operating statements from expenses for commercial properties | have
observed in the metro area combined with national investor surveys.

1 The Appraisal of Real Estate, 13th Edition, Chicago

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 47
Hancock, lowa




Comparable #1

Property ldentification

Lease ID 1012

Address 1310 South 17th Street
Council Bluffs, lowa

Market Council Bluffs

Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 14,000 SF
Finish - Above Grade 2,200 SF
Construction Average Quality, Class C
Built/Remodeled 2003/
Condition Average
Height 18.00'

Transaction

Leased Area 14,000 SF
Lease Date February 28, 2018
Lease Term February 28, 2018 - January 31, 2023
Starting Base Rent $5.20/SF
Rent Description Fixed for lease.

Starting Additional
Rent

Expense Terms Triple Net

County Maintenance Shed

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial
Legal Description Lots 1-8, Block 21 Fleming & Davis

Gross Site Size 60,984 SF
Usable Site Size 60,984 SF
Zoning 1-2
Features

Lessee
dba MP Nexlevel

Source Broker
Concession Amount N/A

Concessions
Description

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

217 North Main Street
Hancock, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 48



Comparable #2

Par el S

Property Identification

Lease ID 1398

Address 15 South 20th Street
Council Bluffs, lowa

Market Council Bluffs

Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 9,120 SF
Finish - Above Grade N/A
Construction Average Quality, Class C
Built/Remodeled 1979/
Condition Fair
Height N/A

Transaction

Leased Area 9,120 SF
Lease Date August 01, 2018
Lease Term September 01, 2018 - August 31,
2023

Starting Base Rent $5.75/SF
Rent Description

Starting Additional
Rent

Expense Terms Triple Net

County Maintenance Shed

Property Type Commercial :: Vehicle-Related -
Service

Legal Description

Gross Site Size 40,692 SF
Usable Site Size 40,692 SF
Zoning C-2
Features

Lessee
dba Jake's Towing and Transport

Source CoStar
Concession Amount N/A

Concessions
Description

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

217 North Main Street
Hancock, lowa

© Copyright 2022



Comparable #3

Property Identification

Lease ID 1013

Address 3319 Nebraska Avenue
Council Bluffs, lowa

Market Council Bluffs

Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 41,760 SF
Finish - Above Grade N/A
Construction Average Quality, Class C
Built/Remodeled 1969/
Condition Average
Height 13.00'

Transaction

Leased Area 7,020 SF
Lease Date October 11, 2018
Lease Term October 11, 2018 - October 10, 2021
Starting Base Rent $4.35/SF
Rent Description Fixed for term.

Starting Additional
Rent

Expense Terms Triple Net

County Maintenance Shed

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial
Legal Description

Gross Site Size 100,188 SF
Usable Site Size 100,188 SF
Zoning 1-2

Features

Lessee
dba McDowell Roofing

Source Broker
Concession Amount N/A

Concessions
Description

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

217 North Main Street
Hancock, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 50



Comparable #4

- ——

Property ldentification

Lease ID 1014

Address 2110 23rd Avenue
Council Bluffs, lowa

Market Council Bluffs

Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 5,000 SF
Finish - Above Grade N/A
Construction Average Quality, Class S
Built/Remodeled 2003/
Condition Average
Height N/A

Transaction

Leased Area 2,700 SF
Lease Date October 19, 2018
Lease Term November 19, 2018 -
Starting Base Rent $7.11/SF

Rent Description 7.78/SF in Year 2
8.22/SF in Year 3

Starting Additional
Rent

Expense Terms Gross

Garage space with mezzanine office.

County Maintenance Shed

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial

Legal Description Lots 8-12, Block 11, Railroad
Addition

Gross Site Size 25,245 SF
Usable Site Size 25,245 SF
Zoning 1-2
Features

Lessee
dba Syndicate Diesel

Source Broker
Concession Amount N/A

Concessions One month of free rent
Description

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

217 North Main Street
Hancock, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 51



Comparable #5

Property Identification

Lease ID 1242

Address 1305 Lew Ross Road
Council Bluffs, lowa

Market Council Bluffs

Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 17,840 SF
Finish - Above Grade 6,244 SF
Construction Average Quality, Class D
Built/Remodeled 1996/
Condition Good
Height 14.00'

Transaction

Leased Area 8,000 SF
Lease Date April 22, 2019
Lease Term May 01, 2019 - April 30, 2022
Starting Base Rent $6.95/SF
Rent Description

Starting Additional
Rent

Expense Terms Triple Net

County Maintenance Shed

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial

Legal Description Lots 5 & 6, Block 2, First Foundation
Sub., Council Bluffs, Pottawattamie
County, 1A

Gross Site Size 87,555 SF

Usable Site Size 87,555 SF
Zoning
Features

Lessee
dba New Covenant Electronics

Source CoStar Confirmation
Concession Amount N/A

Concessions
Description

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

217 North Main Street
Hancock, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 52



Comparable #6

Property Identification

Lease ID 1369 Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial
Address 1220 35th Avenue Legal Description Lot 6, 2nd Foundation Subdivision
Council Bluffs, lowa Phase II

Market Council Bluffs

Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 14,000 SF Gross Site Size 43,995 SF
Finish - Above Grade N/A Usable Site Size 43,995 SF
Construction Good Quality, Class S Zoning 1-2
Built/Remodeled 2005/ Features
Condition Good
Height 18.00'

Transaction

Leased Area 3,700 SF Lessee
Lease Date June 30, 2019 dba Safariworks Decor
Lease Term August 29, 2019 - _ Source Costar
Starting Base Rent $6.00/SF Concession Amqunt N/A
Rent Description %Oeggifslt?g:
Starting Additional P
Rent

Expense Terms Triple Net

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 53
Hancock, lowa




Comparable #7

Property Identification

Lease ID 1368

Address 1220 35th Avenue
Council Bluffs, lowa

Market Council Bluffs

Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 14,000 SF
Finish - Above Grade N/A
Construction Good Quality, Class S
Built/Remodeled 2005/
Condition Good
Height 18.00'

Transaction

Leased Area 7,000 SF
Lease Date December 01, 2019
Lease Term December 01, 2019 -
Starting Base Rent $5.25/SF
Rent Description

Starting Additional
Rent

Expense Terms Triple Net

County Maintenance Shed

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial

Legal Description Lot 6, 2nd Foundation Subdivision
Phase II

Gross Site Size 43,995 SF
Usable Site Size 43,995 SF
Zoning 1-2
Features

Lessee
dba Caeser's Entertainment

Source CoStar
Concession Amount N/A

Concessions
Description

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

217 North Main Street
Hancock, lowa

© Copyright 2022 Page 54



Comparable #8

Photograph from Pottawattamie County Assessor

Property ldentification

Lease ID 1588 Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial
Address 1309 Avenue J Legal Description Lots 1-3, Block 8, Potter-Cobbs First
Council Bluffs, lowa Addition

Market 13th & Avenue J

Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 4,160 SF Gross Site Size 15,730 SF
Finish - Above Grade 784 SF Usable Site Size 15,730 SF
Construction Average Quality, Class D Zoning 1-2
Built/Remodeled 1986/ Features
Condition Average
Height 12.00'

Transaction

Leased Area 4,160 SF Lessee Brown Heavy Equipment
Lease Date October 31, 2021 Source CoStar; Marketing Brochure
Lease Term November 02, 2021 - Concession Amount N/A
Starting Base Rent $8.25/SF Concessions
Rent Description Description
Starting Additional
Rent

Expense Terms Triple Net

Net expenses were $1.44/SF for taxes and insurance, and tenant to provide maintenance at own expense.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 55
Hancock, lowa




Comparable Rentals Map

e

Underwood Hancock:
p

Crescent

P

5%

Oakland

Carson!|
hireynom

| Macedonia

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 56
Hancock, lowa




INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH (CONTINUED)

MARKET LEASE RATE ANALYSIS AND CONCLUSION

No comparables of similar properties was found in Hancock. Council Bluffs did have some
comparables which reported rental rates of $4.35/SF to $10.50/SF, on triple net and gross terms. These
comparables are considered to be similar to subject but in superior locations and would be fairly
competitive with it in the current market. As the subject was in fair/average condition; it is my opinion
the market rent for the subject would be reasonable at $4.00/SF on triple net terms.

Miscellaneous Income: Some properties similar to subject in this area receive additional income from
garage rentals, vending machines, forfeited deposits, etc. Subject does not appear to have any other
potential sources of income.

Vacancy and Collection Losses

A vacancy and collection loss must be deducted from potential gross income to arrive at property
effective gross income (EGI). A current 2022 survey conducted by Costar.com reports average
vacancy of 48.85% for industrial properties in Council Bluffs but no estimate of vacancy in
Hancock.

The subject space is a single tenant design, so it would be either 100% occupied or 100% vacant at
any one time. Based upon the subject properties location in an area with primarily agricultural
properties nearby, it is my opinion a 10% vacancy rate would be reasonable for the property.

Actual rent, vacancy and EGI were then summarized as follows:

Potential Commercial Rental Income 1,728 SF x $4.00/SF $6,912
Less: 10% Vacancy and Collection Loss - $691
Effective Gross Income $6,221

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses that are the property owner’s responsibility are deducted from projection of EGI to
arrive at property’s NOI. Such operating expenses include real estate taxes, insurance, maintenance,
utilities and property management fees. To estimate appropriate allowance for operating expenses, |
considered actual known data from market expenses of other properties observed. No information for
the subject was provided. Estimates of operating expenses were then summarized as follows:

Real Estate Taxes: Property taxes for the subject were not posted so my estimate is based upon the
assessed for the subject ($32,600) and the current tax rate ($31.876110) which equates to $1,039. These
appear reasonable based upon the sales comparison approach and other properties observed. So
stabilized taxes will be estimated at $1,050 annually with the owner paying these during vacant periods
only.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 57
Hancock, lowa




INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH (CONTINUED)

Operating Expenses (Continued)

Insurance: Property and hazard insurance for commercial buildings have been observed near $0.10/SF
to $0.85/SF of gross building area for sprinklered buildings, and $0.15/SF to $0.55/SF for non-
sprinklered buildings, and have been rising in recent years. Actual insurance costs for the subject were
not disclosed. So, for purposes of this analysis, an estimate of $1.00/SF is considered reasonable
(including flood coverage) or a total cost of a rounded $1,800 annually.

Management: Typical third party management fees for properties similar to the subject property range
4% to 7% of EGI. The actual management expenses for the subject are unknown. Management duties
generally include supervision of property maintenance, bookkeeping, and management overhead. No
unusual aspects of the management function are foreseen in conjunction with the subject property, so |
estimate an expense of 3% of base rent as reasonable for the subject property.

Administrative & Professional Fees: A general administrative expense was considered appropriate to
reflect typical owner accounting and legal fees. This expense category would include a small amount
for owner’s office overhead and typically ranges from 0.5% to 1.5% of EGI. The actual expenses are
unknown as no operating statements were furnished. General administrative expense was estimated at
0.50% of base rent in this analysis.

Utilities: As no operating statements were provided my estimate of $1.00/SF is based on observations
of other commercial properties, with the owner paying during vacant periods only.

Repairs & Maintenance: This expense category reflects items such as repairs to mechanical systems,
roof, painting and items of general upkeep such as pest control, cleaning, snow and trash removal.
Actual costs were not provided; typical repair & maintenance expenses observed for other commercial
properties have ranged from $0.50/SF to over $3.00/SF, depending in large part on a property’s age and
building size. As a result, with the building in average condition with minimal deferred maintenance, |
estimate an expense of $1.00/SF for the subject, rounded to $1,800 annually.

Reserves for Replacement: Although not typically incurred as an annual cash outlay, a reserve for
replacement expense is appropriate to reflect future replacement of short-lived items such as carpeting,
mechanical systems (including water heaters and HVAC units), kitchen appliances, exterior paving,
roofing, etc. RealtyRates.com investor survey for 18 Q 2022 indicated reserve requirements for
industrial properties reported as $0.26 to $0.85 with an average of $0.56/SF. By comparison, the PWC
Investors Survey reports replacement reserves for national warehouse properties range from $0.05/SF to
$0.35/SF, averaging $0.14/SF in the 15t Q 2022. In my opinion, an appropriate replacement reserve for
the subject property is a rounded $0.20/SF.

Miscellaneous: A miscellaneous expense is typically included to account for such items as tenant-
related social expenses, holiday decorations, security services, etc. Therefore, an expense of $100 per
year was considered appropriate.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 58
Hancock, lowa




INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH (CONTINUED)

PROFORMA OPERATING STATEMENT (FEE SIMPLE)

Rental Income
Estimated Market Rent
Total Potential Gross Income

SQ FT
1,728

Vacancy & Collection Allowance:

Effective Rental Income
Other Income
Total Effective Gross Income:

Operating Expenses:
Management Fee
General & Administrative
Real Estate Taxes
Insurance
Utilities
Repairs & Maintenance
Reserves for Replacement
Miscellaneous

Total Expenses

Net Operating Income

County Maintenance Shed

3.0%
0.5%
16.88%
28.94%
0.00%
28.94%
5.56%
1.61%

15.44%

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

Rent/SF Annual Income

$4.00

10.0%

$187
$31
$1,050
$1,800
$0
$1,800"
$346
$100

$6,912
$6,912
$691

Amount
$19
$31

$105
$180

$0
$180
$346
$100

$6,221
$0
$6,221

$960

$5,260

217 North Main Street
Hancock, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 59



INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH (CONTINUED)

CAPITALIZATION RATE SELECTION, APPLICATION AND ESTIMATE OF VALUE

Several methods of developing a capitalization rate can be used. The best of which is the Market
Extraction Method, where the incomes of comparable properties that have recently sold are known.
Sale transactions used in this report did not reveal cap rates however, other properties observed
which would be considered competitive with subject indicated cap rates of 7.60% to 9.00%.

A national survey was examined for further support of overall capitalization rate. The PWC Real
Estate Investor Survey for the 1%t Qtr 2022 reports national capitalization rates for secondary
industrial properties in a range of 5.25% to 9.00% with average of 7.13%. Capitalization rates in the
local market area have typically been higher than national rates. Capitalization rates are typically
higher for older and smaller properties.

In order to estimate current capitalization rates, a second method is used called the Band of
Investment, Analysis, which is a yield capitalization procedure used in estimating an overall
capitalization rate to be applied to the net operating income of a property. The band of investment
formula addresses the yield requirements of both the lender’s interest and the investor’s interest
considering current lending and investment rates. When the components used in the band of
investment formula are market-derived, the value indication obtained is reflective of market value.
RealtyRates.Com released their 1%t Q 2022 Investor Survey reporting interest rates for industrial
properties ranging from 2.86% to 7.41%, averaging 4.80%. The average spread from 10-Year
Treasury notes was 3.24%. Loan-to-value ratios ranged from 50% to 80% (average 70%), average
amortization period was 25 years with average term of 11.46 years and average debt coverage ratio
of 1.46. Per PwC Investors Survey for 1t Q 2022, institutional grade discount or yield rates for national
warehouse properties ranged from 7.00% to 10.00%, averaging 8.50%.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 60
Hancock, lowa




INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH (CONTINUED)

CAPITALIZATION RATE SELECTION, APPLICATION AND ESTIMATE OF VALUE

Based on the preceding, the following components are then used in the band of investment analysis.

Mortgage Components:

Loan/Value Ratio: 70%
Loan Rate: 5.0% selected
Amortization Period: 25 years with balloon payment due at end of 10 Year
Mortgage Constant (Rm): .0709
Equity Components:
Equity Ratio: 30%
Equity yield rate (Ye): 9.5%

The calculation of the overall capitalization rate by the band of investment technique is as follows:

Band of Investment Technique

Loan Ratio X Mortgage Constant = Weighted Average
.70 X 0709 = 0.049
Equity Ratio X Equity Yield Rate
30 X .095 = (+) 0.0285
Total Weighted Average 0.0775
Indicated Overall Capitalization Rate 7.75%

This mechanical or calculated overall rate typically is below the market extracted rates as lending
terms are still considered favorable for qualified applicants; so, it was given only secondary rounding
weight in my overall or “going-in” capitalization rate selection for the subject property.

Therefore, based on subject characteristics with and the current demand for this property type in the
local market, | selected a rounded 9.00% as the capitalization rate currently appropriate for the
subject property in this market. To arrive at a value estimate for the subject property, the estimated
annual net operating income must be divided by the overall capitalization rate. Therefore, | estimate
the market value of the subject property, as of the effective date of this report, as follows.

Fee Simple
Net Operating Income Capitalization Rate Indicated Value Rounded
$5,260 + 9.00% = $58,449 $60,000
County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 61

Hancock, lowa



RECONCILIATION AND FINAL ESTIMATE OF VALUE

Reconciliation is the process of coordinating and integrating related factors to form a conclusion
regarding the appraised property’s Market Value. Each appraisal approach was considered as to
adequacy, accuracy and overall reliability. The following estimates were based on subject’s highest and
best use in this report and primarily on available market data furnished by the property owner and
others.

Market Value via the Cost Approach Not Applicable
Market Value via the Direct Sales Comparison Approach $60,500
Market Value via the Income Capitalization Approach (Fee Simple) $60,000

The Cost Approach typically uses replacement cost method of determining new cost of building
improvements, typically representing the highest value. Depreciation is calculated for deferred
maintenance and normal wear and tear. The shortcoming of this method normally results from the
calculations for depreciation, as age and obsolescence are difficult to precisely measure in the market
place. The subject building is older, resulting in accrued depreciation which becomes subjective
reducing the reliability of this approach below acceptable levels. Therefore, it was not developed in this
report.

The Direct Sales Comparison Approach compares sales of similar properties. Adjustments were made
for variations from the subject property based on available market data. After adjustments, a reasonable
range of indicated values was evident and | selected the value from the range most representative of the
appraised building. This approach is generally the best method of reflecting market attitudes toward
property, particularly when owner-occupied buildings are involved and there is an active market with
numerous sales. However, this approach is less persuasive when the property is purchased as an
investment. As the subject property is a single-tenant building it would likely appeal to an owner but if
leased it could appeal to an investor therefore most weight was given to this approach in the final value
estimate for the subject.

The Income Capitalization Approach was considered and could be used in this report. Since an
adequate amount of rent, expense and cap rate data was available for the subject property, this approach
was considered reliable so was given some weight in the final value estimate for the subject also.

Conditional only upon my standard Certification, Assumptions and Limiting Conditions, and the
estimated exposure time as stated in this report, it is my opinion the “as is”” Market Value of the subject
properties fee simple estate, as of May 16, 2022 was:

SIXTY THOUSAND FIVE HUNDRED DOLLARS

($60,500)

Respectfully submitted,

_— { . A

) S | () ‘ f
e \ . ,
g ,,\ le L'/\J /‘UL&.L.Z_&;&'--L
D. Rick Whitesides, MAI, SRA
General Certified Appraiser - IA CG01439
NE CG920142

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 62

Hancock, lowa



ADDENDA

County Maintenance Shed

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

217 North Main Street
Hancock, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 63




APPRAISER’S QUALIFICATIONS
D. Rick Whitesides, MAI, SRA

PROFESSIONAL.:

MAI Designation from the Appraisal Institute 1991
SRA Designation from the Appraisal Institute 1977
General Certified Appraiser, State of Nebraska (CG 920142) 1992
General Certified Appraiser, State of lowa (CG 01439) 1992
Licensed Real Estate Salesman in the State of Nebraska 1972
Vice President/Appraiser Mitchell & Associates 1990-Present
Property Underwriter/Assistant Vice President,

Occidental Nebraska Federal Savings Bank 1973-90
MEMBER:

Appraisal Institute: ~ Former President Nebraska Chapter and currently active in this chapter and
former Chapter Services Chairman for Region Il and have served on the National Chapter Services
Committee

Nebraska Real Estate Association

Omaha Area Board of Realtors ~ Former Executive Committee, Commercial Investment Council
Tangier Shrine, Scottish Rite and Mercer Lodge

Past Membership: Society of Real Estate Appraisers, Eastern Nebraska, Chapter #111

EDUCATION:

University of Nebraska Lincoln
University of Nebraska Omaha

Continuing education through attendance at various appraisal seminars sponsored by the Appraisal
Institute and other industry organizations; courses listed on a separate page.

EXPERIENCE:

Avreas of appraisal experience include multi-family residential, commercial; industrial; vacant land,
special purpose properties; and single family residential. Appraisals have been completed for
mortgage loans, condemnation, litigation, and asset management purposes.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 64
Hancock, lowa




RECENT APPRAISAL EDUCATION
D. RICK WHITESIDES, MAI, SRA

DATE COURSE SPONSOR

2017 Honing In...Updates, Market Perspectives & Prof. Development Al

2016 Local Market Snapshot Al

2016 Understanding the Basics of Excel & Linear Regression Al

2016 Commercial Real Estate Summit Nebr Cont Legl Ed

2016 USPAP Update Al

2015 Commercial Real Estate Summit Nebr Cont Legl Ed

2014 Commercial Real Estate Summit Nebr Cont Legl Ed

2014 The Discounted Cash Flow Model Al

2014 USPAP Update Al

2013 Property Acquisition & Need for Site Assessment Randall School of RE

2013 Environmental Issues in Real Estate Randall School of RE

2013 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed

2013 Online Supervising Appraisal Trainees Al

2012 USPAP Moore Group

2012 Effective Appraisal Writing Al

2011 Ethical Decision Making in Real Estate Randall School of RE

2011 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed

2011 Commercial Appraisal Engagement & Review Al

2011 Capital Markets Seminar Daisley Ruff

2010 USPAP Al

2010 Capital Markets Seminar Daisley Ruff

2010 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed

2010 Appraisal Curriculum Overview Al

2009 Online Business Practices & Ethics Al

2009 Report Writing Workshop The Moore Group

2009 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed

2008 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed

2008 USPAP Al

2007 Standard 3 Review Training Session NE Appraiser Bd

2007 Understanding & Testing DCF Valuation Models Al

2007 Analyzing Distressed Real Estate Al

2007 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed

2006 Uniform Standards of Professional Practice Moore Group

2006 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed

2005 Market Analysis & the Site to do Business Al

2005 Radon & Real Estate Randall School of RE

2004 Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice Al

2004 Loss Prevention for Real Estate Appraisers Al

2004 Rates and Ratios Al

2003 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed

2003 Client Pressure Seminar NE Appraiser Bd.

2003 Appraisal Consulting Al

2002 Mark to Market Al

2002 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed

2001 Appraisers & Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act Al

2001 Regression Analysis in Appraisal Practice Al

2001 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed
CLASS

County Maintenance Shed

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

CLASS
HOURS

Nﬂw$WNwNNbﬂWNNNmb#hﬂmmﬂhawwﬂwﬂwwﬂﬂbmWWNNmmﬂwbhb

217 North Main Street

© Copyright 2022

Hancock, lowa

Page 65



DATE

COURSE

2000
2000

2000

2000
2000
1999
1999
1999
1998
1997
1997
1997
1996
1996
1995
1995
1995
1995
1994
1994
1993
1993
1993
1993
1993
1992
1992
1991
1990

County Maintenance Shed

Commercial Appraisal Problem Solving
Appraisal of Non-Conforming Uses

Standards of Professional Practice

Ed Tour (Tomorrows Information Today)
Commercial Real Estate Workshop
Internet Search Strategies

Appraisal of Local Retail Properties
Commercial Real Estate Workshop
Commercial Real Estate Workshop
Affordable Housing

Analyzing Operating Expenses
Commercial Real Estate Workshop
Highest & Best Use

Standards of Professional Practice
Advanced Income Capitalization
Emerging Technologies in Appraising
Experience Review Training
Apartment Update

FHA Guidelines

Commercial Real Estate Workshop
Appraising Apartments

Agency Relationships in Real Estate
Mock Trial Seminar

Commercial Real Estate Workshop
FIRREA: Overview & Application
ADA Seminar

Commercial Real Estate Workshop
Standards of Professional Practice
Small Residential Form

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

SPONSOR
Mid-West Appraisers
Al

Al

NE. Appraiser Board
Nebr Cont Legl Ed
Al
Al
Nebr Cont Legl Ed
Nebr Cont Legl Ed
Al
Al
Nebr Cont Legl Ed

Nebr Cont Legl Ed.
Al
Randall School of RE
Al
Nebr Cont Legl Ed
Al
Al
Nebr Cont Legl Ed
AIREA
SREA

HOURS

NNOONN~NWNWwNR AR voNNooN~N~Nw N~

217 North Main Street

Hancock, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 66



State of Nebraska

Real Property Appraiser Board

Herohy certifies that: DWKIMT (RICK) E WHITESIDES

MITCHELL COMMERCIAL VALUATION INC
14618 WOENTER RD
OMAHANE 68133.3219

15 erademtiafed in ehe Staze of Nebraskas as &
Certified Genernl Real Property Appraiser
Hedifimy credestial mamber: COM0142

Liffective Date: Jano) 2027 Lxpiration Date:  Des 31, 2002

T g
/i 4 //i" L
Nebriznks Real Propesty Appraiser Board Director: / J’ Ll & a
T 7

AT sbincns vy, bariaen oo srvdowe pad be st w60 Mol Prooer®, Nopse ao Heasd cmmodond s

Thie Coocdorsta g Card e poced 1 smch persom e concoratulod mdor e Faoul Propams Apgrates Ao sokon cxdantal S boon canodd. servndarnd. smpndod, o6 sl ol

Nebezaka Real Property Appeaner Boad
301 Contermial Mall Southy, Firkt Flooe PO Bax 94961
Liscodn. Nebraska 685093563
Fhose: ACATIS01S Fax 4024719017 brps. oppeaisct e goa

fwmiramne fompiaatoe Ml 1OB4-2022 Vagrtretion for Fnd 27400

Vondew Piggeprie Audit Pyrae P i 500 Yoderal Bpgontry Voe Pl SN0

Lt

Piekds o Oppretetisies STATE OF 1OWA

1044 DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE
PROFESSIONAL LICENSING AND REGULATION

Thisis to certify that the below named has been granted a certification
as: Certified General Appraiser.

Certification Number: CG01438 Expires: June 30, 2023
Status: Active

Dwight E Whitesides
Mitchell & Associates
14611 W Center Rd
Omaha, Nebraska 68144

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022
Hancock, lowa

Page 67



USPAP MINIMUM STANDARDS

For the convenience of the reader or any reviewer of this report, we have included a copy of the fourteen
points of the Minimum Appraisal Standards. Appraisals must:

1.

10.

11.

12.
13.
14.

Conform to USPAP, except that the Departure Provision, which allows below minimum work, will not
apply;

Include a disclosure of any steps taken in order to comply with the Competency Provision of USPAP;
Be based on the market value or other values as defined in the attached DEFINITIONS;

[i] Be written and presented in a narrative format;
[ii] Be sufficiently descriptive to enable the reader to ascertain the market value and the
rationale for the estimate;

[iii] Provide detail and depth reflective of the complexity of the property appraised;
Analyze and report in reasonable detail any prior sales of the property within the last three years;

Analyze and report current revenues, expense, and vacancies on income producing properties rather
than estimated or projected figures not supported by current market conditions;

Use a reasonable marketing period for the property;

Analyze current market conditions and trends that will affect the income, absorption, or value of the
property;

Report both the “as is” (using appropriate deductions and discounts for holding and marketing costs,
and entrepreneurial profit) and the stabilized market values for developmental property; report both the
value-in-use and liguidation value for owner-occupied property;

Include in the USPAP required certification an additional statement that: “The appraisal assignment
was not based on a requested minimum valuation, a specific valuation, or the approval of a “loan”;

Contain sufficient supporting documentation to allow the reader to ascertain the appraiser’s logic,
reasoning, judgment, and analysis;

Include a legal description of the subject property (in addition to the description required by USPAP);
Identify and value separately any non-real estate items;

Use and reconcile the income, direct sales, and cost approaches to value, and explain the omission of
any approach not used;

If any information necessary to complete the appraisal is unavailable, this fact must be disclosed.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 68
Hancock, lowa



MITCHELL & ASSOCIATES. INC,

ROBERT F. MITCHELL, JR., SRPA
R. GREGG MITCHELL, SRA

D. RICK WHITESIDES, MAI, SRA KEVIN P. HERMSEN MAI
W. BRUCE WILKIE DAVID C. WELLSANDT, MAI
BETH ANDERSEN RICHARD WITTMANN
MELISSA RUTHERFORD MARK SCHAECHER
April 26, 2022
Ms. Kristina Treantos Re:  Appraisal Reports
Via email Properties on following list

Kristina.treantos@pottcounty-is.gov

Dear Ms. Treantos

Per your request our firm will provide appraisal reports on the attached list of properties for the purposes of
estimating the fair market value of the real estate for asset management purposes, subject to the terms and
conditions stated as follows:

1) The report swill be prepared in compliance with the Minimum Appraisal Standards as set forth by the
Uniform Standards of Professional Practice (USPAP) and the Standards of the State of Towa.

2) Inorder to provide the most accurate and timely appraisal possible, the following specific information on
the subject property is desired, if applicable and available:

Property contact for access if necessary

3) Properties to be appraised are as follows:
358 Elm Street, Avoca, IA
15021 490%™ St., Griswold, IA
15484 State Orchard Rd. Council Bluffs, IA
217 North Main, Hancock, 1A
705 Oak Street, Walnut, IA

4) Any modifications, excluding correction of errors, will be provided only at additional cost. No court
testimony or appearances at any hearing will be provided unless prior arrangements are made. Testimony
or appearance at hearings will be billed at the rate of $250/hour, with a 4 hour minimum.

5) The reports will be prepared in a timely manner. Delivery of the report will be approximately 5 weeks,
from receipt of a signed copy of this letter; provided the necessary data is made available in a timely manner.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 69
Hancock, lowa




Appraisal Proposal
Industrial Properties
April 26, 2022
Page 2

6) The fee to prepare the real estate reports will not exceed $4,900 and is payable as follows: $2,450 due upon
the signing of this letter and the balance upon receipt of the completed written appraisal report.

7) Confidentiality will be respected, so the results and content of the report will only be revealed to you or
third parties you may designate. It will not be released to any other entity, without prior permission by you.
However, some information furnished may be used in future analysis of other properties, unless
you specifically request otherwise. In order to comply with the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act of 1999,
our Privacy Notice is available upon request

8) The appraisal will include in the certification required by USPAP; that the appraisal assignment was not
based on a requested minimum valuation, specific valuation or the approval of a loan.
If you are in agreement with this proposal, please sign and return the original letter, with the retainer, as soon as
possible.

Thank you for the opportunity to be of service.

Respectfully submitted,

bt

D. Rick Whitesides, MAI, SRA
General Certified Appraiser — NE #CG920142
TA #CGO01439

ACCEPTED:

AV ATNY Y 2% . 4[28[22

Ms. Kristina Treantos
Pottawattamie County, Jowa

*Refminer will b sont g GlAlz2.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
217 North Main Street © Copyright 2022 Page 70
Hancock, lowa




AN
APPRAISAL

OF

COMMERCIAL PROPERTY
LOCATED AT
15484 STATE ORCHARD ROAD
COUNCIL BLUFFS, IOWA

AS OF

May 16, 2022

PREPARED FOR

Ms. Kristina Treantos
Via email
Kristina.treantos@pottcounty-ia.gov

PREPARED BY

D. Rick Whitesides, MAI, SRA
Certified General Appraiser

MITCHELL & ASSOCIATES, INC.
14611 West Center Road
Omaha, Nebraska 68144

© Copyright 2022, Mitchell & Associates, Inc.



a

MITCHELL & ASSOCIATES, INC.

ROBERT F. MITCHELL, SR., 1893-1983
ROBERT F. MITCHELL, JR., SRPA 1927-2020
R. GREGG MITCHELL, SRA

D. RICK WHITESIDES, MAI, SRA KEVIN P. HERMSEN, MAI

W. BRUCE WILKIE DAVID C. WELLSANDT, MAI

BETH ANDERSEN MELISSA L. RUTHERFORD

RICHARD C. WITTMANN MARK SCHAECHER

REBECCA BELLOWS ALEX FINKLE

JAMES ANDERSEN
May 31, 2022
Ms. Kristina Treantos RE: File #00220816 - Appraisal
Via email Commercial Property
Kristina.treantos@pottcounty-ia.gov 15484 State Orchard Rd

Council Bluffs, lowa
Dear Ms. Treantos:

In response to your request and for the purpose of estimating the Market Value of the above referenced
property for asset management purposes, | have personally visited the property, and then conducted an
analysis of the matters pertinent to its current market value. My findings are included in the following
report of 66 pages, plus the supporting Addenda.

This report is intended to be in conformity with the prevailing Standards and Ethics of the Uniform
Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice (USPAP) of the Appraisal Foundation and the Appraisal
Institute. Itisindependently prepared so is not based on a requested minimum value, specific valuation
nor the approval of a loan. It is also in conformity with the laws and Minimum Standards of the State of
lowa where | am licensed.

Your attention is directed toward the sections titled Limiting Conditions and Assumptions,
Definitions, and Appraiser’s Certification, which address contingencies of the appraisal. Additional
contingencies may be interspersed throughout the report where appropriate; therefore, this report
should be considered in its entirety. Your attention is also directed to the special consideration noted
on page 11 regarding the COVID-19 outbreak. The effective date for this appraisal is in a time
where the community is experiencing a serious reaction to the outbreak including many closures or
cancellations including school districts, state and federal declarations of emergency. Public health
officials are calling for social distancing and limited exposure to others. There is currently
insufficient data to indicate market reactions to the outbreak as it applies to the general market or to
specific properties in regards to any effects on value or marketing times.

Conditional only upon my standard Certification, Assumptions and Limiting Conditions, and the
estimated exposure time as stated in this report, it is my opinion the “as is”” Market Value of the subject
properties fee simple estate, as of May 16, 2022 was:

TWO HUNDRED THOUSAND DOLLARS
($200,000)
Respectfully submitted,

’Kch{ \'LJ&JA&L
D. Rick Whitesides, MAI, SRA
General Certified Appraiser - IA CG0143 NE C(G9201429;

S:|Reports|2022/00220816|Report.doc
Real Estate Appraisers & Consultants

14611 West Center Road B Omaha, Nebraska 68144 m PH. 402-330-4500 m FAX 402-330-7207



TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION

Identification of Property, Summary of Salient Facts and Scope of Work

Scope of Work

Appraiser’s Certification
Assumptions and Limiting Conditions
Definitions

Valuation and the Appraisal Process

DESCRIPTIONS
Market Area Description and Analysis
Site Description and Analysis

Description and Analysis of Improvements

ANALYSIS AND CONCLUSIONS
Highest and Best Use
Cost Approach
Direct Sales Comparison Approach
Income Capitalization Approach

Reconciliation and Final Estimate of Value

ADDENDA

Qualifications of Appraiser
USPAP Standards

Flood Plain Map

Zoning Map and Regulations
Engagement Letter

U
© N N~
D

13
14

15
22
27

32
36
37
51
66



IDENTIFICATION OF THE PROPERTY
AND SUMMARY OF SALIENT FACTS

LOCATION: 15484 State Orchard Road, Council Bluffs, lowa 51503. This is in the
eastern portion of metropolitan Omaha, Nebraska.

LEGAL DESCRIPTION: Lengthy, a parcel of land in LEWIS TWP 4-74-43 TRI LT SW
INTERSECTION GREENVIEW DR & STATE ORCHARD RD NW
SE N & W OF RD, Council Bluffs, Pottawattamie County, lowa

OWNER OF RECORD: Pottawattamie County
Council Bluffs, lowa

CLIENT/INTENDED USE: The report was ordered by Ms. Kristina Treantos with Pottawattamie
County, who advised this appraisal would be used in asset management
purposes. There are no other intended uses or users of this report.

APPRAISAL PURPOSE: Purpose of this appraisal is to provide a supported estimate of the ‘asis’
fee simple market value of the subject property, as of the date of the site
visit.

INSPECTION DATE: On May 16, 2022, | personally visited subject in the company of Shawn
Bluml with Pottawattamie County. Most photos used in this report
were taken at the time of this inspection.

EFFECTIVE DATE: This appraisal has an effective date of May 16, 2022, the date of the
property visit.

SUBJECT DESCRIPTION: The subject property consists of one building used as a maintenance
building. This building contains 3 drive-in bays a small office on the
mezzanine and a restroom. The building is of wood frame construction
with metal panels on the elevations and pitched roof. There are 3
overhead doors for vehicle entry and a pedestrian door. The building
has 2,400 square feet and is located upon a corner site with 40,510 SF
which is totally fenced.

ZONING: Subject is zoned C-2 (Commercial District) under Pottawattamie
Counties jurisdiction. The Class C-2 District is intended primarily to
provide for those business and commercial establishments serving the
general retail shopping needs of those persons living in the
unincorporated areas of the County. Properties shall be located along
or have direct access to hard surfaced streets. (see zoning regulations

in Addenda).
County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 4

Council Bluffs, lowa



IDENTIFICATION OF THE PROPERTY

AND SUMMARY OF SALIENT FACTS (CONTINUED)

FLOOD PLAIN STATUS:

TITLE HISTORY:

TAX ASSESSMENT:

TAX RATE:

REAL ESTATE TAXES:

PERSONAL PROPERTY:

HIGHEST & BEST USE:

EXPOSURE TIME:

County Maintenance Shed

Subject does not appear to be located in a designated flood zone, per
CoreLogic, referencing FEMA Map 19155C0581F, dated April 16,
2013 (map in report).

Per county records, subject does not appear to have sold in the past five
years.

Real estate taxes for Pottawattamie County are combined in one billing
for all governmental subdivisions. The County Assessor is responsible

for estimating ‘actual value’ to which tax rates are applied. Subject
(Parcel 7543 04-401-04) is assessed as follows:

Current Value

2822 Comm. Land Improvement Total Class
Full Value $46,508 $228,800 $267,308 C
Exempt 346,588 $228,800 $267,308 C
Met Total £} $8 ta C

Prior Year Walue

2821 Comm. Land Improvement Total Class
Full Value 346,560 $220,800 $267,300 C
Exempt 346,560 $220,800 $267,300 C
Net Total £} $8 te C

The 2020 tax rate was $24.145880 per $1,000 of assessed value, which
appears normal for commercial properties in this area of Council Bluffs.
The 2021 tax rate has not been set, as of the effective date of this report.

Per Pottawattamie County Treasurer’s Office, shows net real estate
taxes of $0 as it is owned by a government entity. Generally these taxes
have delinquent dates of September 1, 2020 for the first half and March
1, 2021 for the second half. Subject is appraised as if all historic tax
obligations (including additional interest or penalties) are paid current.

No furniture, fixtures, business or equipment values are included in this
report.

As concluded herein, highest and best use of subject is ‘as is’ with a
maintenance shed.

As described herein, exposure time is estimated time a property interest
being appraised would have been offered on the market prior to a
hypothetical consummation of sale at market value on effective date of
appraisal. Based on a retrospective opinion of past events, assuming a
competitive, open market, | estimated that would have been within 12-
months, reflecting current market conditions.

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

15484 State Orchard Road
Council Bluffs, lowa

© Copyright 2022 Page 5



IDENTIFICATION OF THE PROPERTY
AND SUMMARY OF SALIENT FACTS (CONTINUED)

ENVIRONMENTAL Existing improvement is a maintenance shed It is unknown if

CONDITIONS: hazardous components/materials (urea formaldehyde foam insulation,
asbestos, etc.) were used in construction/renovation or if the site has
contaminants. No evidence of underground fuel storage tanks or
contamination was observed. As a result, environmental conditions are
presumed non-adverse. However, it may be prudent to obtain a current
certified survey and environmental assessment of the property. This
appraisal makes no allowance for environmental remediation or
abatement requirements. Your attention is directed to Limiting
Conditions and Assumptions at the conclusion of this report.

SUMMARY OF INDICATED VALUES FROM THIS REPORT

Market Value via the Cost Approach Not Applicable
Market Value via the Direct Sales Comparison Approach $190,000
Market Value via the Income Capitalization Approach (Fee Simple) $210,000
County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 6

Council Bluffs, lowa



SCOPE OF WORK

Scope of work refers to research and analysis in this assignment and includes the extent to which the
property is identified, type and extent of data researched, and type and extent of analysis applied.

Extent of Property Identification: The property was identified by its addresses of 15484 State
Orchard Road, in Council Bluffs, lowa. Per Pottawattamie County records, this address corresponds to
County Parcel number and legal descriptions summarized in the Salient Facts section of this report.

Type and Extent of Data Researched: | personally visited the property, building measurements were
taken from county assessors web site and verified on site, which provided the information for the
property descriptions. Site size was obtained from the assessor’s website also. Other data was collected
from County public records, conversations with local property owners and brokers, information
published in real estate industry publications and Mitchell & Associates appraisal files. | was not
provided with a current soils testing report or survey; therefore, | did not consider the impact on
property value of any possible restrictions or soil issues that might be revealed by these reports. The
COVID-19 virus is having significant impacts to how people live around the world. The impacts are
fairly recent in the Omaha area, but there have been many closures. Public health officials are calling
for social distancing and limited exposure to others.

As we progress through 20221, fewer cases are reported but some cautionary measures are still
promoted. Such news has increased the level of fear and anxiety among the community. Single-
family sales have been brisk due to the shrinking inventories and rising prices. Commercial
businesses may experience reduced sales due to recent closing of bars and restaurants except for
drive-thru service, and avoiding places where 10+ people gather. Other businesses are opting for
employees to work remotely.

There is currently insufficient data to indicate market reactions to the outbreak as it applies to the
general market or to specific properties (e.g. places of reported exposures) in regards to any effects
on value or marketing times.

Type and Extent of Analysis Applied: A highest and best use analysis of the property was developed
utilizing inferred or trend methodology, appropriate of the property in light of its site size and building
size as well as the location in a mature area. Due to the age of the structure, estimating depreciation
would be so subjective as to render the cost approach unreliable; therefore, it was omitted from this
appraisal. | researched and found recent sales of buildings supporting the use of the Direct Sales
Comparison Approach. The Income Capitalization Approach was not developed due to a lack of
market information.

Conclusion: The conclusions and analyses were reconciled into the final estimate of value. Based on
my training, experience (see credentials in the Addenda intended to satisfy the Competency Rule of
USPAP) and judgment, I concluded that this appraisal in a summary format including the Direct Sales
Comparison approach is appropriate to support a credible estimate of the Fee Simple value and
consistent with the Standards of the 2020-2021 Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice
(USPAP).

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 7
Council Bluffs, lowa




EXTERIOR PHOTOS

~

County Maintenance Shed

Front (south)

West side & part of front

East side

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

15484 State Orchard Road
Council Bluffs, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 8




County Maintenance Shed

North & east sides

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

15484 State Orchard Road
Council Bluffs, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 9




APPRAISER'S CERTIFICATION

| certify that, to the best of my knowledge and belief:

The statements of fact contained in this report are true and correct.

The reported analyses, opinions, and conclusions are limited only by the reported assumptions and
limiting conditions and are my personal, impartial, and unbiased professional analyses, opinions, and
conclusions.

| have no present or prospective interest in the property that is the subject of this report and no
personal interest with respect to the parties involved.

| have no bias with respect to the property that is the subject of this report or to the parties involved
with this assignment.

My engagement in this assignment was not contingent upon developing or reporting predetermined
results.

My compensation for completing this assignment is not contingent upon the development or
reporting of a predetermined value or direction in value that favors the cause of the client, the
amount of the value opinion, the attainment of a stipulated result, or the occurrence of a subsequent
event directly related to the intended use of this appraisal.

| have not performed a previous appraisal of the subject property and have not done an appraisal
review involving the subject, or an appraisal consulting assignment involving the subject, within the
past three years.

The reported analyses, opinions and conclusions were developed, and this report has been prepared
in conformity with the requirements of the Code of Professional Ethics and Standards of
Professional Appraisal Practice of the Appraisal Institute and the Uniform Standards of Appraisal
Practice.

The reported analyses, opinions and conclusions were developed, and this report has been prepared
in conformity with the requirements of the Uniform Standards of Appraisal Practice

The use of this report is subject to the requirements of the Appraisal Institute relating to review by its
duly authorized representatives.

| have made a personal inspection of the property that is the subject of this report.

No one provided significant real property appraisal assistance to the person signing this certification.
If there are exceptions, the name of each individual providing significant real property appraisal
assistance is stated in the scope of the report.*

As of the date of this report, I, D. Rick Whitesides, have completed the requirements of the
continuing education program of the Appraisal Institute.

APPRAISER:

) : f
) & 3 | I \ .
‘Neer - X«,L,&»L Alla

D. Rick Whitesides, MAI, SRA - NE CG920142
IA CG01439

1 Source for Items #1-#9, Standards Rule 2-3, Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practices, 2001 Edition

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 10
Council Bluffs, lowa




ASSUMPTIONS AND LIMITING CONDITIONS

This appraisal has been based on the following limiting conditions:

For purposes of this appraisal, any marketing program for the sale of the property would assume cash or its
equivalent.

No detailed soil studies covering the subject property were available for this appraisal. Itis therefore assumed that
soil conditions are adequate to support standard construction consistent with highest and best use.

The date of value to which the conclusions and opinions expressed in this report apply, is set forth in the letter of
transmittal. Further, the dollar amount of any value opinion rendered in this report is based upon the purchasing
power of the American dollar existing on that date.

The appraiser assumes no responsibility for economic or physical factors which may affect the opinions in this
report which occur after the date of the letter transmitting the report or which cause unpredictable changes. Events
such as (but not limited to) natural disasters, wars and economic calamities are examples of such factors.

The appraiser reserves the right to make such adjustments to the analysis, opinions and conclusions set forth in this
report as may be required by consideration of additional data or more reliable data that may become available.

No opinion as to title is rendered. Data relating to ownership and legal description was obtained from county
records and is considered reliable. Title is assumed to be marketable and free and clear of all liens, encumbrances,
easements and restrictions except those specifically discussed in the report. The property is appraised assuming it
to be under responsible ownership and competent management and available for its highest and best use.

If no title policy was made available to the appraiser, they assume no responsibility for such items of record not
disclosed by their customary investigation.

The appraiser assumes no responsibility for hidden or non-apparent conditions of the property, subsoil, or
structures that render it more or less valuable. No responsibility is assumed for arranging for engineering studies
that may be required to discover them.

The property is appraised assuming it to be in full compliance with all applicable federal, state and local
environmental regulations and laws, unless otherwise stated.

The property is appraised assuming that all applicable zoning and use regulations and restrictions have been
complied with, unless otherwise stated.

The property is appraised assuming that all required licenses, certificates of occupancy, consents or other
legislative or administrative authority from any local, state or national government or private entity or organization
have been or can be obtained or renewed for any use on which the value estimate contained in this report is based,
unless otherwise stated.

No engineering survey has been made by the appraiser. Except as specifically stated, data relative to size and area
was taken from sources considered reliable and no encroachment of real property improvements is considered to
exist.

No opinion is expressed as to the value of subsurface oil, gas or mineral rights whether the property is subject to
surface entry for the exploration or removal of such materials except as is expressly stated.

Maps, plats, and exhibits included in this report are for illustration only as an aid in visualizing matters discussed
within the report. They should not be considered as surveys or relied upon for any other purpose, nor should they
be removed from, reproduced, or used apart from the report.

No opinion is intended to be expressed for matters, which require legal expertise or specialized investigation, or
knowledge beyond that customarily employed by real estate appraisers.

Possession of this report, or copy of it, does not carry with it the right of publication. It may not be used for any
purposes by any person other than the party to whom it is addressed without the written consent of the appraiser,
and in any event only with the proper written qualification and only in its entirety.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 11
Council Bluffs, lowa




ASSUMPTIONS AND LIMITING CONDITIONS (CONTINUED)

Testimony or attendance in court or at any other hearing is not required by reason of rendering this appraisal,
unless such arrangements are made in a reasonable time in advance.

The appraiser has personally inspected the subject property and find no obvious evidence of structural deficiencies,
except as stated in this report; however, no responsibility for hidden defects or conformity to specific governmental
requirements, such as fire, building and safety, earthquake or occupancy codes can be assumed without provision
of specific professional or government inspections.

No consideration has been given in this appraisal as to the value of the property located on the premises considered
by the appraiser to be personal property, nor has he given consideration to the cost of moving or relocating such
personal property; only the real property has been considered.

Information obtained for use in this appraisal is believed to be true and correct to the best of my abilities; however,
no responsibility is assumed for errors or omissions, or for information not disclosed which might otherwise affect
the valuation estimate.

Disclosure of the contents of this appraisal report is governed by the Bylaws and Regulations of the Appraisal
Institute.

Neither all nor any part of the contents of this report (especially any conclusions as to value, the identity of the
appraiser or firm with which he is connected, or any reference to the American Institute of Real Estate Appraisers
or to the MAI or SRA designations) shall be disseminated to the public through advertising media, public relations
media, news media, sales media or any other public means of communication without prior written consent and
approval of the appraiser.

Comments concerning the location, market area, trends, construction quality and costs of the property appraised
herein represent the opinion of the appraiser formed after examination and study of the subject property.

This appraisal represents the independent opinion of the appraiser free from any commitments and free from any
present or expected future interest in the property, with the sole compensation for the employment being a fair
professional fee.

The Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”) became effective January 26, 1992. I have not made a specific
compliance survey and analysis of this property to determine whether or not it is in conformity with the various
detailed requirements of the ADA. It is possible that a compliance survey of the property, together with a detailed
analysis of the requirements of the ADA, could reveal that the property is not in compliance with one or more of
the requirements of the Act. If so, this fact could have a negative effect upon the value of the property. Since |
have no direct evidence relating to this issue, I did not consider possible non-compliance with the requirements of
ADA in estimating the value of the property.

Unless otherwise stated in this report, the existence of hazardous material, which may or may not be present on the
property, was not observed by the appraiser. The appraiser has no knowledge of the existence of such materials on
or in the property. The appraiser, however, is not qualified to detect such substances. The presence of substances
such as asbestos, urea formaldehyde foam insulation or other potentially hazardous materials may affect the value
of the property. The value estimate is predicated on the assumption that there is no such material on or in the
property that would cause a loss of value. No responsibility is assumed for any such conditions, or for any
expertise or engineering knowledge required to discover them. The client is urged to retain an expert in this field,
if desired.

If this appraisal report was transmitted as an “electronic record” containing my “electronic signature,” as those
terms are defined in applicable federal and/or state laws (excluding audio and video recordings), or a facsimile
transmission of this appraisal report containing a copy or representation of my signature, the appraisal report shall
be as effective, enforceable and valid as if a paper version of this appraisal report were delivered containing my
original hand written signature.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 12
Council Bluffs, lowa




DEFINITIONS:

FEE SIMPLE ESTATE:!

LEASED FEE ESTATE:?

MARKET VALUE: 2

Absolute ownership unencumbered by any other interest or estate,
subject only to the limitations imposed by the governmental powers
of taxation, eminent domain, police power and escheat.

An ownership interest held by a landlord with the right of use and
occupancy conveyed by lease to others. The rights of lessor (the
leased fee owner) and leased fee are specified by contract terms
contained within the lease.

The most probable price which a property should bring in a
competitive and open market under all conditions requisite to a fair
sale, the buyer and seller each acting prudently and knowledgeably,
and assuming the price is not affected by undue stimulus. Implicit in
this definition is the consummation of a sale as of a specified date?
and the passing of title from seller to buyer under conditions
whereby:

(1) Buyer and seller are typically motivated;

(2) Both parties are well informed or well advised, and acting in what
they consider their own best interests;

(3) A reasonable time is allowed for exposure in the open market;

(4) Payment is made in terms of cash in U.S. dollars or in terms of
financial arrangements comparable thereto; and,

(5) The price represents the normal consideration for the property
sold unaffected by special or creative financing or sales concessions
granted by anyone associated with the sale.

1 The Dictionary of Real Estate Appraisal, 4" Edition, Appraisal Institute, Chicago

2 Excerpted from Vol. 55 No. 165, Federal Register Section 34.44 Appraisal Standards
8 See discussion regarding exposure time and marketability within the Highest and Best Use analysis of this report

County Maintenance Shed

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

15484 State Orchard Road
Council Bluffs, lowa

© Copyright 2022 Page 13



VALUATION AND THE APPRAISAL PROCESS

An appraisal is an estimate, an opinion of value. Its accuracy depends on the basic competence and
integrity of the appraiser and on the soundness and skill by which he or she processed the data. Its
worth is influenced by the availability of pertinent data. The professional appraiser seeks current facts
and seeks to be practical. Most importantly, the appraiser’s opinion must be without bias. As with
other types of “markets,” the real property appraiser does not make the market; rather, he or she
interprets the market.

Generally, the appraiser uses three approaches to value: 1) Cost Approach; 2) Direct Sales Comparison
Approach; and, 3) Income Approach. Each of these approaches is discussed separately below. They
are all comparative approaches in that the basic data comes from direct comparisons in the market,
indirect comparisons in the market, and/or the appraiser’s judgment, which is based on market
experience.

In the Cost Approach, the cost to reproduce the property at the date of the appraisal, less an appropriate
allowance for depreciation (physical deterioration, functional obsolescence, and economic
obsolescence), is made by market comparisons of cost and depreciation. The Cost Approach tends to
set the upper limit of value since no property can be worth more than it would cost to build another
property of equal utility assuming no reasonable delays. In land appraisals this approach is not
applicable as land cannot be replaced but is considered a non-depreciating asset.

In the Direct Sales Comparison Approach, the subject property is compared to sales of similar
properties. The sales are analyzed to determine similarities and differences, which affect value when
observed in the market. These similarities and differences then serve as points of comparison between
the market data and the subject property. When necessary, adjustments are made to the comparablesto
account for these differences. The resulting adjusted value per unit is then used to estimate the value via
this approach.

In the Income Capitalization Approach, the future operation of the property is estimated from past
historical data relating to the subject and/or from comparable market data. Gross rental schedules,
vacancy and collection losses, fixed expenses, operating expenses and reserves are projected and used to
estimate netincome. This netincome is converted to a value estimate using the capitalization process.
The capitalization rate (comprised of a return on and a return of the investment) is based on
demonstrated rates found in the market. (In land appraisals, recapture is not a part of the capitalization
rate as land is considered a non-depreciating asset.) The method and technique of capitalization is
determined by the nature of the property in the market.

All approaches were considered for this report, however, the availability, adequacy and pertinence of
data may limit the approaches actually used, as discussed in the Reconciliation of this report.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 14
Council Bluffs, lowa




MARKET AREA DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS

Market areas influence value of specific properties in many ways. These influences are best
understood considering their social, economic, governmental and environmental characteristics. It
has been said that “social, economic, governmental and environmental forces also influence property
value near the subject property which, in turn, directly affects the value of the subject property
itself.”! Therefore, we will examine each characteristic considering the subject’s market area.

Market Area: Subject is in Council Bluffs, the eighth largest city in lowa, and Pottawattamie County
seat, on the west edge of lowa adjacent to the east bank of the Missouri River and part of the greater
Omaha-Council Bluffs Core Based Statistical Area (CBSA). We performed a demographic study of

Council Bluffs? with results incorporated in the findings below.

Social Characteristics

Demographics: The 2021 population® within Council Bluffs was 62,056 down 0.09% from
2010. Households in 2021 were 21,251 up 0.17% from 2010. Median household income within

the city is $57,263.

Education: The market area is served by the Council Bluffs Public School District. The level of
education achieved for persons ages 25 or older within the city is shown as follows.

2021 Population 25+ by Educational Attainment
Total

Less than Sth Grade

4th - 12th Grade, No Diploma

High School Graduate

GED/Altarnative Cradantial

Some College, No Dagres

Associate Dagrea

Bachelor's Degree

Graduate/Professional Degree

1 mile

244
1.9%
1.5%
26,45

3.2%
20.9%
13.9%
16.B5%
13.3%

3 miles 5 miles
16,184 37,614
1.80% 3.1%
4,85 7.3
24,40 27.60%
3,20 4,50
23,70 23.6%
12.3% 11.3%
1B.5% 14.9%
11.2% T.6%

Employment: Employment by industry within the city is shown as follows.

2021 Employed Population 16+ by Industry

Total ety 12,276 27450
AgricultureMining i, G i, 70 1.0%
Constraction 5, B0 550 7.2%
Manufacturing 9,50% 8.0% 10.4%
Whaolesale Trade 3.1% 3,48, 3.3%
Retail Trade 14,40 13.5% 13.7%
Transportation/Utilities 5, 70 &, 0% 8.6%
Information 0, 2% 248, 1.7%%
Financa/Insurance/Raal Estate 6, F0 8.9% 39.6%
Services 44, 1% 43. 7% 21.5%
Fublic Administration T 4,5% 4.1%%

1 Appraisal of Real Estate, 13™ Edition, 2008

2 Demographic Profile, STDBonline

3 www.stdbonline.com

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 15

Council Bluffs, lowa


http://www.stdbonline.com/

MARKET AREA DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Social Characteristics (Continued)

Largest employers in Council Bluffs are:
Council Bluffs Top Employers

| Council Bluffs Organizations | # of Employees |
| Ameristar Casino Hotel || 1300 |
| Council Bluffs Community Schools || 1250 |
| Harrah's CasinoHotel || 1100 |
| Tyson, Inc. | 1052 |
| Alegent Halth Mercy Hospital || o0 |
| Jennie Edmundson Hospital || 800 |
| ConAgra Frozen Foods || 800 |
| Bluffs Run Casino || 670 |
| Iowa Western Community College | 512 |
| wal-Mart Retail Stores | 450 |
| Griffin Pipe Products | 400 |
| Union Pacific | 400 |
| Omaha Standard | 250 |
| MidAmerican Eneray | 250 |
| American Games || 230 |
| Tyson, Inc. - Cooked Meats | 220 |
| warren Distribution | 200 |
| Plumrose USA | 200 |

Housing: The market area has roughly 58.4% of occupants owning their home and 34.1% of homes
being renter occupied and 7.9% being vacant.

Roadway Linkage: City of Council Bluffs virtually is encircled by interstate highways due to its
location at the junction of 1-80 and 1-29. 1-80 runs through the south part of the city and along the
east edge. 1-29 runs along the city north edge, down the west side until it meets 1-80, cuts along the
path of 1-80 and breaks off south again along the city southeast fringe. With its location near the
center of the nation, Council Bluffs is a major transportation hub with nearly 100 motor freight
carriers serving the area. Major east/west arterials through the city include West Broadway/
Kanesville Boulevard (US Hwy 6), a major undivided four-lane artery, Avenue ‘G’, 9" Avenue, 23"
Avenue and US Hwy 275. Major north/south arterials include South Expressway (Hwy 192) 16™,
25 and 35t Streets.

Other Linkages: Council Bluffs is served by four major railroads and the Council Bluffs airport
has a 4,100° concrete runway providing local charter service. National air service is available at
nearby Omaha Eppley Airfield, served by numerous major airlines; through these, direct flights are
available to both coasts and major cities. The metro area is served by one major and several smaller
bus lines. Metro Area Transit operates city buses serving bulk of the metropolitan area. Two barge
lines also serve the metro area during river navigation seasons.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 16
Council Bluffs, lowa




MARKET AREA DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Social Characteristics (Continued)

Recreation: Area recreational facilities include three public golf courses, 10 public parks, 10 public
tennis courts, five public swimming pools, one country club and Lake Manawa State Park. Council
Bluffs is the site of the National Western Historic Trails Center, a $12.6 million center consisting of
an orientation center, auditorium, museum, archival center, meeting rooms and gift shop for the 49-
mile web of biking and walking trails across the city that connect to the longer Wabash trail through
eastern lowa. The number of annual visitors is estimated at 350,000 to 500,000.!

Retail Centers: Council Bluffs has numerous neighborhood and community retail centers and West
Broadway serves as a major commercial corridor. The Manawa Power Center is a large retail center
at the south end of town at the intersection of 1-80 and South Expressway and includes several
anchor and junior anchor stores. The Metro Crossing Shopping Center is adjacent southeast of the
Lake Manawa Power Center and covers 81 acres including 14 pad sites with 40 acres for
anchors/junior anchors. The Mall of the Bluffs is an older regional center on the east side of town at
I-29 and Madison Avenue that has experienced high vacancy in recent years.

Gaming Industry: Legalized riverboat gambling was introduced in Council Bluffs in the 1990s;
today, there are three casinos in the market area. Ameristar Casino Hotel is [owa’s largest riverboat
with a 38,500 SF casino. Harrah’s Casino & Hotel advertises over 1,000 slot machines. Horseshoe
Casino, on the grounds of the Bluffs Run Dog Track, has a casino over 68,000 SF in size. Economic
and social impact of legalized gambling on individual communities has been hotly debated in recent
years without achieving a clear consensus. Many effects have been difficult to measure or quantify.
Nobel Laureate economist Paul Samuelson wrote, “(Gambling) involves simply sterile transfers of
money or goods between individuals, creating no new money or goods. Although it creates no
output, gambling does nevertheless absorb time and resources. When pursued beyond the limits of
recreation, where the main purpose after all is to kill time, gambling subtracts from the national
income.”” However, we do not have sufficient information to clearly identify the net effect the
gambling industry is having on the Council Bluffs market.

Commercial Services: Council Bluffs has six financial institutions, one daily newspaper, 18 local
radio stations, six television channels received and cable television. There are 24 motel/hotels with
over 1,500, including two adjacent to the riverboat casinos. There are two general hospitals, each
with its own school of nursing, with a total 539 beds. These hospitals serve the local community as
well as much of adjacent southwest lowa.

Utilities: MidAmerican Energy and its rural electric cooperative provide electric power to the
region at rates below the national average. Black Hills Energy provides natural gas to Council
Bluffs. Water and sewer service are supplied by the City of Council Bluffs and its municipal plan.
Local telephone service is provided by Qwest Communications and Cox Communications.

Governmental Characteristics

Administration: Council Bluffs has a city council form of government and operates fire and police
protection services. Public education facilities include 17 elementary, five junior high, and five
senior high schools, one trade and technical, one junior and one 4-year college, lowa Western,

1 Director of City Parks and Recreation
2 Paul A. Samuelson, Economics, 10th ed., 1976, p. 425

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 17
Council Bluffs, lowa




MARKET AREA DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Real Estate Taxes: Council Bluffs has a mil levy about twice those found in the general metro
area. Leviesin Council Bluffs are typically over $4.00 per $100 of assessed value; however, some
properties (primarily single family houses) receive a rollback.

Environmental Characteristics

Topography: Per US Census Bureau, the city has a total 39.7 square miles along the east bank of
the Missouri River with much of the city built in the level floodplain. Steep wooded river bluffs line
the city east edge where elevations climb from river valley to central plateau plains. Council Bluffs
covers a unique topographic region originally composed of prairie and savanna in the Loess Hills
with extensive wetlands and deciduous forest along the Missouri River. Excellent vistas can be had
from Fairmont Park, the Lincoln Monument, Kirn Park and the Lewis and Clark Monument. The
main thoroughfare of Broadway was once part of the Lincoln Highway, North Broadway follows the
path of Indian Creek north up into the Loess Hills. Lake Manawa was created by a Missouri River
flood in 1881 and is at the south edge of the city. Most of the city lies within the 100-year
designated floodplain, where it is adjacent to the nearby Indian Creek and Missouri River.
Completion of flood control projects upstream reduced the flood hazard in the area, but did not
eliminate this hazard.

Environmental Hazard: The city has experienced significant ground water contamination along
West Broadway resulting from historic leaks in area underground petroleum storage tanks. A plume
of petroleum-related contaminants including Benzene was identified on the surface of ground water,
extending from the Missouri River to Kanesville Boulevard (depending on river conditions). The
lowa Department of Natural Resources regulates assessment and remediation of this environmental
hazard and current monitoring and abatement has been underway for several years. This hazard is
not expected to have adverse impact on marketing or valuation of the subject property.

Summary

Council Bluffs is a separate but vital part of the greater metro area economy. Although Council
Bluffs’ average income is lower than the metro area it has offered low unemployment coupled with a
growing workforce and good transportation linkages.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 18
Council Bluffs, lowa




Market Area Aerial

Westop:

1@&11

SRR |
\:
|

Chautauquay

Richfield : i 1 _' ; E= GOO|€ Ea

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 19
Council Bluffs, lowa




Immediate Market Area Aerial

.
b Culting Edge

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 20
Council Bluffs, lowa




MARKET AREA VIEWS

View south along State Orchard
Road

View north along State Orchard
Road, subject at left

View west along Greenview
Road, subject at left

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 21
Council Bluffs, lowa




SITE DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS

Subject property is located on the southwest corner of State Orchard Road and Greenview Road which
is in the east portion of Council Bluffs. The property is surrounded mostly by single family properties.
Following is a summary of subject characteristics:

Size: Subject parcel has frontage along State Orchard Road of about 523° and frontage along
Greenview Road of about 299’ total site area was reported as of 63,162 square feet or 1.45 acres. These
dimensions were taken from public records, as no survey was provided.

Topography: Subject site appears to have fairly level terrain near the grade level of abutting roads.
This site appears to have adequate surface water drainage.

Soils: Subject is presumed free of hazardous materials and the load bearing capacities adequate for
improvements. Obvious environmental problems were not observed. See Limiting Conditions as relate
to effects on value if environmental contamination is found on property.

Utilities: All public utilities are present at subject property or in abutting streets.

Easements/Encroachments/Restrictions: No adverse easements or encroachments were noted on the
plats and none are known.

Flood Plain/Drainage: Subject does not appear to be located in a designated flood zone, per
CorelLogic, referencing FEMA Map 19155C0581F, dated April 16, 2013 (map in report).

Zoning: Subject is zoned C-2 (Commercial District) under Pottawattamie Counties jurisdiction. The
Class C-2 District is intended primarily to provide for those business and commercial establishments
serving the general retail shopping needs of those persons living in the unincorporated areas of the
County. Properties shall be located along or have direct access to hard surfaced streets. (see zoning
regulations in Addenda).

Visibility: Subject has frontage along a 2 lane street on its north side and a 2 lane road on its east side.
Both of these carry modest amounts of traffic. The views to and from the subject are not dramatically
obscured by abutting properties or terrain. Based on these factors the subject is considered to have
average visibility characteristics.

Access: Subject parcel hasa corner location in an area developed with single family houses. Vehicle
access is available from State Orchard Road which is surfaced with asphalt changing to crushed rock jus
south of the subject. Abutting the subject on the north is Greenview Road which handles east/west
bound traffic and it links with Eastern Hills Road which is a collector street handling traffic in a
north/south direction. Eastern Hills Road connects with Highway 92 about 2 miles to the south. The
Interstate Highway system is accessible about 2-miles west of the subject off Madison Avenue. Based
on this, subject is considered to have average access characteristics.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 22
Council Bluffs, lowa




Subject Parcel Aerial

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 23
Council Bluffs, lowa




Subject Plat Map

Greenview Rd Greenview Rd

3.94

299,
56.64 | 9951ft|

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 24
Council Bluffs, lowa




Subject Zoning Map

—Greenview-Rd GreenviewRd——
|
56.54 \
2018.08428 (G
223.94 %.,@\eo
% C-2
™
)-47186 s
(o))
$
&
N e
%-
Vs 3 ¥ SB90-6504
S \ 2
$ B\
2 T\ =
‘:J@ >
{
o5
County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 25

Council Bluffs, lowa



Subject Flood Map

RiskMeter

CoreLogic

15484 STATE ORCHARD RD COUNCIL BLUFFS, IA 51503-5783

LOCATION ACCURACY:

Flood Zone Determination Report

Flood Zone Determination: OUT

COMMUNITY 190232 PANEL 0581F

PANEL DATE April 16,2013 MAP NUMBER 19155C0581F

2, X500 or B Zone
s
e Il A Zone
Y V Zone
a
B I D Zone
7 Floodway
52 CBRA

P
q
Rd

Greei 1ew:F

© 2022 Corelogic, Inc. All rights reserved. CORELOGIC, RISKMETER, PXPOINT and the CorelLogic logo are trademarks of CoreLogic, Inc. and/or its subsidiaries. All other trademarks are the
property of their respective holders

Report generated May 12, 2022 by commercial@mitchellassociates.com Page 2 of 2
County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 26

Council Bluffs, lowa



DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS OF IMPROVEMENTS

The subject property consists of one building used as a maintenance building. This building contains 3
drive-in bays a small office on the mezzanine and a restroom. The building is of wood frame
construction with metal panels on the elevations and pitched roof. There are 3 overhead doors for
vehicle entry and a pedestrian door. The building has 2,400 square feet and is located upon a corner site
with 40,510 SF which is totally fenced. Based on my observations and public records the general
building components and their condition were summarized as follows:

STRUCTURAL FEATURES:

Footings & Foundation: Footings were not observed; foundation appears to be poured concrete.

Superstructure: Building is of wood frame construction with metal panels on the exterior elevations
and a pitched roof.

Floors: Is poured concrete, specific thickness and load-bearing capacity is unknown; mezzanine floor
is plywood over wood joists.

Roof: Roof is a pitched design and was covered with metal panels. It is drained by a gutter and
downspout system.

Walls: Exterior walls are metal panels.
Windows & Doors: Entry into the building is a direct entry through a metal pedestrian door in an

aluminum frame. There were no windows in the building. There were 3 overhead drive-in doors of
insulated metal construction, which were about 14’ x 14’ and electrically operated.

MECHANICAL FEATURES:

Electrical Systems: Electric service was 110/220 volt service with a 150 amp main breaker; protected
by circuit breakers.

Lighting: The office portion of the building had fluorescent fixtures, the shop area had LED fixtures.

Heating & Air Conditioning: There was a gas fired space heater with thru-wall air-conditioning for
the office area.

Fire Protection System: None observed

Security System: None observed

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 27
Council Bluffs, lowa




DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS OF IMPROVEMENTS (CONTINUED)

INTERIOR:

Restrooms: There was a restroom equipped with a residential stool, plastic mop sink. No specific
investigation of whether or not these facilities meet requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act
was conducted (see disclaimer in Assumptions at the conclusion of this report).

Interior Finish: The office portion of the building has a plywood floor but no real finish

Site Improvements: The parking/drive areas are covered with crushed rock, the balance of the site has
turf grass. This site has a chain link fence surrounding it.

CONDITION/DEPRECIATION:

Subject was reported to have been constructed in 1970. Therefore, it has a chronological age of 52
years. The subject was considered in average condition. Therefore, it is estimated to have effective age
of 30 years. Per Marshall Valuation, buildings similar to subject would have an economic life of 40
years. Based on these factors, subject is estimated to have non-curable depreciation of 50% (20-year
effective age + 40-year economic life).

Functional Obsolescence: The subject’s layout and floor plan is typical for this type of structure in this
area.

External Obsolescence: No external obsolescence was observed (in market area description), as there
appears adequate demand for these type properties.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 28
Council Bluffs, lowa




Building Sketch

60

restroom tool room

mezzaning above

40
40

/\ || |
60"
County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 29

Council Bluffs, lowa



Shop area

Tool room with mezzanine above

Restroom

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 30
Council Bluffs, lowa



County Maintenance Shed

Office on mezzanine

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

15484 State Orchard Road
Council Bluffs, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 31




HIGHEST AND BEST USE

Definition: The reasonably probable and legal use of vacant land or improved property, which is
physically possible, appropriately supported, financially feasible, and results in the highest value.

Highest and best use of a specific property is not determined through subjective analysis by the
appraiser; rather, shaped by the competitive forces in the market where property is located. Therefore,
the analysis and interpretation of highest and best use is an economic study of market forces focused on
the subject. The benefit of real estate development produces for a community or amenity contribution
provided by a planned project (i.e., public space in a park-like area) is not considered in the appraiser’s
analysis of highest and best use. Also implied is that the determination of highest and best use results
from the appraiser’s judgment and analytical skills, i.e., that the use determined from analysis represents
an interpretation or opinion not a fact to be found. In appraisal practice, the concept of highest and best
use represents the premises upon which value is based. In the context of most probable selling price
(market value) another appropriate term to reflect highest and best use would be most probable use. In
the context of investment value, an alternate term would be most profitable use.

In order for a particular use or a piece of real property to be the highest and best use of that real
property, several requirements must be met:

1. The use must be legally permissible or reasonably possible.

2. The use must be physically possible on the site.

3. The use must be economically and financially feasible under projected market conditions existing.

4. The use must be the most profitable of the legally permissible, physically possible, and economically
feasible alternatives.

In estimating its market value, real property is appraised in terms of its highest and best use. Highest
and best use analysis is analogous to a feasibility study, in that it is progressive. Legally permissible or
physically possible uses are first considered. After analyzing one, the other is fully considered.

Regarding possible uses, there are five basic categories, which are:

1. Residential,

2. Commercial,

3. Industrial,

4. Agricultural, and

5. Special or public use.

After permissible and possible are concluded, economically feasible uses are next identified; that is,
those that would pay competitive return on investment in improvements as well as land. Of these, the
“maximally productive” or most profitable is highest and best use also referred to as the “ideal” use.!

In estimating highest and best use of property, the site is first analyzed as though vacant, unimproved
and available for development to its most profitable, likely, legal use. When improvementsare present,
itis necessary to estimate the highest and best use of the site as improved. In both cases, the property is
analyzed from the viewpoint of possible, permissible and feasible uses.

1 Appraisal of Real Estate, 13th Edition, Chicago

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 32
Council Bluffs, lowa




HIGHEST AND BEST USE (CONTINUED)

SITE ‘AS IF’ VACANT

Referring to highest and best use “as if” vacant, first test is physical adaptability of land. Potential uses
include are generally commercial in nature. Agricultural uses are not physically possible due to site size
in relation to large acreage needs of modern farm operations. The 40,510 SF site appears entirely usable
and could accommodate most uses, obviously limited by its size. No adverse physical or economic
conditions were observed.

Second test is legal permissibility of use. Site is zoned C-2 (Commercial District). Legal uses are
slightly limiting, as the zoning is designed intended to accommodate office, retail and related activities
uses. (see zoning regulations in Addenda).

Third test is the financial feasibility, calling for a use generating highest return on and of investment.
Thessite is located along State Orchard Road, a lightly traveled street and Greenview Road a moderately
traveled road. Office and retail users would not find the site attractive due to the minimal traffic and
surrounding residential properties. Civic users are often not-for-profit entities that operate on limited
budgets. As a result, civic users would likely not be willing to pay as much as a commercial or
industrial user for a site with the subject characteristics.

Based on site size, zoning, economic and physical characteristics, it is my judgment that the highest and
best use, as if vacant, would be for industrial use within the scope of the present zoning.

“AS IMPROVED”

The four tests of highest and best use, (legal permissibility, physical possibility, financial feasibility
and maximum productivity) can be applied to the property “as improved” to determine the use that
will maximize the subject property’s value. The use maximizing the highest value is the highest and
best use of the property “as improved.”

The four basic courses of action that can be applied to a property are:

To demolish improvements and redevelop the site for a new use; or

To modify improvements (e.g. renovate, modernize, or convert), or

To cure items of deferred maintenance and retain the improvements; or
To maintain the improvements “as is”

| analyzed the four courses of action for the subject mixed-use building, in keeping with the four
main tests of highest and best use, with my analysis described in the following paragraphs:

Demolish & Redevelop: The existing improvements contribute to site value (concluded in large part
by competing properties), and it would not be financially feasible to demolish them in order to
redevelop the land for some alternate use. Therefore, this option is eliminated on grounds of financial
feasibility.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 33
Council Bluffs, lowa




HIGHEST AND BEST USE (CONTINUED)

“AS IMPROVED” (CONTINUED)

Modify Improvements: | was unable to identify modifications or conversions of existing
improvements that would increase property value by an amount greater than anticipated cost of
modifications or conversions. Therefore, the option to modify improvements is eliminated on grounds
it would not maximize property value.

Cure Deferred Maintenance or Maintain Improvements: Subject is considered in average
condition, with some minor deferred maintenance observed. The cost to cure this deficiency is not
considered to increase the value beyond the costs of those improvements. Therefore, the option to
cure deferred maintenance is ruled out.

The only remaining course of action meeting tests of legal permissibility, physical possibility,
financial feasibility, and maximum productivity is to continue current use of the subject as a
maintenance building.

EXPOSURE TIME

In order to sell property, it must be exposed to the open market. The following discussion is
provided to illustrate current market conditions and estimate exposure time needed to market subject.

Exposure time may be defined as estimated length of time a property interest being appraised would
have been offered on the open market prior to a hypothetical consummation of sale at market value
on effective date of the appraisal; a retrospective estimate based on analysis of past events assuming
a competitive, open market.

The concept of reasonable exposure time encompasses not only adequate, sufficient, reasonable
time, but also adequate, sufficient, reasonable effort and considers type property being appraised,
supply/ demand conditions, as of effective date of appraisal and analysis of historical sales
information (sold after exposure and completion of negotiations between buyer/seller). Therefore,
reasonable exposure time is a function of price and use, not an isolated estimate of time. Reasonable
exposure is always presumed to precede effective date of appraisal and differs for various types of
real estate under various market conditions. Therefore, my estimate of 12-18 months exposure time
is based on subject’s determined highest and best use in a highly competitive retail market
evidencing some demand (albeit limited) for the type of space offered, its highly desirable location,
but also factoring the slowdown in the real estate market over the past couple years caused by
recessionary conditions.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 34
Council Bluffs, lowa




HIGHEST AND BEST USE (CONTINUED)

MARKETING TIME

Marketing time for the purpose of this report, is defined as an estimated amount of time it might
take to sell a property interest in real estate at estimated market value during the period immediately
after the effective date of the appraisal.”

As with reasonable exposure time, estimated marketing time is not intended as a prediction of a date
of sale or a one-line statement. The concept of marketing time encompasses other market conditions
that may affect marketing, e.g., identification of typical buyers/sellers for type of real estate
involved, typical equity investment levels, and/or financing terms. Therefore, reasonable marketing
time is a function of price, use, and anticipated market conditions such as changes in cost/availability
of funds, not an isolated estimate of time. Marketing time occurs after effective date of market value
estimate and considers such brokerage functions as advertising, arranging financing and marketing
property to specific investors. Estimates of both reasonable exposure and marketing times are not
predictions, rather only judgments made by an appraiser.

Properties similar to the subject would appeal primarily to owners due to the single tenant design of
the subject. A market search done as part of this appraisal provided limited data and, as a result,
accurately estimating exact time needed to market the property was subjective, but area brokers
reported recent marketing times for most reasonably priced commercial properties in metro as
ranging from 1-24 months. The real estate market slowed in late 2007 due to recessionary
conditions, and this slowdown was magnified by the destabilization of the financial markets in
October 2008. Loans are still available for qualified borrowers, but typically at lower loan-to-value
ratios, mitigating lender risk. Present rates (as of effective date of this report) range from 4.5% to 6%
with terms of 3-30 years and amortizations of 15-30 years. Therefore, | concluded if subject were
listed for sale in the current market at/near appraised value, reasonable marketing time is anticipated
within 12 months, assuming the offering is placed with a competent broker active in the area and
experienced with this property type. Real estate brokerage commissions in the area for this property
type typically are near 4%-7% of gross sale price. Market also reacts more quickly to properties with
attractive price/ value ratios, tending to neglect those perceived as unrealistically priced. Skill of
those marketing property can also influence exposure time needed to consummate a sale, as well as
the overall economic environment in which property exists. Therefore, the abovementioned
marketing time is considered reasonably well supported, but is not guaranteed.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 35
Council Bluffs, lowa




COST APPROACH

The purpose of the Cost Approach isto estimate a Market Value for the subject property based upon the
cost to construct a new property that enjoys the same utility as the subject property. This approach is
based upon the principle of substitution, as it is assumed that a knowledgeable purchaser would not pay
more for a property than the cost to build a new one. The improvements are literally constructed “on
paper” and then any accrued depreciation is subtracted from this value. This depreciated value estimate
is then added to the Market Value off the subject site in its highest and best use to arrive at an estimate
of value for the property as a whole. More specifically, the steps of the Cost Approach are as follows:

Estimate the value of the site in its highest and best use as if vacant.
Estimate the replacement cost new of all of the improvements.
Estimate accrued depreciation from all sources.

Deduct accrued depreciation from the cost new.

o M L d o

Add the estimated value of the site to arrive at a value for the entire property by the Cost
Approach.

Due to the older age of the original building, the reliability of this approach is diminished, so it
was not developed in this report.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 36
Council Bluffs, lowa




DIRECT SALES COMPARISON APPROACH

The Direct Sales Comparison Approach (also known as the Market Data Approach) is the process in
which a market value estimate is derived by analyzing the market for similar properties and comparing
these properties to the subject property. This approach is premised upon the principle of substitution
which suggests that a prudent person will not pay more to purchase a property than it will cost him or
her to purchase an equally desirable substitute property. Another basic premise of the Direct Sales
Comparison Approach is that the market value of a property is directly related to the prices of
comparable, competitive properties.*

The comparative analysis performed in this approach focuses on similarities and differences among
properties and transactions observed in the market which affect value. These similarities and
differences then serve as points of comparison between the market data and the subject property.
Typically, the major points of comparison are:

Property Rights Conveyed
Financing Terms
Condition of Sale

Time

Physical Characteristics
Economic Characteristics

A sale of a property that is an exact duplicate of the subject property would be an important and ideal
indication of value. In reality, no two properties are exactly alike. As a result, an adjustment process is
used when analyzing the major points of comparison.

The known sales with the greatest degree of comparability used in this analysis are adjusted for the
difference between the comparable and the subject property. Adjustments are always made FROM the
comparable TO the subject property. For example, if the comparable property sold two years ago and
market analysis suggests that prices have increased 5%, then the sale price of the comparable would be
increased by 5% to give the indication of value for the subject. Conversely, if the comparable property
was in a superior location as compared to the subject and this difference was estimated at 5%, a
negative adjustment of 5% would be applied to the sale price of the comparable to give the indication of
value for the subject. The adjustments for different physical and economic characteristics are handled
in the same manner. Adjustments may be by percentages or by dollar amounts or both.

Following are descriptions of known commercial or mixed use properties which sold in recent years in
the Council Bluffs/Omaha metropolitan area. After the sales, | have shown location maps, adjustment
grids, explanation and my final conclusions of the subject property market value from this approach.

1 Appraisal of Real Estate, 13th Edition, Chicago

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 37
Council Bluffs, lowa




821 S 27th St
Council Bluffs, IA 51501

for $225,000 - Public Record

buyer
A Vital Corp

23319 Hunt Ave
Council Bluffs, IA 51503

seller

Boetel Charles B

Class C Manufacturing Building of 3,100 SF Sold on 11/9/2021

vital data

Escrow/Contract: -
Sale Date:
Days on Market: -

Conditions: -
Land Area SF:

$/SF Land Gross:
Year Built, Age:
Parking Spaces: 2
Parking Ratio: -

Lot Dimensions: -
Frontage: -

Comp ID:

income expense data

Expenses

financing

11/9/2021
Exchange: No

10,890
Acres:  0.25

$20.66

1972 Age: 49

FAR 0.28

Tenancy: Single
5782756

- Taxes
- Operating Expenses
Total Expenses

Sale Price:
Status:

Building SF:
Price/SF:

Pro Forma Cap Rate:
Actual Cap Rate:
Down Pmnt:

Pct Down:

Doc No:

Trans Tax:
Corner:

Zoning:

Percent Improved:
Submarket:

Map Page:

Parcel No:
Property Type:

rListing Broker

$5,368

$5,368

Buyer Broker

$225,000

3,100 SF
$72.58

000000018837

No

84.9%
Downtown Council Bluffs |

7544-34-402-001
Industrial

ﬁ © 2022 CoStar Group - Licensed to Mitchell & Associates, Inc. - 580570. 5/13/2022
County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 38

Council Bluffs, lowa



717 Veterans Memori
Council Bluffs, IA 51501

$450,000 - Public Record

al Hwy

Class C Service Building of 3,456 SF Sold on 5/27/2021 for

buyer

Georgi lvanov

Council Bluffs, IA 51501

717 Veterans Memorial Hwy

seller

Harter Chris & Mildred D

vital data
Escrow/Contract: - Sale Price:  $450,000
Sale Date:  5/27/2021 Status: -
Days on Market: - Building SF: 3,456 SF
Exchange: No Price/SF:  $130.21
Conditions: - Pro Forma Cap Rate: -
Land Area SF: 148,104 Actual Cap Rate: -
Acres: 3.4 Down Pmnt: -
$/SF Land Gross:  $3.04 Pct Down: -
Year Built, Age: 1981 Age: 40 Doc No: 000000009277
Parking Spaces: - Trans Tax: -
Parking Ratio:  0/1000 SF Corner:  No
FAR 0.02 Zoning:  Industrial
Lot Dimensions: - Percent Improved:  18.4%
Frontage: - Submarket:  Council Bluffs Ind
Tenancy: Single Map Page: -
Comp ID: 5576734 Parcel No:  7444-12-353-006
Property Type:  Industrial
income expense data fLisﬁng Broker
Expenses - Taxes $14,241
- Operating Expenses
Total Expenses $14,241
EBuyer Broker

financing

rﬁ}‘ © 2022 CoStar Group - Licensed to Mitchell & Associates, Inc. - 580570. 5/13/2022
County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 39

Council Bluffs, lowa



Comparable #3

Property Identification

Sale ID 4258

Address 1005 South 17th Street
Council Bluffs, lowa

Market Council Bluffs

Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 2,400 SF
Gross Leasable Area 2,400 SF
Finish - Above Grade 416 SF
Eave Height 14.00'
Construction Average Quality, Class S
Built/Remodeled 1998/
Condition Average

Transaction

Sale Date July 17, 2019
Contract Price $192,500

Contract $80.21
Price/SF GBA

Contract $80.21
Price/SF GLA

Adjusted Price $192,500

Adjusted $80.21
Price/SF GBA

Adjusted $80.21
Price/SF GLA

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial

Legal Description Lots 1-2 and the west 20" of Lot 3
including the north 1/2 of the vacated
adjacent alley, Block 11, Fleming &
Davis

Gross Site Size 10,880 SF
Usable Site Size 10,880 SF
Zoning |I-2
Features Fenced, Mezzanine
Fire Sprinkler

Conditions of Sale Normal
Property Rights Fee Simple
Grantor All Pro Towing, LLC
Grantee Perfect Diamond Lawns, LLC
Recorded Warranty Deed 2019-09108
Source Broker

The property previously sold February 2017, for $160,000. The 2019 sale represents appreciation near 8% per year.

County Maintenance Shed

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

15484 State Orchard Road
Council Bluffs, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 40



Comparable #4

Property Identification

Sale ID 4269

Address 919 South 15th Street
Council Bluffs, lowa

Market Council Bluffs

Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 2,592 SF
Gross Leasable Area 2,592 SF
Finish - Above Grade 348 SF
Eave Height 12.00'
Construction Average Quality, Class D
Built/Remodeled 2006/
Condition Average

Transaction

Sale Date October 05, 2018
Contract Price $160,000

Contract $61.73
Price/SF GBA

Contract $61.73
Price/SF GLA

Adjusted Price $160,000

Adjusted $61.73
Price/SF GBA

Adjusted $61.73
Price/SF GLA

County Maintenance Shed

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial

Legal Description Lots 15 and 16, Block 8, Fleming &

Davis Subdivision and part of the
vacated alley

Gross Site Size 8,160 SF
Usable Site Size 8,160 SF
Zoning |I-2
Features Fenced, Mezzanine
Fire Sprinkler

Conditions of Sale Normal
Property Rights Fee Simple
Grantor Fouts Investments, LLC
Grantee L & T Properties, LLC
Recorded Warranty Deed 2018-13139
Source Public Records, Broker

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

15484 State Orchard Road
Council Bluffs, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 41



Comparable #5

Property Identification

Sale ID 4326

Address 712 South 15th Street
Council Bluffs, lowa

Market Council Bluffs

Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 2,000 SF
Gross Leasable Area 2,000 SF
Finish - Above Grade 444 SF
Eave Height 16.00'
Construction Average Quality, Class D
Built/Remodeled 2006/
Condition Average

Transaction

Sale Date February 11, 2020
Contract Price $170,000

Contract $85.00
Price/SF GBA

Contract $85.00
Price/SF GLA

Adjusted Price $170,000

Adjusted $85.00
Price/SF GBA

Adjusted $85.00
Price/SF GLA

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial

Legal Description South 1/2 of Lost 5 and 6, Block 32,

Everetts Addition

Gross Site Size 8,160 SF
Usable Site Size 8,160 SF
Zoning I-1
Features Fenced
Fire Sprinkler

Conditions of Sale Normal
Property Rights Fee Simple
Grantor ZaCar Corp
Grantee T & G Carper, LLC
Recorded Warranty Deed 2020/01996
Source Public Records, CoStar

This sale represents appreciation of 1.15% per year from previous sale in 2014.

County Maintenance Shed

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

15484 State Orchard Road
Council Bluffs, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 42



Comparable #6

Property Identification

Sale ID 4328

Address 1516 Avenue C
Council Bluffs, lowa

Market Council Bluffs
Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 2,400 SF
Gross Leasable Area 2,400 SF
Finish - Above Grade 316 SF
Eave Height 12.00'
Construction Average Quality, Class S
Built/Remodeled 1981/
Condition Average

Transaction

Sale Date January 03, 2019
Contract Price $210,000

Contract $87.50
Price/SF GBA

Contract $87.50
Price/SF GLA

Adjusted Price $210,000

Adjusted $87.50
Price/SF GBA

Adjusted $87.50
Price/SF GLA

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial

Legal Description Lots 1, 2, and part of Lot 3, Block 3,
Beers Subdivision

Gross Site Size 14,705 SF
Usable Site Size 14,705 SF
Zoning C-2
Features Fenced
Fire Sprinkler

Conditions of Sale Normal
Property Rights Fee Simple
Grantor Cooks Towing & Repair, Inc
Grantee DHI, LLC
Recorded Warranty Deed 2019-00195
Source Public Records

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

15484 State Orchard Road
Council Bluffs, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 43



Comparable #7

Property Identification

Sale ID 4329

Address 1324 9th Avenue
Council Bluffs, lowa

Market Council Bluffs

Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 3,520 SF
Gross Leasable Area 3,520 SF
Finish - Above Grade 720 SF
Eave Height 10.00'
Construction Average Quality, Class C
Built/Remodeled 1988/
Condition Average

Transaction

Sale Date September 13, 2018
Contract Price $215,000

Contract $61.08
Price/SF GBA

Contract $61.08
Price/SF GLA

Adjusted Price $215,000

Adjusted $61.08
Price/SF GBA

Adjusted $61.08
Price/SF GLA

County Maintenance Shed

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial

Legal Description Lots 6-7, Part of Lot 8, Block 26,
Riddles Subdivision

Gross Site Size 12,194 SF
Usable Site Size 12,194 SF
Zoning I-1
Features Fenced
Fire Sprinkler

Conditions of Sale Normal
Property Rights Fee Simple
Grantor L & T Properties, LLC
Grantee Michael John Kilnoski
Recorded Warranty Deed 2018-12027
Source Public Records

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

15484 State Orchard Road
Council Bluffs, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 44



Comparable #8

Property Identification

Sale ID 4811

Address 2414 9th Avenue
Council Bluffs, lowa

Market Council Bluffs
Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 5,400 SF
Gross Leasable Area 5,400 SF
Finish - Above Grade 1,196 SF
Eave Height 12.00'
Construction Good Quality, Class S
Built/Remodeled 2010/
Condition Good

Transaction

Sale Date September 23, 2020
Contract Price $390,000

Contract $72.22
Price/SF GBA

Contract $72.22
Price/SF GLA

Adjusted Price $390,000

Adjusted $72.22
Price/SF GBA

Adjusted $72.22
Price/SF GLA

Broker noted there was a lot of interest in the property. Sale represents annual appreciation near 5.90% from its 2011

sale.

County Maintenance Shed

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial

Legal Description Part of Lots 3-5, Block 1 and part of
Lot 9, Block 17, Ninth Avenue
Addition

Gross Site Size 13,890 SF
Usable Site Size 13,890 SF
Zoning I-1
Features
Fire Sprinkler

Conditions of Sale Normal
Property Rights Fee Simple
Grantor Jo Ter Ran Investments, LLC
Grantee Ht 9th Ave, LLC
Recorded Warranty Deed 2020-13944
Source Public Records, Broker

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

15484 State Orchard Road
Council Bluffs, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 45



Sales Map

Son Christian

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 46
Council Bluffs, lowa




DIRECT SALES COMPARISON APPROACH (CONTINUED)

Comparable Sales Grid

SUBJECT SALE #1: SALE #2: SALE #3: SALE #4:
PROPERTY 821 So 27th Street 717 Veterans Mem Hy |1005 So 17th Street 919 So 15th Street
15484 State Orchard Rd|Council Bluffs, lowa Council Bluffs, lowa Council Bluffs, lowa Council Bluffs, lowa
Council Bluffs, lowa ADJUSTED| ADJUSTED ADJUSTED| ADJUSTED|
SALE PRICE N/A $225,000 $450,000 $192,500 $160,000
SALE PRICE/SF N/A $72.58 $130.21 $80.21 $61.73
GIM/OCR NA/NA NA/NA NA/NA NA/NA NA/NA
MARKET ADJUSTMENTS
PROPERTY RIGHTS CONVEYED Fee Simple Similar 0% [Similar 0% |Similar 0% |Similar 0%
$225,000 $450,000 $192,500 $160,000
FINANCING N/A Cash 0%|Cash 0%|Cash 0%]Cash 0%
$225,000 $450,000 $192,500! $160,000
CONDITION OF SALE N/A Normal 0% [Normal 0% |Normal 0% [Normal 0%
$225,000 $450,000 $192,500 $160,000
DATE OF SALE May-22 Now-21 2%(May-21 3%|Jul-19 7%|(Oct-18 11%
(Inspection) $229,500 $463,500 $205,975 $177,600
PHYSICAL ADJUSTMENTS (LUMP SUM)
BUILDING SIZE/SF 2,400 3,100 0%(3,456 0%]2,400 0%(2,592 0%
LOCATION/SITE Co Bluffs Co Bluffs -5%|Co Bluffs -5%|Co Bluffs -5%|Co Bluffs -5%
QUALITY OF CONSTRUCTION Average/Cls D Aw/Cls C -5%|Aw/Cls S 0%|Aw/Cls S 0%|Aw/Cls S 0%
INTERIOR FINISH Minimal 5% 0%]3% 0%(17% -5%]|13% -3%
AGE/CONDITION 52/Average 49/Avgy -1% (40/AvFr -5%(21/Avg -15%(12/Avg -20%
SITE TO BUILDING RATIO 16.88:/1 3.51:1 6%(42.85:1 -13%]4.5:1 6%(3.14:1 6%
AMENITIES Fenced None 5% |None 5%|Fenced 0%|Fenced 0%
NET PERCENTAGE LUMP SUM ADJUSTMENTS 0% -18% -19% -22%
FINAL ADJUSTED PRICE $229,500 $380,070 $166,840 $138,528
FINAL ADJUSTED PRICE/SF $74.03 $109.97 $69.52 $53.44
TOTAL NET ADJUSTMENTS 2% -15% -12% -11%
TOTAL GROSS ADJUSTMENTS 18% 18% 32% 39%
County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 47

Council Bluffs, lowa



DIRECT SALES COMPARISON APPROACH (CONTINUED)

Comparable Sales Grid

SUBJECT
PROPERTY
15484 State Orchard Rd

SALE #5:

712 So 15t Street
Council Bluffs, lowa

SALE #6:
1516 Avenue C
Council Bluffs, lowa

SALE #7:

1324 9th Avenue
Council Bluffs, lowa

SALE 8:

2414 9th Avenue
Council Bluffs, lowa

Council Bluffs, lowa ADJUSTED| ADJUSTED| ADJUSTED, ADJUSTED
SALE PRICE N/A $170,000 $210,000 $215,000 $390,000
SALE PRICE/SF N/A $85.00 $87.50 $61.08 $72.22
GIM/OCR NA/NA NA/NA NA/NA NA/NA NA/NA
MARKET ADJUSTMENTS
PROPERTY RIGHTS CONVEYED Fee Simple Similar 0% [Similar 0% |Similar 0% |Similar 0%
$170,000 $210,000 $215,000 $390,000
FINANCING N/A Cash 0%|Cash 0%|Cash 0%|Cash 0%
$170,000 $210,000 $215,000 $390,000
CONDITION OF SALE N/A Normal 0%|Normal 0% |Normal 0% |Normal 0%
$170,000 $210,000 $215,000 $390,000
DATE OF SALE May-22 Feb-20 6% (Jan-19 9%|Sep-18 11%|Sep-20 5%
(Inspection) $180,200 $228,900 $238,650 $409,500
PHYSICAL ADJUSTMENTS (LUMP SUM)
BUILDING SIZE/SF 2,400 2,000 0%(2,400 0%|(3,520 0%]5,400 0%
LOCATION/SITE Co Bluffs Co Bluffs -5% |Co Bluffs -5%|Co Bluffs -5%|Co Bluffs -5%
QUALITY OF CONSTRUCTION Average/Cls D Awy/Cls D 0%|Aw/Cls S 0%|Aw/Cls C -5%|Gd/Cls S 0%
INTERIOR FINISH Minimal 22% -8%13% -3%(20% -7%(22% -8%
AGE/CONDITION 52/Average 14/Avg -19%|38/Avg -7%|30/Avg -11%|10/Gd -25%
SITE TO BUILDING RATIO 16.88:/1 4.08:1 6%]6.13:1 5%(3.46:1 6%](2.57:1 6%
AMENITIES Fenced Fenced 0%|Fenced 0%|Fenced 0% |None 5%
NET PERCENTAGE LUMP SUM ADJUSTMENTS -26% -10% -22% -27%
FINAL ADJUSTED PRICE $133,348 $206,010 $186,147 $298,935
FINAL ADJUSTED PRICE/SF $66.67 $85.84 $52.88 $55.36
TOTAL NET ADJUSTMENTS -20% -1% -11% -22%
TOTAL GROSS ADJUSTMENTS 38% 24% 39% 48%
County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 48

Council Bluffs, lowa



DIRECT SALES COMPARISON APPROACH (CONTINUED)

ADJUSTMENT RATIONALE

The preceding represents the only known sales of industrial properties considered of similar condition,
design, use, and/or location in Council Bluffs or competing areas of the metro. All these properties
were considered to be similar to the subject, but did require some adjusting to make them equal to
subject. Sale prices were reduced to the common denominator of price per square foot of GBA, as this
is a normal unit of measurement in market buying and selling decisions.

Market Condition Adjustments

Adjustments were not required for property rights conveyed, financing, or condition of sale, as all were
considered normal for the market.

All the sales were considered for adjustment due to date of sale. | observed a general increase in
property values in the metro area over the past few years, typically ranging from 3% to 4% annually
until late 2007 when recessionary conditions began. The market slowdown was magnified following
destabilization of the financial markets in October 2008, demonstrated by the lack of known sales
occurring since that time. The market has been improving since 2010 and therefore, | applied anannual
appreciation to these sales of 3% after that time.

Physical Condition Adjustments

The sales are typically adjusted for the relative improvement size difference with the subject building,
due to dissimilar sizes and economies of scale. Adjustments were not considered necessary as all were
similar in size to subject.

Adjustments were considered for overall construction quality. Adjustments were derived from Marshall
Valuation Service estimated costs to bring properties equal to the subject and from the market reaction
to these differences.

Adjustments for age of improvements were given as typically buyers are concerned about remaining
economic life of property. A rounded 1/2% per year of difference with subject age was derived as an
appropriate adjustment and applied accordingly. Additional adjustments for condition were applied
separately, based on cost estimates to bring properties equal and accounts for the effective age of the
improvements.

Adjustments for amenities were also considered as properties with additional features, such as fencing
generally yield higher sale prices. Subject has a fenced outdoor storage area as did sales #3 through #7,
so those were not adjusted, remining sales had no amenities so positive adjustments were applied.

Adjustments for location were considered as all of these properties were located in areas with slightly
more desirability than the subject so small negative adjustments were applied.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 49
Council Bluffs, lowa




DIRECT SALES COMPARISON APPROACH (CONTINUED)

RECONCILIATION

Before adjusting, the sale prices ranged from $61.08/SF in Sale #7 to $130.21/SF in Sale #2. After the
aforementioned adjustments were applied, the indicated values ranged from $52.88/SF in Sale #7 to
$109.97/SF in Sale #2. Net percentage adjustments ranged from -22% to +2% while gross adjustments
ranged from 18% to 48%.

Generally, sales with the smallest amount of adjustment are the best indicators of value. Sales#1 and
#2 required the least adjusting, indicating values of $74.03 & $109.97/SF. Sale #1 is supported by 2
other sales indicating values of $69.52/SF and $66.67/SF, while sale #2 is not supported. Remaining
sales indicated values of $52.88/SF to $85.84/SF; majority of the sales 7 out of 8 indicated values from
$52.88 to $85.84/SF. Therefore, a value estimate for the subject within that range would have the
broadest support.

The market search revealed no similar properties on the market currently:

Therefore, based on the foregoing data and analysis, I estimated ‘as is’ market value of the subject at
$80.00/SF, as of the effective date of this report with the total value developed as follows:

Indicated Value X Gross Bldg Size = Total Rounded to
$80.00/SF X 2,400 SF = $192,000 $190,000
County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 50

Council Bluffs, lowa



INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH

From an investor’s perspective, the earning power of a real estate investment is the critical element
affecting its value. The fundamental investment premise is the higher the earnings the higher the value.
Investment in an income-producing property represents the exchange of present dollars for the right to
receive future dollars. In the Income Capitalization Approach to value, the appraiser analyzes a
property’s capacity to generate benefits and converts these benefits into an indication of present value.t

The basic steps involved in this approach are:

Estimate potential gross income;

Estimate and deduct a vacancy and collection loss allowance;
Estimate and deduct expenses;

Estimate duration and pattern of income stream;

Select an applicable capitalization method and technique;

Develop the appropriate rate;

Complete the computations necessary to derive an economic value.

Nog~wpdE

The primary reason for making gross income estimates is to identify probable net income benefits that
may be derived from ownership interest of the income-producing property. In accepted appraisal
practice, the usual basis for a gross income projection is economic rent. Economic (market) rent is
defined as being the rental income that a property would most probably command in the open market; it
is indicated by current rents paid and asked for comparable space as of the date of the appraisal.

Income Analysis

Subject property is presently owner occupied therefore, no rental information on the property is known.

Comparable properties found are summarized on the following pages. Operating expenses were
estimated from actual historic operating statements from expenses for commercial properties | have
observed in the metro area combined with national investor surveys.

1 The Appraisal of Real Estate, 13th Edition, Chicago

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 51
Council Bluffs, lowa




Comparable #1

Property ldentification

Lease ID 1012 Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial

Address 1310 South 17th Street Legal Description Lots 1-8, Block 21 Fleming & Davis
Council Bluffs, lowa

Market Council Bluffs

Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 14,000 SF Gross Site Size 60,984 SF
Finish - Above Grade 2,200 SF Usable Site Size 60,984 SF
Construction Average Quality, Class C Zoning 1-2
Built/Remodeled 2003/ Features
Condition Average
Height 18.00'

Transaction

Leased Area 14,000 SF Lessee
Lease Date February 28, 2018 dba MP Nexlevel
Lease Term February 28, 2018 - January 31, 2023 Source Broker
Starting Base Rent $5.20/SF Concession Amount N/A
Rent Description Fixed for lease. %Oeggi?glt?gri
Starting Additional
Rent

Expense Terms Triple Net

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 52
Council Bluffs, lowa




Comparable #2

Property Identification

Lease ID 1398

Address 15 South 20th Street
Council Bluffs, lowa

Market Council Bluffs

Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 9,120 SF
Finish - Above Grade N/A
Construction Average Quality, Class C
Built/Remodeled 1979/
Condition Fair
Height N/A

Transaction

Leased Area 9,120 SF
Lease Date August 01, 2018

Lease Term September 01, 2018 - August 31,
2023

Starting Base Rent $5.75/SF
Rent Description

Starting Additional
Rent

Expense Terms Triple Net

County Maintenance Shed

Property Type Commercial :: Vehicle-Related -
Service

Legal Description

Gross Site Size 40,692 SF
Usable Site Size 40,692 SF
Zoning C-2
Features

Lessee
dba Jake's Towing and Transport

Source CoStar
Concession Amount N/A

Concessions
Description

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

15484 State Orchard Road
Council Bluffs, lowa

© Copyright 2022



Comparable #3

Property Identification

Lease ID 1013

Address 3319 Nebraska Avenue
Council Bluffs, lowa

Market Council Bluffs

Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 41,760 SF
Finish - Above Grade N/A
Construction Average Quality, Class C
Built/Remodeled 1969/
Condition Average
Height 13.00'

Transaction

Leased Area 7,020 SF
Lease Date October 11, 2018
Lease Term October 11, 2018 - October 10, 2021
Starting Base Rent $4.35/SF
Rent Description Fixed for term.

Starting Additional
Rent

Expense Terms Triple Net

County Maintenance Shed

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial
Legal Description

Gross Site Size 100,188 SF
Usable Site Size 100,188 SF
Zoning 1-2

Features

Lessee
dba McDowell Roofing

Source Broker
Concession Amount N/A

Concessions
Description

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

15484 State Orchard Road
Council Bluffs, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 54



Comparable #4

Property ldentification

Lease ID 1014

Address 2110 23rd Avenue
Council Bluffs, lowa

Market Council Bluffs

Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 5,000 SF
Finish - Above Grade N/A
Construction Average Quality, Class S
Built/Remodeled 2003/
Condition Average
Height N/A

Transaction

Leased Area 2,700 SF
Lease Date October 19, 2018
Lease Term November 19, 2018 -
Starting Base Rent $7.11/SF

Rent Description 7.78/SF in Year 2
8.22/SF in Year 3

Starting Additional
Rent

Expense Terms Gross

Garage space with mezzanine office.

County Maintenance Shed

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial

Legal Description Lots 8-12, Block 11, Railroad
Addition

Gross Site Size 25,245 SF
Usable Site Size 25,245 SF
Zoning 1-2
Features

Lessee
dba Syndicate Diesel

Source Broker
Concession Amount N/A

Concessions One month of free rent
Description

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

15484 State Orchard Road
Council Bluffs, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 55



Comparable #5

Property Identification

Lease ID 1242

Address 1305 Lew Ross Road
Council Bluffs, lowa

Market Council Bluffs

Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 17,840 SF
Finish - Above Grade 6,244 SF
Construction Average Quality, Class D
Built/Remodeled 1996/
Condition Good
Height 14.00'

Transaction

Leased Area 8,000 SF
Lease Date April 22, 2019
Lease Term May 01, 2019 - April 30, 2022
Starting Base Rent $6.95/SF
Rent Description

Starting Additional
Rent

Expense Terms Triple Net

County Maintenance Shed

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial

Legal Description Lots 5 & 6, Block 2, First Foundation
Sub., Council Bluffs, Pottawattamie
County, 1A

Gross Site Size 87,555 SF

Usable Site Size 87,555 SF
Zoning
Features

Lessee
dba New Covenant Electronics

Source CoStar Confirmation
Concession Amount N/A

Concessions
Description

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

15484 State Orchard Road
Council Bluffs, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 56



Comparable #6

Property Identification

Lease ID 1369 Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial
Address 1220 35th Avenue Legal Description Lot 6, 2nd Foundation Subdivision
Council Bluffs, lowa Phase I1

Market Council Bluffs

Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 14,000 SF Gross Site Size 43,995 SF
Finish - Above Grade N/A Usable Site Size 43,995 SF
Construction Good Quality, Class S Zoning 1-2
Built/Remodeled 2005/ Features
Condition Good
Height 18.00'

Transaction

Leased Area 3,700 SF Lessee
Lease Date June 30, 2019 dba Safariworks Decor
Lease Term August 29, 2019 - ~ Source CoStar
Starting Base Rent $6.00/SF Concession Amgunt N/A
Rent Description %Oer;gi?slcci)(r)lr&‘;
Starting Additional P
Rent

Expense Terms Triple Net

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 57
Council Bluffs, lowa




Comparable #7

Property Identification

Lease ID 1368

Address 1220 35th Avenue
Council Bluffs, lowa

Market Council Bluffs

Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 14,000 SF
Finish - Above Grade N/A
Construction Good Quality, Class S
Built/Remodeled 2005/
Condition Good
Height 18.00'

Transaction

Leased Area 7,000 SF
Lease Date December 01, 2019
Lease Term December 01, 2019 -
Starting Base Rent $5.25/SF
Rent Description

Starting Additional
Rent

Expense Terms Triple Net

County Maintenance Shed

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial

Legal Description Lot 6, 2nd Foundation Subdivision
Phase I1

Gross Site Size 43,995 SF
Usable Site Size 43,995 SF
Zoning 1-2
Features

Lessee
dba Caeser's Entertainment

Source CoStar
Concession Amount N/A

Concessions
Description

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

15484 State Orchard Road
Council Bluffs, lowa

© Copyright 2022 Page 58



Comparable #8

Property ldentification

Lease ID 1588

Address 1309 Avenue J
Council Bluffs, lowa

Market 13th & Avenue J

Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 4,160 SF
Finish - Above Grade 784 SF
Construction Average Quality, Class D
Built/Remodeled 1986/
Condition Average
Height 12.00'

Transaction

Leased Area 4,160 SF
Lease Date October 31, 2021
Lease Term November 02, 2021 -
Starting Base Rent $8.25/SF
Rent Description

Starting Additional
Rent

Expense Terms Triple Net

Photograph from Pottawattamie County Assessor

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial

Legal Description Lots 1-3, Block 8, Potter-Cobbs First

Addition

Gross Site Size 15,730 SF
Usable Site Size 15,730 SF
Zoning 1-2
Features

Lessee Brown Heavy Equipment
Source CoStar; Marketing Brochure
Concession Amount N/A

Concessions
Description

Net expenses were $1.44/SF for taxes and insurance, and tenant to provide maintenance at own expense.

County Maintenance Shed

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

15484 State Orchard Road
Council Bluffs, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 59



Comparable Rentals Map

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 60
Council Bluffs, lowa




INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH (CONTINUED)

MARKET LEASE RATE ANALYSIS AND CONCLUSION

Comparables found reported rental rates of $4.35/SF to $10.50/SF, on triple net and gross terms. These
comparables are considered to be similar to subject and would be competitive with it in the current
market. As the subject was in average condition and it has fenced outdoor storage; it is my opinion the
market rent for the subject would be reasonable at $9.00/SF on triple net terms.

Miscellaneous Income: Some properties similar to subject in this area receive additional income from
garage rentals, vending machines, forfeited deposits, etc. Subject does not appear to have any other
potential sources of income.

Vacancy and Collection Losses

A vacancy and collection loss must be deducted from potential gross income to arrive at property
effective gross income (EGI). A current 2022 survey conducted by Costar.com reports average
vacancy of 48.85% for industrial properties in Council Bluffs.

The subject space is a single tenant design, so it would be either 100% occupied or 100% vacant at
any one time. Based upon the subject properties location in an area with primarily residential
properties nearby, it is my opinion a 10% vacancy rate would be reasonable for the property.

Actual rent, vacancy and EGI were then summarized as follows:

Potential Commercial Rental Income 2,400 SF x $9.00/SF  $21,600
Less: 10% Vacancy and Collection Loss -$2,160
Effective Gross Income $19,440

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses that are the property owner’s responsibility are deducted from projection of EGI to
arrive at property’s NOI. Such operating expenses include real estate taxes, insurance, maintenance,
utilities and property management fees. To estimate appropriate allowance for operating expenses, |
considered actual known data from market expenses of other properties observed. No information for
the subject was provided. Estimates of operating expenses were then summarized as follows:

Real Estate Taxes: Property taxes for the subject were not posted so my estimate is based upon the
assessed for the subject ($267,300) and the current tax rate ($24.145880) which equates to $6,454.
These appear reasonable based upon the sales comparison approach and other properties observed. So
stabilized taxes will be estimated at $6,500 annually with the owner paying these during vacant periods
only.



INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH (CONTINUED)

Operating Expenses (Continued)

Insurance: Property and hazard insurance for commercial buildings have been observed near $0.10/SF
to $0.85/SF of gross building area for sprinklered buildings, and $0.15/SF to $0.55/SF for non-
sprinklered buildings, and have been rising in recent years. Actual insurance costs for the subject were
not disclosed. So, for purposes of this analysis, an estimate of $0.40/SF is considered reasonable or a
total cost of a rounded $960 annually.

Management: Typical third party management fees for properties similar to the subject property range
4% to 7% of EGI. The actual management expenses for the subject are unknown. Management duties
generally include supervision of property maintenance, bookkeeping, and management overhead. No
unusual aspects of the management function are foreseen in conjunction with the subject property, so |
estimate an expense of 3% of base rent as reasonable for the subject property.

Administrative & Professional Fees: A general administrative expense was considered appropriate to
reflect typical owner accounting and legal fees. This expense category would include a small amount
for owner’s office overhead and typically ranges from 0.5% to 1.5% of EGI. The actual expenses are
unknown as no operating statements were furnished. General administrative expense was estimated at
0.50% of base rent in this analysis.

Utilities: As no operating statements were provided my estimate of $1.00/SF is based on observations
of other commercial properties, with the owner paying during vacant periods only.

Repairs & Maintenance: This expense category reflects items such as repairs to mechanical systems,
roof, painting and items of general upkeep such as pest control, cleaning, snow and trash removal.
Actual costs were not provided; typical repair & maintenance expenses observed for other commercial
properties have ranged from $0.50/SF to over $3.00/SF, depending in large part on a property’s age and
building size. As a result, with the building in average condition with minimal deferred maintenance, |
estimate an expense of $1.00/SF for the subject, rounded to $2,400 annually.

Reserves for Replacement: Although not typically incurred as an annual cash outlay, a reserve for
replacement expense is appropriate to reflect future replacement of short-lived items such as carpeting,
mechanical systems (including water heaters and HVAC units), kitchen appliances, exterior paving,
roofing, etc. RealtyRates.com investor survey for 18 Q 2022 indicated reserve requirements for
industrial properties reported as $0.26 to $0.85 with an average of $0.56/SF. By comparison, the PWC
Investors Survey reports replacement reserves for national warehouse properties range from $0.05/SF to
$0.35/SF, averaging $0.14/SF in the 15t Q 2022. In my opinion, an appropriate replacement reserve for
the subject property is a rounded $0.20/SF.

Miscellaneous: A miscellaneous expense is typically included to account for such items as tenant-
related social expenses, holiday decorations, security services, etc. Therefore, an expense of $100 per
year was considered appropriate.



INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH (CONTINUED)

PROFORMA OPERATING STATEMENT (FEE SIMPLE)

PROFORMA OPERATING STATEMENT

Rental Income
Estimated Market Rent
Total Potential Gross Income

SQFT
2,400

Vacancy & Collection Allowance:

Effective Rental Income
Other Income
Total Effective Gross Income:

Operating Expenses:
Management Fee
General & Administrative
Real Estate Taxes
Insurance
Utilities
Repairs & Maintenance
Reserves for Replacement
Miscellaneous

Total Expenses

Net Operating Income

3.0%
0.5%
33.44%
4.94%
0.00%
12.35%
2.47%
0.51%

8.86%

Rent/SF Annual Income

$9.00

10.0%

$583
$97
$6,500
$960
$0
$2,400"
$480
$100

$21,600
$21,600
$2,160

Amount
$58
$97

$650
$96
$0
$240
$480
$100

$19,440
$0
$19,440

$1,722

$17,718



INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH (CONTINUED)

CAPITALIZATION RATE SELECTION, APPLICATION AND ESTIMATE OF VALUE

Several methods of developing a capitalization rate can be used. The best of which is the Market
Extraction Method, where the incomes of comparable properties that have recently sold are known.
Sale transactions used in this report did not reveal cap rates however, other properties observed
which would be considered competitive with subject indicated cap rates of 7.60% to 9.00%.

A national survey was examined for further support of overall capitalization rate. The PWC Real
Estate Investor Survey for the 1%t Qtr 2022 reports national capitalization rates for secondary
industrial properties in a range of 5.25% to 9.00% with average of 7.13%. Capitalization rates in the
local market area have typically been higher than national rates. Capitalization rates are typically
higher for older and smaller properties.

In order to estimate current capitalization rates, a second method is used called the Band of
Investment, Analysis, which is a yield capitalization procedure used in estimating an overall
capitalization rate to be applied to the net operating income of a property. The band of investment
formula addresses the yield requirements of both the lender’s interest and the investor’s interest
considering current lending and investment rates. When the components used in the band of
investment formula are market-derived, the value indication obtained is reflective of market value.
RealtyRates.Com released their 1%t Q 2022 Investor Survey reporting interest rates for industrial
properties ranging from 2.86% to 7.41%, averaging 4.80%. The average spread from 10-Year
Treasury notes was 3.24%. Loan-to-value ratios ranged from 50% to 80% (average 70%), average
amortization period was 25 years with average term of 11.46 years and average debt coverage ratio
of 1.46. Per PwC Investors Survey for 1t Q 2022, institutional grade discount or yield rates for national
warehouse properties ranged from 7.00% to 10.00%, averaging 8.50%.




INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH (CONTINUED)

CAPITALIZATION RATE SELECTION, APPLICATION AND ESTIMATE OF VALUE

Based on the preceding, the following components are then used in the band of investment analysis.

Mortgage Components:

Loan/Value Ratio: 70%
Loan Rate: 5.0% selected
Amortization Period: 25 years with balloon payment due at end of 10 Year
Mortgage Constant (Rm): .0709
Equity Components:
Equity Ratio: 30%
Equity yield rate (Ye): 9.5%

The calculation of the overall capitalization rate by the band of investment technique is as follows:

Band of Investment Technique

Loan Ratio X Mortgage Constant = Weighted Average
.70 X 0709 = 0.049
Equity Ratio X Equity Yield Rate
30 X .095 = (+) 0.0285
Total Weighted Average 0.0775
Indicated Overall Capitalization Rate 7.75%

This mechanical or calculated overall rate typically is below the market extracted rates as lending
terms are still considered favorable for qualified applicants; so, it was given only secondary rounding
weight in my overall or “going-in” capitalization rate selection for the subject property.

Therefore, based on subject characteristics with and the current demand for this property type in the
local market, | selected a rounded 8.50% as the capitalization rate currently appropriate for the
subject property in this market. To arrive at a value estimate for the subject property, the estimated
annual net operating income must be divided by the overall capitalization rate. Therefore, | estimate
the market value of the subject property, as of the effective date of this report, as follows.

Fee Simple
Net Operating Income Capitalization Rate Indicated Value Rounded
$17,718 + 8.50% = $208,453 $210,000



RECONCILIATION AND FINAL ESTIMATE OF VALUE

Reconciliation is the process of coordinating and integrating related factors to form a conclusion
regarding the appraised property’s Market Value. Each appraisal approach was considered as to
adequacy, accuracy and overall reliability. The following estimates were based on subject’s highest and
best use in this report and primarily on available market data furnished by the property owner and
others.

Market Value via the Cost Approach Not Applicable
Market Value via the Direct Sales Comparison Approach $190,000
Market Value via the Income Capitalization Approach (Fee Simple) $210,000

The Cost Approach typically uses replacement cost method of determining new cost of building
improvements, typically representing the highest value. Depreciation is calculated for deferred
maintenance and normal wear and tear. The shortcoming of this method normally results from the
calculations for depreciation, as age and obsolescence are difficult to precisely measure in the market
place. The subject building is older, resulting in accrued depreciation which becomes subjective
reducing the reliability of this approach below acceptable levels. Therefore, it was not developed inthis
report.

The Direct Sales Comparison Approach compares sales of similar properties. Adjustments were made
for variations from the subject property based on available market data. After adjustments, a reasonable
range of indicated values was evident and | selected the value from the range most representative of the
appraised building. This approach is generally the best method of reflecting market attitudes toward
property, particularly when owner-occupied buildings are involved and there is an active market with
numerous sales. However, this approach is less persuasive when the property is purchased as an
investment. As the subject property is a single-tenant building it would likely appeal to an owner but if
leased it could appeal to an investor therefore equal weight was given in the final value estimate for the
subject.

The Income Capitalization Approach was considered and could be used in this report. Since an
adequate amount of rent, expense and cap rate data was available for the subject property, this approach
was considered reliable so was given significant weight in the final value estimate for the subject also.

Conditional only upon my standard Certification, Assumptions and Limiting Conditions, and the
estimated exposure time as stated in this report, it is my opinion the “as is”” Market Value of the subject
properties fee simple estate, as of May 16, 2022 was:

TWO HUNDRED THOUSAND DOLLARS
($200,000)
Respectfully submitted,

N f
B : .

N

‘AN te 3 L) /LAJ\L&.LZ_\LC-*L

D. Rick Whitesides, MAI, SRA

General Certified Appraiser - |1A CG01439
NE CG920142



ADDENDA




APPRAISER’S QUALIFICATIONS
D. Rick Whitesides, MAI, SRA

PROFESSIONAL.:

MAI Designation from the Appraisal Institute 1991
SRA Designation from the Appraisal Institute 1977
General Certified Appraiser, State of Nebraska (CG 920142) 1992
General Certified Appraiser, State of lowa (CG 01439) 1992
Licensed Real Estate Salesman in the State of Nebraska 1972
Vice President/Appraiser Mitchell & Associates 1990-Present
Property Underwriter/Assistant Vice President,

Occidental Nebraska Federal Savings Bank 1973-90
MEMBER:

Appraisal Institute: ~ Former President Nebraska Chapter and currently active in this chapter and
former Chapter Services Chairman for Region Il and have served on the National Chapter Services
Committee

Nebraska Real Estate Association

Omaha Area Board of Realtors ~ Former Executive Committee, Commercial Investment Council
Tangier Shrine, Scottish Rite and Mercer Lodge

Past Membership: Society of Real Estate Appraisers, Eastern Nebraska, Chapter #111

EDUCATION:

University of Nebraska Lincoln
University of Nebraska Omaha

Continuing education through attendance at various appraisal seminars sponsored by the Appraisal
Institute and other industry organizations; courses listed on a separate page.

EXPERIENCE:
Avreas of appraisal experience include multi-family residential, commercial; industrial; vacant land,;

special purpose properties; and single family residential. Appraisals have been completed for
mortgage loans, condemnation, litigation, and asset management purposes.



RECENT APPRAISAL EDUCATION
D. RICK WHITESIDES, MAI, SRA

DATE COURSE SPONSOR

2017 Honing In...Updates, Market Perspectives & Prof. Development Al

2016 Local Market Snapshot Al

2016 Understanding the Basics of Excel & Linear Regression Al

2016 Commercial Real Estate Summit Nebr Cont Legl Ed

2016 USPAP Update Al

2015 Commercial Real Estate Summit Nebr Cont Legl Ed

2014 Commercial Real Estate Summit Nebr Cont Legl Ed

2014 The Discounted Cash Flow Model Al

2014 USPAP Update Al

2013 Property Acquisition & Need for Site Assessment Randall School of RE

2013 Environmental Issues in Real Estate Randall School of RE

2013 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed

2013 Online Supervising Appraisal Trainees Al

2012 USPAP Moore Group

2012 Effective Appraisal Writing Al

2011 Ethical Decision Making in Real Estate Randall School of RE

2011 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed

2011 Commercial Appraisal Engagement & Review Al

2011 Capital Markets Seminar Daisley Ruff

2010 USPAP Al

2010 Capital Markets Seminar Daisley Ruff

2010 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed

2010 Appraisal Curriculum Overview Al

2009 Online Business Practices & Ethics Al

2009 Report Writing Workshop The Moore Group

2009 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed

2008 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed

2008 USPAP Al

2007 Standard 3 Review Training Session NE Appraiser Bd

2007 Understanding & Testing DCF Valuation Models Al

2007 Analyzing Distressed Real Estate Al

2007 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed

2006 Uniform Standards of Professional Practice Moore Group

2006 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed

2005 Market Analysis & the Site to do Business Al

2005 Radon & Real Estate Randall School of RE

2004 Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice Al

2004 Loss Prevention for Real Estate Appraisers Al

2004 Rates and Ratios Al

2003 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed

2003 Client Pressure Seminar NE Appraiser Bd.

2003 Appraisal Consulting Al

2002 Mark to Market Al

2002 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed

2001 Appraisers & Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act Al

2001 Regression Analysis in Appraisal Practice Al

2001 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed
CLASS

County Maintenance Shed

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

CLASS
HOURS

Nﬂw$WNwNNbﬂWNNNmb#hﬂmmﬂhawwﬂwﬂwwﬂﬂbmWWNNmmﬂwbhb

15484 State Orchard Road

© Copyright 2022

Council Bluffs, lowa

Page 69



DATE

COURSE

2000
2000

2000

2000
2000
1999
1999
1999
1998
1997
1997
1997
1996
1996
1995
1995
1995
1995
1994
1994
1993
1993
1993
1993
1993
1992
1992
1991
1990

County Maintenance Shed

Commercial Appraisal Problem Solving
Appraisal of Non-Conforming Uses

Standards of Professional Practice

Ed Tour (Tomorrows Information Today)
Commercial Real Estate Workshop
Internet Search Strategies

Appraisal of Local Retail Properties
Commercial Real Estate Workshop
Commercial Real Estate Workshop
Affordable Housing

Analyzing Operating Expenses
Commercial Real Estate Workshop
Highest & Best Use

Standards of Professional Practice
Advanced Income Capitalization
Emerging Technologies in Appraising
Experience Review Training
Apartment Update

FHA Guidelines

Commercial Real Estate Workshop
Appraising Apartments

Agency Relationships in Real Estate
Mock Trial Seminar

Commercial Real Estate Workshop
FIRREA: Overview & Application
ADA Seminar

Commercial Real Estate Workshop
Standards of Professional Practice
Small Residential Form

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

SPONSOR
Mid-West Appraisers
Al

Al

NE. Appraiser Board
Nebr Cont Legl Ed
Al
Al
Nebr Cont Legl Ed
Nebr Cont Legl Ed
Al
Al
Nebr Cont Legl Ed

Nebr Cont Legl Ed.
Al
Randall School of RE
Al
Nebr Cont Legl Ed
Al
Al
Nebr Cont Legl Ed
AIREA
SREA

HOURS

NNOONN~NWNWwNR AR voNNooN~N~Nw N~

15484 State Orchard Road

Council Bluffs, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 70



State of Nebraska

Real Property Appraiser Board

Hereky certifies that: DWKINT (RICK) E WHITESIDES

MITCHELL COMMERCIAL VALUATION INC
14618 WCOENTER RD
OMAHANE 681343219

15 erefemtialed in ehe State of Webraska as a
Certified Genernl Real Property Appraiser
Heddfimg cvedential mamber: CaN0142

Liffective Date: Jan 01,2022 Lxpination Date:  Des 31, 2002

~T i
i 4 /,")" L
Nebrizoks Real Propesty Appraiser Board Director: / ._1’ .|'l/- 0& -
- 7

AT b gy, bt o sevsbowse et be sopeerd e e Mol Preper®y Agpoe s rasd remodosd s

Thie Coodorsta g Caed e poced 1 smch porsom W condoratadot mdor e Riol Propars Aparates Ao enkon cxmdantal fem boon canodd. servndarnd. smpndod, oo srel ol

Nebesaka Real Property Appeaner Boad
101 Contermial Mall Souhy, First Floce PO Bax 94961
Liscodn. Nebrasha 685093563
Fhose: ACATIS0IS Fax 4024719017 brps. opupoadsct 1ie gon

fwmirane (Sorioatoe Ml 1OB4-2022 Voprtrenin for Fnd 27400

Voodew Yoo Audi Paoyrae Yo i $500 Padenal Wty Yoe P S3000

ot

Pickds of Oppratatitics STATE OF 1O0WA

10Via DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE
PROFESSIONAL LICENSING AND REGULATION

Thisis to certify that the below named has been granted a certification
as: Certified General Appraiser.

Certification Number: CG01435 Expires: June 30, 2023
Status: Active

Dwight E Whitesides
Mitchell & Associates
14611 W CenterRd
Omaha, Nebraska 68144

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 71
Council Bluffs, lowa




USPAP MINIMUM STANDARDS

For the convenience of the reader or any reviewer of this report, we have included a copy of the fourteen
points of the Minimum Appraisal Standards. Appraisals must:

1.

10.

11.

12.
13.
14.

Conform to USPAP, except that the Departure Provision, which allows below minimum work, will not
apply;

Include a disclosure of any steps taken in order to comply with the Competency Provision of USPAP;
Be based on the market value or other values as defined in the attached DEFINITIONS;

[i] Be written and presented in a narrative format;
[ii] Be sufficiently descriptive to enable the reader to ascertain the market value and the
rationale for the estimate;

[iii] Provide detail and depth reflective of the complexity of the property appraised;
Analyze and report in reasonable detail any prior sales of the property within the last three years;

Analyze and report current revenues, expense, and vacancies on income producing properties rather
than estimated or projected figures not supported by current market conditions;

Use a reasonable marketing period for the property;

Analyze current market conditions and trends that will affect the income, absorption, or value of the
property;

Report both the “as is” (using appropriate deductions and discounts for holding and marketing costs,
and entrepreneurial profit) and the stabilized market values for developmental property; report both the
value-in-use and liguidation value for owner-occupied property;

Include in the USPAP required certification an additional statement that: “The appraisal assignment
was not based on a requested minimum valuation, a specific valuation, or the approval of a “loan”;

Contain sufficient supporting documentation to allow the reader to ascertain the appraiser’s logic,
reasoning, judgment, and analysis;

Include a legal description of the subject property (in addition to the description required by USPAP);
Identify and value separately any non-real estate items;

Use and reconcile the income, direct sales, and cost approaches to value, and explain the omission of
any approach not used;

If any information necessary to complete the appraisal is unavailable, this fact must be disclosed.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 72
Council Bluffs, lowa



CHAPTER 8.050
GENERAL COMMERCIAL DISTRICT

8.050.010 INTENT: The Class C-2 District is intended primarily to provide for those business and
commercial establishments serving the general retail shopping needs of those persons living
in the unincorporated areas of the County. Properties shall be located along or have direct
access to hard surfaced streets. (Ordinance #2015-05/12-18-2015)

8.050.020 PRINCIPAL USES: The following principal uses shall be permitted in a Class C-2 District:
(Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

01 A

A

02 B

County Maintenance Shed

Antique shops. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)
Apparel and shoe stores. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)
Art galleries. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

Auditoriums, exhibition halls, or other public assembly rooms. (Ordinance #81-
6/10-01-81)

Automobile and other vehicle parts and supply stores. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-
81)

Automobile and other vehicle washing establishments, including the use of
mechanical conveyors, blowers and steam cleaning, and including self-service
facilities. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

. Automobile, boat, farm implement and equipment, motorcycle, mobile home,

trailer and truck sales, rental and service. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

Bakeries and bakery outlets-retail sales only. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

Banks, savings and loan associations, lending agencies, and similar financial
institutions including drive-in banks. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

Barber shops and beauty shops. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

Bars, cocktail lounges, nightclubs and tfaverns, provided that the side yard
setback and rear yard setback shall be a minimum of fifty (50) feet when such
yards abut a Class “R” District or platted residential subdivision. (Ordinance
#2004-14/07-01-04)

Bicycle shops, sales and repairs. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

Bookstores including newsstands, magazine stores and rental libraries.
(Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

8.92

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

15484 State Orchard Road
Council Bluffs, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 73



G. Building supply stores, provided all phases of the business conducted upon the
premises be within an enclosed building. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

H. Business and professional offices. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

| Business, professional, technical and trade schools and colleges. (Ordinance
#81-6/10-01-81)

03 C

A. Camera and photographic supply store, including photographic development
pick-up stores. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

B. Candy, nut and confectionery shops, including ice cream or snack bars, but only
at retail and only on the premises. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

C. Carpenter and cabinet making shops. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

D. Carpet and drapery stores. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

E. Catering establishments. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

F. Clothes cleaning and laundry pick-up stations. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)
G. Collection offices of public utility. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

H. Commercial parking lots and structures for passenger vehicles in accordance
with the provisions of Chapter 8.080. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

I Convalescent, nursing and retirement homes. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)
04 D
A. Dairy stores, retail only. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

B. Demolition rubble waste disposal site for demolition rubble waste generated on
the property where it is disposed of.

C. Department stores. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)
D. Drug stores and pharmacies. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)
E. Dry good stores. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

05 E

A. Egg and poultry stores, excluding any slaughtering, eviscerating or plucking.
(Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

B. Electrical repair shops. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

8.93

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 74
Council Bluffs, lowa




C. Employment agencies. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

D. Entertainment and recreational uses, including billiard and pool halls, bowling
alleys, ballrooms and dance halls, gymnasiums and other indoor recreational
uses and buildings, provided that the side yard setback and rear yard setback
shall be a minimum of fifty (50) feet when such yards abut a Class “R” District or
platted residential subdivision. (Ordinance #2004-14/07-01-04)

06 F

A. Feed and seed stores, whose products shall be stored and sold in packaged
form only. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

B. Florist stores. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

C. Frozen food lockers for storage and retail sales only, excluding slaughtering.
(Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

D. Furniture and appliance stores, including incidental repair and upholstery.
(Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

07 G

A. Garages for general motor vehicle repair, but not including major body and
fender work, and overall painting and upholstering. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

B. Garden shops and supply stores, and nurseries, provided that all equipment,
supplies and merchandise, other than plants, shall be kept within a completely
enclosed building or under a lathed structure and further provided that fertilizer
of any type shall be stored and sold in packaged form only. (Ordinance #81-
6/10-01-81)

C. Gift, novelty and souvenir shops. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)
D. Governmental structures or uses including fire stations, libraries, police stations,
post offices, substations and roadside rest areas; but excluding sanitary landfills

or uses similar in their scope of effect. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

E. Grocery stores, delicatessens and supermarkets, including convenience stores.
(Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

08 H
A. Hardware stores. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)
B. Hobby, craft and art supply stores. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)
C. Home furnishings and decorating stores. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)
D. Hospitals, medical and dental clinics and other medical and health facilities.

(Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

8.94

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 75
Council Bluffs, lowa




.09

10

A

A2

A3

14
A5

16

County Maintenance Shed

. 4T Hotels and motels, but only when serviced with public or common water and

sewer facilities. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

. Ice storage and distribution stations of not more than five (5) ton capacity.

(Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

. Jewelry stores, including clock and watch repair. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

. Launderettes, coin-operated dry-cleaning establishments, and dry-cleaning or

pressing establishments using only non-flammable solvents. (Ordinance #81-
6/10-01-81)

. Lawn mower repair shops. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)
. Leather goods and luggage stores. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)
. Liquor stores. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

. Locksmith and key shops. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

. Mini-storage warehouses. (Ordinance #90-8/07-06-90)
. Mortuaries, funeral homes and funeral chapels. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

. Music stores, including instrument sales and repairs. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-

81)

. Paint and wallpaper stores. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)
. Pet shops, including birds and fish. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

. Plumbing and heating, or electrical contractors and equipment showrooms.

(Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

8.95

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

15484 State Orchard Road
Council Bluffs, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 76



D. Printing, lithographic and engraving shops, including blueprint, photostat or
other reproduction process shops. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

A7 Q
18 R

A. Radio and television stores and repair shops. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

B. Restaurants, tearooms, cafeterias, cafes, and soda fountains, including outdoor
cafes and drive-in eating and dining places, provided that the side yard setback
and rear yard setback shall be a minimum of fifty (50) feet when such yards abut
a Class “R” District or platted residential subdivision. (Ordinance #2004-14/07-
01-04)

A9 S

A. Scientific, orthopedic and medical instrument and appliance stores. (Ordinance
#81-6/10-01-81)

B. Service stations, including dispensing of diesel fuels and complete truck service.
(Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

C. Sexually oriented businesses, subject to the terms of Chapter 3.55, Sexually
Oriented Businesses Ordinance, Pottawattamie County, lowa. (Ordinance
#2003-12/10-03-03)

D. Shoe and hat repair shops. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

E. Sporting goods stores. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

F. Stamp and coin stores. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

G. Stationery and office supply stores, including sales and repairs of office and
business machines. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

H. Studios, including art, dance, massage and physical culture, music and
photographic. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

20 T
A. Tack shops. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)
B. Tailor and dressmaker shops. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)
C. Taxidermists. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)
D. Telegraph offices and telephone exchanges. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)
E. Telephone answering and messenger services. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

8.96

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 77
Council Bluffs, lowa




21

22

.23

24

25

.26

Y

z

Theaters, except open drive-in theaters. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)
Tire shops, excluding any recapping or retreading. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)
Tobacco and cigar shops. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

Towers with a height not exceeding one hundred fifty (150) feet, subject to the
requirements of Section 8.004.220. (Ordinance #2007-09/10-12-07)

Toy stores. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

Transformer stations, booster stations, and utility stations; provided there is no
yard or garage for service or storage. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

Transportation passenger terminals, including bus stations, railroad passenger
stations, or other passenger terminals; provided that buses and other transit
vehicles shall not be stored on the site and no repair work or servicing of
vehicles shall be conducted on the site. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

Travel bureaus. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

Upholstering shops. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

Variety stores. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

. Veterinary hospitals or clinics; provided all phases of the business conducted

upon the premises be within an enclosed building where noises and odors are
not evident to adjacent properties. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

8.050.030 CONDITIONAL USES: The following conditional uses shall be permitted in a Class C-2
District, when authorized in accordance with the requirements of Chapter 8.096: (Ordinance
#81-6/10-01-81)

01

.02

County Maintenance Shed

Auction halls, barns, and yards. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

Body and fender repair shops, including overall painting and upholstering, but not
including motor vehicle wrecking or used parts yards or outside storage of
component parts. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

8.97

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

15484 State Orchard Road
Council Bluffs, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 78



8.050.040

8.050.050

8.050.060

8.050.070

.03

.04

.05

.06

.07

.08

Drive-in theaters. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

Exterminator sales when located within a completely enclosed building. (Ordinance
#81-6/10-01-81)

Secondary airports and private light plane landing strips and helipads, when laid out
and operated in accordance with all applicable regulations of the Federal Aviation
Agency, and when situated on a site containing not less than thirty (30) acres.

Tire shops, including vulcanizing, retreading and recapping. (Ordinance #81-6/10-
01-81)

Transmitting stations and towers with a height exceeding one hundred fifty (150)
feet, subject to the requirements of Section 8.004.220. (Ordinance #2007-09/10-12-
07)

Outdoor entertainment and recreational uses, but only in conjunction with a principal
use of entertainment and recreation as listed in 8.050.020.33. (Ordinance #2004-
15/09-10-04)

ACCESSORY USES: The following accessory uses shall be permitted in a Class C-2
District: (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

01

.02

.03

.04

.05

Accessory uses and structures normally incidental and subordinate to one of the
permitted principal or conditional uses, unless otherwise excluded. (Ordinance #81-
6/10-01-81)

Display signs, subject to the provisions of Chapter 8.090. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-
81)

Outdoor advertising signs and billboards, subject to the provisions of Chapter 8.090.

Outdoor storage of material or merchandise incidental to a permitted use, but not to
exceed forty (40) percent of the building floor area used for such use. (Ordinance
#2015-05/12-18-2015)

Temporary roadside fireworks stands and Christmas tree lots, when approved by the
Development Director for a specified time period, after which they shall be
disassembled and removed at the end of the authorized period each year.
(Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

OFF-STREET PARKING AND LOADING: Off-street parking and loading spaces shall be
provided in accordance with Chapter 8.080 for permitted principal and conditional uses in a
Class C-2 District. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

HEIGHT REQUIREMENT: The maximum height of buildings and structures in a Class C-2
District shall be forty (40) feet or three (3) stories, whichever is lower. (Ordinance #81-6/10-

01-81)

SETBACK REQUIREMENTS: The sethack requirements for buildings and structures in a
Class C-2 District shall be as follows: (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

County Maintenance Shed

898

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

15484 State Orchard Road

Council Bluffs, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 79



8.050.080

01

.02

.03

.04

The front yard setback shall be a minimum of twenty-five (25) feet. (Ordinance #81-
6/10-01-81)

The side yard setback shall be a minimum of twenty-five (25) feet when such yard
abuts a Class “A” or “R” District or platted residential subdivision, except as provided
in Subsections8.050.020.02.D, 8.050.020.05.D and 8.050.020.18.B.

The rear yard setback shall be a minimum of twenty-five (25) feet when such yard
abuts a Class “A” or “R” District or platted residential subdivision, except as provided
in Subsections 8.050.020.02.D, 8.050.020.05.D and 8.050.020.18.B.

The minimum setback between buildings situated on the same site shall be ten (10)
feet. (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

LOT SIZE AND COVERAGE REQUIREMENTS: The minimum /ot size and maximum ot
coverage for uses in a Class C-2 District shall be as follows, except as provided in Section
8.004.030 for lots not having common water and/or sewer facilities: (Ordinance #81-6/10-01-

81)
MINIMUM LOT MAXIMUM LOT
USE AREA WIDTH | DEPTH | COVERAGE
.01 Any Permitted Use 1.0 Acres 80’ 100’ 50%

(Ordinance #81-6/10-01-81)

County Maintenance Shed

8.99

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

15484 State Orchard Road

Council Bluffs, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 80



h

MITCHELL & ASSOCIATES, INC.

ROBERT F. MITCHELL, JR., SRPA
R. GREGG MITCHELL, SRA

D. RICK WHITESIDES, MAI, SRA KEVIN P. HERMSEN MAI
W. BRUCE WILKIE DAVID C. WELLSANDT, MAI
BETH ANDERSEN RICHARD WITTMANN
MELISSA RUTHERFORD MARK SCHAECHER
April 26, 2022
Ms. Kristina Treantos Re:  Appraisal Reports
Via email Properties on following list

Kristina.treantos@pottcounty-is.gov

Dear Ms. Treantos

Per your request our firm will provide appraisal reports on the attached list of properties for the purposes of
estimating the fair market value of the real estate for asset management purposes, subject to the terms and
conditions stated as follows:

1) The report swill be prepared in compliance with the Minimum Appraisal Standards as set forth by the
Uniform Standards of Professional Practice (USPAP) and the Standards of the State of Iowa.

2) Inorder to provide the most accurate and timely appraisal possible, the following specific information on
the subject property is desired, if applicable and available:

Property contact for access if necessary

3) Properties to be appraised are as follows:
358 Elm Street, Avoca, [A
15021 490%™ St., Griswold, IA
15484 State Orchard Rd. Council Bluffs, IA
217 North Main, Hancock, 1A
705 Oak Street, Walnut, IA

4) Any modifications, excluding correction of errors, will be provided only at additional cost. No court
testimony or appearances at any hearing will be provided unless prior arrangements are made. Testimony
or appearance at hearings will be billed at the rate of $250/hour, with a 4 hour minimum.

5) The reports will be prepared in a timely manner. Delivery of the report will be approximately 5 weeks,
from receipt of a signed copy of this letter; provided the necessary data is made available in a timely manner.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 81
Council Bluffs, lowa




Appraisal Proposal
Industrial Properties
April 26, 2022
Page 2

6) The fee to prepare the real estate reports will not exceed $4,900 and is payable as follows: $2,450 due upon
the signing of this letter and the balance upon receipt of the completed written appraisal report.

7) Confidentiality will be respected, so the results and content of the report will only be revealed to you or
third parties you may designate. It will not be released to any other entity, without prior permission by you.
However, some information furnished may be used in future analysis of other properties, unless
you specifically request otherwise. In order to comply with the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act of 1999,
our Privacy Notice is available upon request

8) The appraisal will include in the certification required by USPAP; that the appraisal assignment was not

based on a requested minimum valuation, specific valuation or the approval of a loan.

If you are in agreement with this proposal, please sign and return the original letter, with the retainer, as soon as
possible.

Thank you for the opportunity to be of service.

Respectfully submitted,

b

D. Rick Whitesides, MAI, SRA
General Certified Appraiser — NE #CG920142
TA #CG01439

ACCEPTED:

AVARTY TN 4% . 4[28]22

Ms. Kristina Treantos
Pottawattamie County, Jowa

%KW\MV V\/\H o St \0(6/ 5722,

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
15484 State Orchard Road © Copyright 2022 Page 82
Council Bluffs, lowa




AN
APPRAISAL

OF

COMMERCIAL PROPERTY
LOCATED AT
705 OAK STREET
WALNUT, IOWA

AS OF

May 16, 2022

PREPARED FOR

Ms. Kristina Treantos
Via email
Kristina.treantos@pottcounty-ia.gov

PREPARED BY

D. Rick Whitesides, MAI, SRA
Certified General Appraiser

MITCHELL & ASSOCIATES, INC.
14611 West Center Road
Omaha, Nebraska 68144

© Copyright 2022, Mitchell & Associates, Inc.



a

MITCHELL & ASSOCIATES, INC.

ROBERT F. MITCHELL, SR., 1893-1983
ROBERT F. MITCHELL, JR., SRPA 1927-2020
R. GREGG MITCHELL, SRA

D. RICK WHITESIDES, MAI, SRA KEVIN P. HERMSEN, MAI

W. BRUCE WILKIE DAVID C. WELLSANDT, MAI

BETH ANDERSEN MELISSA L. RUTHERFORD

RICHARD C. WITTMANN MARK SCHAECHER

REBECCA BELLOWS ALEX FINKLE

JAMES ANDERSEN
June 6, 2022
Ms. Kristina Treantos RE: File #00220818 - Appraisal
Via email Commercial Property
Kristina.treantos@pottcounty-ia.gov 705 Oak St.

Walnut, lowa

Dear Ms. Treantos:

In response to your request and for the purpose of estimating the Market Value of the above referenced
property for asset management purposes, | have personally visited the property, and then conducted an
analysis of the matters pertinent to its current market value. My findings are included in the following
report of 66 pages, plus the supporting Addenda.

This report is intended to be in conformity with the prevailing Standards and Ethics of the Uniform
Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice (USPAP) of the Appraisal Foundation and the Appraisal
Institute. Itisindependently prepared so is not based on a requested minimum value, specific valuation
nor the approval of a loan. It isalso in conformity with the laws and Minimum Standards of the State of
lowa where | am licensed.

Your attention is directed toward the sections titled Limiting Conditions and Assumptions,
Definitions, and Appraiser’s Certification, which address contingencies of the appraisal. Additional
contingencies may be interspersed throughout the report where appropriate; therefore, this report
should be considered in its entirety. Your attention is also directed to the special consideration noted
on page 11 regarding the COVID-19 outbreak. The effective date for this appraisal is in a time
where the community is experiencing a serious reaction to the outbreak including many closures or
cancellations including school districts, state and federal declarations of emergency. Public health
officials are calling for social distancing and limited exposure to others. There is currently
insufficient data to indicate market reactions to the outbreak as it applies to the general market or to
specific properties in regards to any effects on value or marketing times.

Conditional only upon my standard Certification, Assumptions and Limiting Conditions, and the
estimated exposure time as stated in this report, it is my opinion the “as is” Market Value of the subject
properties fee simple estate, as of May 16, 2022 was:

ONE HUNDRED THOUSAND DOLLARS
($100,000)

Respectfully submitted,

\ . ‘/
] 1 \ - .
‘Neer W Addddion

D. Rick Whitesides, MAI, SRA
General Certified Appraiser - IA CG0143 NE CG9201429;

S:|Reports|2022/002208 18|Report.doc

Real Estate Appraisers & Consultants

14611 West Center Road B Omaha, Nebraska 68144 m PH. 402-330-4500 m FAX 402-330-7207



TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION

Identification of Property, Summary of Salient Facts and Scope of Work

Scope of Work

Appraiser’s Certification
Assumptions and Limiting Conditions
Definitions

Valuation and the Appraisal Process

DESCRIPTIONS
Market Area Description and Analysis
Site Description and Analysis

Description and Analysis of Improvements

ANALYSIS AND CONCLUSIONS
Highest and Best Use
Cost Approach
Direct Sales Comparison Approach
Income Capitalization Approach

Reconciliation and Final Estimate of VValue

ADDENDA

Qualifications of Appraiser
USPAP Standards

Flood Plain Map

Zoning Regulations
Engagement Letter

Page
4
7
10
11

13
14

15
20
24

29
33
34
49
66



IDENTIFICATION OF THE PROPERTY
AND SUMMARY OF SALIENT FACTS

LOCATION: 705 Oak Street, Walnut, lowa 51577. This is between North and
Pleasant Streets, in Walnut lowa, which is in the eastern portion of
Pottawattamie County, lowa.

LEGAL DESCRIPTION: Briefly described as the east 382 feet of the west 407 feet in the south 2
of the south %2 in the northwest, northeast southwest in 9-77-38, Walnut
Town in Pottawattamie County, lowa

OWNER OF RECORD: Pottawattamie County
Council Bluffs, lowa

CLIENT/INTENDED USE: The report was ordered by Ms. Kristina Treantos with Pottawattamie
County, who advised this appraisal would be used in asset management
purposes. There are no other intended uses or users of this report.

APPRAISAL PURPOSE: Purpose of this appraisal is to provide a supported estimate of the ‘asis’
fee simple market value of the subject property, as of the date of the site
visit.

INSPECTION DATE: On May 16, 2022, | personally visited subject in the company of Shawn
Bluml with Pottawattamie County. Most photos used in this report
were taken at the time of this inspection.

EFFECTIVE DATE: This appraisal has an effective date of May 16, 2022, the date of the
property visit.

SUBJECT DESCRIPTION: The subject property consists of one building used as a maintenance
building. This building contains 2 drive-in bays an open office and a
restroom it was built in 1990. The building is of pre-engineered steel
construction with metal panels on the elevations and pitched roof. There
are 2 overhead doors for vehicle entry and a pedestrian door. The
building has 1,680 square feet and is located upon an interior site with

63,162 SF.
ZONING: The city zoning map shows the subject to be in a residential district.
County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 4

Walnut, lowa



IDENTIFICATION OF THE PROPERTY

AND SUMMARY OF SALIENT FACTS (CONTINUED)

FLOOD PLAIN STATUS:

TITLE HISTORY:

TAX ASSESSMENT:

TAX RATE:

REAL ESTATE TAXES:

PERSONAL PROPERTY:

HIGHEST & BEST USE:

EXPOSURE TIME:

County Maintenance Shed

Subject does not appear to be located in a designated flood zone, per
CoreLogic, referencing FEMA Map 19155C0375F, dated April 16,
2013 (map in report).

Per county records, subject does not appear to have sold in the past five
years.

Real estate taxes for Pottawattamie County are combined in one billing
for all governmental subdivisions. The County Assessor is responsible
for estimating ‘actual value’ to which tax rates are applied. Subject
(Parcel #77380932605) is assessed as follows:

Current Value

2022 Comm. Land Improvement Total Class

Full Value $36,800 $22,760 $59,500 C
Exempt $36,800 $22,700 $59,500 C
Net Total %0 %0 %0 C

Prior Year Value

2021 Comm. Land Improvement Total Class

Full Value $36,800 $22,700 $59,500 C
Exempt $36, 800 $22,700 $59,500 C

Net Total $e $0 $0 C

The 2020 tax rate was $36.280540 per $1,000 of assessed value, which
appears normal for commercial properties in this area. The 2021 tax rate
has not been set, as of the effective date of this report.

Per Pottawattamie County Treasurer’s Office, shows net real estate
taxes of $0 as it is owned by a government entity. Generally these taxes
have delinquent dates of September 1, 2020 for the first half and March
1, 2021 for the second half. Subject is appraised as if all historic tax
obligations (including additional interest or penalties) are paid current.

No furniture, fixtures, business or equipment values are included in this
report.

As concluded herein, highest and best use of subject is ‘as is’ with a
maintenance shed.

As described herein, exposure time is estimated time a property interest
being appraised would have been offered on the market prior to a
hypothetical consummation of sale at market value on effective date of
appraisal. Based on a retrospective opinion of past events, assuming a
competitive, open market, | estimated that would have been within 12-
months, reflecting current market conditions.

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

705 Oak Street
Walnut, lowa

© Copyright 2022 Page 5



IDENTIFICATION OF THE PROPERTY
AND SUMMARY OF SALIENT FACTS (CONTINUED)

ENVIRONMENTAL Existing improvement is a maintenance shed It is unknown if

CONDITIONS: hazardous components/materials (urea formaldehyde foam insulation,
asbestos, etc.) were used in construction/renovation or if the site has
contaminants. No evidence of underground fuel storage tanks or
contamination was observed. As a result, environmental conditions are
presumed non-adverse. However, it may be prudent to obtain a current
certified survey and environmental assessment of the property. This
appraisal makes no allowance for environmental remediation or
abatement requirements. Your attention is directed to Limiting
Conditions and Assumptions at the conclusion of this report.

SUMMARY OF INDICATED VALUES FROM THIS REPORT

Market Value via the Cost Approach Not Applicable
Market Value via the Direct Sales Comparison Approach $100,000
Market Value via the Income Capitalization Approach (Fee Simple) $100,000
County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 6

Walnut, lowa



SCOPE OF WORK

Scope of work refers to research and analysis in this assignment and includes the extent to which the
property is identified, type and extent of data researched, and type and extent of analysis applied.

Extent of Property Identification: The property was identified by its addresses of 705 Oak Street,
Walnut, lowa. Per Pottawattamie County records, this address corresponds to County Parcel number
and legal descriptions summarized in the Salient Facts section of this report.

Type and Extent of Data Researched: | personally visited the property, building measurements were
taken from county assessors web site and verified on site, which provided the information for the
property descriptions. Site size was obtained from the assessor’s website also. Other data was collected
from County public records, conversations with local property owners and brokers, information
published in real estate industry publications and Mitchell & Associates appraisal files. 1 was not
provided with a current soils testing report or survey; therefore, I did not consider the impact on
property value of any possible restrictions or soil issues that might be revealed by these reports. The
COVID-19 virus is having significant impacts to how people live around the world. The impacts are
fairly recent in the area, but there have been many closures. Public health officials are calling for
social distancing and limited exposure to others.

As we progress through 2022, fewer cases are reported but some cautionary measures are still
promoted. Such news has increased the level of fear and anxiety among the community. Single-
family sales have been brisk due to the shrinking inventories and rising prices. Commercial
businesses may experience reduced sales due to recent closing of bars and restaurants except for
drive-thru service, and avoiding places where 10+ people gather. Other businesses are opting for
employees to work remotely.

There is currently insufficient data to indicate market reactions to the outbreak as it applies to the
general market or to specific properties (e.g. places of reported exposures) in regards to any effects
on value or marketing times.

Type and Extent of Analysis Applied: A highest and best use analysis of the property was developed
utilizing inferred or trend methodology, appropriate of the property in light of its site size and building
size as well as the location in a mature area. Due to the age of the structure, estimating depreciation
would be so subjective as to render the cost approach unreliable; therefore, it was omitted from this
appraisal. | researched and found recent sales of buildings supporting the use of the Direct Sales
Comparison Approach. The Income Capitalization Approach was not developed due to a lack of
market information.

Conclusion: The conclusions and analyses were reconciled into the final estimate of value. Based on
my training, experience (see credentials in the Addenda intended to satisfy the Competency Rule of
USPAP) and judgment, I concluded that this appraisal in a summary format including the Direct Sales
Comparison and income approach is appropriate to support a credible estimate of the Fee Simple value
and consistent with the Standards of the 2020-2021 Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal
Practice (USPAP).

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 7
Walnut, lowa




EXTERIOR PHOTOS

South & west sides

West side

North side

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022
Walnut, lowa

Page 8




County Maintenance Shed

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

| L it “'l'\ “" \

East side

705 Oak Street
Walnut, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 9




APPRAISER'S CERTIFICATION

| certify that, to the best of my knowledge and belief:

The statements of fact contained in this report are true and correct.

The reported analyses, opinions, and conclusions are limited only by the reported assumptions and
limiting conditions and are my personal, impartial, and unbiased professional analyses, opinions, and
conclusions.

| have no present or prospective interest in the property that is the subject of this report and no
personal interest with respect to the parties involved.

| have no bias with respect to the property that is the subject of this report or to the parties involved
with this assignment.

My engagement in this assignment was not contingent upon developing or reporting predetermined
results.

My compensation for completing this assignment is not contingent upon the development or
reporting of a predetermined value or direction in value that favors the cause of the client, the
amount of the value opinion, the attainment of a stipulated result, or the occurrence of a subsequent
event directly related to the intended use of this appraisal.

| have not performed a previous appraisal of the subject property and have not done an appraisal
review involving the subject, or an appraisal consulting assignment involving the subject, within the
past three years.

The reported analyses, opinions and conclusions were developed, and this report has been prepared
in conformity with the requirements of the Code of Professional Ethics and Standards of
Professional Appraisal Practice of the Appraisal Institute and the Uniform Standards of Appraisal
Practice.

The reported analyses, opinions and conclusions were developed, and this report has been prepared
in conformity with the requirements of the Uniform Standards of Appraisal Practice

The use of this report is subject to the requirements of the Appraisal Institute relating to review by its
duly authorized representatives.

| have made a personal inspection of the property that is the subject of this report.

No one provided significant real property appraisal assistance to the person signing this certification.
If there are exceptions, the name of each individual providing significant real property appraisal
assistance is stated in the scope of the report.*

As of the date of this report, I, D. Rick Whitesides, have completed the requirements of the
continuing education program of the Appraisal Institute.

APPRAISER

) cht I\MLS-L(U-L

D. Rick Whitesides, MAI, SRA - NE CG920142
IA CG01439

1 Source for Items #1-#9, Standards Rule 2-3, Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practices, 2001 Edition

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 10
Walnut, lowa




ASSUMPTIONS AND LIMITING CONDITIONS

This appraisal has been based on the following limiting conditions:

For purposes of this appraisal, any marketing program for the sale of the property would assume cash or its
equivalent.

No detailed soil studies covering the subject property were available for this appraisal. Itis therefore assumed that
soil conditions are adequate to support standard construction consistent with highest and best use.

The date of value to which the conclusions and opinions expressed in this report apply, is set forth in the letter of
transmittal. Further, the dollar amount of any value opinion rendered in this report is based upon the purchasing
power of the American dollar existing on that date.

The appraiser assumes no responsibility for economic or physical factors which may affect the opinions in this
report which occur after the date of the letter transmitting the report or which cause unpredictable changes. Events
such as (but not limited to) natural disasters, wars and economic calamities are examples of such factors.

The appraiser reserves the right to make such adjustments to the analysis, opinions and conclusions set forth in this
report as may be required by consideration of additional data or more reliable data that may become available.

No opinion as to title is rendered. Data relating to ownership and legal description was obtained from county
records and is considered reliable. Title is assumed to be marketable and free and clear of all liens, encumbrances,
easements and restrictions except those specifically discussed in the report. The property is appraised assuming it
to be under responsible ownership and competent management and available for its highest and best use.

If no title policy was made available to the appraiser, they assume no responsibility for such items of record not
disclosed by their customary investigation.

The appraiser assumes no responsibility for hidden or non-apparent conditions of the property, subsoil, or
structures that render it more or less valuable. No responsibility is assumed for arranging for engineering studies
that may be required to discover them.

The property is appraised assuming it to be in full compliance with all applicable federal, state and local
environmental regulations and laws, unless otherwise stated.

The property is appraised assuming that all applicable zoning and use regulations and restrictions have been
complied with, unless otherwise stated.

The property is appraised assuming that all required licenses, certificates of occupancy, consents or other
legislative or administrative authority from any local, state or national government or private entity or organization
have been or can be obtained or renewed for any use on which the value estimate contained in this report is based,
unless otherwise stated.

No engineering survey has been made by the appraiser. Except as specifically stated, data relative to size and area
was taken from sources considered reliable and no encroachment of real property improvements is considered to
exist.

No opinion is expressed as to the value of subsurface oil, gas or mineral rights whether the property is subject to
surface entry for the exploration or removal of such materials except as is expressly stated.

Maps, plats, and exhibits included in this report are for illustration only as an aid in visualizing matters discussed
within the report. They should not be considered as surveys or relied upon for any other purpose, nor should they
be removed from, reproduced, or used apart from the report.

No opinion is intended to be expressed for matters, which require legal expertise or specialized investigation, or
knowledge beyond that customarily employed by real estate appraisers.

Possession of this report, or copy of it, does not carry with it the right of publication. It may not be used for any
purposes by any person other than the party to whom it is addressed without the written consent of the appraiser,
and in any event only with the proper written qualification and only in its entirety.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 11
Walnut, lowa




ASSUMPTIONS AND LIMITING CONDITIONS (CONTINUED)

Testimony or attendance in court or at any other hearing is not required by reason of rendering this appraisal,
unless such arrangements are made in a reasonable time in advance.

The appraiser has personally inspected the subject property and find no obvious evidence of structural deficiencies,
except as stated in this report; however, no responsibility for hidden defects or conformity to specific governmental
requirements, such as fire, building and safety, earthquake or occupancy codes can be assumed without provision
of specific professional or government inspections.

No consideration has been given in this appraisal as to the value of the property located on the premises considered
by the appraiser to be personal property, nor has he given consideration to the cost of moving or relocating such
personal property; only the real property has been considered.

Information obtained for use in this appraisal is believed to be true and correct to the best of my abilities; however,
no responsibility is assumed for errors or omissions, or for information not disclosed which might otherwise affect
the valuation estimate.

Disclosure of the contents of this appraisal report is governed by the Bylaws and Regulations of the Appraisal
Institute.

Neither all nor any part of the contents of this report (especially any conclusions as to value, the identity of the
appraiser or firm with which he is connected, or any reference to the American Institute of Real Estate Appraisers
or to the MAI or SRA designations) shall be disseminated to the public through advertising media, public relations
media, news media, sales media or any other public means of communication without prior written consent and
approval of the appraiser.

Comments concerning the location, market area, trends, construction quality and costs of the property appraised
herein represent the opinion of the appraiser formed after examination and study of the subject property.

This appraisal represents the independent opinion of the appraiser free from any commitments and free from any
present or expected future interest in the property, with the sole compensation for the employment being a fair
professional fee.

The Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”) became effective January 26, 1992. 1 have not made a specific
compliance survey and analysis of this property to determine whether or not it is in conformity with the various
detailed requirements of the ADA.. It is possible that a compliance survey of the property, together with a detailed
analysis of the requirements of the ADA, could reveal that the property is not in compliance with one or more of
the requirements of the Act. If so, this fact could have a negative effect upon the value of the property. Since |
have no direct evidence relating to this issue, I did not consider possible non-compliance with the requirements of
ADA in estimating the value of the property.

Unless otherwise stated in this report, the existence of hazardous material, which may or may not be present on the
property, was not observed by the appraiser. The appraiser has no knowledge of the existence of such materials on
or in the property. The appraiser, however, is not qualified to detect such substances. The presence of substances
such as asbestos, urea formaldehyde foam insulation or other potentially hazardous materials may affect the value
of the property. The value estimate is predicated on the assumption that there is no such material on or in the
property that would cause a loss of value. No responsibility is assumed for any such conditions, or for any
expertise or engineering knowledge required to discover them. The client is urged to retain an expert in this field,
if desired.

If this appraisal report was transmitted as an “electronic record” containing my “electronic signature,” as those
terms are defined in applicable federal and/or state laws (excluding audio and video recordings), or a facsimile
transmission of this appraisal report containing a copy or representation of my signature, the appraisal report shall
be as effective, enforceable and valid as if a paper version of this appraisal report were delivered containing my
original hand written signature.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 12
Walnut, lowa




DEFINITIONS:

FEE SIMPLE ESTATE:!

LEASED FEE ESTATE:?

MARKET VALUE: 2

Absolute ownership unencumbered by any other interest or estate,
subject only to the limitations imposed by the governmental powers
of taxation, eminent domain, police power and escheat.

An ownership interest held by a landlord with the right of use and
occupancy conveyed by lease to others. The rights of lessor (the
leased fee owner) and leased fee are specified by contract terms
contained within the lease.

The most probable price which a property should bring in a
competitive and open market under all conditions requisite to a fair
sale, the buyer and seller each acting prudently and knowledgeably,
and assuming the price is not affected by undue stimulus. Implicit in
this definition is the consummation of a sale as of a specified date?
and the passing of title from seller to buyer under conditions
whereby:

(1) Buyer and seller are typically motivated;

(2) Both parties are well informed or well advised, and acting in what
they consider their own best interests;

(3) A reasonable time is allowed for exposure in the open market;

(4) Payment is made in terms of cash in U.S. dollars or in terms of
financial arrangements comparable thereto; and,

(5) The price represents the normal consideration for the property
sold unaffected by special or creative financing or sales concessions
granted by anyone associated with the sale.

1 The Dictionary of Real Estate Appraisal, 4" Edition, Appraisal Institute, Chicago

2 Excerpted from Vol. 55 No. 165, Federal Register Section 34.44 Appraisal Standards
8 See discussion regarding exposure time and marketability within the Highest and Best Use analysis of this report

County Maintenance Shed

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

705 Oak Street
Walnut, lowa

© Copyright 2022 Page 13



VALUATION AND THE APPRAISAL PROCESS

An appraisal is an estimate, an opinion of value. Its accuracy depends on the basic competence and
integrity of the appraiser and on the soundness and skill by which he or she processed the data. Its
worth is influenced by the availability of pertinent data. The professional appraiser seeks current facts
and seeks to be practical. Most importantly, the appraiser’s opinion must be without bias. As with
other types of “markets,” the real property appraiser does not make the market; rather, he or she
interprets the market.

Generally, the appraiser uses three approaches to value: 1) Cost Approach; 2) Direct Sales Comparison
Approach; and, 3) Income Approach. Each of these approaches is discussed separately below. They
are all comparative approaches in that the basic data comes from direct comparisons in the market,
indirect comparisons in the market, and/or the appraiser’s judgment, which is based on market
experience.

In the Cost Approach, the cost to reproduce the property at the date of the appraisal, less an appropriate
allowance for depreciation (physical deterioration, functional obsolescence, and economic
obsolescence), is made by market comparisons of cost and depreciation. The Cost Approach tends to
set the upper limit of value since no property can be worth more than it would cost to build another
property of equal utility assuming no reasonable delays. In land appraisals this approach is not
applicable as land cannot be replaced but is considered a non-depreciating asset.

In the Direct Sales Comparison Approach, the subject property is compared to sales of similar
properties. The sales are analyzed to determine similarities and differences, which affect value when
observed in the market. These similarities and differences then serve as points of comparison between
the market data and the subject property. When necessary, adjustments are made to the comparablesto
account for these differences. The resulting adjusted value per unit is then used to estimate the value via
this approach.

In the Income Capitalization Approach, the future operation of the property is estimated from past
historical data relating to the subject and/or from comparable market data. Gross rental schedules,
vacancy and collection losses, fixed expenses, operating expenses and reserves are projected and used to
estimate netincome. This netincome is converted to a value estimate using the capitalization process.
The capitalization rate (comprised of a return on and a return of the investment) is based on
demonstrated rates found in the market. (In land appraisals, recapture is not a part of the capitalization
rate as land is considered a non-depreciating asset.) The method and technique of capitalization is
determined by the nature of the property in the market.

All approaches were considered for this report, however, the availability, adequacy and pertinence of
data may limit the approaches actually used, as discussed in the Reconciliation of this report.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 14
Walnut, lowa




MARKET AREA DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS

Market areas influence value of specific properties in many ways. These influences are best
understood considering their social, economic, governmental and environmental characteristics. It
has been said that “social, economic, governmental and environmental forces also influence property
value near the subject property which, in turn, directly affects the value of the subject property
itself.”! Therefore, we will examine each characteristic considering the subject’s market area.

Market Area: Subject is in Walnut lowa which was incorporated in 1877, it is about 43 miles east of
the Council BluffsfOmaha metropolitan area (CBSA). This area is described as follows:

Social Characteristics

Demographics: The 2021 population? within one, 3 and 5 miles of Walnut was reported as 873
1,052 and 1,262 respectively; which is an annual rate of increase of 0.85%. Households in 2021
have increased 0.93% from 2010. Average family size was 2.20 persons.

Education: The market area is served by the AHST Public School District (Avoca, Hancock
Shelby Tennant and Walnut communities). The level of education achieved for persons ages 25

or older within the area is shown as follows.

2021 Population 25+ by Educational Attainment
Total

Less than Sth Grade

9th - 12th Grade, No Diploma

High School Graduate

GED/Alternative Credential

Some College, No Degree

Associate Degree

Bachelor's Degree

Graduate/Professional Degree

Employment: Employment by industry within the city is shown as follows.

2021 Employed Population 16+ by Industry
Total
Agriculture/Mining
Construction
Manufacturing
Wholesale Trade
Retail Trade
Transportation/Utilities
Information
Finance/Insurance/Real Estate
Services
Public Administration

Appraisal of Real Estate, 13t Edition, 2008
2 www.stdbonline.com

County Maintenance Shed

1 mile

656
0.9%
4.1%

34.8%
5.3%
24.5%
10.2%
14.3%
5.8%

441
9.5%
6.3%
9.1%
2.7%

15.4%
7.3%
0.5%
8.8%

37.9%

2.3%

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

3 miles

789
0.9%
4.1%

34.6%
5.1%
24.2%
10.3%
15.0%
6.0%

535
10.3%
6.5%
9.0%
2.6%
15.1%
7.5%
0.6%
8.8%
37.8%
2.1%

5 miles

943
0.7%
3.8%

33.7%
4.8%
23.4%
10.8%
16.2%
6.5%

651
11.1%
6.8%
9.1%
2.6%
14.4%
8.0%
0.6%
8.3%
37.0%
2.3%

705 Oak Street
Walnut, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 15


http://www.stdbonline.com/

MARKET AREA DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Social Characteristics (Continued)

It was shown that 441 persons are in the workforces in Walnut. Unemployment rate was 3.3%:

Housing: The market area 296 housing units within one mile and has roughly 60% of occupants
owning their home and 27.7% of homes being renter occupied.

Roadway Linkage: City of Walnut is located just south of 1-80 about 43 miles east of Council
Bluffs/Omaha metro.

Recreation:

Walnut is known as lowa’s “antique city” with many specialty shops. The town has several parks a
splash park and baseball fields.

Retail Centers: Shopping is adequate in town and expanded in nearby communities.

Utilities: Water and sewer are provided by City of Walnut, MidAmerican Energy provides gas and
electricity to the community.

Governmental Characteristics

Administration: Walnut has a mayor and city council form of government.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 16
Walnut, lowa




Market Area Aerial

i |
™ )
od) 1
ome* %

Reariisy,
= {Pearlist:
Walndt Antigue Mall

-
(=)
=

©)

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 17

Walnut, lowa



Immediate Market Area Aerial

@
¥
2
G
NG
<
<C

_—

2 ¥pottawattamie County Engineers

15 Dlvli":)e‘d

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
705 Oak Street

© Copyright 2022
Walnut, lowa

Page 18



MARKET AREA VIEWS

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 19
Walnut, lowa




SITE DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS

Subject property is located on the east side of Oak Street which is between North and Pleasant Streets in
the west portion of Walnut; this is in the east portion of Pottawattamie County. The property is
surrounded by residential or agricultural properties. Following is a summary of subject characteristics:

Size: Subject parcel has frontage along Oak Street with site area listed as 63,162 square feet or 1.45
acres. These dimensions were taken from public records, as no survey was provided.

Topography: Subject site appears to have sloping to level terrain generally falling from the east to the
west and is near the grade level of abutting road. This site appears to have adequate surface water
drainage.

Soils: Subject is presumed free of hazardous materials and the load bearing capacities adequate for
improvements. Obvious environmental problems were not observed. See Limiting Conditions as relate
to effects on value if environmental contamination is found on property.

Utilities: Subject has electricity, natural gas, water and sewer.

Easements/Encroachments/Restrictions: No adverse easements or encroachments were noted on the
plats and none are known.

Flood Plain/Drainage: Subject does not appear to be located in a designated flood zone, per
CorelLogic, referencing FEMA Map 19155C0375F, dated April 16, 2013 (map in report).

Zoning: City website showed this property to be zoned residential. City ordinance stated that the
County zoning code would apply. The Class R-3 District is intended to provide for residential
development. This district is also intended to facilitate the orderly expansion of incorporated
communities by limiting the density of development pending the planned extension of public or
common water and sewer services. (Ordinance #2007-01/03-09-07)

Visibility: Subject has frontage along Oak Street which is a 2-lane street handling north/south bound
traffic and carries very light traffic. The views to and from the subject are not dramatically obscured by
abutting properties or terrain. Based on these factors the subject is considered to have fair visibility
characteristics.

Access: Subject parcel has an interior location in an area of mostly residential and agricultural land
uses.. Based on this, subject is considered to have fair access characteristics.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 20
Walnut, lowa




Subject Parcel Aerial

;

s RottawaltamiesColinty Engineers

-

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 21
Walnut, lowa




Subject Plat Map

i
|
2 3 | J 165 1656 4.5
| |
0 2|
150 - |
= o
8 2 g g 8 s |2 L
= - =
150 O Q a
1 2 - :
2 2 38288 - L
) 2 § P & R
4 -
g 3 g
. E:
q
5 [ g 2 i
150
N a - 382.75
: ‘ﬂIOT 281 . ] 222 : 5
I : .
I . Sk
| |
: -
": ) 0% ¢
71 o s I8l
< | g ? B,
S |§ - | 281 22 e — a |
County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 22

Walnut, lowa



Subject Flood Map

RiskMeter

CoreLogic

705 OAK ST WALNUT, IA 51577-3084
LOCATION ACCURACY:

Flood Zone Determination Report

Flood Zone Determination: QUT

COMMUNITY 190676 PANEL 0375F

PANEL DATE April 16,2013 MAP NUMBER 19155C0375F

X500 or B Zone
2 Il A Zone
2 V Zone
I D Zone

7/, Floodway

& CBRA

>
5
5
c
o
Q

© 2022 Corelogic, Inc. All rights reserved. CORELOGIC, RISKMETER, PXPOINT and the Corelogic logo are trademarks of CoreLogic, Inc. and/or its subsidiaries. All other trademarks are the

property of their respective holders
Page 2 of 2

Report generated Jun 6, 2022 by commercial@mitchellassociates.com

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 23

Walnut, lowa



DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS OF IMPROVEMENTS

The subject property consists of one building used as a maintenance building. This building contains 2
drive-in bays an open office and a restroom it was built in 1990. The building is of pre-engineered steel
construction with metal panels on the elevations and pitched roof. There are 2 overhead doors for
vehicle entry and a pedestrian door. The building has 1,680 square feet and is located upon an interior
site with 63,162 SF. Based on my observations and public records the general building components and
their condition were summarized as follows:

STRUCTURAL FEATURES:

Footings & Foundation: Footings were not observed; foundation appears to be poured concrete.

Superstructure: Building is of pre-engineered steel construction with metal panels on the exterior
elevations and a pitched roof.

Floors: Are poured concrete, specific thickness and load-bearing capacity is unknown.

Roof: Roof is a pitched design and was covered with metal panels. It is drained by a gutter and
downspout system.

Walls: Exterior walls are metal panels.
Windows & Doors: Entry into the building is a direct entry through a metal pedestrian door in an

aluminum frame. There are no windows in the building. There were 2 overhead drive-in doors of
insulated metal construction, which were about 12’ x 15’ and electrically operated.

MECHANICAL FEATURES:

Electrical Systems: Electric service was 110/220 volt service; protected by circuit breakers.

Lighting: The building had fluorescent fixtures.
Heating & Air Conditioning: There was a gas fired tube heater
Fire Protection System: None observed

Security System: None observed

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 24
Walnut, lowa




DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS OF IMPROVEMENTS (CONTINUED)

INTERIOR:

Restrooms: There was a restroom equipped with a residential stool, sink. No specific investigation of
whether or not these facilities meet requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act was conducted
(see disclaimer in Assumptions at the conclusion of this report).

Interior Finish: The open office portion of the building has no real finish

Site Improvements: There was concrete drive in front of the building then that changes to crushed
rock, the balance of the site has turf grass.

CONDITION/DEPRECIATION:

Subject was reported to have been constructed in 1990. Therefore, it has a chronological age of 32
years. The subject was considered in average/fair condition. Therefore, it is estimated to have effective
age of 25 years. Per Marshall Valuation, buildings similar to subject would have an economic life of 40
years. Based on these factors, subject is estimated to have non-curable depreciation of 63% (25-year
effective age + 40-year economic life).

Functional Obsolescence: The subject’s layout and floor plan is typical for this type of structure in this
area.

External Obsolescence: No external obsolescence was observed (in market area description), as there
appears adequate demand for these type properties.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 25
Walnut, lowa




Building Sketch

40'

Rest Room

a
3]
=
o
c
]
=1
o

™ ™
=+ =+
4
County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 26

Walnut, lowa



INTERIOR PHOTOS

Looking toward rear

Looking toward front

Restroom

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 27
Walnut, lowa




County Maintenance Shed

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

Open office

705 Oak Street
Walnut, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 28




HIGHEST AND BEST USE

Definition: The reasonably probable and legal use of vacant land or improved property, which is
physically possible, appropriately supported, financially feasible, and results in the highest value.

Highest and best use of a specific property is not determined through subjective analysis by the
appraiser; rather, shaped by the competitive forces in the market where property is located. Therefore,
the analysis and interpretation of highest and best use is an economic study of market forces focused on
the subject. The benefit of real estate development produces for a community or amenity contribution
provided by a planned project (i.e., public space in a park-like area) is not considered in the appraiser’s
analysis of highest and best use. Also implied is that the determination of highest and best use results
from the appraiser’s judgment and analytical skills, i.e., that the use determined from analysis represents
an interpretation or opinion not a fact to be found. In appraisal practice, the concept of highest and best
use represents the premises upon which value is based. In the context of most probable selling price
(market value) another appropriate term to reflect highest and best use would be most probable use. In
the context of investment value, an alternate term would be most profitable use.

In order for a particular use or a piece of real property to be the highest and best use of that real
property, several requirements must be met:

1. The use must be legally permissible or reasonably possible.

2. The use must be physically possible on the site.

3. The use must be economically and financially feasible under projected market conditions existing.

4. The use must be the most profitable of the legally permissible, physically possible, and economically
feasible alternatives.

In estimating its market value, real property is appraised in terms of its highest and best use. Highest
and best use analysis is analogous to a feasibility study, in that it is progressive. Legally permissible or
physically possible uses are first considered. After analyzing one, the other is fully considered.

Regarding possible uses, there are five basic categories, which are:

1. Residential,

2. Commercial,

3. Industrial,

4. Agricultural, and

5. Special or public use.

After permissible and possible are concluded, economically feasible uses are next identified; that is,
those that would pay competitive return on investment in improvements as well as land. Of these, the
“maximally productive” or most profitable is highest and best use also referred to as the “ideal” use.!

In estimating highest and best use of property, the site is first analyzed as though vacant, unimproved
and available for development to its most profitable, likely, legal use. When improvementsare present,
itis necessary to estimate the highest and best use of the site as improved. In both cases, the property is
analyzed from the viewpoint of possible, permissible and feasible uses.

1 Appraisal of Real Estate, 13th Edition, Chicago

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 29
Walnut, lowa




HIGHEST AND BEST USE (CONTINUED)

SITE ‘AS IF’ VACANT

Referring to highest and best use “as if” vacant, first test is physical adaptability of land. Potential uses
include are generally commercial in nature. Agricultural uses are not physically possible due to site size
in relation to large acreage needs of modern farm operations. The 63,162 SF site appears entirely usable
and could accommodate most uses, obviously limited by its size. No adverse physical or economic
conditions were observed.

Second test is legal permissibility of use. Site is located in a residential zone which allows a variety of
other uses, so residential uses are permitted as well as county buildings, so agricultural and commercial
uses are omitted.

Third test is the financial feasibility, calling for a use generating highest return on and of investment.
The site is located along Oak Street, a lightly traveled street. Office and retail users would not find the
site attractive due to the minimal traffic and surrounding residential, properties. Civic users are often
not-for-profit entities that operate on limited budgets. As a result, civic users would likely not be
willing to pay as much as a residential or industrial user for a site with the subject characteristics.

Based on site size, zoning, economic and physical characteristics, it is my judgment that the highest and
best use, as if vacant, would be for residential use within the scope of the present zoning.

“AS IMPROVED”

The four tests of highest and best use, (legal permissibility, physical possibility, financial feasibility
and maximum productivity) can be applied to the property “as improved” to determine the use that
will maximize the subject property’s value. The use maximizing the highest value is the highest and
best use of the property “as improved.”

The four basic courses of action that can be applied to a property are:

To demolish improvements and redevelop the site for a new use; or

To modify improvements (e.g. renovate, modernize, or convert), or

To cure items of deferred maintenance and retain the improvements; or
To maintain the improvements “as is”

| analyzed the four courses of action for the subject mixed-use building, in keeping with the four
main tests of highest and best use, with my analysis described in the following paragraphs:

Demolish & Redevelop: The existing improvements contribute to site value (concluded in large part
by competing properties), and it would not be financially feasible to demolish them in order to
redevelop the land for some alternate use. Therefore, this option is eliminated on grounds of financial
feasibility.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 30
Walnut, lowa




HIGHEST AND BEST USE (CONTINUED)

“AS IMPROVED” (CONTINUED)

Modify Improvements: | was unable to identify modifications or conversions of existing
improvements that would increase property value by an amount greater than anticipated cost of
modifications or conversions. Therefore, the option to modify improvements is eliminated on grounds
it would not maximize property value.

Cure Deferred Maintenance or Maintain Improvements: Subject is considered in average/fair
condition, with some minor deferred maintenance observed. The cost to cure this deficiency is not
considered to increase the value beyond the costs of those improvements. Therefore, the option to
cure deferred maintenance is ruled out.

The only remaining course of action meeting tests of legal permissibility, physical possibility,
financial feasibility, and maximum productivity is to continue current use of the subject as a light
industrial or maintenance building.

EXPOSURE TIME

In order to sell property, it must be exposed to the open market. The following discussion is
provided to illustrate current market conditions and estimate exposure time needed to market subject.

Exposure time may be defined as estimated length of time a property interest being appraised would
have been offered on the open market prior to a hypothetical consummation of sale at market value
on effective date of the appraisal; a retrospective estimate based on analysis of past events assuming
a competitive, open market.

The concept of reasonable exposure time encompasses not only adequate, sufficient, reasonable
time, but also adequate, sufficient, reasonable effort and considers type property being appraised,
supply/ demand conditions, as of effective date of appraisal and analysis of historical sales
information (sold after exposure and completion of negotiations between buyer/seller). Therefore,
reasonable exposure time is a function of price and use, not an isolated estimate of time. Reasonable
exposure is always presumed to precede effective date of appraisal and differs for various types of
real estate under various market conditions. Therefore, my estimate of 12-18 months exposure time
is based on subject’s determined highest and best use in a highly competitive retail market
evidencing some demand (albeit limited) for the type of space offered, its highly desirable location,
but also factoring the slowdown in the real estate market over the past couple years caused by
recessionary conditions.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 31
Walnut, lowa




HIGHEST AND BEST USE (CONTINUED)

MARKETING TIME

Marketing time for the purpose of this report, is defined as an estimated amount of time it might
take to sell a property interest in real estate at estimated market value during the period immediately
after the effective date of the appraisal.”

As with reasonable exposure time, estimated marketing time is not intended as a prediction of a date
of sale or a one-line statement. The concept of marketing time encompasses other market conditions
that may affect marketing, e.g., identification of typical buyers/sellers for type of real estate
involved, typical equity investment levels, and/or financing terms. Therefore, reasonable marketing
time is a function of price, use, and anticipated market conditions such as changes in cost/availability
of funds, not an isolated estimate of time. Marketing time occurs after effective date of market value
estimate and considers such brokerage functions as advertising, arranging financing and marketing
property to specific investors. Estimates of both reasonable exposure and marketing times are not
predictions, rather only judgments made by an appraiser.

Properties similar to the subject would appeal primarily to owners due to the single tenant design of
the subject. A market search done as part of this appraisal provided limited data and, as a result,
accurately estimating exact time needed to market the property was subjective, but area brokers
reported recent marketing times for most reasonably priced commercial properties in metro as
ranging from 1-24 months. The real estate market slowed in late 2007 due to recessionary
conditions, and this slowdown was magnified by the destabilization of the financial markets in
October 2008. Loans are still available for qualified borrowers, but typically at lower loan-to-value
ratios, mitigating lender risk. Present rates (as of effective date of this report) range from 4.5% to 6%
with terms of 3-30 years and amortizations of 15-30 years. Therefore, | concluded if subject were
listed for sale in the current market at/near appraised value, reasonable marketing time is anticipated
within 12 months, assuming the offering is placed with a competent broker active in the area and
experienced with this property type. Real estate brokerage commissions in the area for this property
type typically are near 4%-7% of gross sale price. Market also reacts more quickly to properties with
attractive price/ value ratios, tending to neglect those perceived as unrealistically priced. Skill of
those marketing property can also influence exposure time needed to consummate a sale, as well as
the overall economic environment in which property exists. Therefore, the abovementioned
marketing time is considered reasonably well supported, but is not guaranteed.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 32
Walnut, lowa




COST APPROACH

The purpose of the Cost Approach isto estimate a Market Value for the subject property based upon the
cost to construct a new property that enjoys the same utility as the subject property. This approach is
based upon the principle of substitution, as it is assumed that a knowledgeable purchaser would not pay
more for a property than the cost to build a new one. The improvements are literally constructed “on
paper’ and then any accrued depreciation is subtracted from this value. This depreciated value estimate
is then added to the Market Value off the subject site in its highest and best use to arrive at an estimate
of value for the property as a whole. More specifically, the steps of the Cost Approach are as follows:

Estimate the value of the site in its highest and best use as if vacant.
Estimate the replacement cost new of all of the improvements.
Estimate accrued depreciation from all sources.

Deduct accrued depreciation from the cost new.

o M L d o

Add the estimated value of the site to arrive at a value for the entire property by the Cost
Approach.

Due to the older age of the original building, the reliability of this approach is diminished, so it
was not developed in this report.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 33
Walnut, lowa




DIRECT SALES COMPARISON APPROACH

The Direct Sales Comparison Approach (also known as the Market Data Approach) is the process in
which a market value estimate is derived by analyzing the market for similar properties and comparing
these properties to the subject property. This approach is premised upon the principle of substitution
which suggests that a prudent person will not pay more to purchase a property than it will cost him or
her to purchase an equally desirable substitute property. Another basic premise of the Direct Sales
Comparison Approach is that the market value of a property is directly related to the prices of
comparable, competitive properties.*

The comparative analysis performed in this approach focuses on similarities and differences among
properties and transactions observed in the market which affect value. These similarities and
differences then serve as points of comparison between the market data and the subject property.
Typically, the major points of comparison are:

Property Rights Conveyed
Financing Terms
Condition of Sale

Time

Physical Characteristics
Economic Characteristics

A sale of a property that is an exact duplicate of the subject property would be an important and ideal
indication of value. In reality, no two properties are exactly alike. As a result, an adjustment process is
used when analyzing the major points of comparison.

The known sales with the greatest degree of comparability used in this analysis are adjusted for the
difference between the comparable and the subject property. Adjustments are always made FROM the
comparable TO the subject property. For example, if the comparable property sold two years ago and
market analysis suggests that prices have increased 5%, then the sale price of the comparable would be
increased by 5% to give the indication of value for the subject. Conversely, if the comparable property
was in a superior location as compared to the subject and this difference was estimated at 5%, a
negative adjustment of 5% would be applied to the sale price of the comparable to give the indication of
value for the subject. The adjustments for different physical and economic characteristics are handled
in the same manner. Adjustments may be by percentages or by dollar amounts or both.

No sales of similar properties were found in Avoca, Walnut, Griswold or Hancock; therefore, | utilized
sales from Council Bluffs. Following are descriptions of known industrial, commercial or mixed use
properties which sold in recent years in the Council Bluffs metropolitan area. After the sales, | have
shown location maps, adjustment grids, explanation and my final conclusions of the subject property
market value from this approach.

1 Appraisal of Real Estate, 13th Edition, Chicago

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 34
Walnut, lowa




821 S 27th St
Council Bluffs, 1A 51501

for $225,000 - Public Record

buyer
A Vital Corp

23319 Hunt Ave
Council Bluffs, IA 51503

seller

Boetel Charles B

Class C Manufacturing Building of 3,100 SF Sold on 11/9/2021

vital data

Escrow/Contract: -
Days on Market: -

Conditions: -

Parking Spaces: 2
Parking Ratio: -

Lot Dimensions: -
Frontage: -

income expense data

financing

Sale Date:  11/9/2021
Exchange: No
Land Area SF: 10,890
Acres:  0.25

$/SF Land Gross:  $20.66
Year Built, Age: 1972 Age: 49

FAR 0.28

Tenancy: Single
Comp ID: 5782756

Sale Price:
Status:

Building SF:
Price/SF:

Pro Forma Cap Rate:
Actual Cap Rate:
Down Pmnt:

Pct Down:

Doc No:

Trans Tax:
Corner:

Zoning:

Percent Improved:
Submarket:

Map Page:

Parcel No:
Property Type:

Listing Broker

Expenses - Taxes $5,368
- Operating Expenses
Total Expenses $5,368

Buyer Broker

$225,000

3,100 SF
$72.58

000000018837

No

84.9%
Downtown Council Bluffs |

7544-34-402-001
Industrial

ﬁ © 2022 CoStar Group - Licensed to Mitchell & Associates, Inc. - 580570. 5/13/2022
County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 35

Walnut, lowa



717 Veterans Memorial Hwy

Council Bluffs, IA 51501

Class C Service Building of 3,456 SF Sold on 5/27/2021 for

$450,000 - Public Record

buyer

Georgi lvanov

717 Veterans Memorial Hwy

Council Bluffs, IA 51501

seller

Harter Chris & Mildred D

vital data
Escrow/Contract: - Sale Price:  $450,000
Sale Date:  5/27/2021 Status: -
Days on Market: - Building SF: 3,456 SF
Exchange: No Price/SF:  $130.21
Conditions: - Pro Forma Cap Rate: -
Land Area SF: 148,104 Actual Cap Rate: -
Acres: 3.4 Down Pmnt: -
$/SF Land Gross:  $3.04 Pct Down: -
Year Built, Age: 1981 Age: 40 Doc No: 000000009277
Parking Spaces: - Trans Tax: -
Parking Ratio:  0/1000 SF Corner:  No
FAR 0.02 Zoning:  Industrial
Lot Dimensions: - Percent Improved:  18.4%
Frontage: - Submarket:  Council Bluffs Ind
Tenancy: Single Map Page: -
Comp ID: 5576734 Parcel No:  7444-12-353-006
Property Type: Industrial
income expense data }Llsting Broker
Expenses - Taxes $14,241
- Operating Expenses
Total Expenses $14,241
Buyer Broker
financing

ﬁ © 2022 CoStar Group - Licensed to Mitchell & Associates, Inc. - 580570. 5/13/2022

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
© Copyright 2022 Page 36

County Maintenance Shed
705 Oak Street
Walnut, lowa




Comparable #3

Property Identification

Sale ID 4258

Address 1005 South 17th Street
Council Bluffs, lowa

Market Council Bluffs

Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 2,400 SF
Gross Leasable Area 2,400 SF
Finish - Above Grade 416 SF
Eave Height 14.00'
Construction Average Quality, Class S
Built/Remodeled 1998/
Condition Average

Transaction

Sale Date July 17, 2019
Contract Price $192,500

Contract $80.21
Price/SF GBA

Contract $80.21
Price/SF GLA

Adjusted Price $192,500

Adjusted $80.21
Price/SF GBA

Adjusted $80.21
Price/SF GLA

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial

Legal Description Lots 1-2 and the west 20" of Lot 3
including the north 1/2 of the vacated
adjacent alley, Block 11, Fleming &
Davis

Gross Site Size 10,880 SF
Usable Site Size 10,880 SF
Zoning |I-2
Features Fenced, Mezzanine
Fire Sprinkler

Conditions of Sale Normal
Property Rights Fee Simple
Grantor All Pro Towing, LLC
Grantee Perfect Diamond Lawns, LLC
Recorded Warranty Deed 2019-09108
Source Broker

The property previously sold February 2017, for $160,000. The 2019 sale represents appreciation near 8% per year.

County Maintenance Shed

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

705 Oak Street
Walnut, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 37



Comparable #4

Property Identification

Sale ID 4269

Address 919 South 15th Street
Council Bluffs, lowa

Market Council Bluffs

Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 2,592 SF
Gross Leasable Area 2,592 SF
Finish - Above Grade 348 SF
Eave Height 12.00'
Construction Average Quality, Class D
Built/Remodeled 2006/
Condition Average

Transaction

Sale Date October 05, 2018
Contract Price $160,000

Contract $61.73
Price/SF GBA

Contract $61.73
Price/SF GLA

Adjusted Price $160,000

Adjusted $61.73
Price/SF GBA

Adjusted $61.73
Price/SF GLA

County Maintenance Shed

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial

Legal Description Lots 15 and 16, Block 8, Fleming &

Davis Subdivision and part of the
vacated alley

Gross Site Size 8,160 SF
Usable Site Size 8,160 SF
Zoning |I-2
Features Fenced, Mezzanine
Fire Sprinkler

Conditions of Sale Normal
Property Rights Fee Simple
Grantor Fouts Investments, LLC
Grantee L & T Properties, LLC
Recorded Warranty Deed 2018-13139
Source Public Records, Broker

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

705 Oak Street
Walnut, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 38



Comparable #5

Property Identification

Sale ID 4326

Address 712 South 15th Street
Council Bluffs, lowa

Market Council Bluffs

Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 2,000 SF
Gross Leasable Area 2,000 SF
Finish - Above Grade 444 SF
Eave Height 16.00'
Construction Average Quality, Class D
Built/Remodeled 2006/
Condition Average

Transaction

Sale Date February 11, 2020
Contract Price $170,000

Contract $85.00
Price/SF GBA

Contract $85.00
Price/SF GLA

Adjusted Price $170,000

Adjusted $85.00
Price/SF GBA

Adjusted $85.00
Price/SF GLA

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial

Legal Description South 1/2 of Lost 5 and 6, Block 32,

Everetts Addition

Gross Site Size 8,160 SF
Usable Site Size 8,160 SF
Zoning I-1
Features Fenced
Fire Sprinkler

Conditions of Sale Normal
Property Rights Fee Simple
Grantor ZaCar Corp
Grantee T & G Carper, LLC
Recorded Warranty Deed 2020/01996
Source Public Records, CoStar

This sale represents appreciation of 1.15% per year from previous sale in 2014.

County Maintenance Shed

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

705 Oak Street
Walnut, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 39



Comparable #6

Property Identification

Sale ID 4328

Address 1516 Avenue C
Council Bluffs, lowa

Market Council Bluffs
Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 2,400 SF
Gross Leasable Area 2,400 SF
Finish - Above Grade 316 SF
Eave Height 12.00'
Construction Average Quality, Class S
Built/Remodeled 1981/
Condition Average

Transaction

Sale Date January 03, 2019
Contract Price $210,000

Contract $87.50
Price/SF GBA

Contract $87.50
Price/SF GLA

Adjusted Price $210,000
Adjusted $87.50

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial

Legal Description Lots 1, 2, and part of Lot 3, Block 3,
Beers Subdivision

Gross Site Size 14,705 SF
Usable Site Size 14,705 SF
Zoning C-2
Features Fenced
Fire Sprinkler

Conditions of Sale Normal
Property Rights Fee Simple
Grantor Cooks Towing & Repair, Inc
Grantee DHI, LLC
Recorded Warranty Deed 2019-00195
Source Public Records

Price/SF GBA
Adjusted $87.50
Price/SF GLA
County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 40

Walnut, lowa



Comparable #7

Property Identification

Sale ID 4329

Address 1324 9th Avenue
Council Bluffs, lowa

Market Council Bluffs

Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 3,520 SF
Gross Leasable Area 3,520 SF
Finish - Above Grade 720 SF
Eave Height 10.00'
Construction Average Quality, Class C
Built/Remodeled 1988/
Condition Average

Transaction

Sale Date September 13, 2018
Contract Price $215,000

Contract $61.08
Price/SF GBA

Contract $61.08
Price/SF GLA

Adjusted Price $215,000

Adjusted $61.08
Price/SF GBA

Adjusted $61.08
Price/SF GLA

County Maintenance Shed

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial

Legal Description Lots 6-7, Part of Lot 8, Block 26,
Riddles Subdivision

Gross Site Size 12,194 SF
Usable Site Size 12,194 SF
Zoning I-1
Features Fenced
Fire Sprinkler

Conditions of Sale Normal
Property Rights Fee Simple
Grantor L & T Properties, LLC
Grantee Michael John Kilnoski
Recorded Warranty Deed 2018-12027
Source Public Records

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

705 Oak Street
Walnut, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 41



Comparable #8

Property Identification

Sale ID 4811

Address 2414 9th Avenue
Council Bluffs, lowa

Market Council Bluffs
Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 5,400 SF
Gross Leasable Area 5,400 SF
Finish - Above Grade 1,196 SF
Eave Height 12.00'
Construction Good Quality, Class S
Built/Remodeled 2010/
Condition Good

Transaction

Sale Date September 23, 2020
Contract Price $390,000

Contract $72.22
Price/SF GBA

Contract $72.22
Price/SF GLA

Adjusted Price $390,000

Adjusted $72.22
Price/SF GBA

Adjusted $72.22
Price/SF GLA

Broker noted there was a lot of interest in the property. Sale represents annual appreciation near 5.90% from its 2011

sale.

County Maintenance Shed

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial

Legal Description Part of Lots 3-5, Block 1 and part of
Lot 9, Block 17, Ninth Avenue
Addition

Gross Site Size 13,890 SF
Usable Site Size 13,890 SF
Zoning I-1
Features
Fire Sprinkler

Conditions of Sale Normal
Property Rights Fee Simple
Grantor Jo Ter Ran Investments, LLC
Grantee Ht 9th Ave, LLC
Recorded Warranty Deed 2020-13944
Source Public Records, Broker

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

705 Oak Street
Walnut, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 42



Avoca, IA 51521

buyer

2101 N Lavista Heights Rd

Class C Warehouse Building of 26,470 SF Sold on 6/4/2021 for
$582,000 - Research Complete

Taylor Dieckman
14803 Black St
Bennington, NE 68007
(402) 677-0761

seller
Joyce Mez

1523 N Willow St
Avoca, IA 51521

(712) 343-6354
vital data
Escrow/Contract: -
Sale Date:  6/4/2021
Days on Market: -
Exchange: No
Conditions: -
Land Area SF: 130,680
Acres: 3
$/SF Land Gross:  $4.45
Year Built, Age: 2005 Age: 16
Parking Spaces: -
Parking Ratio: -
FAR 0.20
Lot Dimensions: -
Frontage: -
Tenancy: -
Comp ID: 5576738
income expense data
Expenses - Taxes $15,976
- Operating Expenses
Total Expenses $15,976
financing

Sale Price:
Status:

Building SF:
Price/SF:

Pro Forma Cap Rate:
Actual Cap Rate:
Down Pmnt:

Pct Down:

Doc No:

Trans Tax:
Corner:

Zoning:

No Tenants:
Percent Improved:
Submarket:

Map Page:

Parcel No:
Property Type:

_Listinrgr Broker

Buyer Broker

$582,000
Full Value
26,470 SF
$21.99

000000008923

No

Industrial

1

72.1%

E Pottawattamie County In
7739-04-401-001

Industrial

rﬁ © 2022 CoStar Group - Licensed to Mitchell & Associates, Inc. - 580570. 512712022
County showed this as a multi-parcel sale so it was not investigated further.
County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 43

Walnut, lowa



Sales Map

(ST

(53] Walnut

Minden

Honey'Creek

Haneock

Creseent

Qakiand

g Carson
Freyner

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 44
Walnut, lowa




DIRECT SALES COMPARISON APPROACH (CONTINUED)

Comparable Sales Grid

SUBJECT SALE #1: SALE #2: SALE #3: SALE #4:
PROPERTY 821 So 27th Street 717 Veterans Mem Hy |1005 So 17th Street 919 So 15th Street
705 Oak Street Council Bluffs, lowa Council Bluffs, lowa Council Bluffs, lowa Council Bluffs, lowa
Walnut, lowa ADJUSTED| ADJUSTED ADJUSTED| ADJUSTED|
SALE PRICE N/A $225,000 $450,000 $192,500 $160,000
SALE PRICE/SF N/A $72.58 $130.21 $80.21 $61.73
GIM/OCR NA/NA NA/NA NA/NA NA/NA NA/NA
MARKET ADJUSTMENTS
PROPERTY RIGHTS CONVEYED Fee Simple Similar 0% [Similar 0% |Similar 0% |Similar 0%
$225,000 $450,000 $192,500 $160,000
FINANCING N/A Cash 0%|Cash 0%|Cash 0%]Cash 0%
$225,000 $450,000 $192,500! $160,000
CONDITION OF SALE N/A Normal 0% [Normal 0% |Normal 0% [Normal 0%
$225,000 $450,000 $192,500 $160,000
DATE OF SALE May-22 Now-21 2%(May-21 3%|Jul-19 7%|(Oct-18 11%
(Inspection) $229,500 $463,500 $205,975 $177,600
PHYSICAL ADJUSTMENTS (LUMP SUM)
BUILDING SIZE/SF 1,680 3,100 0%(3,456 0%]2,400 0%(2,592 0%
LOCATION/SITE Walnut Co Bluffs -25%(Co Bluffs -25% (Co Bluffs -25%|Co Bluffs -25%
QUALITY OF CONSTRUCTION Average/Cls S Aw/Cls C -5%|Aw/Cls S 0%|Aw/Cls S 0%|Aw/Cls S 0%
INTERIOR FINISH Minimal 5% 0%]3% 0%(17% -5%]|13% -3%
AGE/CONDITION 32/Average/Fair 49/Avgy 7% |40/ AvFr 4%|21/Awg -9%|(12/Awy -14%
SITE TO BUILDING RATIO 37.60:1 3.51:1 8%(42.85:1 -2%(4.5:1 8%(3.14:1 9%
AMENITIES None None 0% |None 0%|Fenced -3%|Fenced -3%
NET PERCENTAGE LUMP SUM ADJUSTMENTS -15% -23% -34% -36%
FINAL ADJUSTED PRICE $195,075 $356,895 $135,944 $113,664
FINAL ADJUSTED PRICE/SF $62.93 $103.27 $56.64 $43.85
TOTAL NET ADJUSTMENTS -13% -20% -27% -25%
TOTAL GROSS ADJUSTMENTS 39% 32% 49% 56%
County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 45

Walnut, lowa



DIRECT SALES COMPARISON APPROACH (CONTINUED)

Comparable Sales Grid

SUBJECT SALE #5: SALE #6: SALE #7: SALE 8:
PROPERTY 712 So 15t Street 1516 Avenue C 1324 9th Avenue 2414 9th Avenue
705 Oak Street Council Bluffs, lowa Council Bluffs, lowa Council Bluffs, lowa Council Bluffs, lowa
Walnut, lowa ADJUSTED| ADJUSTED, ADJUSTED, ADJUSTED
SALE PRICE N/A $170,000 $210,000 $215,000 $390,000
SALE PRICE/SF N/A $85.00 $87.50 $61.08 $72.22
GIM/OCR NA/NA NA/NA NA/NA NA/NA NA/NA
MARKET ADJUSTMENTS
PROPERTY RIGHTS CONVEYED Fee Simple Similar 0%|Similar 0%|Similar 0% |Similar 0%
$170,000 $210,000 $215,000 $390,000
FINANCING N/A Cash 0%|Cash 0%|Cash 0% |Cash 0%
$170,000 $210,000 $215,000 $390,000
CONDITION OF SALE N/A Normal 0% |Normal 0% |Normal 0% |Normal 0%
$170,000 $210,000 $215,000 $390,000
DATE OF SALE May-22 Feb-20 6% (Jan-19 9%|Sep-18 11%|Sep-20 5%
(Inspection) $180,200 $228,900 $238,650 $409,500
PHYSICAL ADJUSTMENTS (LUMP SUM)
BUILDING SIZE/SF 1,680 2,000 0%)]2,400 0%]3,520 0%]5,400 0%
LOCATION/SITE Walnut Co Bluffs -25%|Co Bluffs -25% | Co Bluffs -25% (Co Bluffs -25%
QUALITY OF CONSTRUCTION Average/Cls S Aw/Cls D 0%|Aw/Cls S 0%|Aw/Cls C -5%|Gd/Cls S 0%
INTERIOR FINISH Minimal 22% -8%13% -3%(20% -7%(22% -8%
AGE/CONDITION 32/Average/Fair 14/Avg -13%|38/Avg 2%|30/Avg -1%|10/Gd -16%
SITE TO BUILDING RATIO 37.60:1 4.08:1 8%]6.13:1 8%|3.46:1 9%|2.57:1 9%
AMENITIES None Fenced -3%|Fenced -3%|Fenced -3%|None 0%
NET PERCENTAGE LUMP SUM ADJUSTMENTS -41% -21% -32% -40%
FINAL ADJUSTED PRICE $106,318 $180,831 $162,282 $245,700
FINAL ADJUSTED PRICE/SF $53.16 $75.35 $46.10 $45.50
TOTAL NET ADJUSTMENTS -35% -12% -21% -35%
TOTAL GROSS ADJUSTMENTS 55% 42% 52% 54%
County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 46

Walnut, lowa



DIRECT SALES COMPARISON APPROACH (CONTINUED)

ADJUSTMENT RATIONALE

The preceding represents the only known sales of industrial properties considered of similar condition,
design, use, and/or location in Pottawattamie County or competing areas of the metro. All these
properties were considered to be similar to the subject, but did require some adjusting to make them
equal to subject. Sale prices were reduced to the common denominator of price per square foot of
GBA, as this is a normal unit of measurement in market buying and selling decisions.

Market Condition Adjustments

Adjustments were not required for property rights conveyed, financing, or condition of sale, as all were
considered normal for the market.

All the sales were considered for adjustment due to date of sale. | observed a general increase in
property values in the metro area over the past few years, typically ranging from 3% to 4% annually
until late 2007 when recessionary conditions began. The market slowdown was magnified following
destabilization of the financial markets in October 2008, demonstrated by the lack of known sales
occurring since that time. The market has been improving since 2010 and therefore, | applied anannual
appreciation to these sales of 3% after that time.

Physical Condition Adjustments

The sales are typically adjusted for the relative improvement size difference with the subject building,
due to dissimilar sizes and economies of scale. Adjustments were not considered necessary as all were
similar in size to subject.

Adjustments were considered for overall construction quality. Adjustments were derived from Marshall
Valuation Service estimated costs to bring properties equal to the subject and from the market reaction
to these differences.

Adjustments for age of improvements were given as typically buyers are concerned about remaining
economic life of property. A rounded 1/2% per year of difference with subject age was derived as an
appropriate adjustment and applied accordingly. Additional adjustments for condition were applied
separately, based on cost estimates to bring properties equal and accounts for the effective age of the
improvements.

Adjustments for amenities were also considered as properties with additional features, such as fencing
generally yield higher sale prices. Subject has no amenities, #3 through #7 had fencing, so those sales
received negative adjustments the remining sales had no amenities so no adjustments were applied to all
these sales.

Adjustments for location were considered as all of these properties were located in areas with more
dense development than the subject so large negative adjustments were applied. Based upon paired sale
analysis between a property in Avoca and several in Council Bluffs, which indicated a 53% difference
rounded to 25% due to this properties good location in town.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 47
Walnut, lowa




DIRECT SALES COMPARISON APPROACH (CONTINUED)

RECONCILIATION

Before adjusting, the sale prices ranged from $61.08/SF in Sale #7 to $130.21/SF in Sale #2. After the
aforementioned adjustments were applied, the indicated values ranged from $43.85/SF in Sale #4 to
$103.27/SF in Sale #2. Net percentage adjustments ranged from -35% to -12% while gross adjustments
ranged from 32% to 56%.

Generally, sales with the smallest amount of adjustment are the best indicators of value. All sales
required very large adjustments, therefore, no single sale was more persuasive than another. The
majority of the sales 5 out of 8 indicated values from $43.85 to $56.64/SF. Therefore, a value estimate
for the subject within that range would have the broadest support. Three remaining sales indicated
higher values from $62.93/SF to $103.27/SF.

The market search revealed no similar properties on the market currently:

Therefore, based on the foregoing data and analysis, I estimated ‘as is’ market value of the subject at
$60.00/SF, as of the effective date of this report with the total value developed as follows:

Indicated Value X Gross Bldg Size = Total Rounded to
$60.00/SF X 1,680 SF = $100,800 $100,000
County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 48

Walnut, lowa



INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH

From an investor’s perspective, the earning power of a real estate investment is the critical element
affecting its value. The fundamental investment premise is the higher the earnings the higher the value.
Investment in an income-producing property represents the exchange of present dollars for the right to
receive future dollars. In the Income Capitalization Approach to value, the appraiser analyzes a
property’s capacity to generate benefits and converts these benefits into an indication of present value.t

The basic steps involved in this approach are:

Estimate potential gross income;

Estimate and deduct a vacancy and collection loss allowance;
Estimate and deduct expenses;

Estimate duration and pattern of income stream;

Select an applicable capitalization method and technique;

Develop the appropriate rate;

Complete the computations necessary to derive an economic value.

Nog~wpdE

The primary reason for making gross income estimates is to identify probable net income benefits that
may be derived from ownership interest of the income-producing property. In accepted appraisal
practice, the usual basis for a gross income projection is economic rent. Economic (market) rent is
defined as being the rental income that a property would most probably command in the open market; it
is indicated by current rents paid and asked for comparable space as of the date of the appraisal.

Income Analysis

Subject property is presently owner occupied therefore, no rental information on the property is known.

Comparable properties found are summarized on the following pages. Operating expenses were
estimated from actual historic operating statements from expenses for commercial properties | have
observed in the metro area combined with national investor surveys.

1 The Appraisal of Real Estate, 13th Edition, Chicago

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 49
Walnut, lowa




Comparable #1

Property ldentification

Lease ID 1012

Address 1310 South 17th Street
Council Bluffs, lowa

Market Council Bluffs

Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 14,000 SF
Finish - Above Grade 2,200 SF
Construction Average Quality, Class C
Built/Remodeled 2003/
Condition Average
Height 18.00'

Transaction

Leased Area 14,000 SF
Lease Date February 28, 2018
Lease Term February 28, 2018 - January 31, 2023
Starting Base Rent $5.20/SF
Rent Description Fixed for lease.

Starting Additional
Rent

Expense Terms Triple Net

County Maintenance Shed

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial
Legal Description Lots 1-8, Block 21 Fleming & Davis

Gross Site Size 60,984 SF
Usable Site Size 60,984 SF
Zoning 1-2
Features

Lessee
dba MP Nexlevel

Source Broker
Concession Amount N/A

Concessions
Description

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

705 Oak Street
Walnut, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 50



Comparable #2

D £ i ik

Property Identification

Lease ID 1398

Address 15 South 20th Street
Council Bluffs, lowa

Market Council Bluffs

Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 9,120 SF
Finish - Above Grade N/A
Construction Average Quality, Class C
Built/Remodeled 1979/
Condition Fair
Height N/A

Transaction

Leased Area 9,120 SF
Lease Date August 01, 2018
Lease Term September 01, 2018 - August 31,
2023

Starting Base Rent $5.75/SF
Rent Description

Starting Additional
Rent

Expense Terms Triple Net

County Maintenance Shed

Property Type Commercial :: Vehicle-Related -
Service

Legal Description

Gross Site Size 40,692 SF
Usable Site Size 40,692 SF
Zoning C-2
Features

Lessee
dba Jake's Towing and Transport

Source CoStar
Concession Amount N/A

Concessions
Description

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

705 Oak Street
Walnut, lowa

© Copyright 2022



Comparable #3

Property Identification

Lease ID 1013

Address 3319 Nebraska Avenue
Council Bluffs, lowa

Market Council Bluffs

Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 41,760 SF
Finish - Above Grade N/A
Construction Average Quality, Class C
Built/Remodeled 1969/
Condition Average
Height 13.00'

Transaction

Leased Area 7,020 SF
Lease Date October 11, 2018
Lease Term October 11, 2018 - October 10, 2021
Starting Base Rent $4.35/SF
Rent Description Fixed for term.

Starting Additional
Rent

Expense Terms Triple Net

County Maintenance Shed

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial
Legal Description

Gross Site Size 100,188 SF
Usable Site Size 100,188 SF
Zoning 1-2

Features

Lessee
dba McDowell Roofing

Source Broker
Concession Amount N/A

Concessions
Description

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

705 Oak Street
Walnut, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 52



Comparable #4

T

Property ldentification

Lease ID 1014

Address 2110 23rd Avenue
Council Bluffs, lowa

Market Council Bluffs

Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 5,000 SF
Finish - Above Grade N/A
Construction Average Quality, Class S
Built/Remodeled 2003/
Condition Average
Height N/A

Transaction

Leased Area 2,700 SF
Lease Date October 19, 2018
Lease Term November 19, 2018 -
Starting Base Rent $7.11/SF

Rent Description 7.78/SF in Year 2
8.22/SF in Year 3

Starting Additional
Rent

Expense Terms Gross

Garage space with mezzanine office.

County Maintenance Shed

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial

Legal Description Lots 8-12, Block 11, Railroad
Addition

Gross Site Size 25,245 SF
Usable Site Size 25,245 SF
Zoning 1-2
Features

Lessee
dba Syndicate Diesel

Source Broker
Concession Amount N/A

Concessions One month of free rent
Description

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

705 Oak Street
Walnut, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 53



Comparable #5

Property Identification

Lease ID 1242

Address 1305 Lew Ross Road
Council Bluffs, lowa

Market Council Bluffs

Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 17,840 SF
Finish - Above Grade 6,244 SF
Construction Average Quality, Class D
Built/Remodeled 1996/
Condition Good
Height 14.00'

Transaction

Leased Area 8,000 SF
Lease Date April 22, 2019
Lease Term May 01, 2019 - April 30, 2022
Starting Base Rent $6.95/SF
Rent Description

Starting Additional
Rent

Expense Terms Triple Net

County Maintenance Shed

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial

Legal Description Lots 5 & 6, Block 2, First Foundation
Sub., Council Bluffs, Pottawattamie
County, 1A

Gross Site Size 87,555 SF

Usable Site Size 87,555 SF
Zoning
Features

Lessee
dba New Covenant Electronics

Source CoStar Confirmation
Concession Amount N/A

Concessions
Description

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

705 Oak Street
Walnut, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 54



Comparable #6

Property Identification

Lease ID 1369 Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial
Address 1220 35th Avenue Legal Description Lot 6, 2nd Foundation Subdivision
Council Bluffs, lowa Phase II

Market Council Bluffs

Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 14,000 SF Gross Site Size 43,995 SF
Finish - Above Grade N/A Usable Site Size 43,995 SF
Construction Good Quality, Class S Zoning 1-2
Built/Remodeled 2005/ Features
Condition Good
Height 18.00'

Transaction

Leased Area 3,700 SF Lessee
Lease Date June 30, 2019 dba Safariworks Decor
Lease Term August 29, 2019 - _ Source Costar
Starting Base Rent $6.00/SF Concession Amqunt N/A
Rent Description %Oeggifslt?g:
Starting Additional P
Rent

Expense Terms Triple Net

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 55
Walnut, lowa




Comparable #7

Property Identification

Lease ID 1368

Address 1220 35th Avenue
Council Bluffs, lowa

Market Council Bluffs

Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 14,000 SF
Finish - Above Grade N/A
Construction Good Quality, Class S
Built/Remodeled 2005/
Condition Good
Height 18.00'

Transaction

Leased Area 7,000 SF
Lease Date December 01, 2019
Lease Term December 01, 2019 -
Starting Base Rent $5.25/SF
Rent Description

Starting Additional
Rent

Expense Terms Triple Net

County Maintenance Shed

Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial

Legal Description Lot 6, 2nd Foundation Subdivision
Phase II

Gross Site Size 43,995 SF
Usable Site Size 43,995 SF
Zoning 1-2
Features

Lessee
dba Caeser's Entertainment

Source CoStar
Concession Amount N/A

Concessions
Description

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

705 Oak Street
Walnut, lowa

© Copyright 2022 Page 56



Comparable #8

Photograph from Pottawattamie County Assessor

Property ldentification

Lease ID 1588 Property Type Industrial :: Light Industrial
Address 1309 Avenue J Legal Description Lots 1-3, Block 8, Potter-Cobbs First
Council Bluffs, lowa Addition

Market 13th & Avenue J

Property Characteristics

Gross Building Area 4,160 SF Gross Site Size 15,730 SF
Finish - Above Grade 784 SF Usable Site Size 15,730 SF
Construction Average Quality, Class D Zoning 1-2
Built/Remodeled 1986/ Features
Condition Average
Height 12.00'

Transaction

Leased Area 4,160 SF Lessee Brown Heavy Equipment
Lease Date October 31, 2021 Source CoStar; Marketing Brochure
Lease Term November 02, 2021 - Concession Amount N/A
Starting Base Rent $8.25/SF Concessions
Rent Description Description
Starting Additional
Rent

Expense Terms Triple Net

Net expenses were $1.44/SF for taxes and insurance, and tenant to provide maintenance at own expense.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 57
Walnut, lowa




Comparable Rentals Map

Beebeetown

Honey'Creek

Underwood
obt

~ Crescent

.‘&

County Maintenance Shed

Minden

sFreynor

Shelby
(S)

",

Aveca ® Walnut

Hanecoek:

Qakland

Carson

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

705 Oak Street
Walnut, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 58



INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH (CONTINUED)

MARKET LEASE RATE ANALYSIS AND CONCLUSION

No comparables of similar properties was found in Walnut. Council Bluffs did have some comparables
which reported rental rates of $4.35/SF to $10.50/SF, on triple net and gross terms. These comparables
are considered to be similar to subject but in superior locations and would be fairly competitive with it
in the current market. As the subject was in fair/average condition; it is my opinion the market rent for
the subject would be reasonable at $6.00/SF on triple net terms.

Miscellaneous Income: Some properties similar to subject in this area receive additional income from
garage rentals, vending machines, forfeited deposits, etc. Subject does not appear to have any other
potential sources of income.

Vacancy and Collection Losses

A vacancy and collection loss must be deducted from potential gross income to arrive at property
effective gross income (EGI). A current 2022 survey conducted by Costar.com reports average
vacancy of 48.85% for industrial properties in Council Bluffs but no estimate of vacancy in Walnut.

The subject space is a single tenant design, so it would be either 100% occupied or 100% vacant at
any one time. Based upon the subject properties location in an area with primarily agricultural
properties nearby, it is my opinion a 10% vacancy rate would be reasonable for the property.

Actual rent, vacancy and EGI were then summarized as follows:

Potential Commercial Rental Income 1,680 SF x $6.00/SF  $10,080
Less: 10% Vacancy and Collection Loss - $1,008
Effective Gross Income $9,072

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses that are the property owner’s responsibility are deducted from projection of EGI to
arrive at property’s NOI. Such operating expenses include real estate taxes, insurance, maintenance,
utilities and property management fees. To estimate appropriate allowance for operating expenses, |
considered actual known data from market expenses of other properties observed. No information for
the subject was provided. Estimates of operating expenses were then summarized as follows:

Real Estate Taxes: Property taxes for the subject were not posted so my estimate is based upon the
assessed for the subject ($32,600) and the current tax rate ($31.876110) which equates to $1,039. These
appear reasonable based upon the sales comparison approach and other properties observed. So
stabilized taxes will be estimated at $1,050 annually with the owner paying these during vacant periods
only.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 59
Walnut, lowa




INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH (CONTINUED)

Operating Expenses (Continued)

Insurance: Property and hazard insurance for commercial buildings have been observed near $0.10/SF
to $0.85/SF of gross building area for sprinklered buildings, and $0.15/SF to $0.55/SF for non-
sprinklered buildings, and have been rising in recent years. Actual insurance costs for the subject were
not disclosed. So, for purposes of this analysis, an estimate of $1.00/SF is considered reasonable
(including flood coverage) or a total cost of a rounded $1,800 annually.

Management: Typical third party management fees for properties similar to the subject property range
4% to 7% of EGI. The actual management expenses for the subject are unknown. Management duties
generally include supervision of property maintenance, bookkeeping, and management overhead. No
unusual aspects of the management function are foreseen in conjunction with the subject property, so |
estimate an expense of 3% of base rent as reasonable for the subject property.

Administrative & Professional Fees: A general administrative expense was considered appropriate to
reflect typical owner accounting and legal fees. This expense category would include a small amount
for owner’s office overhead and typically ranges from 0.5% to 1.5% of EGI. The actual expenses are
unknown as no operating statements were furnished. General administrative expense was estimated at
0.50% of base rent in this analysis.

Utilities: As no operating statements were provided my estimate of $1.00/SF is based on observations
of other commercial properties, with the owner paying during vacant periods only.

Repairs & Maintenance: This expense category reflects items such as repairs to mechanical systems,
roof, painting and items of general upkeep such as pest control, cleaning, snow and trash removal.
Actual costs were not provided; typical repair & maintenance expenses observed for other commercial
properties have ranged from $0.50/SF to over $3.00/SF, depending in large part on a property’s age and
building size. As a result, with the building in average condition with minimal deferred maintenance, |
estimate an expense of $1.00/SF for the subject, rounded to $1,800 annually.

Reserves for Replacement: Although not typically incurred as an annual cash outlay, a reserve for
replacement expense is appropriate to reflect future replacement of short-lived items such as carpeting,
mechanical systems (including water heaters and HVAC units), kitchen appliances, exterior paving,
roofing, etc. RealtyRates.com investor survey for 18 Q 2022 indicated reserve requirements for
industrial properties reported as $0.26 to $0.85 with an average of $0.56/SF. By comparison, the PWC
Investors Survey reports replacement reserves for national warehouse properties range from $0.05/SF to
$0.35/SF, averaging $0.14/SF in the 15t Q 2022. In my opinion, an appropriate replacement reserve for
the subject property is a rounded $0.20/SF.

Miscellaneous: A miscellaneous expense is typically included to account for such items as tenant-
related social expenses, holiday decorations, security services, etc. Therefore, an expense of $100 per
year was considered appropriate.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 60
Walnut, lowa




INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH (CONTINUED)

PROFORMA OPERATING STATEMENT (FEE SIMPLE)

Rental Income
Estimated Market Rent
Total Potential Gross Income

SQFT
1,680

Vacancy & Collection Allowance:

Effective Rental Income
Other Income
Total Effective Gross Income:

Operating Expenses:
Management Fee
General & Administrative
Real Estate Taxes
Insurance
Utilities
Repairs & Maintenance
Reserves for Replacement
Miscellaneous

Total Expenses

Net Operating Income

County Maintenance Shed

3.0%
0.5%
11.57%
19.84%
0.00%
19.84%
3.70%
1.10%

10.73%

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

Rent/SF Annual Income

$6.00

10.0%

$272
$45
$1,050
$1,800
$0
$1,800"
$336
$100

$10,080
$10,080
$1,008

Amount
$27
$45

$105
$180

$0
$180
$336
$100

$9,072
$0
$9,072

$974

$8,098

705 Oak Street
Walnut, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 61



INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH (CONTINUED)

CAPITALIZATION RATE SELECTION, APPLICATION AND ESTIMATE OF VALUE

Several methods of developing a capitalization rate can be used. The best of which is the Market
Extraction Method, where the incomes of comparable properties that have recently sold are known.
Sale transactions used in this report did not reveal cap rates however, other properties observed
which would be considered competitive with subject indicated cap rates of 7.60% to 9.00%.

A national survey was examined for further support of overall capitalization rate. The PWC Real
Estate Investor Survey for the 1%t Qtr 2022 reports national capitalization rates for secondary
industrial properties in a range of 5.25% to 9.00% with average of 7.13%. Capitalization rates in the
local market area have typically been higher than national rates. Capitalization rates are typically
higher for older and smaller properties.

In order to estimate current capitalization rates, a second method is used called the Band of
Investment, Analysis, which is a yield capitalization procedure used in estimating an overall
capitalization rate to be applied to the net operating income of a property. The band of investment
formula addresses the yield requirements of both the lender’s interest and the investor’s interest
considering current lending and investment rates. When the components used in the band of
investment formula are market-derived, the value indication obtained is reflective of market value.
RealtyRates.Com released their 1%t Q 2022 Investor Survey reporting interest rates for industrial
properties ranging from 2.86% to 7.41%, averaging 4.80%. The average spread from 10-Year
Treasury notes was 3.24%. Loan-to-value ratios ranged from 50% to 80% (average 70%), average
amortization period was 25 years with average term of 11.46 years and average debt coverage ratio
of 1.46. Per PwC Investors Survey for 1t Q 2022, institutional grade discount or yield rates for national
warehouse properties ranged from 7.00% to 10.00%, averaging 8.50%.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 62
Walnut, lowa




INCOME CAPITALIZATION APPROACH (CONTINUED)

CAPITALIZATION RATE SELECTION, APPLICATION AND ESTIMATE OF VALUE

Based on the preceding, the following components are then used in the band of investment analysis.

Mortgage Components:

Loan/Value Ratio: 70%
Loan Rate: 5.0% selected
Amortization Period: 25 years with balloon payment due at end of 10 Year
Mortgage Constant (Rm): .0709
Equity Components:
Equity Ratio: 30%
Equity yield rate (Ye): 9.5%

The calculation of the overall capitalization rate by the band of investment technique is as follows:

Band of Investment Technique

Loan Ratio X Mortgage Constant = Weighted Average
.70 X 0709 = 0.049
Equity Ratio X Equity Yield Rate
30 X .095 = (+) 0.0285
Total Weighted Average 0.0775
Indicated Overall Capitalization Rate 7.75%

This mechanical or calculated overall rate typically is below the market extracted rates as lending
terms are still considered favorable for qualified applicants; so, it was given only secondary rounding
weight in my overall or “going-in” capitalization rate selection for the subject property.

Therefore, based on subject characteristics with and the current demand for this property type in the
local market, | selected a rounded 8.50% as the capitalization rate currently appropriate for the
subject property in this market. To arrive at a value estimate for the subject property, the estimated
annual net operating income must be divided by the overall capitalization rate. Therefore, | estimate
the market value of the subject property, as of the effective date of this report, as follows.

Fee Simple
Net Operating Income Capitalization Rate Indicated Value Rounded
$8,098 + 8.50% = $95,276 $100,000
County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 63

Walnut, lowa



RECONCILIATION AND FINAL ESTIMATE OF VALUE

Reconciliation is the process of coordinating and integrating related factors to form a conclusion
regarding the appraised property’s Market Value. Each appraisal approach was considered as to
adequacy, accuracy and overall reliability. The following estimates were based on subject’s highest and
best use in this report and primarily on available market data furnished by the property owner and
others.

Market Value via the Cost Approach Not Applicable
Market Value via the Direct Sales Comparison Approach $100,000
Market Value via the Income Capitalization Approach (Fee Simple) $100,000

The Cost Approach typically uses replacement cost method of determining new cost of building
improvements, typically representing the highest value. Depreciation is calculated for deferred
maintenance and normal wear and tear. The shortcoming of this method normally results from the
calculations for depreciation, as age and obsolescence are difficult to precisely measure in the market
place. The subject building is older, resulting in accrued depreciation which becomes subjective
reducing the reliability of this approach below acceptable levels. Therefore, it was not developed inthis
report.

The Direct Sales Comparison Approach compares sales of similar properties. Adjustments were made
for variations from the subject property based on available market data. After adjustments, a reasonable
range of indicated values was evident and | selected the value from the range most representative of the
appraised building. This approach is generally the best method of reflecting market attitudes toward
property, particularly when owner-occupied buildings are involved and there is an active market with
numerous sales. However, this approach is less persuasive when the property is purchased as an
investment. As the subject property is a single-tenant building it would likely appeal to an owner but if
leased it could appeal to an investor therefore most weight was given to this approach in the final value
estimate for the subject.

The Income Capitalization Approach was considered and could be used in this report. Since an
adequate amount of rent, expense and cap rate data was available for the subject property, this approach
was considered reliable so was given some weight in the final value estimate for the subject also.

Conditional only upon my standard Certification, Assumptions and Limiting Conditions, and the
estimated exposure time as stated in this report, it is my opinion the “as is”” Market Value of the subject
properties fee simple estate, as of May 16, 2022 was:

ONE HUNDRED THOUSAND DOLLARS

($100,000)

Respectfully submitted,

_— { . A

) S | () ‘ f
e \ . ,
’ ,,\ le ¥ L'/\J /‘UL&.L.Z_&;&'--L
D. Rick Whitesides, MAI, SRA
General Certified Appraiser - IA CG01439
NE CG920142

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 64

Walnut, lowa



ADDENDA

County Maintenance Shed

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

705 Oak Street
Walnut, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 65




APPRAISER’S QUALIFICATIONS
D. Rick Whitesides, MAI, SRA

PROFESSIONAL.:

MAI Designation from the Appraisal Institute 1991
SRA Designation from the Appraisal Institute 1977
General Certified Appraiser, State of Nebraska (CG 920142) 1992
General Certified Appraiser, State of lowa (CG 01439) 1992
Licensed Real Estate Salesman in the State of Nebraska 1972
Vice President/Appraiser Mitchell & Associates 1990-Present
Property Underwriter/Assistant Vice President,

Occidental Nebraska Federal Savings Bank 1973-90
MEMBER:

Appraisal Institute: ~ Former President Nebraska Chapter and currently active in this chapter and
former Chapter Services Chairman for Region Il and have served on the National Chapter Services
Committee

Nebraska Real Estate Association

Omaha Area Board of Realtors ~ Former Executive Committee, Commercial Investment Council
Tangier Shrine, Scottish Rite and Mercer Lodge

Past Membership: Society of Real Estate Appraisers, Eastern Nebraska, Chapter #111

EDUCATION:

University of Nebraska Lincoln
University of Nebraska Omaha

Continuing education through attendance at various appraisal seminars sponsored by the Appraisal
Institute and other industry organizations; courses listed on a separate page.

EXPERIENCE:

Avreas of appraisal experience include multi-family residential, commercial; industrial; vacant land,
special purpose properties; and single family residential. Appraisals have been completed for
mortgage loans, condemnation, litigation, and asset management purposes.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 66
Walnut, lowa




RECENT APPRAISAL EDUCATION
D. RICK WHITESIDES, MAI, SRA

DATE COURSE SPONSOR

2017 Honing In...Updates, Market Perspectives & Prof. Development Al

2016 Local Market Snapshot Al

2016 Understanding the Basics of Excel & Linear Regression Al

2016 Commercial Real Estate Summit Nebr Cont Legl Ed

2016 USPAP Update Al

2015 Commercial Real Estate Summit Nebr Cont Legl Ed

2014 Commercial Real Estate Summit Nebr Cont Legl Ed

2014 The Discounted Cash Flow Model Al

2014 USPAP Update Al

2013 Property Acquisition & Need for Site Assessment Randall School of RE

2013 Environmental Issues in Real Estate Randall School of RE

2013 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed

2013 Online Supervising Appraisal Trainees Al

2012 USPAP Moore Group

2012 Effective Appraisal Writing Al

2011 Ethical Decision Making in Real Estate Randall School of RE

2011 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed

2011 Commercial Appraisal Engagement & Review Al

2011 Capital Markets Seminar Daisley Ruff

2010 USPAP Al

2010 Capital Markets Seminar Daisley Ruff

2010 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed

2010 Appraisal Curriculum Overview Al

2009 Online Business Practices & Ethics Al

2009 Report Writing Workshop The Moore Group

2009 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed

2008 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed

2008 USPAP Al

2007 Standard 3 Review Training Session NE Appraiser Bd

2007 Understanding & Testing DCF Valuation Models Al

2007 Analyzing Distressed Real Estate Al

2007 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed

2006 Uniform Standards of Professional Practice Moore Group

2006 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed

2005 Market Analysis & the Site to do Business Al

2005 Radon & Real Estate Randall School of RE

2004 Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice Al

2004 Loss Prevention for Real Estate Appraisers Al

2004 Rates and Ratios Al

2003 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed

2003 Client Pressure Seminar NE Appraiser Bd.

2003 Appraisal Consulting Al

2002 Mark to Market Al

2002 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed

2001 Appraisers & Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act Al

2001 Regression Analysis in Appraisal Practice Al

2001 Commercial Real Estate Workshop Nebr Cont Legl Ed
CLASS

County Maintenance Shed

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

CLASS
HOURS

Nﬂw$WNwNNbﬂWNNNmb#hﬂmmﬂhawwﬂwﬂwwﬂﬂbmWWNNmmﬂwbhb

705 Oak Street

© Copyright 2022

Walnut, lowa

Page 67



DATE

COURSE

2000
2000

2000

2000
2000
1999
1999
1999
1998
1997
1997
1997
1996
1996
1995
1995
1995
1995
1994
1994
1993
1993
1993
1993
1993
1992
1992
1991
1990

County Maintenance Shed

Commercial Appraisal Problem Solving
Appraisal of Non-Conforming Uses

Standards of Professional Practice

Ed Tour (Tomorrows Information Today)
Commercial Real Estate Workshop
Internet Search Strategies

Appraisal of Local Retail Properties
Commercial Real Estate Workshop
Commercial Real Estate Workshop
Affordable Housing

Analyzing Operating Expenses
Commercial Real Estate Workshop
Highest & Best Use

Standards of Professional Practice
Advanced Income Capitalization
Emerging Technologies in Appraising
Experience Review Training
Apartment Update

FHA Guidelines

Commercial Real Estate Workshop
Appraising Apartments

Agency Relationships in Real Estate
Mock Trial Seminar

Commercial Real Estate Workshop
FIRREA: Overview & Application
ADA Seminar

Commercial Real Estate Workshop
Standards of Professional Practice
Small Residential Form

Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

SPONSOR
Mid-West Appraisers
Al

Al

NE. Appraiser Board
Nebr Cont Legl Ed
Al
Al
Nebr Cont Legl Ed
Nebr Cont Legl Ed
Al
Al
Nebr Cont Legl Ed

Nebr Cont Legl Ed.
Al
Randall School of RE
Al
Nebr Cont Legl Ed
Al
Al
Nebr Cont Legl Ed
AIREA
SREA

HOURS

NNOONN~NWNWwNR AR voNNooN~N~Nw N~

705 Oak Street

Walnut, lowa

© Copyright 2022

Page 68



State of Nebraska

Real Property Appraiser Board

Hereky certifies that: DWHKIMT RICK) E WHITESIDES

MITCHELL COMMERCIAL VALUATION INC
14618 W CENTER RD
OMAHAL NE 681443219
s erafemtialed in the State of Nebrasks as a
Centified Genernl Real Property Appraiser

Heddfimg cvedestia mamber: CON0142
Lifective Date: Jan 012022 Lxpination Dare:  Des 31, 2002
~7"
/ é {7/ W/
Nebrinkp Real Propesty Appraiser Board Director: / L" L/ & 2
¥ 7
7 7
AW e s, b oo srvbbomss. P b g e el Pregety Appoeacs Hioaed eveodbesdy

Thie Coocdorta g Cand e poced Ve s person e coucoratadof mndcr e ot Propary Apprtest Ao shom crdantial S baon canodl. servndarnd. imapandod, o srel of

Nebemaka Real Property Appeaner Board
101 Contermial Mall Southy, First Floor PO Bax 9491
Liscoin. Nebrasha 685093563
FPhose: ACATIHS01S Fax 4024719017 barps. opuprsdscet 1ne goay

Wwasitrivive [fomiaation Vi 1OOA4-2002 Feptrenion for Pk 27400

Voodew Toggopree Audi Peyrae Yo i $500 Poderal Fggontey Vo P SN0

R

Pickds 0l Opprtebisies STATE OF 1OWA

1CVA DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE
PROFESSIONAL LICENSING AND REGULATION

Thisis to certify that the below named has been granted a certification
as: Certified General Appraiser.

Certification Number: CG01439 Expires: June 30, 2023
Status: Active

Dwight E Whitesides
Mitchell & Associates
14611 W CenterRd
Omaha, Nebraska 68144

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022
Walnut, lowa

Page 69



USPAP MINIMUM STANDARDS

For the convenience of the reader or any reviewer of this report, we have included a copy of the fourteen
points of the Minimum Appraisal Standards. Appraisals must:

1.

10.

11.

12.
13.
14.

Conform to USPAP, except that the Departure Provision, which allows below minimum work, will not
apply;

Include a disclosure of any steps taken in order to comply with the Competency Provision of USPAP;
Be based on the market value or other values as defined in the attached DEFINITIONS;

[i] Be written and presented in a narrative format;
[ii] Be sufficiently descriptive to enable the reader to ascertain the market value and the
rationale for the estimate;

[iii] Provide detail and depth reflective of the complexity of the property appraised;
Analyze and report in reasonable detail any prior sales of the property within the last three years;

Analyze and report current revenues, expense, and vacancies on income producing properties rather
than estimated or projected figures not supported by current market conditions;

Use a reasonable marketing period for the property;

Analyze current market conditions and trends that will affect the income, absorption, or value of the
property;

Report both the “as is” (using appropriate deductions and discounts for holding and marketing costs,
and entrepreneurial profit) and the stabilized market values for developmental property; report both the
value-in-use and liguidation value for owner-occupied property;

Include in the USPAP required certification an additional statement that: “The appraisal assignment
was not based on a requested minimum valuation, a specific valuation, or the approval of a “loan”;

Contain sufficient supporting documentation to allow the reader to ascertain the appraiser’s logic,
reasoning, judgment, and analysis;

Include a legal description of the subject property (in addition to the description required by USPAP);
Identify and value separately any non-real estate items;

Use and reconcile the income, direct sales, and cost approaches to value, and explain the omission of
any approach not used;

If any information necessary to complete the appraisal is unavailable, this fact must be disclosed.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.

705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 70
Walnut, lowa



at

MITCHELL & ASSOCIATES INC.
ROBERT F. MITCHELL, SR., 1893-1983
ROBERT F. MITCHELL, JR., SRPA
R. GREGG MITCHELL, SRA

D. RICK WHITESIDES, MAI, SRA KEVIN P. HERMSEN MAI
W. BRUCE WILKIE DAVID C. WELLSANDT, MAI
BETH ANDERSEN RICHARD WITTMANN
MELISSA RUTHERFORD MARK SCHAECHER
April 26, 2022
Ms. Kristina Treantos Re:  Appraisal Reports
Via email Properties on following list

Kristina.treantos@pottcounty-is.gov

Dear Ms. Treantos

Per your request our firm will provide appraisal reports on the attached list of properties for the purposes of
estimating the fair market value of the real estate for asset management purposes, subject to the terms and
conditions stated as follows:

1) The report swill be prepared in compliance with the Minimum Appraisal Standards as set forth by the
Uniform Standards of Professional Practice (USPAP) and the Standards of the State of Iowa.

2) Inorder to provide the most accurate and timely appraisal possible, the following specific information on
the subject property is desired, if applicable and available:

Property contact for access if necessary

3) Properties to be appraised are as follows:
358 Elm Street, Avoca, [A
15021 490%™ St., Griswold, IA
15484 State Orchard Rd. Council Bluffs, IA
217 North Main, Hancock, 1A
705 Oak Street, Walnut, IA

4) Any modifications, excluding correction of errors, will be provided only at additional cost. No court
testimony or appearances at any hearing will be provided unless prior arrangements are made. Testimony
or appearance at hearings will be billed at the rate of $250/hour, with a 4 hour minimum.

5) The reports will be prepared in a timely manner. Delivery of the report will be approximately 5 weeks,
from receipt of a signed copy of this letter; provided the necessary data is made available in a timely manner.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 71
Walnut, lowa




Appraisal Proposal
Industrial Properties
April 26, 2022
Page 2

6) The fee to prepare the real estate reports will not exceed $4,900 and is payable as follows: $2,450 due upon
the signing of this letter and the balance upon receipt of the completed written appraisal report.

7) Confidentiality will be respected, so the results and content of the report will only be revealed to you or
third parties you may designate. It will not be released to any other entity, without prior permission by you.
However, some information furnished may be used in future analysis of other properties, unless
you specifically request otherwise. In order to comply with the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act of 1999,
our Privacy Notice is available upon request

8) The appraisal will include in the certification required by USPAP; that the appraisal assignment was not
based on a requested minimum valuation, specific valuation or the approval of a loan.
If you are in agreement with this proposal, please sign and return the original letter, with the retainer, as soon as
possible.

Thank you for the opportunity to be of service.

Respectfully submitted,

bt

D. Rick Whitesides, MAI, SRA
General Certified Appraiser — NE #CG920142
1A #CG01439

ACCEPTED:

T aiios . 4|28]22

Ms. Kristina Treantos
Pottawattamie County, lowa

‘H(WW\/U/ \/\/\H ol W \Q%z 5’0\,21.

County Maintenance Shed Mitchell & Associates, Inc.
705 Oak Street © Copyright 2022 Page 72
Walnut, lowa




Public Comments



Closed Session



	46-2022
	CO-003_for Owner-sig_220617
	CO-003_for Owner sig_220617
	COR-13 Approved
	COR-14 Approved
	COR-15_New Drinking Fountain
	COR-16 - Revise Shades at Training
	CR-007_1 - Added Dump Fees
	Pott CO CR-014 - L-1 Power

	Consent Agenda Cover Page
	Cover - Becky Lenihan - Resolutions
	Cover -David Bayer 2
	Cover -Jana
	Cover -Jeff Sheriff
	Employment agreement Don Uhlig FY 22-23
	Mechanical Operations and Maintenance Technician 6.15.22
	Other Business Cover Page
	Pottawattamie County - End User Security Policy
	Purpose
	Scope
	Definitions
	End User
	Information Asset
	Information Security Team
	Information System
	Information Asset Owner
	Malware

	Policy
	Expectation of Privacy
	Physical Security Considerations
	Credential Management
	Minimum Security Requirements
	Malware Protection
	Operating System and Application Patches

	Communications Methods
	Electronic Messaging
	Secure Communications

	File Sharing
	Remote Access Solutions
	Removable Media Encryption
	System Procurement Process
	Information Destruction
	Auditing and Compliance
	Non-Compliance


	Public Comments
	Received Cover Page
	Scheduled Sessions Cover Page
	Sheriff Report May 2022
	SWI Juvenile Pay Increase FY 22-23
	TOTAL REPORT.pdf
	APPRAISLA
	Sheet1

	AVOCA
	CALADONIA
	HANCOCK
	LEWIS
	WALNUT

	ADPC45B.tmp
	Uniforms
	Longevity
	Working Out of Classification
	Perfect Attendance Leave
	Shift Differential
	Hours of Work




